CERTIFICATION

CERTIFICATION BY THE RISK REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP-REMEDIATION SERVICES (RRES-RS) PROJECT TECHNICAL REPRESENTATIVES

Document Title: THE PHASE III RFI REPORT FOR SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT UNIT (SWMU) 16-021 (c)-99

I certify under penalty of law that these documents and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gathered and evaluated the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violation.

Name:

David McInroy, Deputy Project Director Remediation Services Los Alamos National Laboratory

Date: 9/29/03

or

Date: _____

Beverly A. Ramsey, Division Leader Risk Reduction and Environmental Stewardship Division Los Alamos National Laboratory

Date: 9/29/03

David Gregory, Project Manager Environmental Restoration Program Department Of Energy/Los Alamos Site Office

or

Date: _____

Herman LeDoux, Assistant Area Manager of Environmental Projects Department Of Energy/Los Alamos Site Office



17965

LA-UR-03-5248 September 2003 ER2003-0480

Phase III RFI Report for Solid Waste Management Unit 16-021(c)-99

CD included with this document



Phase III RFI Report for SWMU 16-021(c)-99

September 2003



LA-UR-03-5248 September 2003 ER2003-0480

Phase III RFI Report for Solid Waste Management Unit 16-021(c)-99

CDs included with this document



Disclaimer

This document contains data regarding radioactive wastes, the management of which is regulated under the Atomic Energy Act and specifically excluded from regulation under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and the New Mexico Hazardous Waste Act. These data are provided to the New Mexico Environment Department for information purposes only.

Produced by

Risk Reduction and Environmental Stewardship Division-Remediation Services

Los Alamos National Laboratory, an affirmative action/equal opportunity employer, is operated by the University of California for the United States Department of Energy under contract W-7405-ENG-36.

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the Regents of the University of California, the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees make any warranty, express or implied, or assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represent that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the Regents of the University of California, the United States Government, or any agency thereof.

Los Alarnos National Laboratory strongly supports academic freedom and a researcher's right to publish; as an institution, however, the Laboratory does not endorse the viewpoint of a publication or guarantee its technical correctness. By acceptance of this article, the publisher recognizes that the U.S. Government retains a nonexclusive, royalty-free license to publish or reproduce the published form of this contribution, or to allow others to do so, for U.S. Government purposes. Los Alamos National Laboratory requests that the publisher identify this article as work performed under the auspices of the U.S. Department of Energy.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This document describes results of the Phase III Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) facility investigation (RFI) that was conducted at consolidated Solid Waste Management Unit (SWMU) 16-021(c)-99, which is located at Technical Area 16 (TA-16) within the Los Alamos National Laboratory (the Laboratory or LANL). This SWMU is associated with an outfall situated behind a high explosives (HE) processing building (Building 260). The outfall is also known as the TA-16-260 outfall, or the 260 outfall (see Figure 1.2-3). The Phase III RFI, which was conducted from 1999 to 2002, is an integral part of the corrective measures study (CMS) plan and the CMS plan addendum. Sampling was conducted according to the sampling and analysis plan (SAP) included in the CMS plan for SWMU 16-021(c)-99. The plan was approved by the New Mexico Environment Department (NMED) in September 1999. The regulatory status of SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is shown in Table ES-1.

The CMS plan divides the evaluation of transport pathways and the selection of remedial alternatives into an alluvial groundwater CMS and a regional groundwater CMS. The alluvial groundwater CMS is focusing on the Cañon de Valle source area, alluvial groundwater system, and the subsurface tuff and saturated system, including canyon springs. The regional groundwater CMS for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is a separate investigation into the extent of contamination in the deep perched zone and the regional aquifer. One important goal of the Phase III RFI was to investigate, and incorporate into the conceptual model, the hydrogeologic and contaminant transport dynamics of the Cañon de Valle and Martin Springs alluvial and subsurface groundwater systems. The Phase III RFI data have reduced data uncertainties such as contaminant concentration and distribution for the CMS process.

The following Phase III RFI activities were conducted in support of the alluvial groundwater CMS:

- characterizing the subsurface and alluvial groundwater through the installation of seven piezometers in Cañon de Valle and three alluvial groundwater wells in Martin Spring Canyon;
- determining contaminant dynamics and contamination distribution by sampling alluvial groundwater, surface water, and springs in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon;
- determining contaminant inventory and distribution in sediment through geomorphic-based sediment sampling in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon;
- characterizing hydraulic interconnectivity and the residence time of water in the subsurface through a continuing bromide tracer study which was initiated in 1997 and through a stable isotope study;
- characterizing the nature and extent of contamination in the mesa vadose zone through the sampling and analysis of the intermediate-depth perched aquifer;
- · identifying potential subsurface contaminant migration pathways using geophysical studies; and
- performing a baseline human health risk assessment for the Cañon de Valle source area and alluvial area [including a comparison of chemical of potential concern (COPC) concentrations for Martin Spring Canyon] and a baseline ecological risk assessment for Cañon de Valle.

SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area

The SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area is comprised of a settling pond and an upper and lower drainage channel that extends from the 260 outfall downgradient to the confluence of the drainage and Cañon de Valle. The source area was excavated during an interim measure (IM) conducted from winter 2000

through summer of 2001. The IM removed more than 1300 yd³ of contaminated soil, sediment, and tuff containing approximately 90% of the HE compounds that existed in the source area. HE compounds and barium COPCs still remain in the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area in isolated locations throughout the drainage channel. Remaining sources of contamination are associated with either historic HE releases elsewhere in TA-16 or secondary sources such as sediment.

Cañon de Valle Alluvial System Investigation

The primary COPCs for Cañon de Valle surface water are RDX (cyclotrimethylene-trinitramine) and barium, both of which were detected in surface water samples at the confluence of Cañon de Valle and Water Canyon (approximately 3 mi downstream from the source area). This indicates that the entire Cañon de Valle alluvial system contains RDX and barium. RDX concentrations in the surface water of Cañon de Valle are highest near the 260 outfall area. The highest mass flow rate of RDX in surface water occurred during wet periods.

The primary COPCs for Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater are RDX, barium, and manganese. There is a positive correlation between saturated thickness in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and RDX concentration, indicating that RDX residing within the vadose zone constitutes an important secondary source which is released to the alluvial groundwater during high surface water flow events with the corresponding increased saturated thickness in the alluvium. Barium concentration trends in alluvial groundwater over time are stable to slightly decreasing, with spikes associated with pulses of barium into the system, possibly due to sediment flushing.

The primary COPCs for Cañon de Valle sediment are RDX, HMX (cyclotetramethylene-tetranitramine), amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-], amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-], TNT (trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]), antimony, barium, cobalt, copper, lead, nickel, and silver. The active channel sediment resampling in 2002 (conducted after the Cerro Grande fire in 2000) showed a reduction in RDX and barium in the upper canyon since the 1996 sampling, indicating a contaminant inventory shift. This was probably a result of increased post-fire surface water runoff.

Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial System Investigation

The COPCs for Martin Spring Canyon surface water are RDX, barium, boron, and manganese. The COPCs for alluvial groundwater include RDX, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, lead, and manganese. The COPCs in Martin Spring Canyon alluvium, sediment, and tuff include amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-], amino-4-6-dinitrotoluene[2-], RDX, TNT, arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and silver. Both barium and RDX are present in Martin Spring Canyon sediment, but at much lower concentrations and with much smaller inventories than in Cañon de Valle.

Subsurface Systems—Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer and Springs Investigation

The subsurface system investigations included physical and chemical characterization of SWSC, Burning Ground, and Martin Springs; the 90s Line Pond; and samples collected from five intermediate-depth perched aquifer wells. The springs are a manifestation of the intermediate-depth perched groundwater, present primarily in tuff discontinuities such as fractures and surge beds that underlie the northwestern portion of TA-16. The 90s Line Pond, located on the mesa top, was included because it may be a groundwater recharge source. The springs investigation included quarterly sampling of the three springs and additional flow-integrated samples. Analytical data from these sampling campaigns indicate all three springs contain RDX and TNT as primary COPCs. Intermediate-depth perched groundwater is ephemeral in most of the well locations. Analysis of the intermediate-depth groundwater indicates low levels of contamination. Groundwater wells are frequently dry but, when wet, contaminant levels are detected for

several constituents, including HE compounds. Concentrations exceed contaminant-screening limits for RDX and metals including aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel, selenium, silver, thallium, and zinc.

Conceptual Model

In general, the conceptual model that was presented in the Phase II RFI still applies on a site-wide basis. The Phase III RFI conceptual model changes have largely been refinements that have reduced data uncertainties for the CMS process.

The key components of the conceptual site model include

- the source area;
- a mesa vadose zone, consisting of nonfractured and fractured tuff and intermediate-depth ephemeral perched groundwater;
- canyon alluvial sediment;
- canyon springs;
- canyon surface water;
- canyon alluvial groundwater;
- a deep vadose zone, consisting of nonfractured and fractured tuff that extends from the canyon bottom to the top of the regional aquifer; and
- the regional aquifer, as defined by the installation of Regional Aquifer Well R-25. While the
 regional aquifer is not included in the scope of this Phase III RFI, key results from the installation
 and sampling of Regional Aquifer Well R-25 are important for a general understanding of the
 conceptual model.

Isotopic differences in composition between mesa vadose zone groundwater and Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater indicate mesa groundwater probably comes from local precipitation and snowmelt on the mesa top, whereas Cañon de Valle groundwater is at least partially derived from spring flow recharged at higher elevations. Borehole sampling in the mesa vadose zone indicates no contamination in the unsaturated depth intervals in any boreholes except in the immediate vicinity of the former settling pond. These results indicate mesa vadose zone contamination is concentrated beneath source area SWMUs such as the former and current ponds and drainages (90s Line Pond, V-Site Pond, 30s Line Pond) on the mesa top. However, ephemeral groundwater in mesa vadose zone wells not located in the vicinity of the former settling pond have shown contamination, indicating lateral movement (possibly through surge beds) of water and contaminants in the mesa subsurface. In addition, based on the oxygen and deuterium stable isotope results, mesa vadose zone groundwater from Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) and Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond) and surface water from the 90s Line Pond all show evaporative signatures, but spring water does not. These results reinforce the presence of a mesa vadose zone groundwater flow regime that is dominated by fractures and surge beds and, in general, the importance of hydrologic heterogeneity at TA-16.

Human Health Risk—SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area

The baseline risk assessment for the source area used the list of identified COPCs and evaluated potential exposures to an on-site environmental worker, a trail user, and a construction worker. The on-

site environmental worker is assumed to be involved in environmental monitoring such as field sampling efforts. The trail user is a worker using the trails for recreation or exercise such as walking or jogging. The construction worker is assumed to be involved in intrusive work activities such as excavation. Thus, the frequency and duration of exposure differs, though the exposure pathways for all these human receptors are assumed to be the same.

The cumulative excess cancer risk to all human receptors from potential exposures to all COPCs in soil and tuff was slighly above, or less than, the 1×10^{-5} target risk specified by NMED under both central tendency estimate (CTE) and reasonable maximum exposure (RME) assumptions (cancer risk ranges from 4×10^{-7} to 3×10^{-5}). Noncancer hazards are below, or slightly above, a hazard index (HI) of 1.0 for CTE and RME assumptions (HIs range from 0.2 to 2.0).

Human Health Risk—Cañon de Valle Alluvial Area

For the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, a trail-user scenario was assessed. Cumulative excess cancer risk to the trail user from potential exposures to all COPCs in sediment and surface water is below the 1×10^{-5} target risk specified by NMED for CTE and RME assumptions. Noncancer hazards are below an HI of 1.0 for both exposure assumptions.

Human Health Risk-Martin Spring Canyon

A comparison of COPC concentrations was done for Martin Spring Canyon, comparing relative COPC concentrations (maximum and mean) in sediment and surface water to those found at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area. It was concluded that the Martin Spring Canyon COPC concentrations were less than, or within the range of, those found at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, which has been determined to not pose a potential unacceptable risk to human receptors under the trail-user scenario.

Ecological Risk-Cañon de Valle

For the ecological risk assessment, the process followed US Environmental Protection Agency and NMED guidance. The ecological risk assessment for the terrestrial system in Cañon de Valle found elevated metals concentrations in small mammals but not at levels that are likely to cause adverse effects for the Mexican spotted owl. The numbers of species, population densities, and reproductive classes for those species indicated that the Cañon de Valle small mammal community is not being adversely affected by contaminants.

The ecological assessment of the aquatic system in the canyon found some differences between benthic macro-invertebrates in Cañon de Valle and reference canyons, though these results were not replicated in a subsequent toxicity test, indicating high variability in the contaminant signatures for this sediment. The toxicity testing for Cañon de Valle shows potential impacts relative to the reference site in Starmer's Gulch, although the sediment is heterogeneous with regard to potential toxic effects. In Cañon de Valle, a viable benthic macro-invertebrate community is present, which is a meaningful indicator that site contaminants cause negligible ecological effects.

Conclusions

- Although the volume of the residual soil within the former outfall source area is less than 100 yd³ (based on field observations), the soil contains elevated concentrations of HE and barium that could be mobilized by stormwater runoff.
- The potential risk for residual contamination in the former outfall source area soil is marginally above NMED's target risk levels for RME for the environmental worker (cancer risk) and the

construction worker (noncancer hazard) and may be within EPA's target risk range; potential risks for CTE exposures and other RMEs for the receptors were below these NMED target levels.

- Sediments in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon represent a widely dispersed secondary source for HE and barium that is potentially mobilized by surface water and alluvial groundwater. Moreover, the perennial reach of Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater provides a high potential for subsequent infiltration of mobilized contaminants.
- The drought has influenced the hydrogeology of the area by reducing mesa vadose zone groundwater recharge, reducing canyon alluvium saturated thickness, and causing SWSC and Martin Spring to dry up.
- Contaminant transport in the mesa vadose zone is dominated by a fracture or surge bed flow
 regime, of which contaminated springs are a known manifestation. With the IM source removal, a
 substantial source for this contamination is gone, though reductions in spring contaminant
 concentrations are not yet evident. More wells are planned in both the mesa vadose zone
 groundwater and the regional aquifer to further assess the importance of these pathways.
- Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, groundwater, springs, and sediment do not pose a potential unacceptable human health risk to the trail user (i.e., potential risks and hazards are below 10⁻⁵ and HI of 1.0 for all exposures).
- The ecological risk assessment conducted in Cañon de Valle found that COPCs have no adverse effects on terrestrial receptors and have negligible adverse effects on aquatic receptors.

SWMU Number	SWMU Description	HSWA	Radionuclide Component	Proposed Action	Rationale for Recommendation
1 6 -021(c)	Outfall and drainage channel	Yes	No	CMS/CMS report	RCRA contamination within acceptable human health risk and ecological risk ranges; isolated areas of contamination exceed acceptable ranges and will be addressed in CMS

Table ES-1 Summary of Proposed Actions

CONTENTS

1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	1-1
	1.1	Purpose and Regulatory Context	1-1
	1.2	Facility Location and Background	1-4
		1.2.1 Facility History and Operations	1-5
		1.2.2 SWMU Descriptions	1-8
		1.2.3 Adjacent Land Use	1-10
	1.3	Previous Investigations	1-12
		1.3.1 Source Area Investigation	1-12
		1.3.2 Alluvial System Investigation	1-13
		1.3.3 Subsurface System Investigation	1-13
		1.3.4 IM at the 260 Outfall	1-14
	1.4	Conceptual Understanding and Approach	1-14
	1.5	COPC Screening Methodology for Human Health Risk	1-17
		1.5.1 Frequency of Detection	1-18
		1.5.2 Comparison to Laboratory-Wide BVs (Soil, Sediment, and Tuff)	1-21
		1.5.3 Comparison to Regulatory Standards (Water Only)	1-21
	1.6	Report Organization	1-22
2.0	SOU	RCE AREA INVESTIGATION	2-1
	2.1	IM Data Needs and Objectives	2-1
	2.2	Scope of Sampling and Analysis	2-1
		2.2.1 Field Investigation for Post-Removal Sampling	2-1
		2.2.2 Field Investigation for Bromide Inventory Sampling	
		2.2.3 IM SAP Deviations and Augmentation	2-11
	2.3	Results	2-11
		2.3.1 IM Post-Removal and Bromide Inventory Data Review	2-12
		2.3.2 Data Summary and Interpretation	2-12
	2.4	Implications for the TA-16 Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model	2-17
3.0	ALL	UVIAL SYSTEM INVESTIGATION	3-1
	3.1	Summary	
	3.2	Data Needs and Objectives	3-3
	3.3	Scope of Phase III Sampling and Analysis	3-4
		3.3.1 Surface Water Sampling and Analysis	3-5
		3.3.2 Alluvial Groundwater Sampling and Laboratory Analysis	3-11
		3.3.3 Alluvial System Characterization	3-15
		3.3.4 Sediment Sampling	3-20
		3.3.5 Sampling to Support the Baseline Ecological Risk Assessment	3-23
	3.4	Results	3-26
		3.4.1 Data Results Overview	3-26
		3.4.2 Analytical Data Presentation	3-26
		3.4.3 Summary of Findings and Implications for the Conceptual Model	3-105
4.0	SUB	SURFACE SYSTEM INVESTIGATION	
·**	4.1	Summary	
	4.2	Data Needs and Objectives	4-6
	4.3	Scope of Sampling and Analysis	4-7

	4.4	Results
		4.4.1 Analytical Data Quality Assessment
		4.4.2 Analytical Data Presentation
		4.4.3 Data Summary and Interpretation4-79
	4.5	Implications for the TA-16 Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model4-79
		4.5.1 Potential Contaminant Sources
		4.5.2 Spring and Contaminant Dynamics4-84
		4.5.3 Summary of Findings and Implications to the Conceptual Model4-95
5.0	CONC	EPTUAL MODEL DEVELOPMENT
	5.1	Overview
	5.2	Phase III Conceptual Model
		5.2.1 Component 1-TA-16-260 Outfall Source Area and Surge Bed
		5.2.2 Component 2-Mesa Vadose Zone
		5.2.3 Component 3—Alluvial Sediment in Cañon de Valle and Martin
		Spring Canyon5-6
		5.2.4 Component 4—Springs in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon5-7
		5.2.5 Components 5 and 6—Surface Water and Alluvial Groundwater in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
		5.2.6 Components 7 and 8—Deep Vadose Zone and Regional Aquifer
		5.2.7 Other Potential Sources
		5.2.8 Physical and Chemical Characteristics of the Contaminants and Environmental Fate
		5.2.9 Conceptual Model Uncertainties5-18
6.0	SUMM	ARY OF RISK ASSESSMENTS6-1
	6.1	Human Health Risk Assessment Summary6-1
		6.1.1 Methodology
		6.1.2 Human Health Risk Assessment Results
		6.1.3 Uncertainty Analysis
	6.2	Ecological Risk Assessment Summary6-9
		6.2.1 Ecological Risk Assessment Methodology6-10
		6.2.2 Ecological Risk Assessment Results
7.0	CONC	-USIONS
	7.1	SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area7-1
	7.2	Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Systems
	7.3	Mesa Vadose Zone
8.0	REFE	ENCES

List of Appendices

Appendix A	List of Acronyms	and Glossary
------------	------------------	--------------

- Appendix B Operational and Environmental Setting
- Appendix C Borehole Logs and Well-Completion Diagrams
- Appendix D Geophysical Reports
- Appendix E Evaluation of Sediment Contamination in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon

Appendix F	Results of Quality Assurance/Quality Control Activities
Appendix G	Analytical Suites and Results
Appendix H	Water and Sediment Screening Results: Charts, Tables, and Data Files
Appendix I	Evaluation of Chemical and Physical Data from the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area, Cañon de Valle, and Martin Spring Canyon
Appendix J	Evaluating the Hydrogeochemical Response of Springs Using Singular Spectrum Analysis and Phase-Plane Plots
Appendix K	Human Health Risk Assessments for Cañon de Valle and Screening Risk Assessments for Martin Spring Canyon
Appendix L	Ecological Risk Assessment for Cañon de Valle
Appendix M	Relevant Documents
Appendix N	Water Balance Calculation for Cañon de Valle

List of Figures

Figure 1.2-1	Location of TA-16 with respect to Laboratory technical areas and surrounding landholdings; Building 260 is also shown
Figure 1.2-2	Administrative boundaries for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 CMS 1-7
Figure 1.2-3	Location of SWMU 16-021(c)-99 and associated physical features 1-9
Figure 1.2-4	Significant SWMUs in the vicinity of SWMU 16-021(c)-99 1-11
Figure 1.5-1	COPC screening methodology for soil, sediment, and tuff 1-19
Figure 1.5-2	COPC screening methodology for water1-20
Figure 2.2-1	Post-IM sample locations
Figure 2.2-2	Pore water bromide in the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 settling pond. Profile 8 is on the upstream end of the settling pond; Profile 5 is on the downstream end2-9
Figure 2.2-3	Bromide concentrations in Borehole 16-06370 pore water 2-10
Figure 3.3-1	Phase III RFI locations sampled during the period from 1998 to 2002 3-6
Figure 3.3-2	Sampling locations and identification numbers for surface water, springs, and groundwater samples
Figure 3.3-3	Field personnel collecting water samples at Location ID 16-05968, located in Cañon de Valle headwaters (location provided on Figure 3.3-2). Photo was taken in June 2002, view looking west (upstream)
Figure 3.3-4	Field personnel conducting monthly field measurements at Well 16-02658 in Cañon de Valle. Photo was taken in November 2002. View is looking down canyon. A piezometer nest (Locations 16-02459 and 16-02460) is also visible to the left of the well housing
Figure 3.3-5	Field personnel conducting field measurements at Well 16-06295 in Martin Spring Canyon. Photo was taken in April of 2001, view looking downstream to the east
Figure 3.3-6	Locations for High Resolution Resistivity and Refraction Seismic Survey Line (see Appendix D-2)

Figure 3.3-7	Locations of Geophysical Survey Lines for Controlled Source and Natural Source Audio-Frequency Magnetotelluric Survey (see Appendix D-3)	. 3-17
Figure 3.3-8	Photo of Location ID 16-02653, Peter Seep foot (location shown in Figure 3.3-2). Photo taken in June 2000, following the first major storm after the Cerro Grande fire. View is looking downstream	. 3-19
Figure 3.3-9	Sediment sampling locations	. 3-22
Figure 3.3-10	Location of ecotoxicology sampling in Cañon de Valle	. 3-24
Figure 3.4-1	Discharge results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002	3-39
Figure 3.4-2	Conductivity results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002	3-41
Figure 3.4-3	Temperature results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002	3-42
Figure 3.4-4	pH results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002	3-43
Figure 3.4-5	Plot of δ ¹⁶ O from surface water samples from Cañon de Valle	3-45
Figure 3.4-6	Nitrogen isotopes (615N) and nitrate concentrations in Cañon de Valle waters	3-45
Figure 3-4-7	Tritium concentrations in TA-16 area surface water and Well 16-02658 groundwater	3-46
Figure 3.4-8	Geophysics HRR results from Cañon de Valle	3-47
Figure 3.4-9	Comparison of δ^{18} O data from shallow wells in Cañon de Valle and on the TA-16 Mesa	3-63
Figure 3.4-10	Meteoric water plot of δ^{18} O and δ D data from shallow wells in Cañon de Valle and on the TA-16 Mesa	3-64
Figure 3.4-11	Meteoric water plot of δ^{18} O and δ D data from shallow wells in Martin Spring Canyon and Cañon de Valle	3~65
Figure 3-4-12	Tritium concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater wells	3-66
Figure 3.4-13	Variations in iron concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and Burning Ground Spring	3-67
Figure 3.4-14	Variations in nitrate concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and Burning Ground Spring	3-68
Figure 3.4-15	Variations in sulfate concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and Burning Ground Spring	3-68
Figure 3.4-16	RDX concentrations for unfiltered alluvial groundwater between 1998 and 2002 in Cañon de Valle	3-69
Figure 3.4-17	Barium concentrations for unfiltered alluvial groundwater between 1998 and 2002 in Cañon de Valle	3-69
Figure 3.4-18	RDX concentration in unfiltered alluvial groundwater from Well 16-02659 as a function of saturated thickness between 1998 and 2002	3-70
Figure 3.4-19	Barium concentration in unfiltered alluvial groundwater from Well 16-02659 as a function of saturated thickness between 1998 and 2002	3-70
Figure 3.4-20	RDX mass flow rate as a function of distance from the 260 outfall in Cañon de Valle	3-71

Figure 3.4-21	Barium mass flow rate as a function of distance from the 260 outfall in Cañon de Valle
Figure 3.4-22	RDX concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for March 27, 2001 snowmelt event in Cañon de Valle
Figure 3.4-23	Barium concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for March 27, 2001 snowmelt event in Cañon de Valle
Figure 3.4-24	RDX concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for September 18, 1998 post-monsoon precipitation event in Cañon de Valle
Figure 3.4-25	Barium concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for September 18, 1998 post-monsoon precipitation event in Cañon de Valle
Figure 3.4-26	Location of sampling lines for the geomorphic sediment study
Figure 3.4-27	Maximum concentrations of RDX in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvíal groundwater, springs, and seeps
Figure 3.4-28	Most recent concentrations of RDX in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springs, and seeps
Figure 3.4-29	Maximum concentrations of barium in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springs, and seeps
Figure 3.4-30	Most recent concentrations of barium in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springs, and seeps
Figure 3.4-31	Most recent concentrations of RDX in Cañon de Valle sediment
Figure 3.4-32	Most recent concentrations of barium in Cañon de Valle sediment
Figure 3.4-33	Most recent concentrations of RDX in Martin Spring Canyon sediment
Figure 3.4-34	Most recent concentrations of barium in Martin Spring Canyon sediment
Figure 4.1-1	Field personnel conducting monthly maintenance at Martin Spring. Several instruments are deployed at this location. Flow rate, temperature, and conductivity measurements are collected hourly. In the background, there are two stormwater filters which are designed to filter barium and RDX from the spring effluent. View is down-canyon to the east. Photo was taken in November 2002
Figure 4.1-2	SWSC Spring V-notch weir. SWSC Spring has been dry since December 2001. Photo was taken June 2002
Figure 4,1-3	Burning Ground Spring
Figure 4.1-4	Field team member collecting water sample from Location ID 16-05826, 90s Line Pond. Photo was taken in June 2002. View is to the northwest
Figure 4.1-5	Location map for intermediate-depth boreholes, springs, and 90s Line Pond 4-5
Figure 4.4-1a	Concentration versus time for barium at Martin Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 μ g/L (off-scale). Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Figure 4.4-1b	Concentration versus time for barium at SWSC Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8. Note that SWSC Spring stopped flowing in December 2001

Figure 4.4-1c	Concentration versus time for barium at Burning Ground Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 μ g/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Where temporal trends are significant, p-values and r ² values are shown. Points in red represents samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.	. 4-19
Figure 4.4-2a	Nitrate + nitrite versus barium concentration plot for springs ("Outliers" have been removed)	. 4-21
Figure 4.4-2b	Chloride versus calcium concentration plot for springs	4-21
Figure 4.4-3a	Box plot comparison of calcium at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in μ g/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.	. 4-22
Figure 4.4-3b	Box plot comparison of chloride at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.	. 4-22
Figure 4.4-3c	Box plot comparison of unfiltered iron at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.	. 4-23
Figure 4.4-3d	Box plot comparison of filtered iron at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.	. 4-23
Figure 4.4-3e	Box plot comparison of barium at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers	4 - 24
Figure 4.4-3f	Box plot comparison of nitrate + nitrite (as N) at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represent concentration in $\mu g/L$. Center horizontal line is the median, tower and upper horizont lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers. Note that extreme outliers mentioned in the text were not included in this analysis.	s al ə . 4-24
Figure 4.4-4a.	Concentration versus time for RDX at Martin Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 μ g/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande find	e

...

	(orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Figure 4.4-4b	Concentration versus time for RDX/HMX at Martin Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Figure 4.4-4c	Concentration versus time for RDX at SWSC Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Open symbols are non-detects. Points in red (open or filled) represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Fìgure 4.4-4d	Concentration versus time for RDX/HMX at SWSC Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8. 4-33
Figure 4.4-4e	Concentration versus time for RDX at Burning Ground Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 μ g/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Figure 4.4-4f	Concentration versus time RDX/HMX at Burning Ground Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8
Figure 4.4-5	RDX concentration versus HMX concentration in springs 4-36
Figure 4.4-6a	Box plot comparison of RDX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers 4-36
Figure 4.4-6b	Box plot comparison of HMX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers,, 4-37
Figure 4.4-6c	Box plot comparison of RDX/HMX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third guartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers
Figure 4.4-7	Stable Isotope (δ^{18} O) variations with time in the three TA-16 springs
Figure 4.4-8	Tritium variations with time in the three TA-16 springs 4-50

Figure 4.4-9a	Flow rate time series for Martin Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042)
Figure 4.4-9b	Flow rate time series for SWSC Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042)
Figure 4.4-9c	Flow rate time series for Burning Ground Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042)
Figure 4.4-10	Location map for intermediate-depth perched aquifer wells
Figure 4.4-11a	Example volumetric water content profiles for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond)
Figure 4.4-11b	Example volumetric water content profiles for Well 16-02668 (Building 300)
Figure 4.4-11c	Example volumetric water content profiles the Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon)
Figure 4.4-11d	Example volumetric water content profiles for Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut)
Figure 4.4-12	Pore water chloride profiles for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut); core collected in 1997 4-72
Figure 4.4-13	Cumulative water versus cumulative chloride for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut); core collected in 1997
Figure 4.4-14	Stable isotope (δ ¹⁸ O) and water content profiles for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond); core collected in 1997
Figure 4.4-15	Stable isotope (δ ¹⁸ O) and water content profiles for Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon); core collected in 1997
Figure 4.4-16	Stable isotope (δ ¹⁸ O) and water content profiles for Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut); core collected in 1997
Figure 4.4-17	Meteoric water diagram for data from the transient saturated zones in Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond) and Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon)
Figure 4.5-1	Spring, surface water, and assorted sampling locations
Figure 4.5-2a	Mass of barium versus time at Martin Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown
Figure 4.5-2b	Mass of RDX versus time at Martin Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown
Figure 4.5-2c	Mass of barium versus time at SWSC Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown
Figure 4.5-2d	Mass of RDX versus time at SWSC Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown
Figure 4.5-2e	Mass of barium versus time at Burning Ground Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown
Figure 4.5-2f	Mass of RDX versus time at Burning Ground Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown

Figure 4.5-3a	Plot of barium versus RDX at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3b	Plot of RDX versus HMX at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3c	Plot of iron versus aluminum at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3d	Plot of barium versus RDX at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3e	Plot of RDX versus HMX at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-31	Plot of iron versus aluminum at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3g	Plots of barium versus RDX at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3h	Plot of RDX versus HMX at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-3i	Plot of iron versus aluminum at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-4a	Plots of barium mass versus RDX mass at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-4b	Plots of barium mass versus RDX mass at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 4.5-4c	Plot of barium mass versus RDX mass at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events
Figure 5.1-1	Conceptual model of hydrogeological and contaminant transport for TA-16 and SWMU 16-021(c)-99
Figure 5.2-1	Perennial reach of stream, approximate extent of alluvium, and suspected areas of enhanced infiltration as identified by geophysical surveys
Figure 5.2-2	Conceptual water balance model for the Cañon de Valle alluvial system, with calculated inputs and outputs in terms of gal. per ft of canyon per day
Figure 5-2-3	Comparison of barium and RDX concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater, springs, and surface water for selected flow events from 1998 to 2002
Figure 5.2-4	Conceptual distribution of RDX and barium in the Cañon de Valle vadose zone 5-17

List of Tables

Table 1.1-1	Chronology of RRES-RS Activities at SWMU 16-021(c)-99	1-2
Table 1.4-1	Data Objectives for the Phase III RFI as Defined in the SAP 1	1-15
Table 1.6-1	Table of Appendixes1	1-23
Table 2.2-1	Source Area Post-IM Screening Results and Selection of Laboratory Analytical Samples	2-4
Table 2.3-1	Results of the Inorganic Data Review for Post-Removal IM Soil, Sediment, and Tuff Samples within the Source Area	2-13

Table 2.3-2	Results of the Organic Data Review for Post-Removal IM Soil, Sediment, and Tuff Samples within the Source Area2-15
Table 2.3-3	Results of Bromide Concentrations within the Source Area (Pre-IM) and Underlying the Source Area (Post-IM)
Table 3.3-1	Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis of Surface Water in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
Table 3.3-2	List of Surface Water Sample Locations for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
Table 3.3-3	Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis for Alluvial Groundwater in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
Table 3.3-4	Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis for the Investigation of Peter Seep Dynamics
Table 3.3-5	Summary of Stable Isotope Sampling and Analysis for the Residence Times Investigation at Peter Seep
Table 3.4-1	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Surface Water Samples from Cañon de Valle
Table 3.4-2	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-3	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-4	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-5	Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-6	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-7	Frequency of Detected Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-8	Screening of Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-9	Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples
Table 3.4-10	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-11	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-12	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-13	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-14	Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-15	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-16	Frequency of Detected Tritium in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples 3-60
Table 3.4-17	Screening of Tritium in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples
Table 3.4-18	Retained and Eliminated Tritium for Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples 3-61

*

.

-

Table 3.4-19	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-75
Table 3.4-20	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-77
Table 3.4-21	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-79
Table 3.4-22	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-80
Table 3.4-23	Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-81
Table 3.4-24	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples	. 3-82
Table 3.4-25	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	. 3-83
Table 3.4-26	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	. 3-85
Table 3.4-27	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-87
Table 3.4-28	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	. 3-88
Table 3.4-29	Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-89
Table 3.4-30	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-90
Table 3.4-31	Frequency of Detected Tritium in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-90
Table 3.4-32	Screening of Tritium Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-90
Table 3.4-33	Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples	3-90
Table 3.4-34	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples	3-91
Table 3.4-35	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples	3-92
Table 3.4-36	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples	3-93
Table 3.4-37	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples	3-94
Table 3.4-38	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples	3-95
Table 3.4-39	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples	3-98
Table 3.4-40	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples	. 3-101

Table 3.4-41	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples
Table 3.4-42	Chironomus tentans Toxicity Testing Results for Survival and Growth
Table 3.4-43	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Whole Body Small Mammal Analysis
Table 3.4-44	Table of Retained COPCs for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
Table 4.4-1	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Spring Samples Quarterly Sampling from March 1998 through July 2002
Table 4.4-2	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Spring Samples
Table 4.4-3	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Spring Samples
Table 4.4-4	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Spring Samples from Quarterly Sampling from March 1998 through July 2002 4-26
Table 4.4-5	Screening of Organic Chemicals in Spring Samples 4-27
Table 4.4-6	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Spring Samples
Table 4.4-7	Frequency of Detected Tritium in Spring Samples March 1998 to July 2002 4-38
Table 4.4-8	Screening of Tritium in Spring Samples 4-38
Table 4.4-9	Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Spring Samples
Table 4.4-10	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples March 1998 through July 2002
Table 4.4-11	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples 4-41
Table 4.4-12	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples 4-43
Table 4.4-13	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples March 1998 through July 2002
Table 4.4-14	Screening of Organic Chemical in 90s Line Pond Samples
Table 4.4-15	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples
Table 4.4-16	Frequency of Detected Tritium in 90s Line Pond Samples March 1998 to July 2002
Table 4.4-17	Screening of Tritium in 90s Line Pond Samples 4-46
Table 4.4-18	Retained and Eliminated Results Tritium in 90s Line Pond Samples
Table 4.4-19	Stable Isotope and Nitrate Concentration Values at the TA-16 Springs
Table 4.4-20	Percent New Water from Example Precipitation Events in 1999 4-54
Table 4.4-21	Hydrologic Properties of TA-16 Tuff Samples Collected from Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Wells During Drilling
Table 4.4-22	Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples
Table 4.4-23	Screening of Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples 4-65
Table 4.4-24	Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples
Table 4.4-25	Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples
Table 4.4-26	Screening of Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples 4-69

Table 4.4-27	Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples
Table 4.4-28	Frequency of Detected Tritium in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples 4-70
Table 4.4-29	Screening of Tritium Detected in Intermediate-Depth Wells Perched Aquifer Samples
Table 4.4-30	Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples 4-71
Table 4.4-31	Table of Retained COPCs for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Subsurface System
Table 5.2-1	Physical Properties of RDX, HMX, and TNT 5-16

.

*

.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL or the Laboratory) is a multi-disciplinary research facility owned by the US Department of Energy (DOE) and managed by the University of California. The Laboratory is located in north-central New Mexico, approximately 60 mi northeast of Albuquerque and 20 mi northwest of Santa Fe. The Laboratory site covers approximately 40 mi² of the Pajarito Plateau, which consists of a series of fingerlike mesas separated by deep canyons that contain ephemeral and intermittent streams that run from west to east. Mesa tops range in elevation from approximately 6200 ft to 7800 ft. The eastern portion of the plateau stands 300 to 900 ft above the Rio Grande.

The Laboratory's Risk Reduction and Environmental Stewardship–Remediation Services (RRES-RS) project is involved in a national effort by the DOE to clean up facilities that were formerly involved in weapons production. The goal of the RRES-RS project is to ensure that the DOE's past operations do not threaten human or environmental health and safety in and around Los Alamos County, New Mexico.

This document describes the results of a Phase III RCRA facility investigation (RFI) which was conducted at consolidated Solid Waste Management Unit (SWMU) 16-021(c)-99 from 1999 through 2002. This consolidated SWMU, located within Technical Area 16 (TA-16), includes the TA-16-260 outfall and associated drainage. The Phase III investigation is an integral part of the corrective measures study (CMS) plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3) and the CMS plan addendum and its revision (LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2).

The CMS plan separates the evaluation of transport pathways and the selection of remedial alternatives into an alluvial CMS and regional groundwater CMS.

The alluvial CMS is focused on the Cañon de Valle source area and alluvial system and on the subsurface tuff and saturated system (for example, perched water, SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring in Cañon de Valle, and Martin Spring in Martin Spring Canyon). The Phase III investigation was designed to evaluate interactions among these hydrogeologic systems, to characterize contamination transport through the mesa, and to help define the boundaries of the existing plume(s). Results are presented for the TA-16-260 outfall area as well as the associated hydrogeologic systems potentially impacted by its releases.

This report describes the sampling conducted during the Phase III RFI, examines the analytical results collected for this site, describes and revises the physical and contaminant transport conceptual model developed for the site, and presents human health and ecological risk assessments. Sampling was conducted according to the approach described in the sampling and analysis plan (SAP) which was included in "CMS Plan for Potential Release Site 16-021(c)" (LANL1998, 62413.3). The plan, and its associated Phase III SAP, was approved by NMED in September 1999.

The regional groundwater CMS for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 investigates the extent of contamination in the deep perched zone and the regional aquifer. In addition to Regional Aquifer Well R-25, two additional deep wells have been installed; CdV-R-15-3 and CdV-R-37-2. Three intermediate-depth wells are planned for Cañon de Valle in FY 2004. These wells will help meet the objectives of the Phase III RFI and CMS, although they are not part of this Phase III RFI.

1.1 Purpose and Regulatory Context

The Phase III RFI, including its sampling and analyses, was conducted under the requirements of RCRA and NMHWA. The investigation of SWMU 16-021(c)-99 was performed in accordance with the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments (HSWA) of 1984, and it followed the requirements found in Module VIII of

the Laboratory's Hazardous Waste Facility Permit (EPA 1990, 01585). Module VIII was issued to the Laboratory by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) on May 23, 1990, and was approved on May 4, 1994 (DOE 1994, 35328).

The RCRA corrective action program at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is being implemented in phases. Table 1.1-1 lists the RCRA corrective action program phases and the RCRA-driven actions that have been, or will be, implemented at SWMU 16-021(c)-99.

The purposes of the Phase III RFI are to (1) collect sufficient data to further define the nature and extent of site contamination, and (2) refine the site conceptual model. Specifically, Phase III sampling is designed to assess the interconnectivity between the source area and springs at TA-16, and between the canyon bottom systems and deeper groundwater systems. Phase III sampling was also designed to evaluate the interactions among the springs, surface water, and alluvial groundwater, and the responses of those components of the site hydrogeologic system to precipitation events and flow conditions. Finally, Phase III sampling was designed to assess contaminant storage and redistribution in canyon sediment. Collectively, these lines of investigation were designed to establish the relationships between contaminant concentration variability and migration and the site hydrogeologic system behavior.

The Phase III data also augment data from previous investigations to support the performance of sitespecific risk assessments and to support the CMS. The objective of the risk assessments are to quantify the potential risks, if any, to human and ecological receptors from exposure to site-related contaminants. The CMS provides a preliminary evaluation of technologies used to remediate contamination at the site, remedial alternatives, characterization of contaminant transport (as detailed in the Phase III SAP), and remedial action designs. Remedial actions are then implemented to mitigate any threat to human health and the environment by removing, containing, or treating contaminated media until established target levels are attained.

Date	Activity (Reference)	Synopsis of Activity
1990	RCRA facility assessment (RFA) (LANL SWMU Report 1990, 07512)	RFA initial site assessment is completed. Prior studies are summarized, and document extensive contamination in TA-16-260 sump water.
July 1993	Phase I RFI work plan— site characterization plan (LANL 1993, 20948)	"RFI Work Plan for Operable Unit 1082" is issued. Plan addresses Phase I sampling at SWMU 16-021(c).
May 1994	First addendum to Phase I RFI work plan (LANL 1994, 52910)	"RFI Work Plan for Operable Unit 1082, Addendum 1" is issued. Plan is approved by NMED in January 1995.
April 1995– November 1995	Phase I RFI site characterization	Phase I RFI is implemented, including Phase I investigation of SWMU 16-021(c)-99.
1995–1996	Interim action (IA)—best management practices (BMPs) (LANL 1996, 53838)	Sandbag dam and diversion pipe are installed upgradient from the former high explosives (HE) pond; sandbag dam is located east of the parking lot behind TA-16-260; geotextile fabric matting is placed in former HE pond area; eight hay bale check dams are placed within the SWMU drainage between the rock dam and the 15-ft-high cliff.

Table 1.1-1 Chronology of RRES-RS Activities at SWMU 16-021(c)-99

Date	Activity (Reference)	Synopsis of Activity
September 1996	Phase I RFI report (LANL 1996, 55077)	Phase I RFI report is issued. Data show widespread HE contamination at SWMU 16-021(c)-99, extending from the 260 outfall discharge point down to the sediment and waters of Cañon de Valle. Report is approved by NMED in March 1998.
September 1996	Phase II RF1 work plan (part of LANL 1996, 55077)	Phase II RFI work plan is included in Phase I RFI report. Report is approved by NMED in March 1998.
November 1, 1996– December 23, 1996; May 1997– November 9, 1997	Phase II RFI site characterization	Phase II RFI is implemented at SWMU 16-021(c)-99.
September 1998	Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891)	Phase II RFI report is issued. Data confirm widespread HE contamination extending from the 260 outfall discharge point down to the sediment and waters of Cañon de Valle and show deeper subsurface contamination. Up to 1% total HE is detected in surge bed at a depth of 17 ft. Report documents risk to human health and the environment. Report is approved by NMED in September 1999.
September 30, 1998	CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3)	CMS plan is issued. Alternatives are evaluated. Report includes Phase III RFI sampling plan and describes ongoing hydrogeologic investigations for the site. Report is approved by NMED in September 1999.
October 1998– present	Phase III RFI site characterization	Continued monitoring and sampling are used to characterize the temporal and spatial variability of site contamination; components of the site hydrogeologic system are undergoing continued evaluation.
October 1998– present	CMS—ongoing evaluation of alternatives	CMS is initiated. Series of soil and water corrective measures technologies are evaluated. Investigation of components of the site hydrogeologic system continues.
September 30, 1999	Addendum to CMS plan (LANL 1999, 64873.3)	Addendum to CMS plan is issued. Addendum expands investigations to include deeper perched and regional groundwater potentially impacted by releases from SWMU 16-021(c)-99.
November 1999	Interim measure (IM) plan—abatement of potential risks at the source area (LANL 2000, 64355.4)	IM plan is issued. Plan specifies removal of the highly contaminated soil and tuff identified in the 260 outfall drainage channel. Plan is aproved by NMED in April 2002.
November 12, 1999–November 18, 2000	Abatement of ongoing risks is initiated	TA-16-260 IM begins. Activities are interrupted by Cerro Grande fire. Initial stage of project is completed in November 2000.
January 7, 2000	Contained-in determination (NMED 2000, 64730)	NMED memo of contained-in determination is sent to the Laboratory (J. Brown) and DOE-ER (T. Taylor).
April 4, 2000	Designation of area of contamination (NMED 2000, 70649)	NMED designates SWMU 16-021(c)-99 an area of contamination. Purpose of designation is to allow material from entire drainage area to be excavated, processed, and segregated without invoking RCRA land disposal restrictions. Excavated material considered potentially hazardous waste is staged in covered piles within area-of-contamination boundary.

Date	Activity (Reference)	Synopsis of Activity
June 5, 2000	In situ blending authorization (NMED 2000, 67094)	NMED authorizes in situ blending in memo sent to the Laboratory and DOE. To ensure worker health and safety during the IM and after, settling pond soil is robotically blended in situ with clean or low HE concentration material to reduce maximum concentration of settling pond sediment to below-reactive limit.
August 4, 2001– October 13, 2001	Abatement of ongoing risks is completed	Remobilization and removal of isolated areas containing more than 100 mg/kg of RDX (cyclotrimethylenetrinitramine) is completed. Waste disposal stage of project is completed.
July 2002	260 outfall IM report (LANL 2002, 73706)	IM results are presented in IM report. Report is approved by NMED in January 2003.
March 2003	Revision 1 to CMS plan addendum—evaluation of alternatives (LANL 2003, 75986.2)	Addendum to CMS plan is updated. Investigation into deeper perched and regional groundwater and deeper vadose zone potentially impacted by releases from SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is expanded further. Plan is approved by NMED in March 2003.
September 2003	Phase III RFI report issued (this document)	Report focuses on investigations into the surface water, alluvial groundwater, canyon sediment, and springs in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Report includes analysis of data generated since Phase II RFI report (post-1998) and baseline risk assessments using a comprehensive database of both pre- and post-1998 data and emphasizes greater understanding of site hydrogeology and contaminant behavior. Report presents human health baseline risk assessments, one for source area, one for a selected reach of Cañon de Valle. In addition, a baseline ecological risk assessment is performed for that reach of Cañon de Valle.
November 2003	CMS report for alluvial system will be issued— corrective measures evaluated/selected	CMS report for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 alluvial system will be issued. Report is a companion document to Phase III RFI report and relies heavily on the understanding of site hydrogeology and contaminant behavior outlined in that document. Report evaluates potential remedial technologies for each media and proposes appropriate technologies.
March 2006	CMS report issued for regional groundwater system—corrective measures evaluated/selected	CMS report for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 deep perched and regional groundwater system will be issued. Data will be used to support risk assessments that include the deep perched saturated zone and the regional aquifers as pathways.
Pending	Corrective measures implementation (CMI)	Final evaluation, selection, and design of selected treatment technology for impacted site media will be presented. CMI will include refinements to long-term monitoring program and criteria for establishing the attainment of media cleanup standards.
Pending	Long-term monitoring	Verification that remedies are/were effective.

Table 1.1-1 (continued)

1.2 Facility Location and Background

TA-16 is located in the southwest corner of the Laboratory (Figure 1.2-1). It covers 2410 acres, or 3.8 mi². The land is a portion of that acquired by the Department of Army for the Manhattan Project in 1943. TA-16 is bordered by the Bandelier National Monument along State Highway 4 to the south, and by the Santa Fe National Forest along State Highway 501 to the west. To the north and east, it is bordered by

TA-8, -9, -11, -14, -15, -37, and -49. TA-16 is fenced and posted along State Highway 4. Water Canyon, a 200-ft-deep ravine with steep walls, separates State Highway 4 from active sites at TA-16. Cañon de Valle forms the northern border of TA-16. Security fences surround the production facilities. A complete discussion of the TA-16 environmental setting is presented in Appendix B to this report.

The administrative boundary for the CMS is shown in Figure 1.2-2. The boundary runs along State Highway 501, which coincides with the Pajarito fault, to the west, and follows the basin divides between Water Canyon and Cañon de Valle to the south, as far as Martin Spring Canyon, Pajarito Canyon, and Cañon de Valle to the north. These basin divides converge at the confluence of Cañon de Valle and Water Canyon. This area will be referred to as the Cañon de Valle basin. The areal extent of the study includes all the surface and subsurface terrain within the boundary except (1) individual SWMUs and associated downgradient areas to the edge of Cañon de Valle, and (2) Fishladder Seep and its sub-basin. These potential contaminant sources are being addressed within the scope of other RRES-RS activities.

The administrative boundary is designed to incorporate contaminant sources and the fate and transport mechanisms of the Cañon de Valle basin. The TA-16-260 outfall is considered the major source of contaminants in the basin. Monitoring and data analysis at the basin scale will support decisions about conducting remedial activities at other potential contaminant source locations as well.

1.2.1 Facility History and Operations

TA-16 was established for the purposes of developing explosive formulations, casting and machining explosive charges, and assembling and testing explosive components for the US nuclear weapons program. Almost all the work has been conducted in support of the development, testing, and production of explosive charges for the implosion method. Present-day use of this site is essentially unchanged, although facilities have been upgraded and expanded as explosive and manufacturing technologies have advanced.

The TA-16-260 facility, in operation since 1951, is an HE machining building that processes large quantities of HE. Machine turnings and HE wash water are routed as waste to 13 sumps associated with the building. Historically, discharge from the sumps was routed to the TA-16-260 outfall (also known as the 260 outfall); at one point, discharge was reportedly as high as several million gal. per year (LANL 1994, 76858).

During the late 1970s, the 260 outfall was permitted to operate by the EPA as EPA Outfall No. 05A056 under the Laboratory's National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit (EPA 1990, 12454.2). The last NPDES permitting effort for this TA-16-260 outfall occurred in 1994. The NPDES-permitted TA-16-260 outfall was deactivated in November 1996; it was officially removed from the Laboratory's NPDES permit by the EPA in January 1998. This waste stream is currently managed by pumping the sumps and treating the water at the TA-16 HE wastewater plant.



Figure 1.2-1. Location of TA-16 with respect to Laboratory technical areas and surrounding landholdings; Building 260 is also shown







Both the TA-16-260 outfall and the drainage channel from the TA-16-260 outfall are contaminated with HE and barium. The sumps and drainlines of this facility are designated as SWMU 16-003(k), and the TA-16-260 outfall and drainage are designated as SWMU 16-021(c) in Module VIII of the Laboratory's Hazardous Waste Facility Permit (EPA 1990, 01585). Following LANL's SWMU consolidation effort, the two former SWMUs are now collectively referred to as SWMU 16-021(c)-99. Prior to the Phase I and II RFIs at SWMU 16-003(k) and 16-021(c), known contaminants included barium, RDX, TNT (trinitrotoluene), and HMX (cyclotetramethylenetetranitramine). Suspected contaminants included other HE compounds, additional inorganic chemicals, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), semivolatile organic compounds (SVOCs), and uranium.

1.2.2 SWMU Descriptions

SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is a Laboratory consolidation of two designated SWMUs: 16-003(k) and 16-021(c).

SWMU 16-003(k) comprises 13 sumps and approximately 1200 ft of associated drainlines or troughs that lead from the HE machining building (TA-16-260) to the TA-16-260 outfall. HE-contaminated water flowed from the sumps into the concrete drainlines and ultimately to the 260 outfall, located approximately 200 ft east of Building 260. Building 260 is located on the north side of TA-16 (Figure 1.2-3). The structure was originally built in 1951; minor modifications were made to the structure at a later date.

SWMU 16-021(c) is comprised of a well-defined upper drainage channel fed directly by the 260 outfall, a former settling pond, and a lower drainage channel leading to Cañon de Valle. The former settling pond, which was removed during the 2000 IM, was approximately 50 ft long, 20 ft wide, and located within the upper drainage channel, approximately 45 ft below the 260 outfall. The upper drainage channel runs approximately 600 ft northeast from the 260 outfall to the bottom of Cañon de Valle. A 15-ft near-vertical cliff is located approximately 400 ft from the 260 outfall and marks the break between the upper and lower drainage channels.

A small settling pond approximately 55 ft long was originally part of SWMU 16-021(c)-99. HEcontaminated water from the 260 outfall entered the settling pond about 40 ft from the outfall. The settling pond and 260 outfall drainage channel are significant sources of the contamination identified in downgradient components of the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 hydrogeologic system. An IM was conducted during 2000 and 2001, and more than 1300 yd³ of contaminated soil were excavated from the settling pond and channel. Approximately 90% of the HE that existed in the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area was removed during the IM (LANL 2002, 73706). The residual contamination in the source area is addressed in this report and through the ongoing CMS.





1.2.3 Adjacent Land Use

The land adjacent to the 260 outfall site is dedicated to continued Laboratory operations. Other SWMUs located in the vicinity of the 260 outfall are shown in Figure 1.2-4. The SWMUs with the greatest potential influence on the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 investigation are described below.

- Material Disposal Area (MDA) R (SWMU 16-019)—This MDA is located north of the 260 outfall area. MDA R was constructed in the mid-1940s and used as a burning ground and disposal area for waste explosives and possibly other debris. Potential contaminants at this MDA include HE, HE byproducts, and metals (particularly barium). Use of the site was discontinued in the early 1950s. Soil removal and site investigations were conducted at MDA R following the Cerro Grande fire (LANL 2001, 69971.2).
- The burning ground SWMUs [16-010(b,c,d,e,f), 16-010(h)-99, 16-028(a), and 16-016(c)-99]— These SWMUs are located on a level portion of the mesa in the northeast corner of TA-16. The burning ground was constructed in 1951 for HE waste treatment and disposal. Over the years, hundreds of thousands of pounds of HE and HE-contaminated waste material have been burned at this location. The remaining noncombustible material was subsequently either placed in MDA P, north of the burning ground (through 1984), or taken to TA-54 for disposal (1984 to present). A barium nitrate pile was located at the TA-16 burning ground for many years. Site investigations were conducted at several of these SWMUs in 1995 and later (LANL 2003, 76876). Information was also obtained from investigations conducted between 1997 and 2002 at Flash Pad 387 and the consolidated SWMU 16-016(c)-99. Flash Pad 387 underwent clean closure and the sites representing consolidated SWMU 16-016(c)-99 underwent voluntary corrective action (VCA) concurrently with the MDA P clean closure.
- MDA P (SWMU 16-018)—This MDA contained wastes from the synthesis, processing, and testing of HE; residues from the burning of HE-contaminated equipment; and construction debris. HE waste-disposal activities at this site started in the early 1950s and ceased in 1984. The site is located on the south slope of Cañon de Valle. MDA P recently underwent a cleanup under RCRA in which approximately 55,000 yd³ of soil and debris were removed (LANL 2003, 76876).
- The 90s Line Pond portion of consolidated SWMU 16-008(a)-99 [former SWMU 16-008(a)]—The 90s Line Pond is an inactive unlined settling pond located a few hundred feet west of Building 260. The pond may have received HE, barium, uranium, and organic chemicals from machining operations discharge from TA-16-89, -90, -91, -92, and -93. As recently as 2002, HE solids were observed at the pond area.

All these SWMUs contain (or did contain, prior to closure, as in the case of MDA P) contaminants similar to those found in SWMU 16-021(c)-99, and all drain into Cañon de Valle. Furthermore, the 90s Line Pond contained standing water that may have created a persistent increase in hydraulic head and could have caused the migration of contaminants and contributed to the effects observed in the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon alluvial systems.



Figure 1.2-4. Significant SWMUs in the vicinity of SWMU 16-021(c)-99

According to the Laboratory's comprehensive site plan of 2000 and and its 2001 update (LANL 2000, 76100; LANL 2001, 70210), future land use at TA-16 is designated as HE research and development and HE testing. Most areas within TA-16 are active sites for the Engineering Science and Application (ESA) Division of the Laboratory, and construction of new buildings and other facilities in the area is possible.

1.3 Previous Investigations

Data have been collected for the 260 outfall [SWMU 16-021(c)] since the early 1970s and have indicated substantially elevated HE contamination in the sediment, outfall, and sump water. Levels up to 27 wt % (270,000 ppm) of HMX and RDX had been documented in the area of the former pond. The data showed HE contamination extending from the discharge point to Cañon de Valle (Baytos 1971, 05913; Baytos 1976, 05920). The historical data have been summarized in the Phase I and II RFI reports for SWMUs 16-003(k) and 16-021(c) (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998, 59891).

This section provides a summary of data from the Phase I and II RFIs and the IM. All available data for the site are used in this Phase III RFI report to build a physical site model that supports risk-assessment and CMS activities. Specific issues regarding the use of the different data sets are addressed in the data sections of this report.

1.3.1 Source Area Investigation

The Phase I RFI primarily consisted of surface sampling within the drainage area. The Phase II RFI included sampling surface and near-surface material within the drainage and sampling 13 boreholes (BHs) drilled to depths between 17 and 115 ft in and near the drainage. The Phase II RFI also included extensive field-screening using immunoassay methods for RDX and TNT as well as laboratory sampling for HE and other chemicals.

Elevated concentrations of HE and barium were reported within the drainage from the surface down to the soil/tuff interface. Soil depths were about 5.5 ft below the ground surface (bgs) in the former settling pond area and drainage (about 40 to 95 ft downstream from the outfall); soil depths were only about 1 ft bgs close to the mesa (300 to 400 ft downstream from the outfall).

Phase I and II surface sampling showed surface contamination did not extend laterally beyond the reasonably well-defined drainage. Concentrations of the major contaminants (barium and HMX, RDX, and TNT) were downgradient within the drainage and decreased rapidly beyond the settling pond, although substantial levels of HMX and barium were present at the base of the colluvial slope in Cañon de Valle.

Subsurface sampling indicated concentrations also decreased rapidly below the soil/tuff interface. However, up to 1000 mg/kg of HE was found in tuff, within the uppermost tuff unit (Unit 4 of the Tshirege Member of the Bandelier Tuff, Qbt 4), beneath the upper part of the drainage and including the former settling pond area. Almost 1 wt% (10,000 ppm) HE was reported in a saturated sample from BH 16-2700 encountered at a depth of about 17 ft beneath the former settling pond (LANL 1998, 59891). The sample was collected from a surge bed within Unit 4 of the Tshirege Member of the Bandelier Tuff. Below the level of this surge bed, HE was observed only sporadically and at much lower concentrations (less than 5 mg/kg). However, thin surge bed deposits were reported in BH 16-06370, drilled into the center of the former settling pond during the IM (see section 1.3.4 of the IM report), at depths of 40 ft and 46 ft bgs, indicating multiple potential transmissive zones at depth (LANL 2002, 73706).

HE and barium were the principal contaminants found at the 260 outfall, although several other metals, including cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, vanadium, and zinc, were consistently observed above background levels in the drainage. Other organic compounds (SVOCs, VOCs, and PCBs) were

also detected in one to four samples each. Details and results from the Phase I and II RFIs are presented in two RFI reports (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998, 59891).

1.3.2 Alluvial System Investigation

Sampling in the Cañon de Valle alluvial system included collection of surface and subsurface sediment, three pairs of overbank sediment samples, filtered and unfiltered surface water, and one quarterly round of filtered and unfiltered alluvial groundwater. These samples were collected during three different investigations which took place in 1994, 1996, and 1997/1998, respectively.

Barium was the most abundant inorganic contaminant in sediment. For the surface samples, barium ranged from 6.3 mg/kg to 40,300 mg/kg. Other inorganic chemicals consistently above the background levels included cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, vanadium, and zinc. Several types of HE were detected: the amino-dinitrotoluenes (A-DNTs), HMX, nitrobenzene, 3-nitrotoluene, RDX, 1,3,5-trinitrobenzene (TNB), and trinitrotoluene (TNT). The two HE compounds highest in abundance and concentration were HMX and RDX. Their maxima were 170 mg/kg and 42 mg/kg, respectively.

Surface water samples and alluvial groundwater samples from the five alluvial wells and Peter Seep were collected in Cañon de Valle. Filtered/unfiltered sample pairs were collected during 1994 and 1997/98; primarily unfiltered samples were collected in 1996. The differences in concentration between the filtered and unfiltered samples are small. The inorganic chemicals identified as chemicals of potential concern (COPCs) in all water were antimony, barium, chromium, lead, manganese, mercury, nickel, vanadium, and zinc. Barium is the most abundant, with concentrations ranging from 99 µg/L to 16,000 µg/L. As in the sediment, HE appears to be the other major COPC in Cañon de Valle surface water and alluvial groundwater. The HE COPCs identified were A-DNTs, HMX, nitrobenzene, 2-nitrotoluene, RDX, TNB, and TNT. RDX is the HE highest in concentration, with a maximum concentration of 818 µg/L in surface water. All contaminants decrease downgradient from Peter Seep to the confluence with Water Canyon (LANL 1998, 59891).

1.3.3 Subsurface System Investigation

The intermediate-depth perched aquifer investigation included drilling five wells (91 to 207 ft) at locations likely to intersect the saturated zones at TA-16. The local trend of subunit-subunit contacts is to the north and east. Three of these wells intersected ephemeral perched water. In each case, the water dissipated in less than 1 month. Analysis of this perched water indicated low concentrations (generally ppb) of contamination.

The springs investigation included quarterly sampling of SWSC, Burning Ground, and Martin Springs. Results indicate all three springs are contaminated with RDX and other HE. Several major cations and anions, including calcium, magnesium, sodium, and boron, were detected. Boron is particularly elevated (1800 μ g/L) in Martin Spring. Aluminum, iron, barium, phosphate, and nitrate were also elevated. Although low levels (ppb) of VOCs have been detected in all three springs, detections were sporadic and occurred primarily during the quarterly sampling round of June 1997.

Time-series analysis of the springs data indicates extreme variability in the concentration of constituents (up to a factor of 20 in RDX concentration at Martin Spring). Similarities in element variability and flow rate changes over time indicate that SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring are hydrogeologically related, but that Martin Spring probably represents a different hydrogeological system.

A potassium bromide tracer was deployed at SWMU 16-021(c) during April 1997. A breakthrough of bromide ions was observed in SWSC Spring during August 1997. Bromide breakthrough may also have
occurred at Burning Ground Spring during August 1997, but the effects were more subtle, due to partial masking by variability in all the anions (LANL 1998, 59891). This indicates that the springs are hydrologically connected to the SWMU 16-021(c) source area.

1.3.4 IM at the 260 Outfall

An IM was conducted from the winter of 2000 through the summer of 2001 to remove contaminated material from the 260 outfall drainage area. It successfully removed the bulk of contamination from the outfall drainage channel. More than 1300 yd³ of contaminated soil were excavated and disposed of at off-site facilities. Of this amount, more than 200 yd³ of characteristic hazardous waste for reactivity (D003), which contained HE in concentrations of approximately 2 wt% (20,000 ppm), were treated by the selected disposal facility prior to final disposition. An IM report for SWMU 16-021(c)-99, which was completed in 2002, details the activities and results (LANL 2002, 73706).

1.4 Conceptual Understanding and Approach

TA-16 is a complex site in terms of geohydrologic behavior and contaminant fate and transport, and there are many uncertainties associated with the conceptual model. The most thorough conceptual model going into the Phase III RFI was detailed in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891) and is summarized below.

- Saturated flow systems occur in different forms. These include the alluvial surface water and groundwater in Cañon de Valle; the SWSC, Burning Ground, and Martin Springs; and the 90s Line Pond.
- The saturated systems that feed the springs are hypothesized to be flow through localized fracture zones or surge beds.
- Recharge of the saturated zones may occur via various sources and processes, including the Pajarito fault zone, the steam plant drainage, and the 90s Line Pond.
- Recharge may also occur via transient saturated flow or via matrix or porous media flow.
- The 260 outfall was a primary source of contamination for SWSC Spring and possibly Burning Ground Spring. Contaminants in Martin Spring may have come from a source other than the 260 outfall. Martin Spring chemistry and flow behavior is substantially different from those of the Cañon de Valle springs.

Although the hydrogeological system is better understood and the conceptual model is more clearly defined following the Phase III investigation, many of the same questions that were asked after the Phase II RFI remain.

These questions may be translated into specific data needs. The approach to Phase III data collection was focused on answering these questions and on improving the understanding of the conceptual model. The data collection objectives are summarized in Table 1.4-1 and the sampling plan is detailed in the CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3).

Overall, the approach to the RFI/CMS at the 260 outfall has been tailored to focus on source identification together with the delineation of soil and sediment contamination and confirmation of groundwater and surface water contamination. During this process, the data have been continually evaluated to determine

if contamination is present, if it presents a potential risk to human health or the environment, if it has been sufficiently delineated, and what further action(s) is needed.

Based on current understanding of the site, the conceptual model for the 260 outfall includes a complex set of contaminant transport pathways and hydrogeologic features. Contaminant transport pathways are structurally controlled in the underlying Bandelier Tuff by fractures and other preferential pathways such as surge beds between tuff units. Major uncertainties in the conceptual model result from this complexity, particularly regarding the location of saturated zones in the subsurface and associated contaminant transport pathways at the site. The presence of the saturated zones may also be seasonal or episodic. Further study of the site is warranted to understand the dynamics of contaminant transport and to determine the effects of post-remedial actions. Even as more data are collected at the site, substantial uncertainties may remain in the conceptual model. It is not necessary or feasible to determine the exact extent of contamination at the site in a detailed and spatially explicit manner. Extent can only be described in an overall sense based on current understanding and on monitoring data as they are obtained. Sufficient understanding of the site will be obtained for the purposes of selecting and implementing corrective measures that will mitigate potential risk to human and ecological receptors.

Technical Category	Investigative Questions	RFI Sampling Program	Location in Phase III RFI Report
Hydraulic connectivity	 How is the 260 outfall connected to TA- 16 springs and seeps? 	Potassium bromide tracer inventory—continued sampling of springs and seeps to detect tracer	Section 2.2.2
	2. Are there other transport pathways that connect directly to perched groundwater or regional groundwater?	Perched groundwater intermediate borehole drilling (5 BHs)	Section 4.4.2.2
		Regional groundwater drilling (not covered in this report)	Not applicable
Residence times	 How long does it take water to travel from a recharge point(s) to the TA-16 	Precipitation sampling and stable isotope analysis	Section 3.4.2.1.4, Appendix B
	springs and seeps?	Spring/seep sampling for isotopic analysis	Section 4.4.2.2.9, Appendix B
Alluvial water dynamics	 What is the overall water balance in Cañon de Valle? Does the perennial reach have unidentified losing stretches? 	Monitoring surface and subsurface discharge profiles in perennial reach (6 alluvial wells, 15 stream profile locations)	Section 3.4.2.1.4, Appendix H
		Precipitation measurement and sampling	Section 3.4.2.1.4, Appendix B
		Geophysical surveys	Section 3.4.2.1.4, Appendix D
		Calculating overall water balance	Section 5.2.5, Appendix N
	2. What is the nature of the Martin Spring Canyon alluvial water dynamics?	Water sampling and analysis; installed 3 alluviat wells	Section 3.4.2.3 and 3.4.2.4

 Table 1.4-1

 Data Objectives for the Phase III RFI as Defined in the SAP

Technical Category	Investigative Questions	RFI Sampling Program	Location in Phase III RFI Report
Alluvial sediment dynamics	1. What are the contaminant inventories in the active channel and overbank deposits in Cañon	Geomorphic mapping/sampling and analysis of deposits	Section 3.4.2.5, Appendix E
	de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon?	Resampling and analysis of channel deposits	Section 3.4.2.5
	2. Are these channel and overbank deposits a secondary source of contamination to alluvial water?	Sampling and analysis of geomorphic units	Section 3.4.2.5, Appendix E
	3. How is contaminated sediment being transported and redeposited (redistribution) in the alluvial system?	Geomorphic mapping	Appendix E
	4. How will this redistribution of contaminated sediment affect future concentrations and inventories in areas both within the TA-16 CMS administrative boundaries and downstream of the administrative boundaries?	Geomorphic mapping	Section 3.4.2.5, Appendix E
Spring and seep dynamics	 How do contaminant concentrations change with discharge, season, runoff, and precipitation? 	Discharge measurements at springs and collection of flow- integrated water samples	Section 4.4.2.1, Appendix H, Appendix I-3
	2. At TA-16, do contaminants at the springs and seeps have the same sources or different subsets of sources?	Isotopic data	Section 4.4.2.2.9
	3. What is the extent of Peter Seep?	Measurement of head/foot location	Section 3.4.2.1.4
		Water sampling and analysis	Section 3.4.2.1.4

Table 1.4-1 (continued)

Source: LANL 1998, 62413.3.

To complete the RFI/CMS at this site, activities will continue to be performed in compliance with the following documents:

- A CMS plan (issued in September 1998 [LANL 1998, 59891])—the CMS plan includes a
 preliminary evaluation of technologies that can be applied to the source area contaminated
 soil, alluvial sediment, spring water, and surface water; a process and criteria for evaluating
 remedial alternatives; a Phase III SAP for characterizing contaminant transport through the
 mesa, to the springs, and to the alluvial system; and a design strategy for long-term
 monitoring to assess trends in contaminant concentrations and fluxes over time.
- An IM plan (issued in November 1999 [LANL 1999, 64355.4])—this plan details the source removal effort needed to accomplish the IM and considers practical engineering approaches. The plan includes a SAP that characterizes the extent of contamination remaining in the environment following source removal.

- An IM report (issued in September 2002 [LANL 2002, 73706])—the IM was conducted from winter 2000 through summer 2001. The report documents the results of removing contamination from the 260 outfall source area. It details post-remediation characterization and bromide inventory sampling.
- A Phase III RFI report (this report)—this report documents the results of the Phase III data collection, the conceptual model refinement, and the post-IM characterization. The report includes human health as well as ecological site-specific risk assessments, both of which will be used during the CMS.
- An alluvial CMS report (to be issued in November 2003)—this report will focus on the contaminants remaining in the unsaturated subsurface and the alluvial system in Cañon de Valle. The intermediate and regional groundwater CMS report (scheduled to be issued in March 2006) will focus on the extent of contaminants in the deep perched zone and the regional aquifer. Remedial alternatives and long-term monitoring requirements will be addressed in both reports.

Throughout the completion of the CMS at this site, the technical team will continue to work closely with the Groundwater Protection Program and the Canyons Investigations Team to complete data collection activities using compatible and consistent approaches. Following the completion of the CMS for the 260 outfall, the Groundwater Investigations Team and the Canyons Investigations Team will conduct further evaluations of the Cañon de Valle groundwater system.

1.5 COPC Screening Methodology for Human Health Risk

In order to identify which chemicals are COPCs for SWMU 16-021(c)-99, all chemicals detected in either solid media (soil, sediment, or tuff, hereinafter collectively referred to as sediment) or water are subjected to a screening methodology. The screening methodologies for sediment and water are depicted in Figures 1.5-1 and 1.5-2, respectively, and described in this section. The SWMU 16-021(c)-99 screening methodology evaluates COPCs based on the following criteria: (1) detect status and frequency of detection; (2) comparison to Laboratory-wide BVs (LANL, 1998, 09730) for solid media; (3) comparison to state and/or federal promulgated standards for water; and (4) screening action levels (SALs) for sediment, soil, and tuff. Steps 1 through 3 are described within sections 3.0 and 4.0 of this report. Step 4 is described in the risk assessments provided in Appendix K. Chemicals that fail screening are retained as COPCs and are evaluated in one or more subsequent analyses: (1) a statistical analysis for background concentrations (soil, sediment, and tuff), provided in Appendix I-1; (2) a geochemical analysis to determine site-specific naturally occurring concentrations (water only), provided in Appendix I-2; (3) an uncertainty analysis, provided in Appendix K; and (4) risk assessments, provided in Appendix K. This prioritized screening process is consistent with the COPC evaluation methods presented in EPA's Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund (RAGS) (EPA 1989, 08021).

General chemistry cations/anions and related parameters that are not relevant to human health risk assessment have been eliminated from the screening methodology and are not presented in the frequency-of-detected-chemicals tables or screening tables. Specifically, the eliminated cations/anions and related parameters include alkalinity, ammonia, bromide, chlorate, hardness, iodide, oxalate, phosphorus, orthophosphate (expressed as PO₄), silicon dioxide, total organic carbon, and total phosphorus. Additionally, calcium, sodium, magnesium, potassium, and iron are essential nutrients and are eliminated from human health risk assessment.

Because an IM was conducted for the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area, two separate data screenings are required for Cañon de Valle: (1) a soil and tuff screening of the 260 outfall source area data to identify any post-IM COPCs that might contribute to potential risk, and (2) a baseline sediment and water screening for Cañon de Valle area data in support of a baseline human health risk assessment for the Cañon de Valle canyon bottom. In addition, data screening was conducted for Martin Spring Canyon sediment and water to support a screening risk assessment.

The frequency of detection and background screening for sediment in the 260 outfall source area was conducted as part of the IM. No new soil and tuff data have been collected in the source area since the IM; hence, no additional screening is required. A summary of the IM screening results is provided in section 2.0 (Table 2.3-1 and Table 2.3-2). However, sediment and water sampling in the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon has continued since the Phase II RFI, thus a full screening of post-1998 data is presented in section 3.0, section 4.0, Appendix I-1, and Appendix K. All available data (pre- and post-1998) for sediment and water are evaluated in the risk analyses for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon presented in Appendix K.

1.5.1 Frequency of Detection

Both sediment and water data for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 have been initially evaluated based on how frequently a chemical is detected in a particular medium at a site. Evaluating chemicals based on their frequency of detection is important because infrequently detected chemicals may be artifacts in the data due to sampling, analytical, or other problems, and therefore may not be representative of true site conditions or operations (EPA 1989, 08021). Moreover, chemicals that are not detected in any of the samples taken for a particular medium are commonly eliminated from further analysis because there is no indication that the chemicals are present at the site (EPA 1989, 08021).

For SWMU 16-021(c)-99, all chemicals that reported 0% detection in a particular medium (i.e., a medium for which only U- or UJ-qualified data are reported for that chemical) are eliminated as COPCs with no further evaluation. Without detection, there is no indication that these chemicals are of potential concern for human health and/or the environment at SWMU 16-021(c)-99.

In addition, most chemicals that were analyzed for a particular medium in more than 20 samples, but reported or detected in less than 5% of the samples, are also eliminated. Based on RAGS guidance, these chemicals may be considered data sampling artifacts that do not represent the site's true conditions (EPA 1989, 08021). However, it is important to note that not all chemicals reporting less than 5% detection for a particular medium are eliminated: the decision to eliminate infrequently detected chemicals from further COPC evaluation depends on whether adequate detection limits are reported for the chemicals in question. Laboratory analytical methods such as dilution and matrix effects can cause detection limits to become elevated which then introduces a level of uncertainty into the data (see Appendix F). For SWMU 16-021(c)-99 data, the evaluation of adequate detection limits is based on whether they are below a chemical's designated benchmark concentration (e.g., a screening level) or regulatory standard. In samples for which the detection limit exceeds the defined benchmark concentration, the chemical is retained for further evaluation.







Figure 1.5-2. COPC screening methodology for water

1.5.2 Comparison to Laboratory-Wide BVs (Soil, Sediment, and Tuff)

All detected inorganic chemicals (including radionuclides) in SWMU 16-021(c)-99 solid media are screened against the corresponding Laboratory-wide BVs for soil, sediment, and Bandelier Tuff (LANL 1998, 59730). For each chemical, the maximum reported detected value, as well as the maximum reported detection limit, is compared to the corresponding LANL 95% upper tolerance limit (UTL) or BV. Chemicals reporting all data below the 95% BV UTL are eliminated as COPCs. Chemicals reporting either a detected or an undetected concentration exceeding the BV were retained as COPCs and evaluated further. For SWMU 16-021(c)-99, all detected organic chemicals are retained as COPCs and evaluated further.

1.5.3 Comparison to Regulatory Standards (Water Only)

The Laboratory has not established BVs for chemicals in water; therefore, all detected chemicals in SWMU 16-021(c)-99 water are screened against state and federal promulgated water standards that adhered to the following criteria: (1) they are protective of human health and the environment, and/or (2) they are applicable standards for the site.

Both EPA maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) 40 CFR part 141 and 143 (EPA 2002, 76871) and the following New Mexico Water Quality Control Commission (NMWQCC) regulations numeric standards (20.6.2 and 20.6.4 New Mexico Administrative Code [NMAC]) are identified as standards that meet the above criteria and are representative of the conditions found at SWMU 16-021(c)-99:

- NMWQCC surface water (SW) livestock watering standards (20.6.4.900 NMAC)
- NMWQCC SW wildlife habitat standards (20.6.4.900 NMAC)
- NMWQCC groundwater (GW) human health standards (20.6.2.3103 NMAC)
- NMWQCC GW standards for irrigation use (20.6.2.3103 NMAC)
- NMWQCC GW standards for domestic water supply use (20.6.2.3103 NMAC)

The remaining NMWQCC SW standards for (1) irrigation, (2) domestic water supply (superceded by the EPA MCLs screening), (3) human health, and (4) fisheries are not appropriate standards for SWMU 16-021(c)-99. NMWQCC SW standards for irrigation and domestic water supply do not apply to the water at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 because Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water is not currently, nor is it likely to be in the foreseeable future, designated for irrigation or domestic water supply purposes (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 2000, 76100; LANL 2001, 70210). SW standards derived for the protection of human health and fisheries are also not applicable to Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water because the morphology of the stream does not allow water to pool. Therefore no habitat exists to support fish in these systems and human consumption of SW is unreasonable for the canyon systems.

The objective of screening is to identify all COPCs for further evaluation; therefore, the most conservative standard is selected as the screening standard. This conservative approach is most clearly observed in the screening of chemicals for which both a NMWQCC regulations numeric standard and an EPA MCL is available. In this case, the more conservative standard (the lower concentration) is chosen for comparative screening purposes. In the absence of both a NMWQCC regulations numeric standard and an EPA MCL, the corresponding EPA Region 6 tap water preliminary remediation goal (PRG), or a Region 9 PRG if no Region 6 PRG is available, is selected and assigned as the screening limit.

Chemicals for which there is neither a regulatory standard nor a PRG are retained as COPCs and subsequently evaluated in the human health and ecological risk assessments or, if one is available and appropriate, a surrogate chemical is assigned. Using surrogate chemicals provides a more complete screening process. The following criteria are used to select appropriate surrogate chemicals for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 data: structural similarity, isometric form, and impurity and metabolite characteristics. These criteria are outlined in the Laboratory document, "Human Health Risk-Based Screening Methodology" (LANL 2002, 72639). Attachment A to that document provides a short list of chemicals for which LANL has already identified surrogates: these surrogates were adopted and used at SWMU 16-021(c)-99, where applicable. For the additional chemicals found at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 that are not listed in Attachment A, surrogates were selected using the same criteria listed above.

For the screening, either the maximum detected concentration and/or the maximum detection limit for a chemical are evaluated against the screening level. Those chemicals whose maximum detected concentrations exceed the screening standards are retained for further evaluation. Those chemicals for which only the maximum detection limit exceeds the screening level are also retained for further evaluation. Those chemicals for which neither the maximum detected concentration nor the maximum detection limit exceeds the screening level are also retained for further evaluation. Those chemicals for which neither the maximum detected concentration nor the maximum detection limit exceeds the screening level as COPCs.

1.6 Report Organization

This report is organized identically to the Phase II RFI report. The report consists of eight sections and fourteen appendixes. To simplify presentation of such a large volume of complex environmental data, a three-compartment approach—as negotiated between the NMED Hazardous Waste Bureau (HWB) and LANL personnel—has been used for this report. Each of the three compartments represents a major investigation within the Phase III data collection activities: (1) the source area investigation, (2) the alluvial system investigation, and (3) the subsurface system investigation.

The source area investigation and its results are presented in section 2.0. Section 3.0 contains the alluvial system investigation and its results. Section 4.0 presents the subsurface investigation and its results. Section 5 discusses the updated understanding of the site conceptual model. Section 6 summarizes the human health risk assessments for the source area and the Cañon de Valle canyon bottom as well as the ecological risk assessment for Cañon de Valle. (The entire human health and ecological risk assessments are presented in Appendixes K and L, respectively.) Section 7 presents the report conclusions. Section 8 is a reference list that includes all of the documents cited in the body and the appendixes of this report. The parenthetical information following each in-text reference provides the author, publication date, and ER ID number. This information can be used to locate cited documents as follows.

The ER ID number is assigned by RRES-RS to track material associated with RRES-RS activities. All cited documents are assigned ER ID numbers. An ER ID number can be used to help the reader locate a copy of the actual document at the Records Processing Facility (RPF) and, where applicable, within the RRES-RS Reference Library. Copies of this reference library are housed at NMED-HWB, DOE, and the RRES-RS Project Office. This library is a living document that was developed to ensure that NMED has all of the necessary material to review the decisions and actions proposed in documents submitted by RRES-RS. The library will be updated to include appropriate documents cited in this report.

The fourteen appendixes to this report provide additional information about the Phase III RFI and are listed in Table 1.6-1.

Appendix Letter	Appendix Title
Appendix A	List of Acronyms and Glossary
Appendix B	Operational and Environmental Setting
Appendix C	Borehole Logs and Well Completion Diagrams
Appendix D	Geophysical Reports
Appendix E	Evaluation of Sediment Contamination in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon
Appendix F	Results of Quality Assurance/Quality Control Activities
Appendix G	Analytical Suites and Results
Appendix H	Water and Sediment Screening Results: Charts, Tables, and Data Files
Appendix I	Evaluation of Chemical and Physical Data from the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area, Cañon de Valle, and Martin Spring Canyon
Appendix J	Evaluating the Hydrogeochemical Response of Springs Using Singular Spectrum Analysis and Phase-Plane Plots
Appendix K	Human Health Risk Assessments for Cañon de Valle and Screening Risk Assessments for Martin Spring Canyon
Appendix L	Ecological Risk Assessment for Cañon de Valle
Appendix M	Relevant Documents (includes the response to the request for supplemental information for the Phase II RFI report, scheduled for inclusion with the next relevant submittal)
Appendix N	Water Balance Calculation for Cañon de Valle

Table 1.6-1 Table of Appendixes

.

2.0 SOURCE AREA INVESTIGATION

The SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area is composed of a settling pond and an upper and lower drainage channel that extends from the 260 outfall downgradient to the confluence with Cañon de Valle. The source area was excavated during an IM conducted from winter 2000 through summer of 2001. The IM removed more than 1300 yd³ of contaminated soil, sediment, and tuff and approximately 90% of the HE that existed in the source area. Post-removal confirmation sampling was conducted to characterize the residual contamination, and bromide inventory confirmation sampling was conducted to evaluate the mass of bromide tracer in the source area. The IM activities are discussed in detail in the IM report for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 2002, 73706). This section summarizes the post-IM sampling activities and bromide inventory, and expands on the data presentation and data summary presented in the IM report.

2.1 IM Data Needs and Objectives

The overall objective of the IM was to substantially reduce the bulk of the source area contamination, with the intent that it would minimize the potential for contaminant migration (LANL 2002, 73706). Excavation was not intended to remove all contamination or to demonstrate that the IM reached acceptable levels of final cleanup; therefore, final cleanup goals were not established as part of the IM. However, an action criterion of 100 mg/kg for residual RDX concentration was used to guide the excavation.

The objective of the post-IM sampling strategy was to characterize the residual HE and other contaminant concentrations in the surface and near-subsurface in the drainage channel. Sufficient data were collected as part of the IM to support the human health risk assessment as summarized in section 6.0 and detailed in Appendix K of this report. The post-removal characterization data are also used to refine the conceptual model and supplement the CMS data.

The objective of the bromide inventory was to estimate the mass of bromide tracer remaining in and near the source area following the IM. Once the mass of bromide tracer remaining in the source area (where the tracer was applied) is known, as well as the starting mass and the mass of tracer at discharge points, the assumption can be made that the remainder of the tracer remains within (and is migrating in) the subsurface system. This information can clarify the connectivity and transport processes within the complex hydrogeologic system.

2.2 Scope of Sampling and Analysis

The post-removal sampling strategy is discussed in detail in the TA-16-260 IM plan and TA-16-260 IM report (LANL 2000, 64355.4; LANL 2002, 73706) and is summarized below. This section also describes the sampling of the removed source material and subsurface material underlying the settling pond in support of the bromide inventory study.

2.2.1 Field Investigation for Post-Removal Sampling

Surface and near-surface samples were collected during September 2000, immediately following the primary IM removal activities. The ranked-set sampling (RSS) statistical procedure (Patil et al. 1994, 59113) was used to select the location and number of post-removal screening and fixed-laboratory analysis samples.

Forty-five surface and near-surface samples were collected throughout the source area and upper drainage channel for field-screening for HE compounds using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). Based on the HE screening, 15 samples were analyzed at an off-site contract analytical laboratory

for metals, HE, SVOCs, VOCs, and total uranium. Following the IM, isolated areas of RDX concentrations exceeding the 100 mg/kg action criterion were identified from the confirmation sample analyses. Additional soil and tuff removal was conducted at these areas, and five additional confirmation samples were collected during June 2001, after the subsequent removal action. Three of the fifteen original sample locations (16-06379, 16-06390, and 16-06403) were resampled. Two new sample locations were also selected for analysis (16-06378 and 16-06404). The five samples collected during June 2001 were also analyzed for polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs).

Based upon geology and pre-excavation contaminant levels, the surface and near-surface samples were selected from three distinct strata:

- Stratum A---surface material from the excavated drainage channel between the outfall and the edge of the cliff (includes upper drainage channel and settling pond).
- Stratum B—surface material from the drainage channel between the base of the cliff and the drainage channel confluence with Cañon de Valle (includes lower drainage channel).
- Stratum C—subsurface material from the center of the upper drainage channel between the outfall and the cliff.

Selection of the screening samples from each strata is described below:

- Stratum A—18 screening samples were collected along 6 transects (3 samples per transect) spaced at 65-ft intervals from the outfall to the cliff.
- Stratum B—18 screening samples were collected from 6 transects (3 samples per transect) spaced at 42-ft intervals between the base of the cliff and the drainage channel confluence with Cañon de Valle.
- Stratum C—9 screening samples were collected; 1 screening sample was collected from each of 9 locations spaced at 45-ft intervals along the centerline of the upper drainage channel between the outfall and the cliff.

For Stratum A and Stratum B, each transect was considered a discrete set consisting of three samples units (a sample unit being an individual environmental sample). Each set was randomly numbered and then assigned to one of two groups or "RSS cycles." Each of the two RSS cycles in Stratum A and Stratum B therefore consisted of three sets (three transects) and three observations (environmental samples) each. From the groups of screening samples, six analytical laboratory samples were collected from Stratum A, six were collected from Stratum B, and three were collected from Stratum C, for a total of fifteen off-site fixed analytical laboratory samples.

The post-IM screening sample locations and off-site analytical laboratory sample locations are shown on Figure 2.2-1 and are listed in Table 2.2-1.



Table 2.2-1	
Source Area Post-IM Screening Results and Selection of Laboratory Analytical Sam	ples

Location ID	Sample Location	Screening Sample ID	HPLC HMX (mg/kg)	HPLC RDX (mg/kg)	HPLC TNT (mg/kg)	Total HE mg/kg)	Laboratory Sample ID and Sample Selection Basis
16-6378	Stratum A, 65 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1309	312	422	Uª	734	Sampled in June 2001, RDX concentration exceeded 100 mg/kg
16-6379	Stratum A; 65 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center. RSS Set #5	RE16-00-1310	1	31	1	33	Sampled in September 2000, Middle RDX value in Stratum A cycle 2, set 2, Resampled in June 2001
16-6380	Stratum A; 65 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1311	1	3	U	4	NA ^b
16-6381	Stratum A; 130 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1312	2	2	1	4	NA
16-6382	Stratum A; 130 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1313	21	1	U	22	NA
16-6383	Stratum A; 130 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1314	1	U	U	1	Sampled in September 2000, Lowest RDX value in Stratum A cycle 1, set 1
16-6384	Stratum A; 195 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1315	50	3	U	53	NA
16-6385	Stratum A; 195 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1316	9	U	U	9	Sampled in September 2000, Middle RDX value in Stratum A cycle 1, set 2
16-6386	Stratum A; 195 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1317	1	U	U	1	NA
16-6387	Stratum A; 260 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1318	1099	56	1	1156	NA
16-6388	Stratum A; 260 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1319	31	U	U	31	Sampled in September 2000, Lowest RDX value in Stratum A cycle 2, set 1
16-6389	Stratum A; 260 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1320	6	2	U	8	NA

Table 2.2-1 (continued)

Location ID	Sample Location	Screening Sample ID	HPLC HMX (mg/kg)	HPLC RDX (mg/kg)	HPLC TNT (mg/kg)	Total HE (mg/kg)	Laboratory Sample ID and Sample Selection Basis
16-6390	Stratum A; 325 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1321	24	22	U	46	Sampled in September 2000, Highest RDX value in Stratum A cycle 2, set 3, Resampled in June 2001
16-6391	Stratum A; 325 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1322	1	2	U	3	INA
16-6392	Stratum A; 325 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1323	2	4	U	6	NA
16-6393	Stratum A; 390 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1324	290	1	1	292	NA
16-6394	Stratum A; 390 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1325	53	3	U	56	Sampled in September 2000, Highest RDX value in Stratum A cycle 1, set 3
16-6395	Stratum A; 390 ft downgradient from outfall, 15 ft south of drainage center. RSS Set #3	RE16-00-1326	14	1	U	15	NA
16-6396	Stratum C; 45 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1327	1	1	U	2	NA
16-6397	Stratum C; 135 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1328	13	7	U	20	NA
16-6398	Stratum C; 180 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1329	126	24	U	150	Sampled in September 2000, Highest RDX value in Stratum C set 3
16-6399	Stratum C; 225 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1330	8	3	U	11	NA
16-6400	Stratum C; 270 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1331	21	2	U	23	NA
16-6401	Stratum C: 315 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1332	7	5	υ	12	NA

Location		Screening	HPLC HMX		HPLC TNT	Total HE	Laboratory Sample ID and
ID	Sample Location	Sample ID	(mg/kg)	(mg/kg)	(mg/kg)	(mg/kg)	Sample Selection Basis
16-6402	Stratum C; 360 ft downgradient from outfali, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1333	19	2	U	21	Sampled in September 2000, Lowest RDX value in Stratum C set 1
16-6403	Stratum C; 90 ft downgradient from outfall, side of test pit excavation.	RE16-00-1334	200	143	U	343	Sampled in September 2000, Middle RDX value in Stratum C set 2, Resampled in June 2001
16-6404	Stratum C; 4 ft downgradient from outfall, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1335	306	1166	U	1472	Sampled in June 2001, RDX concentration exceeded 100 mg/kg
16-6405	Stratum B; 5 ft downgradient from cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1336	64	2	U	66	Sampled in September 2000, Lowest RDX value in Stratum B cycle 1, set 1
16-6406	Stratum B; 5 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1337	197	U	3	200	NA
16-6407	Stratum B; 5 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1338	273	U	3	276	NA
16-6408	Stratum B; 47 ft downgradient from cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1339	1	1	6	7	NA
16-6409	Stratum B; 47 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1340	544	14	U	558	Sampled in September 2000, Highest RDX value in Stratum B cycle 2, set 3
16-6410	Stratum B; 47 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1341	1	1	U	2	NA
16-6411	Stratum B; 89 ft downgradient from cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1342	387	5	U	392	Sampled in September 2000, Highest RDX value in Stratum B cycle 1, set3
16-6412	Stratum B; 89 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1343	10	U	U	10	NA
16-6413	Stratum B; 89 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1344	1	U	U	1	NA

Table 2.2-1 (continued)

Location ID	Sample Location	Screening Sample ID	HPLC HMX (mg/kg)	HPLC RDX (mg/kg)	HPLC TNT (mg/kg)	Total HE (mg/kg)	Laboratory Sample ID and Sample Selection Basis
16-6414	Stratum B; 131 ft downgradient from cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1345	361	20	1	382	NA
16-6415	Stratum B; 131 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1346	295	6	1	302	NA
16-6416	Stratum B; 131 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1347	1	U	U	1	Sampled in September 2000, Lowest RDX value in Stratum B cycle 2, set 1
16-6417	Stratum B; 173 ft downgradient of cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1348	2	3	U	5	'nA
16-6418	Stratum B; 173 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1349	U	U	U	0.00	NA
16-6419	Stratum B; 173 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1350	1	U	U	1	Sampled in September 2000, Middle RDX value in Stratum B cycle 1, set 2
16-6420	Stratum B; 215 ft downgradient from cliff, center of drainage.	RE16-00-1351	306	2	1	309	Middle RDX value in Stratum B cycle 2, set 2
16-6421	Stratum B; 215 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft north of drainage center.	RE16-00-1352	301	21	U	322	NA
16-6422	Stratum B; 215 ft downgradient from cliff, 10 ft south of drainage center.	RE16-00-1353	1	U	U	1	NA

Table 2.2-1 (continued)

^a U = The chemical is classified as undetected.

^b NA = Not analyzed.

2.2.2 Field Investigation for Bromide Inventory Sampling

On April 14, 1997, a bromide tracer was added to the TA-16-260 settling pond in order to better understand the movement of water and contaminants through the source area and to determine if the TA-16-260 settling pond was contributing contaminants to the TA-16 springs. The tracer was prepared by mixing 100 kg of potassium bromide (Sigma Aldrich) with 450 gal. of tap water. The solution was mixed using a submersible pump and then pumped into the settling pond. There was no standing water in the settling pond when pumping commenced. Care was taken to adjust the flow so that the tracer did not run down the drainage below the settling pond. After the solution was pumped, the tank was flushed with 400 gal. of tap water (200 gal. each on the next two consecutive days) to remove any residual bromide and to "chase" the

tracer into the vadose zone so that it was less prone to move via surface water. The initial bromide tracer concentration was 65,789 mg/L. Because the outfall was inactive, the only water available for tracer movement was local precipitation and stored water in the vadose zone.

Bromide monitoring of the springs was initially conducted daily, and then every other day, to determine bromide breakthrough. A few surface water samples were also collected in the 260 settling pond lower drainage on the relatively rare occasions when there was flow following a storm. Results of the spring sampling were reported in LANL (1998, 59891), and the results are briefly summarized here. Bromide was first detected in SWSC Spring during June 1997 and in Burning Ground Spring during August 1997. These results indicate relatively rapid movement of the tracer in unsaturated or variably saturated conditions. There is a strong indication of fracture flow because of the rapid transport and because of the spiked nature of the breakthrough curves in both springs (LANL 1998, 59891). Less than 2% of the total mass of bromide added (100 kg) was observed in the springs, and concentrations were always below 1 mg/L. Sampling at the drainage below the settling pond showed some bromide during early surface flow events, but it was minimal in terms of mass. To determine where most of the bromide mass resides and to understand current controls on the movement of contaminants, soil and tuff samples were collected and leached for bromide as part of the 260 outfall IM source area removal activity (LANL 2002, 73706).

Prior to the removal of the settling pond sediment, a trench was excavated to the depth of the sediment/tuff interface along the center axis of the settling pond. Thirty-two samples were collected from the trench and were field-analyzed for bromide and moisture content. The locations were based on random profiles and set intervals within the trench. Based on the screening bromide concentration and application of the RSS strategy (Patil et al. 1994, 59113), 8 of 32 samples were selected for off-site analytical laboratory analyses.

Borehole 16-06370 was drilled in the center of the former settling pond area after the removal of the sediment (Figure 2.2-1). Sixteen samples were collected from 5-ft-depth intervals and were field-analyzed for bromide, RDX, and percent moisture. Again, the RSS strategy was used to select 4 of 16 samples for off-site laboratory analyses. In addition, four additional biased samples were collected and submitted for off-site analysis of HE, bromide, and percent moisture.

Following a method similar to the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) test method for soil pH (ASTM method D4972), a semiquantitative estimate of bromide concentration was made. A saturated paste was made from sample material and distilled water using a mortar and pestle. This saturated paste was measured with an Orion model 290A ion-specific electrode. The millivolt (mV) readings were recorded and compared to the mV readings for the 1.0 mg/kg and 10.0 mg/kg bromide calibration solutions. Bromide profiles for the eight trench profiles are shown in Figure 2.2-2. Profile 8 is from the western-most transect (upstream) and Profile 5 is from the eastern-most transect (downstream). Concentrations are generally lowest near the western part of the settling pond and increase downslope, with the center and eastern transects having bromide concentrations up to 41 mg/L. Because water was used during dnilling, pore water concentrations were not calculated for Borehole 16-06370. However, the mass of bromide/mass of dry rock were calculated, and these values are plotted on Figure 2.2-3. There were only two samples with detectable bromide concentrations (0.1 and 0.8 μ g/g). These samples were in the upper 20 ft of the borehole. No detectible bromide was reported below 20 ft.



Figure 2.2-2. Pore water bromide in the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 settling pond. Profile 8 is on the upstream end of the settling pond; Profile 5 is on the downstream end.

ER2003-0480



Figure 2.2-3. Bromide concentrations in Borehole 16-06370 pore water

As stated above, only a small fraction of the bromide tracer ended up in the two springs. This observation indicates that most of the bromide mass is stored in the vadose zone. An estimate of the vadose zone storage was obtained by examining how much bromide was present in the settling pond before the IM removal and how much was present after IM removal. Using a value of 357.8 m³ for the amount of settling pond material removed (LANL 2002, 73706), a bromide concentration of 1.44 g/kg (the average concentration from the 8 trench profiles), and assuming a bulk density of 1.5 g/cm³, the estimated bromide mass in the settling pond is 257 kg. The estimate is ~2.5 times greater than the amount of tracer actually added. The overestimate is probably related to the higher bromide concentrations near the center of the settling pond, where the samples were collected, rather than on the sides of the settling pond (so the 1.44 g/kg value is probably too high). Nevertheless, the mass calculations and the bromide profiles themselves indicate the vast majority (approximately 98%) of bromide tracer was still in the top 4 ft of the settling pond sediment and tuff prior to the IM removal. Data from the springs and Borehole 16-06370 show some bromide moved into the deeper vadose zone/groundwater system, but this is a small fraction (approximately 2%) of the total mass.

In addition to verifying the connection between the 260 settling pond and the two springs, the bromide tracer study provides a good proxy for the behavior of contaminants such as RDX since the outfall became inactive in 1996. The bromide results indicate minor movement into the vadose zone, with some rapid transport to depth. Contaminants are probably moving in a similar fashion in that there is probably only slow movement for most of the contaminants in the vadose zone, with faster movement along preferential flow paths such as fractures or surge beds when they are encountered during migration. This behavior stands in strong contrast to what was the likely behavior when the outfall was active. At that time there was probably substantial movement of contaminants into and through the vadose zone because of the large amount of water being released which provided a hydrologic driving force for contaminant migration.

2.2.3 IM SAP Deviations and Augmentation

The field implementation process described in the IM plan for the source area (LANL 2000, 64355.4) did not prescribe the June 2001 remobilization efforts undertaken to remove isolated areas where concentrations of HE greater than action criterion remained following the initial removal. These isolated areas of contamination were discovered following the September post-removal confirmation sampling. To ensure that concentrations of HE were below the action criterion following the second removal, a total of five screening samples were collected (one from each of the five isolated areas with HE above the action criterion). These samples were field-analyzed using an immunoassay method to verify that removals were successful; they were then further analyzed at an off-site contract analytical laboratory. The analytical laboratory analyses of these additional five samples included PCB analysis as well as the suite of analyses conducted for the original samples.

2.3 Results

All post-removal source area characterization data are presented in the 1M report (LANL 2002, 73706). The IM report includes a discussion of the overall analytical data quality and presents an analyte-by-analyte comparison with BVs (for inorganic chemicals) and detection limits (for organic chemicals). The IM report also presents tables summarizing the analytical results for all inorganic chemicals with concentrations exceeding BVs and for the detected organic chemicals. Because the IM report did not include a human health risk screening assessment, the data were not formally reviewed to identify inorganic and organic COPCs, and the report did not present the tables of chemicals retained/eliminated used to identify COPCs. The IM source area characterization data are interpreted and reviewed further in this report. The COPC retained/eliminated tables are presented below. These data serve as input data to the human health risk assessment, which is summarized in section 6.0 and detailed in Appendix K to this report.

2.3.1 IM Post-Removal and Bromide Inventory Data Review

The review of the post-removal source area's inorganic chemical and organic chemical data are summarized in Table 2.3-1 and 2.3-2; the results of the bromide inventory are summarized in Table 2.3-3. The first two tables identify those chemicals in the 260 outfall source area that are either carried forward as COPCs or eliminated. For the post-removal sampling locations in isolated areas, it is important to note that only the samples collected following the secondary excavation of these areas were considered for the COPC identification process. The samples collected at these locations prior to the secondary excavation were excluded from consideration (although they are included in summary tables in the IM report) because they are no longer present and are not representative of current site conditions. Table 2.3-3 shows the analytical laboratory results for bromide concentrations in the eight samples collected from the source area prior to the IM removal and in the eight samples collected from Borehole 16-06370 underlying the source area.

2.3.2 Data Summary and Interpretation

The 260 IM report presents a detailed interpretation of the post-removal source area data and includes trend plots for the major source area contaminants (LANL 2002, 73706). This discussion is summarized below.

The 260 IM significantly reduced the quantities of HMX, RDX, TNT, and barium throughout the source area and drainage channel. On a mass basis, the IM removed a total of 8500 kg of HE (total of HMX, RDX, and TNT). No barium mass could be calculated because no total metals analyses were performed on the waste-characterization samples. HMX, RDX, TNT, and barium remain the primary contaminants present in the 260 outfall drainage channel. Post-removal contamination may be summarized as follows (location IDs are shown in Figure 2.2-1):

- HMX remains in concentrations ranging from 2.2 to 2000 mg/kg (location 16-06409),
- RDX remains in concentrations ranging from 1 to1200 mg/kg (location 16-06379),
- TNT remains in concentrations ranging from 0.25 to 330 mg/kg (location 16-06379), and
- barium remains in concentrations ranging from 148 to 8200 mg/kg (location 16-06420) and is detected above the BV in all but one post-removal analytical sample.

Several additional HE compounds, HE-related compounds, and a few other organic compounds are present in the drainage channel, all at low concentrations (location IDs are shown in Figure 2.2-1): Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-] remains in concentrations in excess of 1 mg/kg (locations 16-06398, 16-06403, and 16-06402).

-

٦

Table 2.3-1	
Results of the Inorganic Data Review for Post-Removal I	M
Soil, Sediment, and Tuff Samples within the Source Are	a

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Aluminum	ALLH ^a	Eliminated	No values above background value (BV).
	QBT3 ^b	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Antimony	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Arsenic	ALLH	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum (WRS) Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background. ^c
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. $^{\circ}$
Barium	ALLH	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. $\ensuremath{^\circ}$
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Beryllium	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Cadmium	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Calcium	ALLH	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
	QBT3	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Chromium	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. $^{\circ}$
Cobalt	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the WRS Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background ^c
Copper	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Iron	ALLH	Eliminated	Essential nutrient,
	QBT3	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Lead	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
~	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically greater than background. ^c
Magnesium	ALLH	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
	QBT3	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.

ſ

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Manganese	ALLH	Eliminated	Although three samples exceed background, results of both the WRS Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the samples are statistically the same as background. ^c
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Mercury	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Nickel	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Potassium	ALLH	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
	ОВТЗ	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Selenium	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ⁶
Silver	ALLH	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV.
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Sodium	ALLH	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
	QBT3	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Thallium	ALLH	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Uranium	ALLH	Eliminated	Although three samples exceed background, results of both the WRS Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the samples are statistically the same as background. ^c
	QBT3	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Vanadium	ALLH	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c
Zinc	ALLH	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the WRS Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background. ^c
	QBT3	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background. ^c

Table 2.3-1 (continued)

^a ALLH = Soil All Data (may include soil and sediment).

^b QBT3 = Unit 3 of the Quatemary Tshirege Member of the Bandeller Tuff.

^o See Appendix I for further discussion.

Table 2.3-2
Results of the Organic Data Review for Post-Removal IM
Soil, Sediment, and Tuff Samples within the Source Area

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a Chemical of Potential Concern (COPC)	
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	ALLH ^a	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.503 milligrams (mg) per kilogram (kg).	
	QBT3 ^b	Retained	Detected in 3 out of 4 samples up to 2.2 mg/kg.	
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.945 mg/kg.	
Anthracene	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 2 out of 16 samples up to 0.067 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 4 samples at 0.26 mg/kg.	
Aroclor-1254	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 5 samples at 0.041 mg/kg.	
Arocior-1260	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 5 samples at 0.043 mg/kg.	
Benzoic Acid	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.022 mg/kg.	
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 2 out of 16 samples up to 0.79 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 2 out of 4 samples up to 0.77 mg/kg.	
Butanone[2-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.0075 mg/kg.	
Di-n-butylphthalate	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.086 mg/kg.	
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 7 out of 32 samples up to 0.33 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 2 out of 8 samples up to 0.18 mg/kg.	
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	ALLH	Retained	Less than 5% detected but the maximum detection limit of 52 mg/kg exceeds the human health occupational screening limit of 6.1 mg/kg. Retained for further evaluation (see Appendix K).	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 8 samples at 0.066 mg/kg.	
НМХ	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 15 out of 16 samples up to 2000 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 4 out of 4 samples up to 670 mg/kg.	
Isopropyltoluene[4-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 3 out of 16 samples up to 0.0013 mg/kg.	
Methylene Chloride	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.0013 mg/kg.	
Naphthalene	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.052 mg/kg.	
RDX	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 6 out of 16 samples up to 745 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 4 out of 4 samples up to 1200 mg/kg.	
Tetryl	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 4 samples at 0.98 mg/kg.	
Toluene	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 4 out of 16 samples up to 0.0019 mg/kg.	
Trichlorobenzene[1,2,4-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.4 mg/kg.	
Trichlorofluoromethane	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 2 out of 16 samples up to 0.018 mg/kg.	
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 1 out of 16 samples at 0.216 mg/kg.	
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	ALLH	Retained	Detected in 5 out of 16 samples up to 270 mg/kg.	
	QBT3	Retained	Detected in 4 out of 4 samples up to 330 mg/kg.	

^a ALLH = Soil All Data (may include soil and sediment).

^b QBT3 = Unit 3 of Quaternary Tshirege Member of the Bandelier Tuff.

Location Identification	Sample Identification	Collection Date	Begin Depth (ft)	End Depth (ft)	Medium	Sample Results (mg/kg)		
SOURCE AREA (PRE-IM)								
16-06362	RE12-00-0016	7/18/2000	0	1.9	SEDª	2.39		
16-06363	RE12-00-0017	7/18/2000	0.5	0.85	SED	1.04		
16-06364	RE12-00-0018	7/18/2000	1.4	1.7	SED	0.12 U ^b		
16-06365	RE12-00-0019	7/18/2000	1.4	1,7	SED	0.957		
16-06366	RE12-00-0020	7/18/2000	1.7	2	SED	0.12 U		
16-06367	RE12-00-0021	7/18/2000	0.7	1	SED	0.12 U		
16-06368	RE12-00-0022	7/18/2000	2,7	3	SED	0.12 U		
16-06369	RE12-00-0023	7/18/2000	0.5	0.75	SED	0.12 U		
SOURCE AREA SUBSURFACE (POST-IM BOREHOLE)								
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0024	9/20/2000	9	10	QBT3 ^c	0.024 UJ ^d		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0025	9/23/2000	32	33	QBT3	0.024 UJ		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0026	9/22/2000	19	20	QBT3	0.932 J_"		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0027	9/20/2000	4	5	QBT3	0.024 UJ		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0028	9/23/2000	36.5	37	QBT3	0.024 UJ		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0029	9/28/2000	69	70	QBT3	0.024 UJ		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0030	9/23/2000	41	41.8	QBT3	0.024 UJ		
BH16-06370	RE12-00-0031	10/2/2000	16.6	18.4	QBT3	0.024 UJ		

 Table 2.3-3

 Results of Bromide Concentrations within the Source Area (Pre-IM) and Underlying the Source Area (Post-IM)

* SED = sediment.

^b U = the chemical is classified as undetected.

^c QBT3 = Unit 3 of Quatemary Tshirege member of the Bandelier Tuff Unit.

^d UJ = the chemical is classified as undetected, with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

⁸ J- = the chemical is classified as detected, but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual, with a potential negative bias.

Inorganic chemicals, besides barium, are also present in many samples that exceed two to seven times the BVs in soils. These metals are shown in Table 2.3-1 as COPCs.

Prior to the IM, spatial trends were observed in concentrations of the major contaminants in the drainage channel. These trends are discussed in detail in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891). In general, those contaminants present in the highest concentrations showed a marked decrease between the settling pond and the lower end of the drainage channel. The area of contamination also widened out in the mid-reaches of the drainage channel (between 200 and 600 ft downstream from the outfail) (LANL 1996, 55077). Contamination penetrated the tuff surface but contaminant concentrations were considerably higher in the overlying channel sediment (with the exception of the surge bed identified at a depth of 17 ft directly beneath the settling pond). Data from the Phase I RFI and Phase II RFI also indicate contaminant impacts were restricted to the well-defined drainage channel and did not intrude laterally into the channel overbank deposits to a great degree (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998, 59891).

Following the IM, these previously identified spatial trends are no longer evident. Post-removal contamination tends to be spotty and variable. This variability indicates post-removal distributions are more

affected by the success of the excavation than by the natural depositional processes that created the pre-IM spatial trends. The HE remains elevated in a small number of isolated locations randomly distributed throughout the drainage channel. Some of the highest concentrations of contaminants are now found in Stratum B between the base of the cliff and the drainage channel's confluence with Cañon de Valle. HE concentrations at the new (post-removal) drainage channel surface are now similar to concentrations observed in the underlying tuff. However, at location 16-06379, at the head of the settling pond in the center of the channel, the concentrations of HMX, RDX, TNT, and banum are higher in the underlying tuff than in the surface soils. Contaminants tend to have higher concentrations along the center axis of the channel than along the banks. In general, elevated concentrations of RDX, HMX, TNT, and banum occur at the same locations.

Post-removal data for the other organic and inorganic COPCs also indicate that the residual contamination remaining in the drainage channel occurs in isolated areas. Multiple contaminants are observed at a few locations. At location 16-6402 (the center of the channel, 360 ft downstream from the outfall), six organic chemicals and four inorganic chemicals were detected above BVs (the HMX concentration was also elevated). At location 16-6405 (the lower drainage in the center of the channel, 5 feet below the cliff), six organic chemicals were detected (the HMX concentration was also elevated). At location 16-6405 (the lower drainage in the center of the channel, 5 feet below the cliff), six organic chemicals were detected (the HMX concentration was also elevated). At location 16-6416 (the south side of the lower drainage, 131 ft below the cliff), six inorganic chemicals were detected above BVs. Seven organic compounds were detected (all qualified as J) at location 16-6403 (90 ft from the outfall, approximately 12 ft north of the channel axis). No other location had more than five inorganic chemicals detected above background or more than five organic chemicals detected, and no other location contains more than eight total COPCs.

To summarize, post-removal data indicate there are discrete areas of elevated contamination that do not show spatial trends. HMX, TNT, and barium are present in relatively high concentrations within these discrete areas, and RDX also remains elevated. The residual contamination remaining within the 260 outfall source is evaluated in the site-specific risk assessments (SSRAs) summarized in section 6 and detailed in Appendix K.

2.4 Implications for the TA-16 Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model

The most significant implication for the TA-16 conceptual model is that the principal source of contamination (the TA-16-260 outfall drainage channel) affecting downgradient components of the site hydrogeologic system has been substantially reduced through the implementation of the IM. Approximately 8500 kg of HE were removed from the contaminant source area. Based on post-removal and historical data, it is estimated that approximately 650 kg of HE still remain in SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 2002, 73706). As the contaminant mass in this source area is decreased, it is anticipated contaminant mass in other components of the hydrogeologic system downstream will decrease. Remaining ongoing sources of contamination are either associated with historic HE releases elsewhere in TA-16 or are the downgradient system components, such as sediment, now acting as secondary sources of contamination.

The bromide data supports the idea that conservative contaminants, such as RDX, are slowly being transported from vadose zone reservoirs to downgradient water bodies. Fracture and surge bed transport are also suggested by the bromide tracer data. In the absence of a hydrologic driving force, as has been the case since the outfall was turned off, movement of conservative constituents such as RDX and bromide is likely to be slow. The potential impacts on alluvial groundwater and surface water quality are evaluated in the SSRA summarized in section 6.0 and detailed in Appendix K.

3.0 ALLUVIAL SYSTEM INVESTIGATION

3.1 Summary

This section provides a summary of the alluvial investigation for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Phase III alluvial investigation activities included

- characterizing subsurface and alluvial groundwater through installation of seven piezometers in Cañon de Valle and three alluvial groundwater wells in Martin Spring Canyon;
- determining contaminant dynamics and distribution through sampling of alluvial groundwater and surface water in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon;
- determining contaminant inventory and distribution using geomorphic-based sediment sampling in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon;
- characterizing hydraulic interconnectivity and the residence time of water in the subsurface through a stable isotopes study; and
- investigating potential pathways for contaminant migration within the subsurface using geophysics studies.

The Cañon de Valle alluvial system dynamics are summarized as below.

Surface Water

The significant COPCs for Cañon de Valle surface water are RDX and barium.

- Oxygen isotope results show the alluvial groundwater and the surface water do not always follow the same trends, indicating that there are source differences between surface water and alluvial groundwater (although there is exchange between the two).
- There are losing and gaining reaches in Cañon de Valle. The water lost may move into storage in the alluvium or represent a source for recharge to the more deeply perched groundwater.
- RDX concentrations in the surface water in Cañon de Valle are highest near the 260 outfall area. The highest mass flow rate of RDX in surface water occurred during wet periods.
- Both barium and RDX were detected in surface water samples at the confluence with Water Canyon (approximately 3 mi downstream from the source area). This indicates the entire Cañon de Valle alluvial system contains RDX and barium.

Alluvial Groundwater

The significant COPCs for Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater are RDX, barium, and manganese.

- The alluvial groundwater in Cañon de Valle appears to be connected throughout the saturated alluvium; however, differing head responses in the monitoring wells indicate heterogeneity within the alluvium.
- Barium concentrations are consistently higher in the alluvial groundwater than in the surface water.
- High resolution resistivity (HRR) geophysical surveys show a highly conductive region below the Burning Ground Spring wetland area. The surveys also show an approximately 20-ft-thick low resistance layer, dipping to the west, approximately 200 ft upstream from MDA P. This could be one potential zone of deeper infiltration from the alluvial system. Controlled source audio-

frequency magnetotelluric (CSAMT)/natural source audio-frequency magnetotelluric (NSAMT) geophysical surveys conducted to a depth of 1500 ft bgs indicate the presence of discrete, heterogeneous sub-vertical electrically conductive layers. The deep conductive zone appears to be bounded on the east, may be discontinuous in nature, and may represent preferential pathways such as surge beds or fracture zones.

- RDX concentrations for Well 16-02659 (located the farthest distance east from the 260 outfall) were consistently higher than concentrations for Wells 16-02655, 16-02656, and 16-02658 (see section 3.4.3).
- Barium concentration trends in alluvial groundwater over time are stable to slightly decreasing. Spikes associated with pulses of barium into the system may be due to sediment flushing.
- There is a positive correlation between saturated thickness in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and RDX concentration, indicating RDX residing within the vadose zone constitutes an important secondary source and is released to the alluvial groundwater during periods of increased saturated thickness in the alluvium.

Sediment

The significant COPCs for Cañon de Valle sediment are RDX, HMX, amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene [4-], amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene [2-], TNT, antimony, barium, cobalt, copper, lead, nickel, and silver.

- The geomorphic investigation results support the existence of at least three Laboratory sources of barium for the sediment in Cañon de Valle: 1) a minor source upstream from MDA R, possibly SWMU 16-026(m), the outfall for the 90s Line building; 2) a larger source at, or in the vicinity of, MDA R; and 3) the 260 outfall.
- The resampling of a subset of the 1996 active channel locations in 2002 allowed a time comparison of barium and RDX concentrations. For barium, the reach immediately upstream of the 260 outfall and the reach downstream from the 260 outfall both had concentrations that were noticeably lower. For RDX, all reaches had lower concentrations in 2002, except the reach downstream from Well 16-02658.
- Immediately downstream from Location ID 16-05967 (Silver Seep), x-ray fluorescence (XRF) screening data reported silver concentrations of 2,595 and 957 mg/kg. Within the main reach of Cañon de Valle, 40 out of 46 samples exceeded the 1.0 mg/kg sediment BV for silver (LANL 1998, 59730).

Martin Spring Canyon alluvial system dynamics are summarized below:

The significant COPCs for Martin Spring Canyon surface water are RDX, barium, boron, and manganese. The COPCs for alluvial groundwater include RDX, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, lead, and manganese.

The significant COPCs in Martin Spring Canyon alluvium, sediment, and tuff include amino-2,6dinitrotoluene [4-], amino-4-6-dinitrotoluene [2-], RDX, TNT, arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and silver.

 RDX was detected in the surface water and alluvial groundwater at locations in Martin Spring Canyon. Groundwater discharge from Martin Spring and the K-Site drop tower could be the primary sources for RDX in the canyon.

- Barium and RDX are both present in Martin Spring Canyon sediment, but at much lower concentrations and with much smaller inventories than in Cañon de Valle.
- The source for barium in Martin Spring Canyon sediment is located up the tributary drainage east of the TA-16 HE casting building 306. Concentrations decline downstream as mixing with other sediment sources occurs.

3.2 Data Needs and Objectives

The Phase I RFI data documented widespread HE contamination at SWMU 16-021(c)-99, extending from the 260 outfall discharge point down to the sediment and water of Cañon de Valle. The Phase II RFI data documented widespread HE contamination extending from the 260 outfall discharge point down to the sediment and water of Cañon de Valle and showed deeper subsurface contamination. The purpose of the Phase III RFI alluvial system investigation is to provide critical site data input to the CMS by further characterizing the nature and extent of contamination. CMS data requirements for the alluvial systems were presented in the CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2) and included the broad investigative questions described below.

What is the hydraulic connectivity between the 260 outfall and the TA-16 springs and seeps; are there other transport pathways connected directly to perched groundwater and regional groundwater?

 In 1999 and 2001 geophysical surveys were conducted by hydroGEOPHYSICS, Inc. to characterize the saturated alluvium and potentially identify losing reaches in Cañon de Valle using HRR and refraction seismic (RS) surveys. In September 2002, Zonge Engineering and Research Organization (Zonge) completed CSAMT and NSAMT survey work to identify potential saturated zones and transport pathways at depths up to 1500 ft bgs.

How long does it take water to travel from the discharge point (260 outfall) to the TA-16 springs and seeps (residence time)?

- Stable isotope analyses were performed on precipitation samples, alluvial water samples, and on spring/seep samples (see section 4.0) to characterize the residence times and the connectivity of the alluvial system.
- Potassium bromide tracer inventory was conducted at the source area (see section 2.2.2).

What are the alluvial system dynamics?

- Surface and subsurface discharge profiles were measured for the perennial reach of Cañon de Valle and the upper reach of Martin Spring Canyon to input into the water balance characterization of each of the alluvial systems.
- Surface water was sampled approximately five times per year in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon; samples were analyzed at an off-site laboratory for HE, metals, VOCs, SVOCs, stable isotopes, and water quality parameters.
- Three alluvial wells were installed in Martin Spring Canyon to characterize the alluvial system dynamics; one below the spring, one in the saturated area below K-Site, and one down-drainage from the saturated area.
- Seven shallow piezometers were installed in Cañon de Valle alluvium to identify the perennial reach in the canyon bottom.

 Alluvial wells in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon were sampled quarterly; samples were analyzed at an off-site laboratory for HE, metals, VOCs, SVOCs, stable isotopes, and water quality parameters.

What are the alluvial sediment dynamics?

- Geomorphic mapping and sampling of the overbank and channel deposits were conducted in reaches of Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon to characterize the inventories of contaminants in the deposits and evaluate the mobility of these deposits. Soil/sediment/tuff samples were analyzed at an off-site laboratory for HE and HE-breakdown products (EPA Method 8330); for metals including boron (EPA Method 6010B/6020); and for SVOCs (EPA Method 8270c).
- Field screening was conducted on soil/sediment/tuff and water samples. Soil/sediment/tuff samples were field-screened for bromide, percent moisture, and HE. Water samples were field-screened for temperature, pH, and specific conductance.

3.3 Scope of Phase III Sampling and Analysis

The alluvial system for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 includes two canyons: Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Both are tributaries of Water Canyon (Figure 3.3-1). The alluvial system within each canyon can be divided into two components: water and sediment. The alluvial water was sampled from two zones: surface water and alluvial groundwater. The alluvial sediment (including soil, sediment, and tuff) was sampled from the active channel; the floodplain; and shallow boreholes. Aquatic and terrestrial samples were collected to support a baseline ecological risk assessment in Cañon de Valle only. Figure 3.3-1 shows all locations sampled during the period from 1998 through 2002 that are associated with the Phase III alluvial systems RF1.

Water samples were collected from bucket gauges following precipitation events, as grab samples from surface water, natural springs (see section 4.0) and seeps, and alluvial groundwater wells at various locations around TA-16. Sediment samples were collected from both from surface and subsurface horizons. Surface soil and sediment are sampled during the geomorphic investigation. Subsurface horizons were primarily sampled during drilling operations. Sample collection and handling were performed as detailed in the SAP for the Phase III RFI, contained in the CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2) and in conformance with the following standard operating procedures (SOPs), quality procedures (QPs), and other documents.

- Site-Specific Health and Safety Plan 01-001
- LANL ER-SOP-1.01, General Instructions for Field Investigations,
- LANL ER-SOP-1.02, Sample Containers and Preservation,
- LANL ER-SOP-1.03, Handling, Packaging, and Shipping Samples,
- LANL ER-SOP-1.04, Sample Control and Field Documentation,
- LANL ER-SOP-1.05, Field Quality Control Samples,
- LANL ER-SOP-1.07, Operational Guidelines for Taking Soil and Water Samples in Explosive Areas,

- LANL ER-SOP-6.01, Purging and Sampling Methods for Single Completion Wells,
- LANL ER-SOP-6.02, Field Analytical Measurements of Groundwater,
- LANL ER-SOP-6.03, Sampling for Volatile Organic Compounds in Groundwater,
- LANL ER-SOP-6.09, Spade & Scoop Method for Collection of Soil Samples,
- LANL ER-SOP-6.13, Surface Water Sampling,
- LANL ER-SOP 10.06, High Explosives Spot Test,
- LANL ER-QP-5.2, Control of Measuring and Test Equipment,
- LANL ER-QP-5.7, Notebook Documentation for Environmental Restoration Technical Activities,
- LANL ER-QP-10.3, Stop Work and Restart, and
- LANL-ER-QMP, Quality Management Plan for the Environmental Restoration Project.

3.3.1 Surface Water Sampling and Analysis

Surface water discharge, pH, temperature, conductivity, and chemical concentrations were measured during different surface water flow regimes to assist in characterizing the water and contaminant mass balance study described in the CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2) and outlined in Table 1.4-1 as information needed to characterize the alluvial water dynamics.

3.3.1.1 Surface Water Discharge Measurements

Surface water discharge measurements were collected approximately 5 times per year in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Surface water sampling was conducted on an event-basis in conjunction with measuring stream profiles (SPs). The first SP was measured in June of 1998. Other surface water samples were collected in 1994, 1996, and 1997 during the Phase II RFI (LANL 1998, 59891). Discharge measurements were collected representing the following flow conditions: runoff from snowmelt (typically in late March and April), dry season with low flow in perennial reaches (May to June), early monscon (July), late monscon (August to September) and fall post-monscon (October to November). Surface water flow events in ephemeral reaches of the canyons resulted from snowmelt, prolonged frontal rainstorms, or consecutive convective rainstorms. A summary of regional and site-specific precipitation data is provided in Appendix B to this report.

In Cañon de Valle, there are 15 gauging stations (identified as SP#2 through SP#16) established along a 6000-ft-long stretch of canyon. In Martin Spring Canyon there are 6 stations (SP#1 through SP#6) along a 4000-ft-long stretch of canyon. These SP locations are identified on Figure 3.3-2.

Surface water discharge was calculated using stage measurements from a portable Parshall flume (Bureau of Reclamation 1997, 76890) or measured directly by collecting water in a calibrated-volume container and measuring the container fill rate with a stop-watch. At each gauging station, field parameters were measured approximately quarterly, or in response to specific flow events. The following field parameters were measured: discharge in L/sec, pH in standard units, conductivity as microslemens (ms)/cm, and temperature in degrees Celsius (°C). Temperature, pH, and conductivity were measured using a Horiba multisensor probe.



Phase III RFI Report

Figure 3.3-1. Phase III RFI locations sampled during the period from 1998 to 2002

LH2003-0H80

17XIX

~ ~ ~ ia 10000

BANDELIER NATIONAL MONUMENT



Ofennes.

0

TA-16

Ŕ

6

EN-2

AREA OF INSET MAP

FA-9

្ចិណ្ឌ Ċ

Burning Ground Spring

TA-8

110 S. 10 CH Å.

TA-22

STATE HIG

September 2003

This page intentionally left blank.

.

3.3.1.2 Field Screening, Surface Water Sampling, and Off-Site Laboratory Analysis

Field screening for barium, RDX, and bromide was conducted on all surface water samples submitted for laboratory analysis. Barium was analyzed using a HACH probe, RDX using Dtech immunoassay/ colorimetric methods, and bromide using a standard solution and HACH instrument.

Following each field-screening event, the sampling team reviewed the field-screening results and determined which locations would be sampled and shipped for off-site laboratory analysis. Generally, the farthest up-canyon and down-canyon locations were sampled in addition to any conspicuous gaining or losing locations determined from discharge measurements. Typically, between three to six surface water samples were collected in Cañon de Valle. In Martin Spring Canyon, three surface water samples were collected in Cañon de Valle. In Martin Spring Canyon, three surface water samples were collected. The samples were analyzed for alkalinity (EPA Method 310.1/310.2), anions and perchlorate (EPA Method 314), nitrate/nitrite (EPA Method 300.1/9056), HE (and HE-breakdown products) (EPA Method 8330), and metals (EPA Method 6010B/6020). All surface water samples were unfiltered, with the exception of samples analyzed for metals that included both filtered and unfiltered sample aliquots. Table 3.3-1 summarizes the annual sampling and analysis for surface water in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Table 3.3-2 lists the location IDs for the surface water samples. Figure 3.3-3 shows field personnel collecting surface water samples. A summary of all laboratory analyses requested for surface water samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

Table 3.3-1					
Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis o	f				
Surface Water in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring	Canyon				

Sample or Survey Measurement	Number Collected	Number Analyzed	Field Measurements and Analytical Sultes
Cañon de Valle surface water discharge profile	5 (per profile)	n/a*	Discharge measurements
Cañon de Valle filtered surface water	24	24	Field temperature, pH, conductance
grab samples		824	HE, metals, nitrate/nitrite, anions, perchlorate, and alkalinity
Martin Spring Canyon surface water discharge profile	5 (per profile)	r/a	Discharge measurements
Martin Spring Canyon filtered surface	12	12	Field temperature, pH, conductance
water grab samples		12	HE, metals, nitrate/nitrite, anions, perchlorate, and alkalinity

Note: Modified from Table 6.3-4 of the SAP (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2). *n/a = Not applicable.
Table 3.3-2

 List of Surface Water Sample Locations for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon

,

Location ID*	Sample Location*
Cañon de Valle	
16-05968	Headwaters of Carlon de Valle
16-06121	Confluence of Cañon de Valle and Fishladder Canyon
16-05969	Confluence of Cañon de Valle and Water Canyon
16-05970	Water Canyon at ESH-18 weir
16-05993	Stream Profile Location 2 Cañon de Valle
16-05994	Stream Profile Location 3 Cañon de Valle
16-05995	Stream Profile Location 4 Cañon de Valle
16-05923	Stream Profile Location 5 Cañon de Valle
16-05926	Stream Profile Location 6 Cañon de Valle
16-05927	Stream Profile Location 7 Cañon de Valle
16-06500	Near 16-05927, RE16-00-3214
16-05996	Stream Profile Location 8 Cañon de Valle
16-05997	Stream Profile Location 9 Cañon de Valle
16-05998	Stream Profile Location 10 Cañon de Valle
16-02768	Cañon de Valle main channel near Stream Profile Location 10
16-02770	Cañon de Valle main channel between Stream Profiles Locations 10 and 11
16-05999	Stream Profile Location 11 Cañon de Valle
16-05928	Stream Profile Location 12 Cañon de Valle
16-05929	Stream Profile Location 13 Cañon de Valle
16-05600	Stream Profile Location 14 Cañon de Valle
16-05930	Stream Profile Location 15 Cañon de Valle
16-05601	Stream Profile Location 16 Cañon de Valle
16-02654	Fishladder Seep
16-02653	Peter Seep
16-05967	Silver Seep
16-06709	XRF#2, Cañon de Valle, Ecotoxicological sample #1 (Figure 3.3-10)
16-06710	XRF#5, Cañon de Valle, Ecotoxicological sample #2 (Figure 3.3-10)
16-06711	XRF#9, Cañon de Valle, Ecoloxicological sample #3 (Figure 3.3-10)
Martin Spring Canyor]
16-05920	Stream Profile Location 1 Martin Spring Canyon
16-05921	Stream Profile Location 2 Martin Spring Canyon
16-05988	Stream Profile Location 3 Martin Spring Canyon
16-05989	Stream Profile Location 4 Martin Spring Canyon
16-05990	Stream Profile Location 5 Martin Spring Canyon
16-05991	Stream Profile Location 6 Martin Spring Canyon
Starmer's Gulch	
16-06712	Starmer's Gulch (Background ecotoxicological sampling; Figure 3.3-10)

*Location ID and sample location are presented on Figure 3.3-2 and Figure 3.3-10.



Figure 3.3-3. Field Personnel collecting water samples at Location ID 16-05968, located in Cañon de Valle headwaters (location provided on Figure 3.3-2). Photo was taken in June 2002, view looking west (upstream).

3.3.1.3 Deviations

The intent of the SP sampling was to collect samples representing different flow regimes under normal climatic conditions (LANL 1998, 62413.3). Historic climate records show periods of summer rain and spring snowmelt runoff (Bowen 1990, 06899). However monthly precipitation totals were well below average during the period from 1998 to 2002 (Appendix B), due to draught conditions. As a result, fewer SP samples were collected than directed by the SAP because there were limited flow events.

3.3.2 Alluvial Groundwater Sampling and Laboratory Analysis

3.3.2.1 Monitoring Well Instrumentation and Groundwater Measurements

Cañon de Valle Weils

Six shallow alluvial wells were drilled in the fall of 1997 in conjunction with the Phase II RFI. They are designated as follows: 16-02655, 16-02656, 16-02657, 16-02658, 16-02659, and 16-02660. Alluvial well locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2. In June 1999, each well (with the exception of 16-02657, as the well is frequently dry) was equipped with a battery-powered data logger to continuously record water level, conductivity, and temperature. The locations of the wells are listed below.

- Well 16-02655 is located in the Cañon de Valle upland area in the steam plant drainage.
- Well 16-02656 is located within the canyon bottom, near MDA R.

- Well 16-02657 is located within the canyon bottom just downstream of the 260 outfall confluence with Cañon de Valle.
- Well 16-02658 is located within the middle reach of the canyon bottom, and downstream of SWSC and Burning Ground Springs.
- Well 16-02659 is located at the lower reach of the canyon bottom downstream of MDA P.
- Well 16-02660 is located adjacent to Well 16-02659 at the lower reach of the canyon bottom downstream of MDA P. Well 16-02660 was designed and installed for physical testing of the groundwater and therefore no datalogger was installed. This location has not been used to collect water samples.

All wells were drilled to a total depth of approximately 10 ft bgs into the soil-tuff interface. The wells are 2in.- or 4-in.-diameter polyvinyl chloride and screened in the bottom 5-ft interval. The screened interval included the soil-tuff interface for all wells. Detailed well completion diagrams and borehole logs can be found in Appendix G of the Phase II RFI Report (LANL 1998, 59891). Figure 3.3-4 shows field personnel at Well 16-02658.

Martin Spring Canyon Wells

Three wells were drilled in Martin Spring Canyon in January 2000 and they are designated 16-06293, 16-06294, and 16-06295. Complete well completion diagrams and drilling logs are included in Appendix C. Well 16-06293 is located approximately 2000 ft downstream of Martin Spring; Well 16-06295 is located furthest downstream near the K-Site drop tower; and Well 16-06294 is located approximately midway between Wells 16-06293 and 16-06295. Well locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2. These wells are not equipped to record data automatically. Monthly measurements of temperature, conductivity, pH, and water elevation were made using a hand held Horiba multisensor probe and a manual well sounder. Figure 3.3-5 shows field personnel at Well 16-06295 in Martin Spring Canyon.

3.3.2.2 Groundwater Monitoring Well Sampling and Offsite Laboratory Analysis

The alluvial wells were sampled as part of the quarterly sampling campaign that began in December of 1997 (LANL 1996, 55077). The five wells in Cañon de Valle and three wells in Martin Spring Canyon were sampled quarterly in approximately March, June, September, and December. In March, there were normally wet conditions following the spring snowmelt. The June sampling usually represented dry, low flow conditions. If there were normal summer monsoons, conditions in September were wet. December sampling was usually marked by low flow conditions.

The alluvial wells in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon were sampled in accordance with LANL-ER-SOP 6.01 Purging and Sampling Methods for Single Completion Wells. As part of the sampling process, pH, conductivity, and temperature were monitored throughout the sampling process. Initial depth to water and the final stabilized temperature, conductivity, and pH were noted on the sample collection logs. Additionally, as directed by the CMS plan (LANL 1998, 62413.3) field-screening for barium, RDX, and bromide was conducted on all water samples submitted for laboratory analysis. Barium was analyzed using a HACH probe, RDX using Dtech immunoassay/colorimetric methods, and bromide using a standard solution and HACH instrument.



Figure 3.3-4. Field personnel conducting monthly field measurements at Well 16-02658 in Cañon de Valle. Photo was taken in November 2002. View is looking down canyon. A piezometer nest (Locations 16-02459 and 16- 02460) is also visible to the left of the well housing.



Figure 3.3-5. Field personnel conducting field measurements at Well 16-06295 in Martin Spring Canyon. Photo was taken in April of 2001, view looking downstream to the east.

ER2003-0480

The samples collected for off-site laboratory analysis were analyzed for: alkalinity (EPA Method 310.1/310.2), anions and perchlorate (EPA Method 314), nitrate/nitrite (EPA Method 300.1/9056), nitrogen isotopes (N¹⁵N¹⁴), low level tritium (LH³), hydrogen isotopes (D²H), oxygen isotopes (O¹⁸/O¹⁶), volatile organic compounds (EPA Method 8260B), total uranium (EPA Method 6020), HE (and HE breakdown products) (EPA Method 8330), metals including boron (EPA Method 6010B/6020), and once a year samples were collected for SVOC (EPA Method 8270C). All samples were unfiltered with the exception of metals that included both a filtered and unfiltered sample. Table 3.3-3 summarizes the annual sampling and analysis requirements for alluvial groundwater water in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Location IDs for alluvial wells correspond to the well numbers and are shown on Figure 3.3-2. A summary of all laboratory analyses requested for alluvial groundwater samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

Sample or Survey Measurement	Number Collected	Number Analyzed	Field Measurements and Analytical Suites		
Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater elevation measurements	5 wells	n/a*	Groundwater elevation		
Cañon de Valle filtered	20	20	Field temperature, pH, conductance		
alluvial groundwater grab samples		20	Alkalinity, anions and perchlorate, nitrate/nitrite, nitrogen isotopes (N ¹⁵ N ¹⁴), low level tritium (LH ³), hydrogen isotopes (D ² H), oxygen isotopes (O ¹⁸ /O ¹⁸), volatile organic compounds, total uranium, HE, metals, and semivolatile organic compounds		
Martin Spring Canyon alluvial groundwater elevation measurements	3 wells	n/a	Groundwater elevation		
Martin Spring Canyon	12	12	Field temperature, pH, conductance		
filtered alluvial groundwater grab samples	12		Alkalinity, anions and perchlorate, nitrate/nitrite, nitrogen isotopes (N ¹⁵ N ¹⁴), low level tritium (LH ³), hydrogen isotopes (D ² H), oxygen isotopes (O ¹⁸ /O ¹⁸), volatile organic compounds, total uranium, HE, metals, and semivolatile organic compounds		

Table 0.0-0	
Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis for	
Alluvial Groundwater in Cañon de Valle and Martín Spring G	anyon

Table 2 2-2

Note: Modified from Table 6.3-4 of the SAP (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2). *n/a = Not applicable.

3.3.2.3 Deviations

The alluvial wells in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon were sampled in accordance with LANL-ER-SOP 6.01. One deviation from this method was during the dry seasons, when wells were not purged until screening parameters stabilized. A typical single round of sampling required approximately 10 L of water. Often only partial samples were collected because there was less than 10 L of water available in the well casing and the dry conditions precluded timely recharge of the well.

3.3.3 Alluvial System Characterization

This subsection describes the methodology for geophysical surveys, piezometer installation, seep dynamics, precipitation data collection, and stable isotope analyses in the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon alluvial systems.

3.3.3.1 Geophysical Surveys

In 1999 and 2001, geophysical surveys were conducted by hydroGEOPHYSICS, Inc. to characterize the alluvial system in Cañon de Valle. In 1999, HRR and RS surveys were conducted at Cañon de Valle. The objective of these first surveys was to detail the extent and degree of saturation of alluvium in the canyon bottom. Two survey lines, designated 2658 Line and 2659 Line, were oriented perpendicular to the canyon drainage (Figure 3.3-6). These survey lines were located near Wells 16-02658 and 16-02659 to provide controlled information on alluvium saturation. The survey methodology is detailed in the 1999 geophysical survey report provided in Appendix D-1.

In 2001, the HRR and RS surveys were continued with additional emphasis on HRR. Two perpendicular transects from 1999 were repeated and a third perpendicular survey line was added near SP#16, 16-05601 (Figure 3.3-6). A longitudinal profile survey was conducted that extended from upstream of Burning Ground Spring to approximately 900 ft downstream from Well 16-02659. The longitudinal line roughly paralleled the stream channel and was designed to help identify potential vertical losing zones in the canyon. Figure 3.3-6 shows the locations of the HRR lines. The 2001 geophysical survey report is provided in Appendix D-2.

In September 2002, CSAMT and NSAMT survey work at TA-16 was completed. The survey was conducted to identify potential saturated zones at depths of up to 1500 ft bgs. Additionally, potential transport pathways associated with SWMU 16-021(c)-99 might also be identified. Both CSAMT and NSAMT data were collected. Eight combined survey lines were completed at TA-16, for a total coverage of 28,800 ft. The locations of the eight survey lines are shown on Figure 3.3-7. The complete report is provided in Appendix D-3.

3.3.3.2 Piezometer Installation

Seven piezometers were installed in Cañon de Valle during September and October 2001 to characterize the extent of saturation in the alluvium. The piezometers consisted of 5-ft lengths of 1-in.-diameter steel pipe. The piezometers were installed directly into the alluvium using a post-hole driver and driven until refusal, between 1 to 4 ft bgs. To prevent sediment from clogging the end of the pipe, a solid steel rod was inserted into the pipe during installation. Following installation, the rod was removed from the center of the pipe.

Piezometer 16-02468, located 7300 ft downstream of the 260 outfall, was installed approximately 100 ft west of the Qbt 3/2 contact to a depth of 2 ft below grade in an alluvial flood plain deposit (Figure 3.3-2). Upstream, near SP#16, piezometer 16-02461 was installed to a depth of 2 ft below grade in an alluvial floodplain deposit. Piezometer 16-02466 was installed near Well 16-02659 to a depth of approximately 4 ft below grade on the south slope of the canyon. This mid-slope location was chosen based on geophysical data that indicated a possible saturated zone. At the final two locations, adjacent to Wells 16-02658, and 16-02659, a piezometer nest was installed adjacent to each well. Near Well 16-02658 a piezometer nest was installed with one piezometer (16-02460) at 2 ft and the second piezometer (16-02459) at 2.9 ft bgs. At Well 16-02659, one piezometer (16-02464) was installed at 2 ft







Figure 3.3-7. Locations of Geophysical Survey Lines for Controlled Source and Natural Source Audio-Frequency Magnetotelluric Survey (see Appendix D-3)

and the second piezometer (16-02466) was installed at 4 ft bgs. The intent of the installation of these nested piezometers was to measure vertical gradients. Piezometer locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2.

3.3.3.3 Peter Seep Dynamics

The NMED-approved SAP (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2) requires the location of the 'foot' (the lower outlet) and 'head' (the upper outlet) of Peter Seep be documented. The location of the head of Peter Seep fluctuates within a reach of Cañon de Valle that is approximately 600 ft long. The head is approximately 500 ft upstream from the 260 outfall confluence and the foot (Location ID 16-02653) is approximately 50 ft downstream from the 260 outfall confluence. Figure 3.3-8 shows the foot of Peter Seep in 2000.

The behavior of Peter Seep was observed during the quarterly sampling events by measurements of location and discharge at the foot of Peter Seep, together with concurrent measurements of water levels in the alluvial wells installed during the Phase II RFI (LANL 1998, 59891) The resulting spatial patterns and correlations were analyzed to determine whether the location of Peter Seep varies along a continuum or is confined to discrete locations, and whether or not it is correlated with water elevation in the alluvial wells.

Concurrently with Peter Seep head and foot measurements, water levels were measured in the alluvial wells (see section 3.3.2.1) and discharge at the foot of the seep was recorded. Filtered grab water samples at the head and foot of the seep were also collected during the quarterly sampling events, and the standard field measurements (pH, temperature, and conductance) were performed on each of these samples. A summary of the sampling and analysis for Peter Seep is provided in Table 3.3-4. A summary of all laboratory analyses requested for Peter Seep water samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

3.3.3.4 Precipitation Stable Isotopes

Precipitation samples were collected at the TA-16 field trailers for stable isotope analysis during precipitation events (Figure 3.3-2). Stable isotope analyses were performed to characterize the residence times and subsequently the connectivity of the alluvial system. The RRES-RS Water Quality and Hydrology (WQG) group provided precipitation records for TA-16 for the study period. The precipitation records are provided in Appendix B. The precipitation data complement the stable isotope study and put into context the hydrologic conditions during the study period.

Samples for stable isotope analysis were collected for possible analysis every-other day at Burning Ground Spring (560 samples), SWSC Spring (521 samples), and Martin Spring (554 samples) (see section 4.0) and at Peter Seep (60 samples) over a period of 3 years. The samples were collected in conjunction with the samples collected for the ongoing bromide tracer study (see section 2.2.2). Concurrently with the Phase III sampling period (nominally 2 to 3 years), precipitation samples were collected for stable isotope analysis at a station located near the TA-16 field trailers (Figure 3.3-2). Precipitation sampling is event driven. All precipitation samples were analyzed for the stable isotopes, δ^{18} O and δ D (Table 3.3-5). Nitrogen isotopes (δ N) were also analyzed for a subset of these samples, two per season. The precipitation data are used to establish isotope signatures of storms and the timing of atmospheric transitions.



Figure 3.3-8. Photo of Location ID 16-02653, Peter Seep foot (location shown in Figure 3.3-2). Photo taken in June 2000, following the first major storm after the Cerro Grande fire. View is looking downstream.

Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis for the Investigation of Peter Seep Dynamics						
Sample or Survey Measurement	Number Collected	Number Analyzed	Field Measurements and Analytical Suites			
Record Peter Seep location	20	n/a*	Discharge recorded			
Record alluvial water elevations	20	n/a	Part of alluvial groundwater quarterly monitoring program			
Filtered grab samples from head	2	2	Field temperature, pH, conductance			
of Peter Seep		2	HE, metals, nitrate/nitrite, anions, perchlorate, and alkalinity			
Filtered grab samples from foot of	20	20	Field temperature, pH, conductance			
Peter Seep		3	HE, metals, nitrate/nitrite, anions, perchlorate, and, alkalinity			

 Table 3.3-4

 Summary of Annual Sampling and Analysis for the Investigation of Peter Seep Dynamics

Note: Modified from Table 6.3-4 of the SAP (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2). *n/a = Not applicable.

Table 3.3-5 Summary of Stable Isotope Sampling and Analysis for the Residence Times Investigation at Peter Seep

Sample or Survey Measurement	Number Collected	Number Analyzed	Field Measurements and Analytical Suites
Precipitation samples collected at a central TA-16 station	89	89	δ ¹⁸ Ο, δD
		8	δΝ
Peter Seep, unfiltered water grab samples	60	60	δ ¹⁸ Ο
		510	δD
		2–5	δΝ

Note: Modified from Table 6.3-2 of the SAP (LANL 1998, 62413.3; LANL 1999, 64873.3; LANL 2003, 75986.2).

3.3.3.5 Deviations

Geophysical Surveys

Longitudinal HRR profiles were not specifically called out in the CMS plan. However, based on the favorable results of the first longitudinal line, the coverage was extended past Well 16-02659.

Piezometer Installation

Two additional piezometers were installed for a total of seven piezometers. The CMS plan targeted the reach downstream of Well 16-02659. Because of the dry conditions during the monitoring period, these piezometers were typically dry. To target the wetter regions, two piezometers nests were installed (one nest each) adjacent to Wells 16-02658 and 16-02659.

Peter Seep Dynamics

After initial investigation of the Peter Seep head and foot location, it was determined the location of the foot was essentially stable. Water was at the head only following prolonged precipitation events or from snowmelt. During the monitoring period, these conditions were very rare. The head and foot of Peter Seep also corresponded respectively to the Location ID 16-05993 (SP#2) and Location ID 16-05995 (SP#4; Figure 3.3-2). These locations were monitored during changing hydrologic regimes when there would be the most likely chance for chemical or contaminant variations. Additionally, both the head and foot were included as sample locations during quarterly sampling. This combination provided the potential for 10 analytical samples per year. However, the dry conditions resulted in far fewer samples.

Following review of historical anion and stable isotope data indicating consistent data results, routine sampling at SWSC Spring and Peter Seep was discontinued in the Spring of 2001. A limited number of non-routine anion and stable isotope samples were collected from these two locations subsequent to this date.

3.3.4 Sediment Sampling

Phase II RFI sampling (LANL 1998, 59891) demonstrated that secondary sources of contaminants reside in both the active channels and in the overbank sediment of Cañon de Valle. However, very few samples had been collected outside the active channel, so neither the distribution nor the total inventory of contamination in the alluvial sediment could be estimated. Alluvial sediment had not been sampled in Martin Spring Canyon. Channel sediment locations sampled during the Phase I RFI (LANL 1996, 55077) were resampled. A geomorphic study was conducted in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon to characterize the occurrence and distribution of contaminants in the alluvial deposits.

3.3.4.1 Cañon de Valle Active Channel Resampling

To evaluate contaminant mobility in the sediment, a subset of the 1996 active channel sediment samples were resampled. A total of nine locations were chosen and one field duplicate sample was collected. Samples were collected from the following locations in July 2002: 16-02749, 16-02753, 16-02754, 16-02762, 16-02766, 16-02767, 16-02770, 16-02775, and 16-02777 (Figure 3.3-9). Locations were resampled and submitted for off-site laboratory analysis based on the concentrations of COPCs in Phase I RFI results (LANL 1996, 55077). Each sediment sample submitted to an off-site laboratory was analyzed for HE and HE-breakdown products (EPA Method 8330), metals including boron (EPA Method 6010B/6020) and SVOCs (EPA Method 8270c). A summary of all laboratory analyses requested for these sediment samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

3.3.4.2 Geomorphic Mapping and Sediment Sampling

Sediment deposits less than 50 years old may contain contaminants released from SWMU 16-021(c)-99 or other TA-16 HE production facilities. Finer-grained sediment may have higher concentrations of contaminants than coarse-grained sediment. Contaminant levels could be particularly elevated in relatively fine-grained sediment deposited by unusually high flood events during the period of greatest discharge from the 260 outfall, if such sediment deposits can be identified. Therefore, geomorphic units in the canyon bottom of Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon were mapped to characterize the occurrence and distribution of contaminants as related to channel processes. Geomorphic mapping was performed in accordance with the methods provided in "Core Document for Canyons Investigations" (LANL 1997, 55622).

Subsequent sediment sampling was confined to areas found to include post-1942 sediment deposits, and stratified within such areas according to the results of the geomorphic survey. Geomorphic units were characterized by digging soil pits in each unit. Soil texture, color, and thickness were recorded for each soil layer. Each layer was also screened for banum and silver by XRF; and for RDX by Dtech kit. Following this, a statistician determined the number of samples for laboratory analysis to represent the contaminant inventory. Representative sediment samples were collected and analyzed for each geomorphic unit. Contaminant inventories were then calculated by multiplying the sediment concentration by the approximate volume of each geomorphic unit.

Cañon de Valle

Geomorphic mapping and sampling of Cañon de Valle sediment was conducted in September 1999. The mapping of Cañon de Valle was conducted from the silver outfall (Figure 3.3-2) approximately 4000 ft downstream. The remainder of the canyon will be mapped as part of the canyons team investigation. Field-screening was completed on a total of 59 samples at 21 locations (Figure 3.3-9); 30 of these samples were selected using an RSS strategy and were analyzed for HE (EPA Method 8330), metals including boron (EPA Method 6010B/6020), and particle-size distribution (Janitzky 1986, 57674) at off-site laboratories. A summary of the laboratory analyses requested for the sediment samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3. Seven of these locations were resampled in July 2000 as part of a Laboratory CMS barium stabilization study (in progress). These seven



Figure 3.3-9. Sediment sampling locations

samples were also analyzed for metals by toxicity characteristic leaching procedure and for SVOCs in addition to the suite of analyses listed above.

Martin Spring Canyon

Geomorphic mapping and sampling of Martin Spring Canyon sediment was conducted in September 2000. The mapping extended downstream of Martin Spring for a distance of approximately 2000 ft. The remainder of the canyon will be mapped as part of the canyons team investigation. A total of 21 samples from 19 locations were sampled (Figure 3.3-9) and analyzed for HE (EPA Method 8330), metals including boron (EPA Method 6010B/6020), and particle-size analysis (Janitzky 1986, 57674). No screening data were obtained from Martin Spring Canyon. A summary of the laboratory analyses requested for the sediment samples is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

3.3.5 Sampling to Support the Baseline Ecological Risk Assessment

Several sampling campaigns were conducted to support the assessment of adverse effects to blota in Cañon de Valle from contaminants of potential ecological concern (COPECs). The list of COPECs, and the details of the sampling designs are provided in Appendix L. An overview of the sampling for the aquatic and terrestrial systems follows.

3.3.5.1 Aquatic System Sampling

Two types of samples were collected to evaluate the aquatic system in the canyon. Co-located sediment and water samples were collected for toxicity testing with *Chironomus tentans*. This sampling was conducted in September 2001, July 2002, and December 2002. Benthic macro-invertebrates were collected to assess that community in the canyon relative to three reference streams in the area (Figure 3.3-10) in May 1997 and June 2001.

The toxicity testing samples consisted of 1-gal. sediment samples and 5-gal. water samples that were sent to the testing laboratory. All toxicity testing was performed in accordance with EPA Method 100.2 (EPA 2000, 73776), for a ten-day test with survival and growth measurement endpoints using eight replicates for each site. The first round of toxicity testing used site sediment and static renewal with site water. Samples were collected in three locations in Cañon de Valle and one location at a reference location in Starmer's Gulch. The Cañon de Valle locations (Figure 3.3-10) are 16-06709, SWSC Cut, a roadcut for the SWSC pipeline located downstream of SWSC Spring; 16-06710, below the confluence of Burning Ground Spring; and 16-06711, below MDA P. The Starmer's Gulch site is designated 16-06712. Splits of the sediment and water samples were submitted to the analytical laboratory for contaminant analysis. The suites were TAL metals (EPA Method 6010B/6020) and HE (EPA Method 8330). These data are used to interpret the toxicity test results.

The second and third rounds of toxicity testing were conducted to identify the source of toxicity associated with 16-06709, the SWSC Cut site from the first round of testing and to further evaluate test survival for Location ID 16-06710, below Burning Ground Spring. Sediment and water samples were collected as before. One set of toxicity test replicates for 16-06709 was conducted with site sediment and site water. A second set of replicates for that site was conducted with site sediment and testing laboratory reconstituted water. The Burning Ground Spring site, 16-06710, and Starmer's Gulch site, 16-06712, were tested with site sediment and site water.



Figure 3.3-10. Location of ecotoxicology sampling in Cañon de Valle

Personnel of the NMED Oversight Bureau conducted the benthic macroinvertebrate sampling. The methods are consistent with the protocols in EPA guidance (EPA 1999, 73728). A modified Hess sampler was used and three locations were sampled and combined for a single composite site sample. The May 1997 sampling campaign included one site in Cañon de Valle below MDA P (Location ID 16-06711) and several reference streams. The June 2001 sampling campaign included the 1997 site (Location ID 16-06711) for Cañon de Valle and a site below the confluence with Burning Ground Spring.

3.3.5.2 Terrestrial System Sampling

Adverse effects characterization for the terrestrial system used the characteristics of the small mammal populations in Cañon de Valle and the contaminant body burdens of small mammals as estimates for potential contaminant doses to the Mexican spotted owl (threatened and endangered species). Figure 3.3-10 shows the locations of the trapping arrays in Cañon de Valle and Pajarito Canyon (reference site).

Small mammal trapping was conducted in May 2001, September and October 2001, and May 2002. Two 5-ft-wide by 20-ft-long trapping grids were established in each canyon for the duration of the trapping events. A Sherman live trap and a pitfall trap occupied each grid location. The live traps were opened and baited and the pitfall traps uncovered in the late afternoons. Traps were checked and closed the following mornings. Newly captured individuals were identified, classified for reproductive status, ear tagged, and released. For the first two sampling periods, mark and recapture trapping was conducted for five days. These data are used to estimate population densities. After the population data were collected, individuals of prevalent species were collected for chemical analysis of whole animal contaminant body burdens. Individuals were analyzed for HE by EPA Method 8330 and TAL metals by EPA Method 6010B. The third sampling event consisted of trapping for body burden analysis only. Results of the mark and recapture trapping and the reproductive status classifications are presented in Appendix L and published in Bennett et al. (Bennett et al. 2002, 73796).

3.3.5.3 Deviations

Aquatic System Sampling

Two deviations were associated with the aquatic system sampling. The first deviation was that the results from the second round (September and October of 2001) of toxicity testing for sediment and site water were rejected because of high mortality in the laboratory control replicates. The acceptance criterion for the test is 70% average survival for the control replicates. The test had 72.5% average survival for the laboratory control with individual replicates ranging from 50% to 90%. In addition, the site sample survival results did not correspond to what is known about contamination in the sediment. Consequently, a decision was made with the High Performing Team to reject these data and repeat the sampling and analysis. An additional set of samples was collected in December 2002 (repeating the round 2 sampling) and the quality control (QC) data for these tests were acceptable. The baseline ecological risk assessment uses the results from the first and third rounds of toxicity testing to assess adverse effects.

The second deviation was for the benthic macro-invertebrate sampling in 2001. The Cerro Grande fire in 2000 resulted in substantial fire effects in the reference canyons used in the 1996 and 1997 benthic macro-invertebrate sampling. Flooding in those canyons after the fire resulted in changes to site conditions and the macro-invertebrate communities such that comparisons of Cañon de Valle to those sites was no longer useful. Consequently, the 2001 Cañon de Valle data were compared to the previous Cañon de Valle data and the two sites sampled in Cañon de Valle in 2001 were compared to each other.

The absence of 2001 reference site data diminishes the evidence for associating changes in Cañon de Valle to the on-going drought.

Terrestrial System Sampling

There were two deviations associated with the terrestrial sampling design. The body burden data associated with the fall 2001 sampling were rejected because of very large differences in constituent concentrations that are physiologically regulated, and are not contaminants. One example is a range of two orders of magnitude for calcium results. This difference points to an artifact in the sample preparation or the analysis. A third round of sampling was conducted in the spring of 2002 to collect additional small mammals for body burden analysis. These data were acceptable. The assessment of small mammal body burdens and potential dose to the Mexican spotted owl is based upon the analytical data from the first and third trapping periods.

The second deviation involves the species available for capture in the canyons. The sampling design was to capture individuals from multiple trophic levels, including shrews, which are insectivores. The literature indicates that insectivores often have the highest contaminant body burdens. Pitfall trapping was conducted in both canyons for shrews during the first two sampling rounds. None were captured. The absence of shrews is likely a consequence of the drought and the elimination of effluent support to the flow in Cañon de Valle. If shrews were present they would be an incidental prey species of the Mexican spotted owl given their rarity. The small mammals that were captured reflect the abundant species in the canyons and the likely prey species for owls hunting in those canyons. These species represent herbivore and omnivore trophic levels.

3.4 Results

This section presents the results from surface water, alluvial groundwater, sediment, and econsk sampling programs. Each sampling program is described in terms of the number of samples collected and data quality issues concerning the sampling events. The results of the data quality assurance (QA)/QC assessments are presented in Appendix F. All analytical data are presented in Appendix G-3.

3.4.1 Data Results Overview

3.4.1.1 Data Quality Assessment

All analytical samples were sent for fixed-laboratory analysis at off-site commercial analytical laboratories. All analytical results received routine data validation, with some results receiving focused validation when appropriate. Validation results for all analytical data are summarized in Appendix F and indicate the dataset is of sufficient quantity and quality to be used in data analysis, including risk assessment.

3.4.1.2 Screening Methodology

To identify which chemicals are COPCs for SWMU 16-021(c)-99, all chemicals detected in either SWMU 16-021(c)-99 sediment or water were subjected to a screening process. The screening process is described in section 1.5.

3.4.2 Analytical Data Presentation

This section presents the analytical data results for surface water, alluvial groundwater, sediment, and ecological sampling results. A summary of all analytical data is provided in Appendix G-3.

3.4.2.1 Cañon de Valle Surface Water

This section presents analytical and SP results from 1998 through 2002. The results are derived from three types of surface water sampling activities: (1) SP sampling, 2) quarterly sampling of surface water locations, and (3) surface water collected in support of ecotoxological testing. Sample locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2.

3.4.2.1.1 Cañon de Valle Surface Water: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.1 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals (Table 3.4-1); the screening results for inorganic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-2); and the inorganic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-3).

To determine whether those chemicals that exceeded a screening standard are true contaminants present above naturally-occurring concentrations, a site-specific analysis was conducted using geochemistry. This analysis was also required due to a lack of an appropriate background water dataset. The importance of geochemical evaluations in distinguishing between contamination and naturally high background concentrations of elements has been recognized in the industry (EPA 1995, 76856; U.S. Navy 2002, 76854). One of the key processes considered in a geochemical evaluation of surface water is the effect of naturally-occurring suspended particulates on trace element concentrations. The most common suspended particulates in surface water samples are clay minerals, hydrous aluminum oxides, and aluminum hydroxides, hereafter referred to as "clays"; and iron oxide (Fe₂O₃), iron hydroxide [Fe(OH)₃], and iron oxyhydroxide (FeO+OH) minerals, collectively referred to as "iron oxides," All clay minerals contain aluminum and have low solubilities over a neutral pH range of 6 to 8. Measured concentrations of aluminum in excess of approximately 1 mo/L indicate the presence of suspended clay minerals (Stumm and Morgan 1970, 76857; Hem 1985, 76855); higher aluminum concentrations is a qualitative indicator of the mass of suspended clay minerals. Iron also has a very low solubility under neutral pH and moderate to oxidizing redox conditions, so that measured iron concentrations in excess of approximately 1 mg/L under these conditions indicate the presence of suspended iron oxides (Hern 1985, 76855).

The analysis is conducted by plotting suspected contaminants against either aluminum or iron. For example, chromium is plotted against aluminum for naturally-occurring concentrations and site samples. If the naturally-occurring concentrations and site samples display a common linear trend, then it is most likely the elevated chromium concentrations are due to the presence of suspended clay minerals in the samples. The slope of a best-fit line through the points representing uncontaminated samples is equal to the average chromium/aluminum ratio. If some site samples are plotted above the trend established by the naturally-occurring concentrations samples, then those site samples have an anomalously high chromium/aluminum ratio, and most likely contain excess chromium that cannot be explained by these natural processes. Further details of the method are provided in Appendix I-2.

The results of the analysis conducted for Cañon de Valle surface water show that observed concentrations of aluminum, iron, lead, manganese, and silver that exceed a screening standard are the result of naturally-occurring concentrations.

Cañon de Valle surface water inorganic chemicals eliminated and retained for further consideration are listed in Table 3.4-3. Barium is the only COPC which consistently exceeds the screening standard at most locations. A brief description of each retained inorganic chemical with concentrations exceeding standards and the site-specific naturally-occurring concentration analysis is provided in Appendix I-4 and

Chemical	Field Number of Number of Concentration Range emical Preparation Analyses Detects (µg/L)		Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a		
Aluminum	Filtered	73	47	[8.7] ^b to 15000	80
	Unfiltered	84	79	[133] to 22700	
Antimony	Filtered	72	13	[0.14] to [33]	13
	Unfiltered	83	7	[0.08] to [33]	
Arsenic	Filtered	73	14	[0.27] to [5]	24
	Unfiltered	84	23	[0.27] to 8.3	
Barium	Filtered	70	70	15.5 to 12900	100
	Unfiltered	81	81	16.8 to 16300	
Beryllium	Filtered	73	3	[0.09] to [4]	16
	Unfiltered	84	22	0.03 to [4]	
Boron	Filtered	67	45	6.97 to [500]	67
	Unfiltered	74	50	3.06 to [500]	
Cadmium	Filtered	73	7	0.054 to [5]	12
	Unfiltered	84	12	[0.017] to [2.6]	
Calcium	Filtered	73	73	4200 to 43300	100
	Unfiltered	84	84	4290 to 44300	
Cesium	Filtered	2	2	700 to 800	n/a ^c
	Unfittered	2	2	500 to 700	
Chloride	Filtered	9	9	4500 to 32000	100
•	Unfiltered	67	67	200 to 39000	anne
Chromium	Filtered	73	40	[0.32] to 34.6	62
	Unfiltered	84	58	[0.38] to 24.3	
Cobalt	Filtered	73	39	[0.23] to [20]	50
	Unfiltered	84	39	[0.2] to [20]	
Соррег	Filtered	73	28	[0.28] to 75.3	46
	Unfiltered	84	44	[0.28] to 61.5	
Cyanide (Total)	Filtered	3	0	[2.5 to 10]	n/a
	Unfiltered	3	0	[2.5 to 10]	
Fluoride	Filtered	9	3	100 to [1000]	75
	Unfiltered	67	54	[14] to [1000]	
Iron	Filtered	73	45	13.3 to 10000	75
	Unfiltered	84	72	[64] to 17700	
Lead	Filtered	73	11	0.057 to 4.8	34
	Unfiltered	84	43	0.2 to 24.1	1
Lithium	Filtered	3	3	3.5 to 18.1	n/a
	Unfiltered	3	3	6.2 to 25.8	1
Magnesium	Filtered	73	73	1530 to 9590	100
-	Unfiltered	84	84	1550 to 9580	
Manganese	Filtered	73	67	0.7 to 628	96
-	Unfiltered	84	83	1.8 to 2290	***

 Table 3.4-1

 Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Surface Water Samples from Cañon de Valle

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a	
Mercury	Filtered	73	0	[0.01 to 0.2]	3	
	Unfiltered	84	5	[0.01] to [1]		
Molybdenum	Filtered	3	0	[2.9 to 4.9]	rı/a	
	Unfiltered	6	4	0.844 to 6.3		
Nickel	Filtered	73	32	0.42 to [40]	54	
	Unfiltered	84	52	0.5 to [40]		
Nitrate	Filtered	2	1	[200] to 900	n/a	
	Unfiltered	15	4	[200] to 900		
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Filtered	7	3	[100] to 940	61	
	Unfiltered	57	36	[20] to 49200		
Nitrite	Filtered	2	0	[100 to 100]	n/a	
	Unfiltered	15	0	[100 to 100]		
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	50	4	[4] to [20]	8	
Potassium	Filtered	73	69	920 to 10800	93	
	Unfiltered	84	77	1000 to 11000		
Rubidium	Filtered	2	0	[500 to 500]	n/a	
	Unfiltered	2	0	[500 to 500]		
Selenium	Filtered	73	17	0.374 to [5]	22	
•	Unfiltered	84	17	0.476 to 5.33		
Silver	Filtered	73	5	[0.12] to [10]	15	
	Unfiltered	84	18	[0.16] to 1380		
Sodium	Filtered	73	73	2220 to 26200	100	
	Unfiltered	84	84	2190 to 26100		
Strontium	Filtered	3	3	39.5 to 126	n/a	
	Unfiltered	3	3	57.7 to 133		
Sulfate	Filtered	9	9	5800 to 10000	100	
	Unfiltered	67	67	2070 to 31700		
Thallium	Filtered	73	12	0.017 to [5.6]	18	
	Unfiltered	84	17	0.023 to 5.9		
Uranium	Filtered	3	0	[80.4 to 126]	59	
	Unfiltered	31	20	[0.04] to [126]		
Vanadium	Filtered	73	53	0.31 to 14.3	76	
	Unfiltered	84	66	0.34 to 33.1		
Zinc	Filtered	73	40	1.3 to 56.4	59	
	Unfiltered	84	53	0.7 to 100		

Table 3.4-1 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.
 ^b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (ug/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-01-3231	Max. Detected Value	22700		5000 ^{a,b}	50	n/a ^c	Yes
	RE16-01-3132	Max, Undetected Value	589	(U) ^đ	5000 ^{a,b}	50	n/a	Yes
Antimony	RE16-99-3075	Max. Detected Value	6.4	(J) ^e	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3112	Max. Undetected Value	33	(U)	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arsenic	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	8.3	(J)	100 ^f	10	n/a	No
	RE16-01-3278	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	100 ^f	10	n/a	No
Barium	RE16-01-3072	Max. Detected Value	16300		1000 ^f	2000	n/a	Yes
Beryllium	RE16-00-3141	Max. Detected Value	1.3	(J)	n/a	4	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3131	Max. Undetected Value	4	(U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Boron	RE16-00-3163	Max. Detected Value	69.2	(J)	750 ^a	na ⁹	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3132	Max. Undetected Value	500	(U)	750 ^a	na	n/a	No
Cadmium	RE16-00-3268	Max. Detected Value	1.6	(J)	10 ^f	5	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3316	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	10 ^f	5	n/a	No
Calcium	RE16-00-3163	Max. Detected Value	44300		na	na	na	na
Cesium	RE16-98-3018	Max. Detected Value	800		na	na	na	na
Chloride	RE16-99-3199	Max. Detected Value	39000		250000 ^h	250000	n⁄a	No
Chromium	RE16-99-3047	Max. Detected Value	34.6		50 ¹	100	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3020	Max. Undetected Value	5.9	(U)	50'	100	n/a	No
Cobalt	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	12.9	(J)	50 ⁸	na	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3131	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	50 ^a	na	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-01-3250	Max. Detected Value	75.3		500 ^b	1000	n/a	No
	RE16-01-3152	Max. Undetected Value	15.3	(U)	500 ^b	1000	n/a	No
Fluoride	RE16-00-3163	Max. Detected Value	432		1600 ¹	2000	r/a	No
	RE16-98-3107	Max. Undetected Value	1000	(U)	1600 ^f	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	17700		1000 ^h	300	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3150	Max. Undetected Value	406	(U)	1000 ^h	300	n/a	Yes
Lead	RE16-01-3072	Max. Detected Value	24.1		50 ^f	15	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3107	Max. Undetected Value	4.2	(U)	50 ^f	15	n/a	No
Lithium	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	25.8		na	na	730	No

 Table 3.4-2

 Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

,

Table 3.4-2 (continued)

Chemical	Sample (D	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (ug/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Magnesium	RE16-00-3164	Max. Detected Value	9590		na	na	na	na
Manganese	RE16-98-3081	Max. Detected Value	2290		200 ^h	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3114	Max. Undetected Value	8.8	(U)	200 ^h	50	n/a	No
Mercury	RE16-01-3154	Max. Detected Value	0.97		0.77	2	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3080	Max. Undetected Value	1	(U)	0.77	2	n/a	Yes
Molybdenum	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	6.3	(J)	1000 ^a	na	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3044	Max. Undetected Value	4.9	(U)	1000 ^a	na	n/a	No
Nickel	RE16-01-3231	Max. Detected Value	13.2	(J)	200 ^a	na	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3132	Max. Undetected Value	40	(U)	200 ^a	na	n/a	No
Nitrate	RE16-98-3018	Max. Detected Value	900		10000 ^f	10000	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3020	Max. Undetected Value	200	(U)	10000 ^f	10000	n/a	No
Nitrate-Nitrite	RE16-01-3130	Max. Detected Value	49200		10000	na	n/a	Yes
as N	RE16-00-3313	Max. Undetected Value	1110	(U)	10000	na	n/a	No
Perchlorate	RE16-00-3133	Max. Detected Value	17.1		4 ^j	na	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3150	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	4 ⁱ	na	n/a	Yes
Potassium	RE16-00-3163	Max. Detected Value	11000		na	na	na	na
	RE16-01-3196	Max. Undetected Value	2330	(U)	na	na	na	na
Selenium	RE16-01-3280	Max. Detected Value	5.33		5'	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-02-45961	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	5 ¹	50	rva	No
Silver	RE16-98-3081	Max. Detected Value	1380		50	100	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3131	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	50	100	rv/a	No
Sodium	RE16-00-3208	Max. Detected Value	26200		na	na	na	na
Strontium	RE16-98-3019	Max. Detected Value	133		na	na	22000	No
Sulfate	RE16-00-3133	Max. Detected Value	31700		600000 ^h	250000	n/a	No
Thallium	RE16-98-3083	Max. Detected Value	5.9	(J)	n/a	2	п/а	Yes
	RE16-99-3023	Max. Undetected Value	5.6	(U)	п/а	2	n/a	Yes
Uranium	RE16-00-3163	Max. Detected Value	1,91		5000 ^f	30	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3044	Max. Undetected Value	126	(U)	5000 ^f	30	n/a	Yes
Vanadium	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	33.1	(J)	100 ^b	na	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3132	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	100 ⁶	na	n/a	No
Zinc	RE16-02-45961	Max. Detected Value	100		10000 ^h	5000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3207	Max. Undetected Value	38.1	(U)	10000 ^h	5000	n/a	No

Table 3.4-2 (continued)

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC,* Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867; and California DHS 2003, 76862.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Irrigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

d n/a = Not applicable.

 $\frac{u}{e}$ (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

(J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usuat. 1

NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103). g

na = Not available. h

NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103). i

NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900). Ĵ

California DHS 2003, 76862.

Table 3.4-3

Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC			
Aluminum	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.			
Antimony	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Arsenic	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Beryllium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Boron	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Cadmium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Cesium	Retained	No screening value available, retained for further evaluation.			
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Chromium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Cobalt	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Copper	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Lead	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.			
Lithium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Manganese	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.			
Mercury	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.			

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC			
Molybdenum	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Nickel	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Nitrate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Perchlorate	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Selenium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Silver	Retained	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.			
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Strontium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Uranium	Retained	Detection limit exceeds the screening limit.			
Vanadium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Zinc	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			

Table 3.4-3 (continued)

includes maximum concentrations detected, relevant locations where the chemical has been detected, and the dates of detection.

3.4.2.1.2 Cañon de Valle Surface Water: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.2 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-4), the screening results for organic chemicals, which exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-5), and the retained and eliminated organic chemicals (Table 3.4-6). Retained HE compounds include dinitrosodimethylamine (DNX), mononitrosodimethylamine (MNX), RDX, and TNT, however, RDX is the most prevalent HE COPC. Low concentrations (ppb) of tetrachloroethene and trichloroethene were also detected and retained as COPCs. A brief description of the retained organic COPCs with concentrations exceeding screening standards is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.1.3 Cañon de Valle Surface Water: Evaluation of Tritium

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of the detected tritium in surface water samples collected in Cañon de Valle is provided in Table G-2.3 (located in Appendix G-2). Tritium was the only radionuclide detected in Cañon de Valle surface water. The frequency of detected of tritium (Table 3.4-7), the screening results (Table 3.4-8), and the retained and eliminated analysis (Table 3.4-9) are presented in this section. The results show that tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard.

Table 3.4-4 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Acetone	Filtered	2	2	25 to 25	19
	Unfiltered	30	4	[1] ^b to [30]	
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Filtered	8	7	[0.05] to 8.3	52
	Unfiltered	74	36	[0.05] to 14	
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Filtered	8	7	[0.049] to 9.5	50
	Unfiltered	74	34	[0.049] to 13	
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Unfiltered	8	1	[0.39] to 9.4	n/a [¢]
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	Unfiltered	14	2	1.5 to [12]	п∕а
Butanone[2-]	Unfittered	31	3	2 to [20]	9
Dichloroethene[cis-1,2-]	Filtered	2	1	9 to [10]	12
	Unfiltered	23	2	[1] to 27	
DNX ^d	Unfiltered	12	- 5	0.1 to 1.3	п∕а
HMX ^e	Filtered	9	9	0.514 to 43	79
	Unfiltered	82	63	[0.1] to 120	n.
Methylene Chloride	Unfiltered	31	1	[0.38] to [38]	3
MNX ^f	Unfiltered	12	6	0.18 to 0.97	⊓⁄a
Naphthalene	Unfiltered	27	1	0.7 to [15]	3
Nitroglycerin	Unfiltered	26	1	1.1 to [5]	4
Nitrotoluene[2-]	Unfiltered	82	1	[0.071] to [20]	1
RDX ⁹	Filtered	9	9	3.14 to 100	74
	Unfiltered	82	58	[0.1] to 290	
Tetrachloroethene	Filtered	2	1	[5] to 10	12
	Unfiltered	31	3	[1] to 42	
TNX ^h	Unfiltered	12	4	0.051 to 0.58	п/а
Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]	Unfiltered	23	1	[5] to [5]	4
Trichlorobenzene[1,2,3-]	Unfiltered	13	1	0.9 to [5]	n/a
Trichloroethene	Unfiltered	31	3	0.25 to 10	9
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Unfiltered	82	1	[0.05] to [5.2]	1
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Filtered	9	1	[0.048] to 1.05	15
	Unfiltered	82	13	[0.048] to 6.2]

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

ā The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

e HMX = Octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine. f

MNX = Hexahydro-1-nitroso-3,5-dinitro-1,3,5-triazine.

⁹ RDX = Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine.

h TNX = Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitroso-1,3,5-triazine.

n/a = Not applicable. DNX = Hexahydro-1,3-dinitroso-5-nitro-1,3,5-triazine.

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Acetone	RE16-98-3021	Max. Detected Value	27 ((J-) ^a	na ^b	na	610	No
	RE16-01-3196	Max. Undetected Value	30 ((U) ^c	na	na	610	No
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	RE16-00-3313	Max. Detected Value	14		na	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3319	Max. Undetected Value	2.7 ((U)	na	na	37	No
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	RE16-00-3313	Max. Detected Value	13		na	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3327	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 ((U)	na	na	37	No
Amino-x, 6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-00-3207	Max. Detected Value	9.4		na	na	37	No
	RE16-98-3045	Max. Undetected Value	0.39 ((U)	na	na	37	No
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	RE16-99-3199	Max. Detected Value	1.6 ((J) ^d	n/a ^e	6	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3081	Max, Undetected Value	12 ((U)	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Butanone[2-]	RE16-02-45203	Max. Detected Value	4.3 ((J)	na	na	1900	No
	RE16-98-3082	Max. Undetected Value	20 ((U)	na	na	1900	No
Dichloroethene[cis-1,2-]	RE16-00-3133	Max. Detected Value	27		na	70	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3019	Max. Undetected Value	10 ((U)	na	70	n/a	No
DNX	RE16-01-3251	Max. Detected Value	1.3 ((J-)	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-02-45961	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 ((U)	na	na	0.61	No
НМХ	RE16-00-3315	Max. Detected Value	120		na	na	1800	No
	RE16-00-3163	Max. Undetected Value	1.7 ((U)	па	na	1800	No
Methylene Chloride	RE16-01-3142	Max. Detected Value	1.1 ((J)	100	5	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3207	Max. Undetected Value	38 ((U)	100	5	n/a	Yes
MNX	RE16-01-3251	Max. Detected Value	0.97 ((J-)	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-02-45203	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 ((U)	na	na	0.61	No
Naphthalene	RE16-99-3046	Max. Detected Value	0.7 ((J)	30	na	n/a	No
-	RE16-98-3084	Max. Undetected Value	15 ((U)	30'	na	n/a	No

 Table 3.4-5

 creening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

		Sample Concent	ration	NMWQCC Standard	EPA MCL	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG	Exceeds Screening
Chemical	Sample ID	(µg/L)		(µg/L)	(µg/L)	(µg/L)	Limit
Nitroglycerin	RE16-99-3256	Max. Detected Value	1.1 (J)	na	na	4.8 ⁹	No
	RE16-00-3315	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	na	na	4.89	Yes
Nitrotoluene[2-]	RE16-01-3278	Max. Detected Value	0.12	na	na	61	No
	RE16-99-3064	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U)	na	na	61	No
RDX	RE16-99-3066	Max. Detected Value	290	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-00-3163	Max. Undetected Value	0.87 (U)	naj	na	0.61	Yes
Tetrachloroethene	RE16-00-3133	Max. Detected Value	42	20	5	r/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3082	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	20'	5	n/a	No
TNX	RE16-01-3251	Max. Detected Value	0.58 (J-)	na	na	0.61	No
	RE16-02-45223	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 (U)	па	па	0.61	No
Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]	RE16-00-3207	Max. Detected Value	5	na	na	59000	No
	RE16-99-3016	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	na	па	59000	No
Trichlorobenzene[1,2,3-]	RE16-99-3046	Max. Detected Value	0.9 (J)	n/a	70	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3082	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	n/a	70	п/а	No
Trichloroethene	RE16-00-3133	Max. Detected Value	10	100'	5	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3082	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	100'	5	n/a	No
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	RE16-01-3150	Max. Detected Value	0.11	na	na	1100	No
	RE16-00-3315	Max. Undetected Value	5.2 (U)	na	na	1100	No
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	RE16-00-3313	Max. Detected Value	6.2	na	na	2.2	Yes
	RE16-99-3064	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	па	na	2.2	Yes

Table 3.4-5 (continued)

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867; and California DHS 2003, 76862.

a (J-) = The chamical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain then usual with a potential negative bias.

b na = Not available.

 $\frac{c}{d}$ (U) = The chemical is classified as "not detected."

(J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

e n/a = Not applicable.

NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

⁹ (EPA 2002, 76866).

3-36

 Table 3.4-6

 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC		
Acetone	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.		
Butanone[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Dichloroethene[cis-1,2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
DNX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
НМХ	Eliminated	No values above screening limit,		
Methylene Chloride	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.		
MNX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Naphthalene	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.		
Nitroglycerin	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.		
Nitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number analyses.		
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Tetrachloroethene	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
TNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Trichloro-1,2,2-trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number analyses.		
Trichlorobenzene[1,2,3-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Trichloroethene	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number or analyses.		
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		

Chemical	Field	Number of	Number of	Concentration Range	Percent Detected for 20
	Preparation	Analyses	Detects	(pCI/L)	Samples or Greater ^a
Tritium	Unfiltered	26	23	[2.9] ^b to 167.36	88

 Table 3.4-7

 Frequency of Detected Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

 Table 3.4-8

 Screening of Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (pC/L)		NMWQCC Standard (pCVL)	EPA MCL (pCVL)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (pC//L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
T-1+1	RE16-01-3126	Max. Detected Value	167.36	20000 ^a	20000	n/a ^b	No
Invun	RE16-00-3141	Max. Undetected Value	4 (U) ^c	20000 ^a	20000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/i TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; and EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4,900).

b n/a = Not applicable.

^C(U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

Table 3.4-9 Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Cañon de Valle Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Tritium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

3.4.2.1.4 Cañon de Valle Surface Water: Flow Rate and Water Chemistry

This subsection presents the screening data results for discharge, conductivity, pH, stable isotopes, and temperature data collected during the SP measurements between 1998 and 2002.

Discharge Results

Figure 3.4-1 shows the discharge measurements for each SP location for Cañon de Valle. The locations of the SPs where discharge measurements were conducted are shown on Figure 3.3-2. The following section summarizes the observed trends from the 13 discharge events:



Figure 3.4-1. Discharge results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002

- 1. The channel is usually dry upstream from SP#4 (Peter Seep foot).
- 2. Discharge from SWSC Spring (when running) contributes to the first gaining portion of the channel.
- 3. The channel loses water between the SWSC Spring confluence and Burning Ground Spring confluence.
- During the investigation period, the perennial reach of Cañon de Valle in TA-16 is approximately 1900 ft long, beginning at the confluence with Burning Ground Spring and ending between SP#10 and SP#11, just downstream of MDA P.
- 5. The channel loses from Burning Ground Spring to SP#12. In particular, the broad canyon bottom area between SP #9 and SP #10 generally loses, and during low flow periods the water in the channel consistently goes subsurface within 90 ft of SP#10.
- 6. An unnamed seep is present adjacent to Well 16-02659 located approximately 3500 ft downstream of the 260 outfall. Based on data shown in Figure 3.4-1, this location also shows a noticeable water input, which may be the result of a subsurface source related to the seep. Noticeable temperature and pH changes were recorded at this location during the Fall 2000 profile. Moreover, chemical trend data for barium indicate a barium input occurs at this location (see section 3.5).
- 7. Of the 13 discharge events, 2 were measured during the spring following a heavy snow year. These 2 discharge profiles recorded the highest discharge and show some exceptions to the general observations. These exceptions include: a gaining reach between SP#8 and SP#10 and measurable flow upchannel of the 260 outfall. This may explain why the highest contaminant concentrations were also observed during the snowmelt runoff.

Conductivity Results

Conductivity measurements presented in Figure 3.4-2 generally show a steady to slightly increasing trend downstream, with the November 2000, March 2001, and October 2001 SPs showing the largest variation with distance. All of these profiles were collected during wet periods.

Temperature and pH Results

Temperature profiles shown in Figure 3.4-3 show a general downward trend with distance from the 260 outfall. A notable variation occurs approximately 3500 ft downstream from the 260 outfall near Well 16-02659. The temperature results (i.e., slight increase) support the presence of an alluvial input at this location. Seasonal changes (both fall and winter), when present, deviate toward a common temperature, indicative of a subsurface water source or seep near Well 16-02659. The variability of the temperature change at this location may result from thermal mixing and the differences in flow rate, caused by precipitation, between the subsurface input and surface water.

Cañon de Valle surface water pH measurements are shown in Figure 3.4-4. Despite considerable scatter in the data, in general, a pH change is observed in the same location where changes in temperature and conductivity are also observed, indicating a subsurface input to the surface water at this location.







3-42

Figure 3.4-3. Temperature results for stream discharge events measured between June 1998 and August 2002





Seep Dynamics

The location of the head and foot of Peter Seep was not dynamic during the investigation period. The 2001 snowmelt season and the fall of 2001 were the only times water was observed at the Peter Seep 'head', approximately 500 ft up channel from the 260 outfall confluence. at other times, water was observed to originate from the 'foot'. For data analysis purposes, seep data are compiled with the surface water data.

Stable Isotopes

Surface water samples were analyzed for δ^{18} O and δ D at the headwaters of Cañon de Valle, at the confluence of Cañon de Valle and the Fishladder drainage, at the confluence of Cañon de Valle and Water Canyon, and at Peter Seep (Figure 3.4-5). The δ D data are not shown because they show behavior similar to the δ^{18} O data. The headwaters have the most negative values because the headwater area is the highest elevation site sampled. Compared to the alluvial groundwater (e.g., Well 16-02657, see Figure 3.4-9), surface water does not always follow the same trends, indicating there are differences between surface and alluvial groundwater (even though there is exchange between the two). Similar differences are seen between the contaminant chemistry of surface water and alluvial groundwater (see section 5.2).

Nitrogen isotopes (δ^{15} N) were examined as a possible way of identifying natural versus contaminant sources of nitrate and to identify whether there was active denitrification at TA-16. With regard to natural versus contaminant sources, the δ^{15} N data are ambiguous and thus did not turn out to be diagnostic. However, with regard to denitrification, there appears to be a correlation between nitrate concentrations and δ^{15} N in the waters of Canon de Valle, where larger values of δ^{15} N correspond to higher concentrations of nitrate (Figure 3.4-6). This correlation indicates that denitrification is occurring because one of the characteristics of denitrification is an increase in δ^{15} N. Additional evidence and discussion of nitrate degradation is presented in section 5.0.

Tritium concentrations in surface water are shown in Figure 3.4-7. The locations show no clear trends except that the Cañon de Valle headwaters tend to have the lowest tritium concentrations. This suggests that the headwaters are less affected by Laboratory atmospheric releases. The relatively high levels of tritium, although not a risk driver, suggest that the water in the alluvial aquifer is relatively young (less than a few decades), or has a large young water component. These results are similar to values for the alluvial wells (see Well 16-02658 example on Figure 3.4-7). However, the surface waters have a wider range of values, probably because the alluvial system is more mixed than the surface water.

3.4.2.1.5 Cañon de Valle Geophysical Studies

Geophysics conducted at the site in support of the Phase III RFI consisted of three field efforts conducted in 1999, 2000, and 2002. The 1999 results demonstrated the capability of HRR as a nonintrusive means to detect and characterize subsurface moisture conditions. The 2001 survey was a more broad continuation of that effort. Line locations are shown on Figure 3.3-6. In September 2002, CSAMT and NSAMT geophysical survey work was performed. Line locations are provided on Figure 3.3-7. Figure 3.4-8 shows the HRR results for a line located within the Cañon de Valle. Complete results from all geophysical surveys are included in Appendix D.



Figure 3.4-5. Plot of δ^{18} O from surface water samples from Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-6. Nitrogen isotopes (δ^{15} N) and nitrate concentrations in Cañon de Valle waters.


Figure 3-4-7. Tritium concentrations in TA-16 area surface water and Well 16-02658 groundwater







Figure 3.4-8. Geophysics HRR results from Cañon de Valle

Phase III RFI Report

The important highlights of the surveys that influence conceptual model development were:

- 1. At the subsurface of the Burning Ground Spring wetland area, there is a conductive region implying possible subsurface water infiltration at this location (deeper than alluvium).
- 2. The area approximately 200 ft upstream from MDA P shows an approximately 20-ft-thick low resistance layer dipping to the west. Just downstream of MDA P the surface water flow rate decreases, indicating a loss zone as discussed earlier in the SP discharge results.
- Further downstream from MDA P, the 2-D longitudinal line shows laterally discontinuous zones of low resistance; these zones could represent saturated zones of alluvial groundwater. This conductive region does not show up in the cross sectional line at SP#16. It is possible that there were unsaturated conditions at that location at the time of measurement.
- 4. The deep conductive horizons observed in the CSAMT and NSAMT inversion models extend below the 6400-ft elevation. Information from several intermediate-depth wells indicates a regional water table near the 1200-ft depth in the vicinity of Regional Aquifer Well CdV R-37-2. It is possible that the water table elevation in the TA-16 area may range from 5800 to 6400 ft. These are the elevations where the CSAMT and NSAMT inversion models identify anomalously conductive features.

3.4.2.2 Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater

Laboratory analyses and water level, conductivity, and temperature screening results for quarterly groundwater sampling conducted between 1998 and 2002 are described below in detail. Complete time series charts for the alluvial wells are included in Appendix H. Sample locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2. A summary of all samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all analytical results is provided in Appendix G-3.

3.4.2.2.1 Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.4 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals (Table 3.4-10); screening results for inorganic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standards, or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-11); and the chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-12). In developing the final retained and eliminated table, a site-specific naturally-occurring concentration analysis was conducted using geochemistry. Further details of this analysis are provided in Appendix I-2. This analysis showed the detected concentrations of aluminum, arsenic, beryllium, chromium, iron, lead, selenium, uranium, and vanadium were the result of naturally-occurring concentrations. The screening results (Table 3.4-12) include the results of the geochemical evaluation for alluvial groundwater in Cañon de Valle. Banum and manganese are the most prevalent COPCs in the Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater. A brief description of retained inorganic COPCs with concentrations exceeding standards is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.2.2 Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.5 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4–13); screening results for organic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standards, or other appropriate standard

Table 3.4-10	
Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Sample	} 5

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Aluminum	Filtered	75	59	11 to 79700	90
	Unfiltered	87	87	200 to 151000	
Antimony	Filtered	72	22	[0.18] ^b to [20]	32
	Unfiltered	85	29	[0.12] to [20]	
Arsenic	Filtered	73	27	[0.27] to 16	53
	Unfiltered	85	56	0.31 to 19	
Barium	Filtered	71	71	109 to 13000	100
	Unfiltered	83	83	252 to 18000	
Beryllium	Filtered	75	8	0.02 to 6.5	38
	Unfiltered	87	53	[0.035] to 8.5	
Boron	Filtered	75	54	[1.8] to [500]	72
	Unfiltered	81	58	[1.8] to [500]	
Cadmium	Filtered	75	34	0.0989 to 5.9	54
	Unfiltered	87	54	[0.15] to 11.3	
Calcium	Filtered	75	75	10100 to 34000	100
	Unfiltered	87	87	13000 to 37000	-
Ceslum	Filtered	5	5	700 to 1300	n∕a ^c
	Unfiltered	5	5	800 to 1000	
Chloride	Filtered	11	11	12000 to 33700	100
	Unfiltered	70	70	9510 to 41800	
Chromium	Filtered	75	33	[0.32] to 48	65
	Unfiltered	87	72	[0.64] to 87.9	
Cobait	Filtered	75	50	[0.2] to [20]	71
	Unfiltered	87	65	[0.2] to 25.4	
Copper	Filtered	75	31	[0.28] to 41.3	59
	Unfiltered	87	64	[0.6] to 81.7	
Cyanide (Total)	Filtered	8	1	[2.5] to 10	ญ่า
	Unfiltered	8	0	[2.5 to 10]	****
Fluoride	Filtered	11	10	[100] to 700	98
	Unfiltered	70	69	[100] to 1180	
Iron	Filtered	75	63	21 to 61000	93
	Unfiltered	87	87	290 to 93900	
Lead	Filtered	75	28	0.11 to 31	67
	Unfiltered	87	80	0.825 to 109	

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Lithium	Filtered	11	11	3.5 to 16.8	95
	Unfiltered	11	10	[5.4] to 34.2	•
Magnesium	Filtered	75	74	3100 to 11100	98
	Unfiltered	87	85	4200 to 17700	
Manganese	Filtered	75	71	[0.34] to 1800	98
	Unfiltered	87	87	17 to 4340	
Мегсигу	Filtered	75	6	[0.013] to [0.44]	15
	Unfiltered	87	18	[0.013] to 4.4	
Molybdenum	Filtered	11	2	[4.3] to 10.2	32
	Unfiltered	11	5	[4.3] to 8.3	
Nickel	Filtered	75 [·]	38	[0.54] to [40]	63
	Unfiltered	87	64	[1] to 58.3	
Nitrate	Filtered	8	4	[200] to 1800	57
	Unfiltered	22	13	[100] to 3000	
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Filtered	1	1	1100 to 1100	80
	Unfiltered	53	42	30 to 7330	
Nitrite	Filtered	8	0	[100 to 100]	0
	Unfiltered	20	0	[100 to 200]	
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	52	5	[4] to 19.1	10
Potassium	Filtered	75	72	[1220] to 18100	97
	Unfiltered	87	85	1230 to 22100	
Rubidium	Filtered	5	4	[50] to 900	n/a
	Unfiltered	5	4	[50] to 600	
Selenium	Filtered	75	27	[0.0933] to 12	39
	Unfiltered	87	36	[0.517] to 14	
Silver	Filtered	75	17	[0.02] to [10]	36
	Unfiltered	87	41	0.112 to [10]	
Sodium	Filtered	75	73	13000 to 146000	97
	Unfiltered	87	84	[10000] to 144000	
Strontium	Filtered	11	11	121 to 172	100
	Unfiltered	11	11	143 to 220	
Sulfate	Filtered	11	11	4000 to 61400	100
	Unfiltered	70	70	3180 to 109000	
Thallium	Filtered	75	19	[0.01] to [9.1]	29
	Unfiltered	87	28	0.0251 to [7.7]	<u> </u>

Table 3.4-10 (continued)

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Uranium	Filtered	11	0	[60 to 126]	49
	Unfiltered	32	21	0.081 to [126]	
Vanadium	Filtered	75	38	0.26 to 78	69
	Unfiltered	87	73	1.1 to 132	
Zinc	Filtered	75	62	0.98 to 630	88
	Unfiltered	87	80	7.8 to 1840	

Table 3.4-10 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^aThe percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table. ^b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^cn/a = Not applicable.

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (uo/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	151000		5000 ^{a,b}	50	n∕a ^c	Yes
	RE16-99-3245	Max. Undetected Value	320	(U) ^d	5000 ^{a,b}	50	n/a	Yes
Antimony	RE16-98-3003	Max. Detected Value	10.9	(J) ^a	n/a	6	rı/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arsenic	RE16-99-3034	Max. Detected Value	19		100 ^f	10	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3119	Max. Undetected Value	9.3	(U)	100 ¹	10	n/a	No
Barium	RE16-99-3036	Max. Detected Value	18000		1000 ^f	2000	n/a	Yes
Beryilium	RE16-01-3001	Max. Detected Value	8.5		n/a	4	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	4	(U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Boron	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	92.6	(J)	750 ^a	na ^{g .}	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3115	Max. Undetected Value	500	(U)	750 ^a	na	n/a	No
Cadmium	RE16-99-3032	Max. Detected Value	11.3		10 ^f	5	n⁄a	Yes
	RE16-01-3166	Max. Undetected Value	5.9	(U)	10 ^f	5	n/a	Yes
Calcium	RE16-00-3220	Max. Detected Value	37000		na	na	na	na
Cesium	RE16-98-3006	Max. Detected Value	1300		na	na	na	na
Chloride	RE16-02-45925	Max. Detected Value	41800		250000 ^h	250000	n/a	No

Table 3.4-11 Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Table 3.4-11 (continued)

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration	NMWQCC	Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit	
Chromium	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	87.9	ļ	50'	100	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3035	Max. Undetected Value	40 (L	י (נ	50 [†]	100	n/a	No
Cobalt	RE16-01-3166	Max. Detected Value	25.4 (J	ו) 5	60 ^a	na	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	20 (L	J) 5	50 ^a	na	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-99-3034	Max. Detected Value	81.7	5	00 ^b	1000	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3035	Max. Undetected Value	40 (L	J) 5	00 ^b	1000	n∕a	No
Cyanide	RE16-98-3004	Max. Detected Value	10	Ę	5.2 ¹	200	n/a	Yes
(Total)	RE16-98-3002	Max. Undetected Value	10 (L	3) (L	5.2 ¹	200	n/a	Yes
Fluoride	RE16-01-3001	Max. Detected Value	1180	1(600 [†]	2000	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3008	Max. Undetected Value	100- (L	J) 1(600 [†]	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	93900	1()00 ^h	300	n/a	Yes
	RE16-99-3009	Max. Undetected Value	253 (L	J) 10	000 ^h	300	n/a	No
Lead	RE16-98-3007	Max. Detected Value	109		50 ^f	15	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3229	Max. Undetected Value	3.2 (L	י (נ	50 [†]	15	n/a	No
Lithium	RE16-98-3001	Max. Detected Value	34.2 (J	J)	na	na	730	No
	RE16-98-3059	Max. Undetected Value	5.4 (L	J) (L	na	na	730	No
Magnesium	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	17700		na	na	na	na
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	5300 (L	ル	na	na	na	па
Manganese	RE16-98-3033	Max. Detected Value	4340	2	00 ^h	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3036	Max. Undetected Value	10 (L	J) 2	00 ^h	50	r√a	No
Mercury	RE16-01-3009	Max. Detected Value	4.4	0	.77 ⁱ	2	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3008	Max. Undetected Value	0.44 (L	J) 0	.77 ⁱ	2	n/a	No
Molybdenum	RE16-98-3004	Max. Detected Value	10.2 (J)) 1(000 ^a	na	n∕a	No
	RE16-98-3030	Max. Undetected Value	4.9 (L	J) 1()00 ^a	na	n/a	No
Nickel	RE16-99-3034	Max. Detected Value	58.3	2	00 ^a	na	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	40 (L	J) 2	00 ⁸	na	n/a	No
Nitrate	RE16-99-3034	Max. Detected Value	3000	10	000	10000	n/a	No
	RE16-01-3007	Max. Undetected Value	250 (L	J) 10	000 ¹	10000	n/a	No

Table 3.4-11 (continued)

Chemical	Sample (D	Sample Concentration (ud/L)	•		NMWCCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Nitrate-Nitrite	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	7330		10000 ^f	กล	n/a	No
as N	RE16-01-3007	Max. Undetected Value	1000	(U)	10000 ^f	na	n/a	No
Perchlorate	RE16-00-3117	Max. Detected Value	19.1		4 ⁱ	na	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3001	Max. Undetected Value	4.79	(U)	4 ^j	na	n/a	Yes
Potassium	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	22100		па	na	na	na
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	5000	(U)	na	na	na	na
Rubidium	RE16-98-3006	Max. Detected Value	900		па	na	na	na
	RE16-98-3005	Max. Undetected Value	50	(U)	па	na	na	na
Selenium	RE16-01-3001	Max. Detected Value	14		5 ⁱ	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	8	(UJ) ^k	5	50	n/a	Yes
Silver	RE16-01-3001	Max. Detected Value	8.4	(J)	50 ^f	100	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3037	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	50 ^f	100	n/a	No
Sodium	RE16-01-3161	Max. Detected Value	146000		na	na	na	na
	RE16-98-3035	Max. Undetected Value	17000	(U)	na	na	na	na
Strontium	RE16-98-3007	Max. Detected Value	220	·	na	na	22000	No
Sulfate	RE16-01-3100	Max. Detected Value	109000		600000 ^h	250000	n/a	No
Thallium	RE16-98-3030	Max. Detected Value	7.6	(J)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3000	Max. Undetected Value	9.1	(U)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
Uranium	RE16-00-3117	Max. Detected Value	8.38		5000 ¹	30	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3030	Max. Undetected Value	126	(U)	5000 ^f	30	n/a	Yes
Vanadium	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	132		100 ^b	na	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3164	Max. Undetected Value	12.3	(U)	100 ^b	na	n/a	No
Zinc	RE16-99-3034	Max. Detected Value	1840		10000 ^h	5000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3238	Max. Undetected Value	189	(U)	10000 ^h	5000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6,4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867; and California DHS 2003, 76862.

a NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Imgation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3.3103).

b NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4,900).

c n/a = Not applicable.

d (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

 e_{J} = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain that usual.

f NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

Table 3.4-11 (continued)

⁹na = Not available.

h NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

¹ NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^j California DHS 2003, 76862.

k (UJ) = The chemical is classified "undetected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain that usual.

Table 3.4-12

Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Aluminum	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Antimony	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Arsenic	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Beryllium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Boron	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Cadmium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Cesium	Retained	No screening value available, retained for further evaluation.
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Chromium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Cobalt	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Copper	Ellminated	No values above screening limit.
Cyanide (Total)	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Lead	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Lithium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Manganese	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Mercury	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Molybdenum	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nickel	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Chemical	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale For RetainIng/Eliminating as a COPC
Perchlorate	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Rubidium	Retained	No screening value available, retained for further evaluation.
Selenium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Silver	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Strontium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Uranium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Vanadium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Zinc	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Table 3.4-12 (continued)

Table 3.4-13

Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Fleid Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Acetone	Filtered	5	5	27 to 37	24
	Unfiltered	69	13	[1.3] ^b to 42	
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Filtered	8	3	[0.05] to 6.7	39
	Unfiltered	67	26	[0.05] to 20.8	
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Filtered	8	2	[0.049] to 3.34	28
	Unfiltered	67	19	[0.049] to [13]	
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Filtered	3.	2	[0.39] to 7.5	55
	Unfittered	17	9	[0.39] to 19	-
Bulanone[2-]	Unfiltered	70	1	[1.17] to [20]	1
Carbon Disulfide	Unfiltered	71	1	[0.15] to [5]	1
Chloromethane	Unfiltered	71	4	0.3 10 44	5
Di-n-butylphthalate	Unfiltered	17	1	2 to [11]	5
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Unfiltered	83	1	[0.048] to [13]	1
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	Unfiltered	100	1	[0.034] to [13]	1
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Unfiltered	100	1	[0.042] to [13]	1
DNX	Unfittered	13	3	0.096 to [0.5]	rva°

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
НМХ	Filtered	11	10	[0.096] to 192	77
	Unfiltered	84	63	[0.096] to 610	
MNX	Unfiltered	13	4	0.1 to 0.65	n/a
Nitrobenzene	Unfittered	100	1	[0.052] to [50]	1
RDX	Filtered	11	8	[0.096] to 97.4	73
	Unfiltered	84	61	[0.096] to 759	
TNX	Unfiltered	13	2	0.054 to [0.5]	n/a
Toluene	Unfiltered	71	2	[0.16] to 6.7	3
Trichloroethene	Unfiltered	71	6	[0.17] to [5]	8
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Unfiltered	83	1	[0.05] to [13]	1
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Unfiltered	83	3	[0.048] to 46.6	3

Table 3.4-13 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

 $c_{n/a} = Not applicable.$

(Table 3.4-14); and the chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-15). RDX is the dominant COPC in Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater and is detected throughout the canyon. A brief description of the retained organic COPCs with concentrations exceeding standards is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.2.3 Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Tritium

Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater samples were analyzed for tritium. A summary of all detected tritium is provided in Table G-2.6 (located in Appendix G-2). The frequency of detected tritium is provided in Table 3.4-16. Screening results for tritium are provided in Table 3.4-17, and the retained and eliminated analysis are presented in Table 3.4-18. The results show tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard.

3.4.2.2.4 Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater: Well Level, Water Chemistry, Precipitation, and Seep Dynamics

Complete graphical summaries and electronic data for the alluvial well measurements are included in Appendix H. A brief summary of the screening measurements follows.

Well 16-02655

This well is located in the upland or mesa top area west of TA-16 building 260 (Figure 3.3-2). Water levels in this well were very dynamic, showing as much as a 5-ft increase in water level following the spring 2001 snowmelt. There was no static saturated thickness in this well (typically dry). There does appear to be storage of water in the alluvial area surrounding the well, and the well responded to sustained rainfall input in the fall of 2000. Temperature results show annual fluctuations between 4 and 15°C. Conductivity measurements were only recorded while the well was wet. There is no consistent trend associated with the conductivity values.

Well 16-02656

Well 16-02656 is located upstream of Peter Seep and the 260 outfall near the base of MDA R (Figure 3.3-2). Water levels in Well 16-02656 show distinct responses to both rainfall and snowmelt inputs. There is an approximate saturated thickness of 3 ft in this well; following the snowmelt of spring 2001, saturated thickness increased by 2 ft. Temperature measurements had an annual variation between 5 and 12°C. Conductivity values ranged between 0.200 and 0.400 μ S/cm. However, there were slight increases in conductivity following rainfall inputs during the summer of 2000 and 2001.

Well 16-02657

Well 16-02657 is located downstream of the 260 outfall (Figure 3.3-2). It was not equipped with an automated datalogger because the well is frequently dry. Screening results from the manual measurements taken during monthly monitoring and quarterly sampling show similar temperature variations to Well 16-02656. The saturated thickness is approximately 0.5 ft. During the summer of 1998 and snowmelt of 2001, the saturated thickness increased to approximately 4 ft. There are no consistent conductivity trends.

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (μg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Acetone	RE16-98-3035	Max. Detected Value	42	na ^a	па	610	No
	RE16-01-3168	Max. Undetected Value	30 (U) ^b	na	na	610	No
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	RE16-01-3066	Max. Detected Value	20.8 (J) ^c	na	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	37	No
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	RE16-01-3066	Max. Detected Value	11.1	na	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	37	No
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-00-3278	Max. Detected Value	19	na	na	37	No
	RE16-98-3031	Max. Undetected Value	0.39 (U)	na	na	37	No
Butanone[2-]	RE16-98-3076	Max. Detected Value	3.7 (J)	na	na	1900	No
	RE16-00-3193	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U)	na	na	1900	No
Carbon Disulfide	RE16-00-3117	Max. Detected Value	1 (J)	na	na	1000	No
	RE16-00-3193	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	na	na	1000	No
Chloromethane	RE16-00-3299	Max. Detected Value	44 (J)	n/a ^d	na	1.5	Yes
	RE16-00-3193	Max. Undetected Value	10 (U)	r√a	na	1.5	Yes
Di-n-butylphthalate	RE16-01-3100	Max. Detected Value	2 (J)	n/a	na	3700	No
	RE16-99-3191	Max. Undetected Value	11 (U)	n/a	na	3700	No
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	RE16-00-3278	Max. Detected Value	12	па	па	3.7	Yes
-	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	3,7	Yes
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	RE16-99-3244	Max. Detected Value	0.36 (J)	n/a	na	73	No
	RE16-99-3034	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	rva	na	73	No
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	RE16-99-3242	Max. Detected Value	0.21 (J)	na	na	37	No
	RE16-99-3034	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	37	No
DNX	RE16-02-44985	Max. Detected Value	0.39 (J)	na	na	0.61	No
	RE16-02-45251	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 (U)	na	na	0.61	No

 Table 3.4-14

 Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected In Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

22	
<u>S</u>	
5	
å.	
0	

Table 3.4-14 (continued)

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concer (µg/L)	ntration	NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
НМХ	RE16-00-3117	Max. Detected Value	610	na	na	1800	No
	RE16-00-3272	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	ňa	1800	No
MNX	RE16-02-44985	Max. Detected Value	0.65	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-02-44979	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 (U)	na	na	0.61	No
Nitrobenzene	RE16-01-3005	Max. Detected Value	0.36 (J-)	n/a	na .	3.4	No
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	50 (U)	n/a	na	3.4	Yes
RDX	RE16-01-3066	Max. Detected Value	759	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-01-3166	Max. Undetected Value	1 (UJ) [*]	na	na	0.61	Yes
TNX	RE16-02-44985	Max. Detected Value	0.47 (J)	na	na	0.61	No
	RE16-02-44979	Max. Undetected Value	0.5 (U)	na	na	0.61	No
Toluene	RE16-98-3035	Max. Detected Value	6.7	750 ¹	1000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3191	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	750'	1000	n/a	No
Trichloroethene	RE16-99-3238	Max. Detected Value	1.1 (J)	100'	5	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	100 ¹	5	n/a	No
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	RE16-00-3278	Max. Detected Value	1.1	na	na	1100	No
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	1100	No
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	RE16-01-3066	Max. Detected Value	46.6	na	na	2.2	Yes
	RE16-00-3117	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	na	na	2.2	Yes

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900; "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; and EPA 2003, 76867.

^ana = Not available.

^b(U) = The chemical is classified "not detected."

^c(J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

d n/a = Not applicable.

e(UJ) = The chemical is classified "not detected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

[†]NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standards (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

September 2003

Table 3.4-15

Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Acetone	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Butanone[2-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Carbon Disulfide	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Chloromethane	Retained	Maximum value exceeds the screening limit.
Di-n-butylphthalate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Dinitrotoluene(2,6-)	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
DNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
НМХ	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
MNX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds the screening limit.
Nitrobenzene	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds the screening limit.
TNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Toluene	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trichloroethene	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.

Table 3.4-16 Frequency of Detected Tritium in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Field	Number of	Number of	Concentration Range	Percent Detected for 20
	Preparation	Analyses	Detects	(pCi/L)	Samples or Greater ^a
Tritium	Unfiltered	54	47	[-34.03] ^b to 197.76	87

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

Table 3.4-17						
Screening of Tritium in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Ground	water Samples					

Chemical	Sample (D	Sample Concentration (PC/L)		NMWOCC Standard (pCI/L)	EPA MCL (pCVL)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (pC//L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Tellines	RE16-01-3100	Max. Detected Value	197.76	20000 ^a	20000	n/a ^b	No
Inadm	RE16-02-45923	Max. Undetected Value	126.72 (U) ^c	20000 ^a	20000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/i TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; and EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b n/a = Not applicable.

^c (U) = The chemical is classified as "undetected."

Table 3.4-18 Retained and Eliminated Tritium for Cañon de Valle Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical Retained/Eliminated		Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC				
Tritium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.				

Well 16-02658

Well 16-02658 is located within the middle reach of the canyon bottom and downstream of SWSC and Burning Ground Springs (Figure 3.3-2). Over the study period, this mid-canyon well was the least dynamic. Following the spring 2001 snowmelt, there was an approximately a 0.5-ft increase in saturated thickness. There is not clear evidence of rainfall input at this location. The saturated thickness was approximately 4 ft. The stability in measured saturated thickness may be due to the well proximity to Burning Ground Spring, or more storage potential in the alluvium because the cross-sectional area of the channel is greater than at other locations within the canyon. Annually, the temperature fluctuated between 3 and 13°C. Conductivity ranges from approximately 0.200 to 0.300 µS/cm.

Well 16-02659

Well 16-02659 is located in the lower reach of the canyon bottom downstream from MDA P (Figure 3.3-2). Saturated thickness measured in this well showed summer and fall rainfall inputs and spring 2001 snowmelt inputs. The spring 2001 snowmelt increased the saturated thickness in this well (which is typically at 2 ft) by more than 2 ft. Annually, the temperature fluctuated between 2 and 13°C. Conductivity ranged from approximately 0.200 to 0.300 µS/cm.

Stable Isotope Results

Stable isotope samples (δ^{16} O, δ D, and δ^{15} N) were collected from alluvial groundwater at TA-16 in order to better understand differences in hydrologic and geochemical responses at various canyon and mesa locations. Comparisons of the Cañon de Valle and TA-16 mesa alluvial groundwater isotopic

compositions are shown in Figures 3.4-9 and 3.4-10. The data for Well 16-02655 are distinctive from the other wells in that they have substantially fewer negative δ^{10} O and δ D values. Well 16-02655 is located on the mesa top in the steam plant drainage (Figure 3.3-2), while the other wells are located in Cañon de Valle. This difference in isotopic compositions probably occurs because it is likely water that enters Well 16-02655 originates from local precipitation and snowmelt on the mesa top, whereas water in the Cañon de Valle wells is at least partially derived from spring flow, which is recharged at higher elevations (see section 4.0) and possibly from higher elevation runoff. The Cañon de Valle wells all show strong seasonal responses, wherein isotopic compositions generally peak at approximately –10.75 permil (from summer rains) and valley at less than –11.5 permil (from cold season precipitation). However, the peaks and valleys are not of the same magnitude and do not occur at the same time. This inconsistent behavior is similar to that observed for water level changes (see section 3.4.2.2.4) and reduction/oxidation chemistry, indicating the Cañon de Valle alluvial system is not homogenous.

In Figure 3.4-10, the solid line is the local meteoric water line (Vuataz and Goff 1986, 40083). Precipitation data are plotted on or near the meteoric water line. Large deviations to the right of the line indicate evaporation after precipitation reaches the ground. These data show little to no post-precipitation event evaporation effects.

A limited amount of δ^{16} O and δ D data has been collected from alluvial well samples in Martin Spring Canyon (Well 16-06293, Well 16-06294, and Well 16-06295) and these data are plotted with the Cañon de Valle well data in Figure 3.4-11 (Well 16-02657, Well 16-02658, and Well 16-02659). Although there is some overlap, the Martin Spring Canyon wells all tend to have fewer negative isotopic values than the Cañon de Valle wells. This observation is consistent with the isotopic data from the TA-16 springs (see section 4.4.2.1.7); as that Martin Spring has distinctly fewer negative isotopic values than Burning Ground and SWSC Springs in Cañon de Valle.

In Figure 3.4-11, the solid line is the local meteoric water line (Vuataz and Goff 1986, 40083). Precipitation data are plotted on or near the meteoric water line. Large deviations to the right of the line indicate evaporation after precipitation reaches the ground. These data show little to no post-precipitation event evaporation effects. With regard to natural versus contaminant sources, the δ^{15} N data are ambiguous and thus did not turn out to be diagnostic (see section 3.4.2.1.4).

Tritium concentrations in alluvial water are shown in Figure 3.4-12. There is similarity in the general trends between the wells that reflect variations in atmospheric tritium input and mixing between different water sources or recharge pathways. However, there are notable differences in tritium concentrations between some of the wells. These differences are an indicator of the heterogeneity in the alluvial groundwater system and also reflect the different inputs of water along the canyon. The relatively high levels of tritium, although not a risk driver, suggest that the water in the alluvial groundwater is relatively young (less than a few decades), or has a large young water component. These results are similar to values for surface water discussed earlier in section 3.0 and show the same main peaks and valleys as the springs tritium data discussed in section 4.0.

Reduction/Oxidation Chemistry

Because the Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater and surface water systems are interconnected and are the focus of risk assessment and possible remediation, investigations were conducted to characterize the geochemical conditions in the canyon bottom, particularly the redox (reducing or oxidizing) conditions in the alluvial aquifer. The redox state of the alluvial aquifer can control the speciation and mobility of metals, and the degradation of contaminants such as nitrate and the various HE compounds. The redox



Figure 3.4-9. Comparison of δ^{18} O data from shallow wells in Cañon de Valle and on the TA-16 Mesa

conditions focused on the alluvial system because higher contaminant concentrations typically exist in the alluvial aguifer rather than in the surface water system, and lower flow rates allow more time for geochemical and biogeochemical reactions to occur. Plots of redox-sensitive analytes (aluminum, iron, nitrate, and sulphate) suggest that redox conditions in the aquifer vary with time and distance along the canyon, which is consistent with a more detailed study of Jemez alluvial aguifer redox conditions (Groffman and Crossey 1999, 76859). Well 16-02657 is near the 260 outfall, Well 16-02658 is situated downcanyon just below Burning Ground Spring and Well 16-02659 is below MDA P (Figure 3.3-2). The redox-sensitive analytes clearly show that reducing conditions develop along the flowpath from Wells 16-02657 to 16-02659. Iron concentrations tend to increase at Well 16-02658, and nitrate and sulphate tend to decrease (Figure 3.4-13 through 3.4-15). All three of these changes indicate more reducing conditions at Well 16-02658. Chloride concentrations, which are not redox-sensitive, do not show any systematic changes between Wells 16-02657 and 16-02658, indicating that the changes in iron, nitrate, and sulphate are the result of changes in redox conditions rather than other processes. Wells farther down the canyon (i.e., 16-02659) also show indications of reducing conditions, but these are not as dramatic as the difference between Wells 16-02657 and 16-02658. The reason that the presence of reducing conditions is important is because nitrate and HE degradation occur under reducing conditions.



Figure 3.4-10. Meteoric water plot of δ^{18} O and δ D data from shallow wells in Cañon de Valle and on the TA-16 Mesa

Substantial amounts of barium nitrate were used at TA-16. Although nitrate concentrations are elevated, nitrate concentrations are not as high as they would be if there were no degradation. Analyses of nitrogen stable isotopes also support the conclusion of active nitrate degradation in the canyon. For the principal HE compounds (HMX, RDX, and TNT), there is also evidence of degradation products in the water at TA-16. Microbially driven degradation of HMX and RDX is favored under reducing conditions, although the concentrations of degradation products are small, suggesting only minor breakdown. The degradation of HMX and RDX can also occur from inorganic pH-controlled hydrolysis or photolysis. In contrast, robust degradation of TNT is occurring. TNT-breakdown products (e.g., amino-dinitrotoluene compounds) typically have concentrations equal to and sometimes greater than the parent TNT concentrations. TNT is more susceptible to degradation that can occur under either oxidizing or reducing conditions. The speciation and mobility of silver may also be affected by changes in redox in Cafion de Valle, although this has not been investigated in detail.

3.4.2.2.5 Cañon de Valle RDX and Barium Alluvial Groundwater Trends with Time

Time-series plots of RDX and barium concentration data from alluvial groundwater samples collected in Cañon de Valle over the period from 1998 to 2002 are shown in Figures 3.4-16 and 3.4-17, respectively. Several key points are apparent from these plots:



Figure 3.4-11. Meteoric water plot of δ^{18} O and δ D data from shallow wells in Martin Spring Canyon and Cañon de Valle

- RDX trends are generally stable to slightly decreasing, with occasional spikes of high concentration. The highest concentrations of RDX are measured in samples from Well 16-02657. This well is located closest to the 260 outfall. No evidence is yet apparent for the influence of the IM source removal action.
- 2. RDX concentrations in samples from Well 16-02659 (located the greatest distance east from the 260 outfall) are consistently higher than Wells 16-02655, 16-02656, and 16-02658, implying there is not a downstream trend of decreasing RDX concentration.
- Barium concentration trends over time are stable to slightly decreasing, with spikes associated with pulses of barium into the system. No evidence is yet apparent for the influence of the IM source removal action.
- 4. The lowest concentration of barium is observed in the most easterly, upstream Well 16-02655, followed by Well 16-02656, and Well 16-02659. The highest barium concentration was observed in Well 16-02658. This could indicate a mass of barium mid-canyon, near Well 16-02658.

A possible model for the fluctuating pattern observed for both RDX and barium time-series concentration data involves redissolution and mobilization of contaminants in the vadose zone and alluvial system as a result of precipitation events. One manifestation of precipitation is an increase in the saturated thickness



Figure 3-4-12. Tritium concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater wells

of alluvial groundwater in the Cañon de Valle alluvium. Figure 3.4-18 and 3.4-19 show RDX and barium concentrations in Well 16-02659 as a function of saturated thickness between 1998 and 2002. Similar plots for Wells 16-02656, 16-02657, and 16-02658 are included in Appendix H. For barium, there does not appear to be a correlation between the saturated thickness and barium concentration, whereas for RDX, a positive correlation is evident.

3.4.2.2.6 Additional Investigations into Cañon de Valle Seasonal Contaminant Trends

To further investigate the potential relationships between seasonal precipitation and contaminant trends, barium, RDX, chloride, nitrate-nitrite, iron, and calcium concentrations for surface, alluvial groundwater, and spring water were plotted as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for six different seasonal flow events. These events were characterized either as high flow, moderate flow, or low flow. Data for other chemicals are presented in Appendix H.

The six events consisted of two high flow events (March 27, 2001 and May 1, 2001), two moderate flow events (July 8, 1999 and November 8, 2000), and two low flow events (September 18, 1998 and October 3, 2001). These events were also chosen on the basis of data completeness for all the alluvial groundwater, surface water, and spring data sets. Plots developed from the data included mass flow rate



Figure 3.4-13. Variations in iron concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and Burning Ground Spring

of contaminants in surface water as a function of distance downgradient (downstream or eastward) from the 260 outfall, and plots showing alluvial groundwater, spring, and surface water contaminant concentrations as a function of downstream distance from the 260 outfall.

Figures 3.4-20 and 3.4-21 show RDX and barium mass flow rate (concentration times stream volumetric flow rate) as a function of downstream distance from the 260 outfall for the high and low to moderate flow events. The highest mass flow rate of barium occurred during the March and May 2001 snowmelt runoff events. Both the low and moderate flow events showed lower mass flow rates of barium. The RDX data show relatively higher RDX concentrations during March 2001, which is likely due to extensive saturated zone input resulting from snowmelt.

Figures 3.4-22 and 3.4-23 respectively show RDX and barium concentrations in springs, alluvial groundwater, and surface water during a high flow event in March 2001. Figures 3.4-24 and 3.4-25 respectively present RDX and barium concentrations for a low flow, post-monsoon event in September 1998. Stream volumetric flow rates with distance are also plotted on these graphs. The following observations can be drawn from these graphs:







Figure 3.4-15. Variations in sulfate concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and Burning Ground Spring



Figure 3.4-16. RDX concentrations for unfiltered alluvial groundwater between 1998 and 2002 in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-17. Barium concentrations for unfiltered alluvial groundwater between 1998 and 2002 in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-18. RDX concentration in unfiltered alluvial groundwater from Well 16-02659 as a function of saturated thickness between 1998 and 2002



Figure 3.4-19. Barium concentration in unfiltered alluvial groundwater from Well 16-02659 as a function of saturated thickness between 1998 and 2002



Figure 3.4-20. RDX mass flow rate as a function of distance from the 260 outfall in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-21. Barium mass flow rate as a function of distance from the 260 outfall in Cañon de Valle

ER2003-0480



Figure 3.4-22. RDX concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for March 27, 2001 snowmelt event in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-23. Barium concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for March 27, 2001 snowmelt event in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-24. RDX concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for September 18, 1998 post-monsoon precipitation event in Cañon de Valle



Figure 3.4-25. Barium concentrations as a function of distance from the 260 outfall for September 18, 1998 post-monsoon precipitation event in Cañon de Valle

- 1. Barium concentrations are consistently highest in the alluvial groundwater and are relatively insensitive to high versus low flow conditions.
- 2. Water input from Burning Ground Spring (located approximately 500 ft from the 260 outfall) appears to dilute barium concentrations in the surface water.
- 3. RDX concentrations in groundwater were higher (with values up to 759 μ g/L) during the high flow event.
- 4. RDX concentrations in the surface water were higher (with values up to 150 µg/L) during the high flow event, and, unlike low flow event data, did not show decreasing concentrations downstream.
- During low flow periods, RDX concentrations were low, with the highest concentrations occurring near the 260 outfall. Downstream from Burning Ground Spring, the concentration of RDX decreased to less than 25 μg/L.

3.4.2.3 Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water

A summary of all samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. All analytical results from Martin Spring Canyon are provided in Appendix G-3. Sample locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2.

3.4.2.3.1 Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.7 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals (Table 3.4-19); the screening results for inorganic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard, or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-20); and the inorganic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-21). A geochemical evaluation of naturally-occurring concentrations versus anthropogenic contribution was not performed due to the limited number of samples. The most significant inorganic chemical COPCs for Martin Spring Canyon surface water are barium, boron, and manganese. A brief description of the retained inorganic COPCs with concentrations exceeding standards is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.3.2 Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.8 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-22), the screening results for organic chemicals with concentrations exceeding the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard, or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-23), and the organic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-24). Only RDX was retained as a COPC.

3.4.2.4 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater

This section presents the results from the quarterly groundwater sampling of alluvial wells in Martin Spring Canyon. A summary of all samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. All analytical data from Martin Spring Canyon are provided in Appendix G-3. Sample locations are shown on Figure 3.3-2.

Table 3.4-19

Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a	
Aluminum	Filtered	13	10	[20.6] ^b to 18100	61	
	Unfiltered	13	11	[136] to 21600		
Antimony	Filtered	13	2	[0.361] to [33]	12	
	Unfiltered	13	1	[0.355] to [33]		
Arsenic	Filtered	13	2	[0.69] to [4.5]	27	
	Unfiltered	13	5	[0.69] to 75.1		
Barium	Filtered	13	13	117 to 512	100	
	Unfiltered	13	13	136 to 8560		
Beryllium	Filtered	13	1	[0.09] to 1.4	15	
	Unfiltered	13	3	[0.16] to 2.3		
Boron	Filtered	11	11	285 to 2530	100	
	Unfiltered	11	11	292 to 2410		
Cadmium	Filtered	13	1	[0.2] to [2.6]	8	
	Unfiltered	13	1	[0.2] to [2.6]		
Calcium	Filtered	13	13	9630 to 35800	96	
	Unfiltered	13	12	9970 to 42300		
Chloride	Filtered	2	2	23100 to 23400	n/a ^c	
	Unfiltered	13	13	10200 to 35800		
Chromium	Filtered	13	8	[0.5] to 15.5	65	
	Unfiltered	13	9	[0.8] to 25.6		
Cobalt	Filtered	13	7	0.4 to 4.4	46	
	Unfiltered	13	5	[0.2] to 136		
Copper	Filtered	13	9	[0.5] to 28.9	69	
	Unfiltered	13	9	[2.9] to 45.6		
Fluoride	Filtered	2	0	[1000 to 1000]	n/a	
	Unfiltered	13	11	147 to [1000]		
Iron	Filtered	13	12	54 to 12200	92	
	Unfiltered	13	12	[159] to 98800		
Lead	Filtered	13	5	[0.246] to 21.1	54	
	Unfiltered	13	9	[0.77] to 46.1		
Magnesium	Filtered	13	13	2830 to 8970	100	
	Unfiltered	13	13	2990 to 10100		
Manganese	Filtered	13	12	[2.3] to 2420	92	
	Unfiltered	13	12	[3.7] to 66800		

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Anatyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Mercury	Filtered	13	0	[0.02 to 0.1]	12
	Unfiltered	13	3	0.03 to 1.1	
Nickel	Filtered	13	7	1 to [10.8]	62
	Unfiltered	13	9	[1] to 28.9	
Nitrate	Unfiltered	2	1	[200] to 3300	n/a
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Filtered	2	2	480 to 5000	n/a
	Unfiltered	11	9	115 to 5600	1
Nitrite	Unfiltered	2	0	[100 to 100]	n/a
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	9	0	[4 to 4.16]	ก/อ
Potassium	Filtered	13	13	2420 to 6420	100
	Unfiltered	13	13	2490 to 9500	
Selenium	Filtered	13	3	[1.2] to [4.5]	31
	Unfiltered	13	5	1.1 to 38.3	
Silver	Filtered	13	0	[0.7 to 5]	8
	Unfiltered	13	2	[0.7] to 5.5	-
Sodium	Filtered	13	13	17200 to 41800	100
	Unfiltered	13	13	17300 to 43500	
Sulfate	Filtered	2	2	17400 to 23400	n/a
	Unfiltered	13	13	13000 to 70300	-
Thallium	Filtered	13	1	0.0605 to [5]	8
	Unfiltered	13	1	0.0819 to [45]	
Uranium	Unfiltered	5	5	0.118 to 8.15	n/a
Vanadium	Filtered	13	10	[1.8] to 27.9	85
	Unfiltered	13	12	[3.91] to 111	
Zinc	Filtered	13	7	3.1 to 59.6	54
	Unfiltered	13	7	[6] to 183	

Table 3.4-19 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

3.4.2.4.1 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.9 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-25), the screening results for inorganic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard, or other appropriate standard (Table 3.4-26), and the inorganic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-27).

Table 3.4-20
Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Sample

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (μg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	21600	(J+) ^a	5000 ^{b,c}	50	n/a ^d	Yes
	RE16-01-3134	Max. Undetected Value	216	(U) ^e	5000 ^{b,c}	50	n/a	Yes
Antimony	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	5.3	(J) ^f	n/a	6	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3101	Max. Undetected Value	33	(U)	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arsenic	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	75.1		100 ^g	10	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3135	Max. Undetected Value	4.5	(U)	100 ⁹	10	n/a	No
Barium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	8560		1000 ⁹	2000	n/a	Yes
Beryllium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	2.3	(J)	n/a	4	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3100	Max. Undetected Value	0.5	(U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Boron	RE16-00-3181	Max. Detected Value	2530		750 ^b	na ^h	n/a	Yes
Cadmium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	1.3	(J)	10 ⁹	5	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3100	Max. Undetected Value	2.6	(U)	10 ⁹	5	n/a	No
Calcium	RE16-00-3180	Max. Detected Value	42300		na	na	na	na
	RE16-00-3311	Max. Undetected Value	32600	(U)	na	na	na	na
Chloride	RE16-00-3309	Max. Detected Value	35800		250000 ⁱ	250000	n/a	No
Chromium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	25.6		50 ⁹	100	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3100	Max. Undetected Value	2.7	(U)	50 ⁹	100	n/a	No
Cobalt	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	136		50 ^b	na	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3100	Max. Undetected Value	2.4	(U)	50 ^b	na	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	45.6		500 ^c	1000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3264	Max. Undetected Value	4.3	(U)	500 ^c	1000	n/a	No
Fluoride	RE16-00-3180	Max. Detected Value	699		1600 ⁹	2000	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3101	Max. Undetected Value	1000	(U)	1600 ^g	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	98800	(J+)	1000	300	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3134	Max. Undetected Value	159	(U)	1000	300	n/a	No
Lead	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	46.1		50 ⁹	15	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3181	Max. Undetected Value	2.3	(U)	50 ⁹	15	n/a	No
Magnesium	RE16-00-3180	Max. Detected Value	10100		па	na	па	па
Manganese	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	66800		200 ⁱ	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3101	Max. Undetected Value	3.7	(U)	200	50	n/a	No
Mercury	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	1.1		0.77 ^j	2	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3059	Max. Undetected Value	0.1	(U)	0.77 ^j	2	n/a	No
Nickel	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	28.9	(J)	200 ^b	na	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3103	Max. Undetected Value	10.8	(U)	200 ^b	na	n/a	No

.

Table 3.4-20 (continued)

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standerd (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Nitrale	RE16-99-3060	Max. Detected Value	3300		10000 ⁹	10000	n/a	No
	RE16-99-3062	Max. Undetected Value	200	(U)	10000 ⁹	10000	n/a	No
Nitrate-Nitrite	RE16-98-3101	Max. Detected Value	5600		10000 ^g	na	n/a	No
as N	RE16-00-3309	Max. Undetected Value	500	(U)	10000 ⁹	na	n/a	No
Potassium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	9500		na	na	na	na
Selenium	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	38.3		5	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3181	Max. Undetected Value	4.5	(U)	5	50	n/a	No
Silver	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	5.5	(J)	50 ^g	100	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3103	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	50 ⁹	100	n/a	No
Sodium	RE16-00-3309	Max. Detected Value	43500		na	na	na	na
Sulfate	RE16-00-3309	Max. Detected Value	70300		600000 ⁱ	250000	n/a	No
Thallium	RE16-00-3264	Max. Detected Value	0.0819	(J)	n/a	2	n/a	No
	RE16-99-3062	Max, Undetected Value	45	(U)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
Uranium	RE16-00-3180	Max. Detected Value	8.15		5000 ⁹	30	n/a	No
Vanadium	RE16-99-3062	Max, Detected Value	111		100 [¢]	na	rv/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3264	Max. Undetected Value	3.91	(U)	100 ^c	na	n/a	No
Zinc	RE16-99-3062	Max. Detected Value	183		10000	5000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3311	Max. Undetected Value	31.7	(U)	10000 ¹	5000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; and EPA 2003, 76867.

^a (J+) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential positive bias.

^b NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Irrigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3.3103).

^c NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^d n/a = Not applicable.

^e (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

^f (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

⁹ NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standards (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

h na = Not available.

¹ NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

^j NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

The majority of inorganic chemical COPCs were detected in Well 16-06295. COPCs include arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, lead, and manganese. A brief description of the retained inorganic COPCs with concentrations exceeding standards is provided in Appendix I-4.

Table 3.4-21

Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for RetainIng/Eliminating as a COPC			
Aluminum	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Antimony	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.			
Arsenic	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Beryllium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Boron	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Cadmium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Chromium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Cobatt	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Copper	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Lead	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Manganese	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Mercury	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Nickel	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Nitrate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Selenium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Silver	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.			
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Thallium	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.			
Uranium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			
Vanadium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.			
Zinc	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.			

3.4.2.4.2 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of the detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.10 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-28), the screening results for organic chemicals that exceed the NMWQCC regulations numeric standards, or other appropriate standards (Table 3.4-29), and the organic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs (Table 3.4-30). Only RDX was retained as a COPC.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a	
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Filtered	2	1	[0.2] ^b to 2.2	n/a ^c	
	Unfiltered	11	2	[0.2] to [5]		
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-	Filtered	2	1	[0.2] to 1.9	n/a	
	Unfiltered	11	2	[0.2] to [5]		
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Unfiltered	1	1	2.3 to 2.3	r/a	
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Filtered	2	1	[0.2] to 0.66	r./a	
HMX	Filtered	2	2	7.8 to 20	n/a	
	Unfiltered	12	8	[1] to 25		
RDX	Filtered	2 ·	2	60 to 160	n/a	
	Unfiltered	12	10	[0.84] to 200		
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Filtered	2	1	[0.2] to 1	n/a	
	Unfiltered	12	1	[0.1] to [5]		

 Table 3.4-22

 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

3.4.2.4.3 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater: Evaluation of Tritium

The summary of detected tritium in samples collected in Martin Spring Canyon alluvial groundwater is shown in Table G-2.11 (located in Appendix G-2). Tritium was the radionuclide detected in Martin Spring Canyon surface water. The frequency of detection of tritium (Table 3.4-31), the screening results (Table 3.4-32), and the retained/eliminated analysis (Table 3.4-33) are presented in this section. The results show that tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC standard.

3.4.2.4.4 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater: Well Level and Water Chemistry

Without consistent rainfall or snowmelt input, the uppermost alluvial well (Well 16-06293) in Martin Spring Canyon is typically dry. Martin Spring alone provides sustained discharge to maintain a saturated zone in the alluvium where the well is located. The middle and lowermost wells (Wells 16-06294 and 16-06295) show fluctuating saturated thickness in response to both sustained rainfall and snowmelt inputs. Complete quarterly tabular data records with depth to water, temperature, conductivity, and pH measurements are included in Appendix H.

3.4.2.5 Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Sediment

Solid media sampling included alluvial sediment sampling in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon as well as sampling of alluvium and tuff in Martin Spring Canyon boreholes. In Martin Spring

Chemical	Sample ID RE16-98-3101	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standerd (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]		Max. Detected Value	2.3		na ^a	na	37	Na
	RE16-00-3311	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U) ⁵	na	na	37	No
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	RE16-98-3101	Max. Detected Value	1.9	1	na	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3311	Max. Undetected Value	5	(UJ) ^c	na	na	37	No
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-00-3215	Max. Detected Value	2.3		na	na	37	No
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	RE16-98-3100	Max. Detected Value	0.7		na	na	3.7	No
	RE16-99-3060	Max. Undetected Value	2.5	(U)	na	na	3.7	No
НМХ	RE16-98-3101	Max. Detected Value	25		na	na	1800	No
	RE16-00-3307	Max. Undetected Value	13	(U)	na	na	1800	No
RDX	RE16-98-3101	Max. Detected Value	200	İ	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-00-3307	Max. Undetected Value	1	(U)	na	na	0.61	Yes
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	RE16-98-3100	Max. Detected Value	1		na	na	1100	No
	RE16-00-3311	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	na	na	1100	No

 Table 3.4-23

 Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

a na = Not available.

^b (U) = The chemical is classified "not detected."

C (UJ) = The chemical is classified "not detected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.
Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
НМХ	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeded screening limit.
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

 Table 3.4-24

 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Surface Water Samples

Canyon, three boreholes were drilled and subsequently completed as monitoring wells during the Phase III RFI (see Figure 3.3-2). The boreholes were sampled at discrete intervals that represent alluvium (QaI) and Bandelier tuff (Qbt 4). A summary of the laboratory analyses requested for all solid media samples is provided in Appendix G-1. All analytical data are presented in Appendix G-3. Figure 3.3-9 shows the location of the sediment samples.

Results from geomorphic sampling conducted in the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon during 1999 and 2000 are also summarized in this section. Geomorphic sampling results provide important information on the distribution of contaminants across the various sediment types, and are important in the development of the conceptual site model. Ultimately, knowledge of contaminant inventory distribution will help focus the CMS.

3.4.2.5.1 Cañon de Valle Sediment: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.12 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals and the screening to BVs and statistical background comparisons (see Appendix I-1 and Table 3.4-34). Table 3.4-35 presents the list of detected inorganic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs. The results of the screening process indicate significant inorganic chemical COPCs in the Cañon de Valle sediment include antimony, barium, cobalt, copper, lead, nickel, and silver. A brief description of the retained COPCs with concentrations exceeding limits is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.5.2 Cañon de Valle Sediment: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.13 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-36). Table 3.4-37 presents the list of detected organic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs. The results of the screening process indicate that amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-], amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-], HMX, RDX, and TNT are the most significant retained organic COPCs. A brief description of the retained organic COPCs with concentrations exceeding the screening limits is provided in Appendix 1-4.

3.4.2.5.3 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment and Tuff: Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals is summarized in Table G-2.14 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals and the screening to BVs and

Table	3.4-25
Frequency of Detected	Inorganic Chemicals in
Martin Spring Canyon Allu	vial Groundwater Samples

Field Chemical Preparation		Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^e	
Aluminum	Filtered	13	13	300 to 9300	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	1420 to 530000		
Antimony	Filtered	12	4	0.803 to 3.6	32	
Unfiltered 16		16	5	1.08 to 3.4		
Arsenic	Filtered	13	7	[0.69] ⁵ to 6.2	73	
	Unfiltered	17	15	[0.69] to 132		
Barium	Filtered	13	13	85.9 to 300	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	148 to 38000		
Beryllium	Filtered	13	6	0.09 to 0.22	63	
	Unfiltered	17	13	[0.16] to 78	-	
Boron	Filtered	13	12	170 to 2250	93	
	Unfittered	17	16	175 to 2180		
Cadmium	Filtered	13	3	0.0816 to 1.4	37	
	Unfiltered	17	8	[0,24] to 70	-	
Calcium	Filtered	13	13	6070 to 27000	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	7400 to 130000		
Chloride	Unfiltered	15	15	5830 to 43100	n/a ^c	
Chromium	Filtered	13	11	[0.64] to 4.4	83	
	Unfiltered	17	14	[0.64] to 1200		
Cobalt	Filtered	13	6	[0.9] to 9.05	60	
	Unfiltered	17	12	[0.88] to [380]	1	
Copper	Filtered	13	11	[2.4] to 15.7	80	
	Unfiltered	17	13	[2.6] to 860		
Fluoride	Unfittered	15	15	107 to 571	n/a	
Iron	Filtered	13	13	254 to 4790	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	761 to 1100000		
Lead	Filtered	13	9	[0.77] to 3.72	83	
	Unfiltered	17	16	[1.2] to 995		
Magnesium	Filtered	13	13	1660 to 6440	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	2520 to 80000		
Manganese	Filtered	13	13	3.4 to 3340	100	
	Unfiltered	17	17	33.3 to 37000		
Mercury	Filtered	13	3	[0.04] to [0.34]	40	
	Unfiltered	17	9	0.057 to 4.1		
Nickel	Filtered	13	10	[1.1] to [40]	77	
	Unfiltered	17	13	[1.2] to 450		

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Unfiltered	15	8	[50] to 1600	n/a
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	15	1	[4] to 17	n/a
Potassium	Filtered	13	13	1700 to 9770	100
	Unfiltered	17	17	4440 to 82000	
Selenium	Filtered	13	1	[0.454] to [4.5]	17
	Unfiltered	17	4	[0.79] to 29.6	
Silver	Filtered	13	2	0.0546 to [10]	23
	Unfiltered	17	5	0.974 to [160]	
Sodium	Filtered	13	13	8180 to 54300	100
	Unfiltered	17	17	10600 to 54700	
Sulfate	Unfiltered	15	15	10500 to 73900	n/a
Thallium	Filtered	13	3	0.0634 to [3.8]	23
	Unfiltered	17	4	[0.044] to 6.16	
Uranium	Unfiltered	6	6	0.181 to 20.4	n/a
Vanadium	Filtered	13	12	[1.3] to 8.8	93
	Unfiltered	17	16	2.8 to 1100	
Zinc	Filtered	13	8	9.6 to 79	80
	Unfiltered	17	16	11.7 to 6600	

Table 3.4-25 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^cn/a = Not applicable.

statistical background comparisons (see Appendix I-1 and Table 3.4-38). Table 3.4-39 presents the list of detected inorganic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs. The results of the screening process indicate that arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, selenium, and silver are significant inorganic COPCs. The maximum concentration for most of these COPCs was detected at Location ID 16-06600, located within the southern tributary of Martin Spring Canyon. A brief description of retained inorganic COPCs with concentrations exceeding screening limits for Martin Spring Canyon alluvium, sediment, and tuff is provided in Appendix I-4.

3.4.2.5.4 Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment and Tuff: Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.15 (located in Appendix G-2). This section includes the frequency of detected organic chemicals (Table 3.4-40). Table 3.4-41 presents the list of detected organic chemicals retained and eliminated as COPCs. The prevalent organic COPCs in Martin Spring Canyon sediment and tuff are amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene [4-], amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene [2-], RDX, and TNT. A brief description of the retained organic COPCs which exceed screening limits is provided in Appendix I-4.

Table 3.4-26					
Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in					
Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples					

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (uo/L)	NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit		
Aluminum	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	530000	(J) ^a	5000 ^{0,C}	50	na ^d	Yes
Antimony	RE16-01-3014	Max. Detected Value	3.6	(J)	na	6	па	No
	RE16-01-3013	Max. Undetected Value	3.2	(U) ^e	na	6	na	No
Arsenic	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	132		100 ^t	10	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3124	Max. Undetected Value	4	(U)	100 ^f	10	na	No
Barium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	38000	(J)	1000 ^f	2000	na	Yes
Beryllium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	78		na	4	na	Yes
	RE16-01-3011	Max. Undetected Value	0.22	(U)	na	4	па	No
Boron	RE16-00-3302	Max. Detected Value	2250		750 ^b	n/a ⁹	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3123	Max. Undetected Value	500	(U)	750 ^b	n/a	na	No
Cadmium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	70	(J+) ^h	10 ^f	5	na	Yes
	RE16-01-3011	Max. Undetected Value	0.92	(U)	10 ^f	5	па	No
Calcium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	130000	(J)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Chloride	RE16-01-3045	Max. Detected Value	43100		250000 ⁱ	250000	na	No
Chromium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	1200		50 ^f	100	na	Yes
	RE16-01-3174	Max. Undetected Value	4	(U)	50 ^f	100	na	No
Cobalt	RE16-00-3199	Max. Detected Value	125		50 ^b	n/a	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3280	Max. Undetected Value	380	(U)	50 ^b	n/a	na	Yes
Copper	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	860		500 ^c	1000	па	Yes
	RE16-00-3226	Max. Undetected Value	56.9	(U)	500 ^c	1000	па	No
Fluoride	RE16-00-3199	Max. Detected Value	571		1600 ^f	2000	na	No
Iron	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	1100000	(J-) ^j	1000	300	na	Yes
Lead	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	995		50 ^f	15	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3245	Max. Undetected Value	3.53	(U)	50 ^f	15	na	No
Magnesium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	80000	(J)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Manganese	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	37000	(J)	200 ⁱ	50	na	Yes
Mercury	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	4.1		0.77 ^k	2	na –	Yes
	RE16-01-3014	Max. Undetected Value	0.34	(U)	0.77 ^k	2	na	No
Nickel	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	450		200 ^b	n/a	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3124	Max. Undetected Value	40	(U)	200 ^b	n/a	na	No
Nitrate-Nitrite	RE16-00-3226	Max. Detected Value	1600		10000 ^f	n/a	na	No
as N	RE16-01-3013	Max. Undetected Value	1000	(U)	10000 ^f	n/a	па	No

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration	NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit		
Perchlorate	RE16-00-3123	Max. Detected Value	17		4	n/a	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3280	Max. Undetected Value	4.16	(U)	4	n/a	na	Yes
Potassium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	82000	(J)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Selenium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	29.6	(J+)	5 ^k	50	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3123	Max. Undetected Value	8	(UJ)	5 ^k	50	na	Yes
Silver	RE16-01-3174	Max. Detected Value	28		50 ^f	100	na	No
	RE16-00-3280	Max. Undetected Value	160	(U)	50 ¹	100	na	Yes
Sodium	RE16-01-3045	Max. Detected Value	54700		n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Sulfate	RE16-00-3301	Max. Detected Value	73900		600000	250000	na	No
Thallium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	6.16		na	2	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3199	Max. Undetected Value	3.8	(U)	na	2	na	Yes
Uranium	RE16-00-3199	Max. Detected Value	20.4		5000 ^f	30	na	No
Vanadium	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	1100		100 ^c	n/a	na	Yes
	RE16-01-3174	Max. Undetected Value	8.4	(U)	100 [°]	n/a	na	No
Zinc	RE16-00-3280	Max. Detected Value	6600		10000	5000	na	Yes
	RE16-00-3303	Max. Undetected Value	43.9	(U)	10000	5000	na	No

Table 3.4-26 (continued)

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; (EPA 2003, 76867; California DHS 2003, 76862.

^a(J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

^b NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Irrigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3.3103).

^c NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^d n/a = Not applicable.

e(U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

^f NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

⁹na = Not available.

^h (J+) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential positive bias.

¹NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

j (J-) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential negative bias.

k NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^I California DHS 2003, 76862.

^m(UJ) = The chemical is classified "undetected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

Table 3.4-27 Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	d Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC		
Aluminum	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Antimony	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Arsenic	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Beryllium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Boron	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Cadmium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.		
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Chromium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Cobalt	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Copper	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.		
Lead	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.		
Manganese	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Мегсигу	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Nickel	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Perchlorate	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.		
Selenium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Silver	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.		
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.		
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Uranium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Vanadium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Zinc	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		

.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ⁸
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Unfiltered	Э	1	[0.39] ^b to 0.66	n/a ^c
Carbon Disulfide	Unfiltered	9	2	[1] to [5]	n/a
НМХ	Unfiltered	12	3	[0.1] to [13]	n/a
RDX	Unfiltered	13	5	[0.1] to 23	n/a
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Unfiltered	12	1	[0.1] to [1]	n/a
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Unfiltered	12	1	[0.1] to [1]	n/a

 Table 3.4-28

 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

^bValues in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^cn/a = Not applicable.

3.4.2.5.5 Sediment Contamination and Geomorphology

An investigation of COPCs contained within sediment deposits in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon was conducted in 1999 and 2000 (see section 3.3.4.2). This investigation focused on characterizing the concentrations, distribution, and inventory of barium and the HE chemicals HMX and RDX in fine-grained sediment deposits. The full report is included in Appendix E.

The most intensive geomorphic characterization was conducted downstream from the 260 outfall, in reaches CDV-2 West and CDV-2 East (see Figure 3.4-26), because higher levels of contaminants were expected there relative to the other reaches. No characterization was conducted in reach CDV-2 Central, which was an exclusion area for MDA P remediation activities at the time of this investigation, although this area was mapped. Characterization was less intensive in Martin Spring Canyon, where the presence of contamination in sediment was unknown.

Basic geomorphic unit designations used in previous studies in other canyons were also adopted in this investigation. The area of potential contamination associated with flooding in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon was divided into areas occupied by the stream channel since 1942 (labeled "c"), and adjoining floodplain areas that experienced overbank flooding (labeled "f"). Floodplain areas typically include pre-1942 trees, whereas only younger trees, shrubs, or grass are present on the abandoned channel surfaces. Channel areas were further subdivided into the active channel (c1) and abandoned channels that contain deposits of fine-grained sediment overlying coarse channel deposits (c2 and c3,

Chemicai	Chemical Sample ID		Sample Concentration (µg/L)			EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-00-3244	Max. Detected Value	0.66	(J) ^a	na ^b	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3213	Max. Undetected Value	0.39	(U) ⁰	na	na	37	No
Carbon Disulfide	RE16-00-3123	Max. Detected Value	2	(J)	na	na	1000	No
	RE16-00-3199	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	na	na	1000	No
НМХ ^ћ	RE16-01-3045	Max. Detected Value	3.9		па	na	1800	No
	RE16-00-3305	Max. Undetected Value	13	(UJ) ^d	na	na	1800	No
RDX ^j	RE16-00-3244	Max. Detected Value	23	*	na	na	0.61	Yes
	RE16-01-3049	Max. Undetected Value	1	(U)	na	na	0.61	Yes
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	RE16-00-3244	Max. Detected Value	0.75		na	na	1100	No
	RE16-01-3049	Max. Undetected Value	1	(U)	na	na	1100	No
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	RE16-01-3045	Max. Detected Value	0.11		na	па	2.2	No
	RE16-01-3049	Max. Undetected Value	1	(U)	na	na	2.2	No

Table 3.4-29 Screening of Organic Chemicals Detected in Martin Spring Canvon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a(J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

b na = not available.

^C(U) = The chemical is classified "not detected."

d(UJ) = The chemical is classified "not detected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

Table 3.4-30 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical Retained/Eliminated Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-] Eliminated		Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC		
		No values above screening limit.		
Carbon Disulfide	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
HMX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.		
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.		

 Table 3.4-31

 Frequency of Detected Tritium in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (pCl/L)
Tritium	Unfiltered	9	9	47.04 to 195.84

(*) Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

Table 3.4-32

Screening of Tritium Detected in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Sample ID	Sample Concentration (pC/I.)		NMWQCC Standard (pC/L)	EPA MCL (pC/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (pC/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Tritium	RE16-01-3114	Max. Detected Value	195.84	20000 ⁸	20000	n/a ^b	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103, "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/i TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900, "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b n/a = Not applicable.

Table 3.4-33

Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Groundwater Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Tritium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Table 3.4-34
Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples

Chemical	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	BV (mg/kg)	Number of Detects Above BV	Number of Nondetects Above BV	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Aluminum	46	46	2990 to 21710	15400	2	0	100
Antimony	46	12	[0.032] ^b to 2.6	0.83	7	16	26
Arsenic	46	46	1.3 to 3.97	3.98	0	0	100
Barium	46	46	34.9 to 37300	127	43	Q	100
Beryllium	46	20	0.153 to 1.3	1.31	0	0	43
Boron	46	18	0.799 to 10.6	na ^c	na	na	39
Cadmium	46	19	[0.04] to 1.98	0.4	4	4	41
Calcium	46	46	483 to 5770	4420	3	0	100
Chromium	46	46	3.5 to 33.1	10.5	7	0	100
Cobalt	46	46	1.5 to 17.5	4.73	26	0	100
Copper	46	46	2.84 to 232	11.2	32	0	100
Iron	46	46	6400 to 15490	13800	2	0	100
Lead	46	46	5.08 to 163	19.7	32	0	100
Magnesium	46	46	470 to 2590	2370	1	0	100
Manganese	46	46	75.2 to 980	543	6	0	100
Mercury	46	42	[0.0038] to [0.2]	0.1	0	1	91
Nickel	46	46	2.34 to 40.3	9.38	22	0	100
Potassium	46	46	364 to 2110	2690	0	0	100
Selenium	46	12	0.289 to 2.02	0.3	11	34	26
Silver	46	4 4	0.125 to 167	1	40	0	96
Sodium	46	46	44.6 to 199	1470	0	0	100
Thallium	46	16	0.0392 to [1.4]	0.73	0	30	35
Vanadium	46	46	8.9 to 33.7	19.7	7	0	100
Zinc	46	46	20 to 259	60.2	8	0	100

Sources: LANL 1998, 59730 and EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c na = Not available.

where c2 units are lower in elevation relative to the channel and inferred to be younger than c3). Floodplain areas were subdivided into areas that had strong evidence for post-1942 flooding (f1) and areas that might have been flooded but where the evidence was less conclusive (f2). Adjacent areas were locally mapped, using the standard geologic designation "Q" for Quaternary units (Qal = alluvium; Qbt = Bandelier Tuff, Qc = colluvium, Qf = fan, and Qt = stream terrace). Note that some of these areas could contain contaminants derived from mesa top SWMUs (e.g., Qf below MDA R). A preliminary

Table 3.4-35

Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Aluminum	Eliminated	Although 2 samples exceed background, results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the samples are statistically the same as background.*
Antimony	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds background value (BV).
Arsenic	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Barium	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Beryllium	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Boron	Retained	No BV is available, retained for further evaluation.
Cadmium	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Chromium	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Cobalt	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Copper	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Leə d	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Manganese	Eliminated	Although 6 samples exceed background, results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the samples are statistically the same as background.*
Mercury	Retained	Detection limit exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Nickel	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Selenium	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Silver	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Thallium	Retained	Detection limit exceeds BV.
Vanadium	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Zinc	Retained	Maximum detected value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*

*See Appendix I-1 for further discussion.

Table 3.4-36
Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples

Chemical	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	46	22	[0.08] ^b to [5]	48
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	46	22	0.0393 to [5]	48
Benzo(a)pyrene	16	1	[0.0339] to [0.93]	n/a ^c
Benzoic Acid	16	3	0.23 to [2.3]	n/a
Di-n-butylphthalate	16	1	[0.058] to [0.93]	n/a .
Fluoranthene	16	2	0.0177 to [0.91]	n/a
Hexachlorobenzene	16	1	0.0756 to [0.93]	n/a
HMX	46	33	[0.08] to 290	72
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	16	1	[0.0339] to [0.93]	n/a
Methylphenol[4-]	16	2	0.141 to [0.93]	n/a
Naphthalene	16	1	[0.0339] to [0.93]	n/a
Nitrobenzene	53	1	[0.08] to [5.2]	2
Pyrene	16	3	0.0187 to [0.91]	n/a
Pyridine	16	1	0.16 to [0.93]	n/a
RDX	46	27	0.0615 to [20]	59
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	46	1	[0.08] to [5]	2
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	46	20	[0.08] to [5]	43

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

geomorphic map was made based on topography and vegetation, and the map was iteratively revised as more detailed characterization data became available.

Screening Data

Screening data indicated low levels of silver (average concentration of less than 100 mg/kg by XRF) in all geomorphic units in all reaches except CDV-1 West, immediately downstream from the TA-16 silver outfall. In this reach, the two samples from c1 had the highest concentrations (957 and 2595 mg/kg), and f1 had concentrations as high as 364 mg/kg.

Screening data indicate low levels of barium (average concentration of less than 600 mg/kg by XRF) in all geomorphic units and all reaches upstream from MDA R, and higher levels in all downstream reaches. The data indicate both the MDA R area and the 260 outfall contributed substantial amounts of barium to Cañon de Valle sediment, with concentrations increasing downstream from each of these sources. Concentrations are lower downstream of MDA P, indicating it is not a major source.

 Table 3.4-37

 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Cañon de Valle Alluvial Sediment Samples

Chemical	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Retained	22 samples are above the detection limit.
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Retained	22 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(a)pyrene	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Benzoic Acid	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
Di-n-butylphthalate	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Fluoranthene	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Hexachlorobenzene	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
НМХ	Retained	33 samples are above the detection limit.
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Methylphenol[4-]	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Naphthalene	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Nitrobenzene	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detects comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Pyrene	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
Pyridine	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
RDX	Retained	27 samples are above the detection limit.
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	Greater than 20 analyses were taken and the number of detects comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Retained	20 samples are above the detection limit.

Screening data for RDX are all below detection limits for reaches CDV-1 West, CDV-1 Central, and CDV-1 East, and are above detection limits in over 50% of the samples in downstream reaches. The values obtained in CDV-2 West and CDV-2 East samples were similar to CDV-1 values.

The highest levels of barium as analyzed by XRF were found in the c3 and f1 units in reach CDV-2 West, downstream from the 260 outfall. These include all concentrations greater than 13,000 mg/kg in Cañon de Valle, with some concentrations as high as 48,000 mg/kg. In comparison, the maximum concentration in the c2 unit of CDV-2 West, lower in elevation and generally closer to the channel, was 6400 mg/kg. In reach CDV-2 East, the highest concentrations of barium were also found in the c3 and f1 units, although the relative difference between these units and c2 was much less than in CDV-2 West. In contrast, levels of barium by XRF are similar in the c2 and c3 units of CDV-1 East, and lower in f1. Limited XRF analyses from coarse-grained samples indicate the presence of barium in all reaches downstream from MDA R at levels higher than in upstream reaches, but lower than in fine-grained samples from these reaches.

Off-Site Laboratory Results

General trends in laboratory-analyzed barium concentration in fine-grained sediment deposits are consistent with data from the screening samples: concentrations are highest in reach CDV-2 West, downstream from the 260 outfall, but also are present above background upstream from the

Table	3.4-38
Frequency of Detected	Inorganic Chemicals in
Martin Spring Canyon Alluviu	m, Sediment, and Tuff Samples

Chemical	Media Code	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	BV (mg/kg)	Number of Detects Above BV	Number of Non- Detects Above BV	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Aluminum	Qal	3	3	5000 to 16000	15400 ^b	1	0	n/a ^c
	Qbt 4	3	3	1700 to 2900	7340	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	8500 to 17000	15400	1	0	100
Antimony	Qai	3	2	0.1 to [0.53] ^d	0.83	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	З	0	[0.52 to 0.56]	0.5	0	3	n/a
Arsenic	Qal	3	3	2.1 to 4.1	3.98	1	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	1.6 to 1.9	2.79	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	2.6 to 10	3.98	7	0	100
Barium	Qal	3	3	53 to 180	127	1	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	15 to 41	46	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	86 to 1700	127	10	0	100
Beryllium	Qal	3	3	0.42 to 0.82	1.31	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	0.3 to 0.85	1.21	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	0.55 to 1	1.31	0	0	100
Boron	Qal	3	0	[27 to 30]	na®	na	na	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	0	[26 to 28]	na	na	na	n/a
	Sed	20	18	[0.0726] to 43	na	na	na	90
Cadmium	Qal	3	3	0.05 to 0.16	0.4	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	0.06 to 0.07	1,63	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	0.048 to 1	0.4	5	0	100
Calcium	Qal	3	3	560 to 1600	4420	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	280 to 450	2200	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	1700 to 4900	4420	1	0	100
Chromium	Qal	3	3	5.2 to 8.1	10.5	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	1.5 to 14	7.14	1	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	5.2 to 30	10.5	7	0	100
Cobalt	Qał	3	3	1.5 to 3.4	4.73	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	З	0.78 to 1.5	3.14	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	2.9 to 5.8	4.73	2	0	100
Copper	Qal	3	3	2.8 to 4.8	11.2	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	1.8 to 2.3	4.66	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	4.9 to 100	11.2	7	0	100

Table 3.4-38 (continued)

Chemical	Media Code	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	BV (mg/kg)	Number of Detects Above BV	Number of Non- Detects Above BV	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Iron	Qal	3	3	8700 to 14000	13800	1	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	7400 to 7800	14500	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	7200 to 16000	13800	1	0	100
Lead	Qal	3	3	6.3 to 18	19.7	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	2.1 to 5.1	11.2	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	11 to 120	19.7	9	0	100
Magnesium	Qal	3	3	540 to 1900	2370	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	240 to 340	1690	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	1300 to 2400	2370	1	0	100
Manganese	Qal	3	3	150 to 220	543	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	270 to 330	482	0	0	n/a
	Sed	3	3	130 to 870	543	1	0	n/a
Mercury	Qal	3	3	0.01 to 0.02	0.1	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	0	[0.1 to 0.11]	0.1	0	2	n/a
	Sed	20	20	0.042 to 2.3	0.1	18	0	100
Nickel	Qal	3	3	2.6 to 5.9	9.38	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	1.4 to 6.1	6.58	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	4.6 to 9	9.38	0	0	100
Potassium	Qal	3	3	650 to 1700	2690	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	350 to 450	3500	0	0	п/а
	Sed	20	20	1200 to 2000	2690	0	0	100
Selenium	Qal	3	3	0.14 to 0.53	0.3	1	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	0.08 to 0.11	0.3	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	0.258 to 1.58	0.3	19	0	100
Silver	Qal	3	3	5.1 to 7.1	1	3	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	5.1 to 6	1	3	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	1.3 to 2.2	1	20	0	100
Sodium	Qal	3	3	150 to 220	1470	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	160 to 250	2770	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	100 to 930	1470	0	0	100
Thallium	Qal	3	3	0.2 to 0.5	0.73	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	0.17 to 0.2	1.1	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	0.145 to 0.318	0.73	0	0	100

Chemical	Media Code	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	BV (mg/kg)	Number of Detects Above BV	Number of Non- Detects Above BV	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Uranium	Qal	3	3	0.46 to 0.76	2.22	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	0.35 to 0.43	2.4	0	0	rva
	Sed	5	5	0.814 to 1.79	2.22	0	0	n/a
Vanadium	Qai	3	3	9.1 to 18	19.7	0	0	n/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	3 to 3.9	17	0	0	rı/a
	Sed	20	20	9.1 to 36	19.7	3	0	100
Zinc	Qal	3	3	31 to 32	60.2	0	0	rv/a
	Qbt 4	3	3	36 to 39	63.5	0	0	n/a
	Sed	20	20	22 to 180	60.2	7	0	100

Table 3.4-38 (continued)

Sources: LANL 1998, 59730 and EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b In the absence of a background dataset for Qal, if available, Sed background values are assigned.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

^dValues in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

e na = Not available.

260 outfall in reach CDV-1 East. These data are consistent with indications that the 260 outfall is the most important source for the barium outside of the active channel in Cañon de Valle. Also consistent with the screening sample data, barium concentrations are higher in the c3 and f1 units in reach CDV-2 West and CDV-2 East than in the c2 units; differences are greater in CDV-2 West than in CDV-2 East.

Trends in average barium concentration in active channel samples in Cañon de Valle from 1994 to 1996 differ from those in the fine-grained samples. Active channel sample concentrations are highest in reach CDV-1 East, upstream from the 260 outfall, with concentrations progressively declining downstream from this reach. Barium concentrations are much lower upstream in reach CDV-1 Central, although they are still above the sediment background (127 mg/kg) (LANL1998, 59730). These data therefore indicate the most important source for the barium present in the active stream channel prior to the Cerro Grande fire was upstream from the 260 outfall, specifically in the vicinity of MDA R, with additional sources existing upstream and downstream from this point.

The results support the existence of at least three sources of barium for the sediment in Cañon de Valle: (1) a minor source upstream from MDA R; (2) a larger source at, or in, the vicinity of MDA R, and the 260 outfall. Additional barium may have been contributed by erosion of soil at MDA P, but any contributions were apparently small enough that no impact on Cañon de Valle sediment could be identified from this source.

Table 3.4-39 Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Aluminum	Qal	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background.*
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above background value (BV).
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Antimony	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Retained	Detection limit exceeds BV.
Arsenic	Qal	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background.*
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Barium	Qal	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background.*
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Beryllium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Boron	Qal	Retained	No BV is available, retained for further evaluation.
	Qbt 4	Retained	No BV is available, retained for further evaluation.
	Sed	Retained	No BV is available, retained for further evaluation.
Cadmium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Calcium	Qal	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Sed	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
Chromium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Cobalt	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Copper	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Iron	Qal	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Sed	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
Lead	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Magnesium	Qal	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
4 million 4	Qbt 4	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Sed	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
Manganese	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background.*
Mercury	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Retained	Detection limit exceeds BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Nickel	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Potassium	Qal	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Sed	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
Setenium	Qal	Eliminated	Only one sample exceeds background and results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the sample is statistically the same as background.*
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Silver	Qal	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
	Qbt 4	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Sodium	Qal	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
	Sed	Eliminated	Essential nutrient
Thallium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Uranium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	No values above BV.
Vanadium	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Qbt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Retained	Maximum value exceeds BV, and dataset is statistically different than background.*
Zinc	Qal	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Obt 4	Eliminated	No values above BV.
	Sed	Eliminated	Although 7 samples exceed background, results of both the Wilcoxon Rank Sum Test and the Quantile Test indicate that the samples are statistically the same as background.*

Table 3.4-39 (continued)

*See Appendix I-1 for further discussion.

Archival records and process knowledge indicate the 260 outfall is the primary source of barium in the watershed, which is consistent with the highest concentrations of barium occurring in sediment deposits downstream from the 260 outfall. However, the existence of higher average concentrations of barium in the active channel upstream from the 260 outfall rather than downstream in samples collected in 1994 to 1997 indicate in the recent past more barium was contributed from the area of MDA R than from the 260 outfall drainage. This may have been associated with a larger amount of erosion of contaminated soil at MDA R than along the 260 outfall drainage. This source has been reduced by the cleanup activities at MDA R following the Cerro Grande fire in 2000 (LANL 2001, 69971.2). The 260 outfall drainage also is expected to have been substantially reduced as a source following the IM (LANL 2002, 73706).

Concentrations of barium in the active channel deposits are higher (and a larger part of the barium inventory is present) (than in fine-grained sediment on adjacent abandoned channels and floodplains upstream from the 260 outfall. This pattern is reversed downstream. Without continued supply of barium from MDA R and the 260 outfall, concentrations in the active channel are expected to

Chemical	Media Code	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Sed	20	6	0.12 to 0.36	30
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Sed	20	10	0.039 to 0.37	50
Benzo(a)anthracene	Sed	5	3	[0.0373] ^b to 0.31	n/a ^c
Benzo(a)pyrene	Sed	5	3	[0.0336] to 0.39	n/a
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	Sed	5	3	[0.0362] to 0.43	n/a
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	Sed	5	2	[0.0476] to 0.15	n/a
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	Sed	5	2	[0.0439] to 0.37	n/a
Benzoic Acid	Sed	5	1	[0.0253] to [0.0438]	n/a
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	Qbt 4	3	2	0.025 to [0.37]	n/a
	Sed	5	1	0.041 to [0.0886]	n/a
Chrysene	Sed	5	2	[0.0526] to 0.37	n/a
Fluoranthene	Sed	5	2	[0.0367] to 0.69	n/a
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	Sed	5	2	[0.0466] to 0.16	n/a
Phenanthrene	Sed	5	2	[0.0564] to 0.4	n/a
Pyrene	Sed	5	3	[0.0395] to 0.89	n/a
RDX	Sed	20	4	0.13 to 0.92	20
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Sed	20	8	0.14 to 1	40

Table 3.4-40 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

bValues in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

decline over time, as will concentrations of barium contained within storm water or deposited on floodplains. Such decreases over time have been previously documented in other canyons at the Laboratory (e.g., Reneau et al. 1998, 59159; Reneau et al. 1998, 59160).

HMX was detected at relatively low concentrations upstream of the 260 outfall, and increases downstream from it, indicating the presence of a primary source at the 260 outfall. HMX is present at higher concentrations in fine-grained sediment than in the active channel in reach CDV-2 West, is higher in channel sediments in CDV-2 Central, and is at similar concentrations in these two facies in CDV-2 East. In reach CDV-2 West, HMX is higher in the c2 unit than in c3 and f1, which is the opposite of what was found for barium. This suggests differences in the timing of releases of these two chemicals, with the peak of HMX releases occurring after that of barium (under the assumption that fine-grained sediments deposited on the c2 unit are younger on average than in c3 and f1). Plots of HMX versus barium also indicate the absence of correlations between these two chemicals in both fine-grained samples and active channel samples (see Appendix E). The high average concentration of HMX in the active channel in CDV-2 Central is due to the influence of a single detected result that is anomalous relative to other active channel samples, and this average is therefore not considered reliable.

Chemical	Media Code	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Sed	Retained	6 samples are above the detection limit.
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Sed	Retained	10 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(a)anthracene	Sed	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(a)pyrene	Sed	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	Sed	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Benzoic Acid	Sed	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	Qbt 4	Retained	2 samples are above detection.
i	Sed	Retained	1 sample is above the detection limit.
Chrysene ,	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Fluoranthene	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Phenanthrene	Sed	Retained	2 samples are above the detection limit.
Pyrene	Sed	Retained	3 samples are above the detection limit.
RDX	Sed	Retained	4 samples are above the detection limit.
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Sed	Retained	8 samples are above the detection limit.

Table 3.4-41 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Martin Spring Canyon Alluvium, Sediment, and Tuff Samples

RDX was detected upstream of the 260 outfall in both fine-grained sediment and in the active channel, indicating a source in the vicinity of MDA R and therefore, at least in part, a different source than the HMX source. In the fine-grained sediments, average concentrations of RDX are higher in CDV-1 East than in CDV-2 West, and progressively decrease downstream, although the CDV-1 East average is based on only two samples and may not be representative. The highest RDX value in fine-grained sediments was not detected in the same sample as the highest HMX value, suggesting an interference effect in the analysis and indicating the CDV-2 West average may be biased toward the high end. Average RDX concentrations in the active channel samples peak in CDV-2 West and decline downstream.

Contaminant Inventory

Estimates of the inventory of barium, HMX, and RDX in fine-grained sediment in the different reaches of Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon were made using data on the area, density, average thickness of fine-grained sediment, and average contaminant concentration in each unit. Sediment density was assumed to be the same as the density of texturally similar sediment in Los Alamos and Pueblo Canyons (Reneau et al. 1998, 59159; Reneau et al. 1998, 59160). An estimate of the inventory in reach CDV-2 Central was based on data from adjacent reaches, assuming unit thicknesses and contaminant concentrations for each unit were averages of values in CDV-2 West and CDV-2 East. These estimates are based on a relatively small number of samples per unit, and associated uncertainties are therefore higher than if a larger data set were available. However, because the samples submitted for analysis were selected based on a larger number of screening samples, the general magnitudes and spatial trends are considered to be reliable.



Figure 3.4-26. Location of sampling lines for the geomorphic sediment study

An estimate of the total inventory of barium in Cañon de Valle sediment was made by using available data and extrapolating to non-sampled reaches. Based on the data from active channel samples, it was assumed the same average concentrations present in reach CDV-2 East persist for an additional 2755 ft downstream (reach "CDV-2 East+"), and that barium is essentially at background farther downstream (reach "CDV-2 East++") and can be excluded from the inventory calculations. It is also assumed that characteristics of geomorphic units (average width and thickness) downstream from CDV-2 East are the same as in that reach. A total of about 21,000 kg of barium is estimated to have been in Cañon de Valle sediment before the Cerro Grande fire, roughly half upstream from MDA P and half downstream. It is estimated that about 62% is stored in fine-grained sediment deposits outside the active channel, about 10% is stored in the active channel, and the remainder is stored in coarse-grained deposits in abandoned channel units.

Resampling of a subset of the 1996 active channel locations in 2002 allows a comparison of barium concentrations in the channel 6 years after the termination of effluent releases from the 260 outfall. This period also includes the effects of post-fire floods. In reaches CDV-1 East and CDV-2 West, barium concentrations in 2002 were much lower than in 1996. This suggests that much of the barium present in the active channel in these reaches in 1996 was scoured and suspended in subsequent floods and transported downstream, depleting the active channel inventory. The amount that was redeposited on abandoned channels and floodplains is unknown. It is notable that concentrations measured in 2002 are similar in reaches CDV-1 East, CDV-2 West, and CDV-2 East, and are also similar to those occurring in reaches CDV-2 East and CDV-2 East+ in 1996.

Estimates of the total inventory of HMX and RDX in Cañon de Valle sediments before the Cerro Grande fire are roughly 50 kg of HMX (half in fine-grained sediment and coarse-grained sediments) and roughly 5 kg of RDX (about 60% in fine-grained sediments).

In all cases, average concentrations of HMX and RDX in active channel samples (except for RDX in reach CDV-2 East) have much lower concentrations in 2002 than in 1996. These data therefore support the inference made from barium data that much of the contaminant inventory stored in the active channel in 1996 was remobilized and transported downstream prior to 2002, either in post-fire floods or in other storm runoff events.

3.4.2.6 Results of Ecological Risk Assessment Sampling

There are sediment and water data associated with the toxicity testing previously described in this section. The benthic macro-invertebrate data are produced by the NMED Oversight Bureau. Those data are presented in NMED (1999, 73769), Ford-Schmid (1998, 73772), and NMED (2003, 76072). The reader is referred to those documents for additional information.

3.4.2.6.1 Toxicity Testing: Chironomus tentans Survival and Growth

Table 3.4-42 presents the results for survival and growth for the two rounds of testing of *Chironomus tentans* used in the baseline ecological risk assessment. Sample locations are shown on Figure 3.3-10. The first set of results includes all four locations tested (including the reference site in Starmer's Gulch). The second set of results includes two sediment samples for Location ID 16-06709 near SWSC Cut. One sediment sample was tested using site water for static renewal. The other sediment sample was tested using reconstituted laboratory water for static renewal. The second round of testing did not include the Location ID 16-06711 downstream of MDA P. The analysis and assessment of these data, comparing the reference site to areas with likely contaminants, is presented in Appendix L.

Sample ID	Location ID	Sampling Date	Site Water	Mean Percent Survival	Mean Growth (mg ash-free dry weight)
RE16-01-3283	16-06709	9/21/2001	Yes	22.50	0.68
RE16-01-3285	16-06710	9/22/2001	Yes	68.75	0.38
RE16-01-3287	16-06711	9/23/2001	Yes	86.25	0.39
RE16-01-3289	16-06712	9/24/2001	Yes	82.50	0.44
RE16-03-49883	16-06709	12/6/2002	Yes	90.00	1.28
RE16-03-49885	16-06709	12/7/2002	No	91.25	0,89
RE16-03-49884	16-06710	12/8/2002	Yes	88.75	1.26
RE16-03-49886	16-06712	12/9/2002	Yes	96.25	1.21

 Table 3.4-42

 Chironomus tentans
 Toxicity Testing Results for Survival and Growth

3.4.2.6.2 Small Mammal Whole-Body Burden Results

A total of 31 small mammals were submitted for contaminant analysis. A summary of the sample identification numbers, collection dates, locations, and the analytical request numbers is provided in Appendix G-1. Thirty of the samples are field-caught small mammals. The quality control animal was purchased from a biological materials supplier and is used as a blank and for spikes to assess laboratory performance.

Table 3.4-43 presents the frequency of detected inorganic chemicals in the 30 field-caught small mammals. No table is provided for HE because all of the results were undetected. The analysis and interpretation of these data relative to potential contaminant doses to the Mexican spotted owl is provided in Appendix L.

3.4.3 Summary of Findings and Implications for the Conceptual Model

This section provides a summary of findings for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon alluvial systems, including identified COPCs, hydrogeological and geochemical dynamics, and important observations regarding the distribution and inventory of contaminants, including uncertainties. Section 5.0, Conceptual Model, provides further integration of the new findings into the existing site data and knowledge base.

Table 3.4-44 provides a summary of the COPCs for all media in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Maps of barium and RDX concentration in water and sediment are shown in Figures 3.4-27 through 3.4-34. These figures present both the most recent concentration value and the maximum concentration for each sampling point location collected from 1998 to 2002. Significant findings for Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon are described below.

Hydraulic Connectivity

• The alluvial groundwater in Cañon de Valle appears to be connected throughout the saturated alluvium. However, differing head responses in the monitoring wells indicates heterogeneity within the alluvium. Each of the four alluvial wells in the canyon bottom appears to have fairly

distinct well-level responses to precipitation and snowmelt inputs. This implies there is weak horizontal connectivity throughout the canyon bottom alluvial system.

- Barium concentrations are consistently higher in the alluvial groundwater than in the surface water. One explanation for this is that a secondary source of barium resides within the alluvium. The implication is that the exchange of surface water and alluvial groundwater can occur, but is localized.
- Oxygen isotope results show the alluvial groundwater and the surface water do not always follow the same trends, indicating there are source differences between surface and alluvial groundwater (even though there is exchange between the two).
- There are losing and gaining reaches in Cañon de Valle. The water lost may move into storage in the alluvium or represent a source for recharge to the more deeply perched groundwater. Gaining areas, such as the seep at SP#13, could represent an additional source of contamination to the surface water system.
- The time series results for the alluvial groundwater oxygen isotopes show the peaks and valleys are not of the same magnitude and do not occur at the same time. This further indicates the lack of homogeneity within the canyon bottom alluvial system.
- HRR geophysical surveys show a highly conductive region below the Burning Ground Spring wetland area. HRR geophysical surveys also shows an approximately 20-ft-thick low resistance layer, dipping to the west, approximately 200 ft upstream from MDA P. This could be one potential zone of deeper infiltration from the alluvial system.
- CSAMT/NSAMT geophysical surveys conducted to 1500 ft bgs indicate the presence of discrete heterogeneous subvertical, electrically-conductive layers. The deep conductive zone appears to be bounded on the east and may be discontinuous in nature. The conductive zone may represent preferential pathways such as surge beds or fracture zones. A follow up survey is planned in late 2003 to provide greater resolution.

Alluvial System Dynamics-Cañon de Valle

- RDX concentrations in the surface water and alluvial groundwater in Cañon de Valle are highest near the 260 outfall area. The highest mass flow rate of RDX in surface water occurred during wet periods.
- The lowest concentration of barium in the alluvial groundwater was observed in upstream Well 16-02655, followed by Well 16-02656, and Well 16-02659. The highest barium concentration was observed in Well 16-02658. Figures 3.4-29 and 3.4-30 show the maximum and most recent barium concentrations, respectively, in Cañon de Valle surface water and alluvial groundwater.
- Both barium and RDX were detected in surface water samples at the confluence with Water Canyon (approximately 3 mi downstream of the source area). This indicates the entire Cañon de Valle alluvial system contains barium and RDX.
- RDX concentrations for Well 16-02659 (located the farthest distance east from the 260 outfall) were consistently higher than Wells 16-02655, 16-02656, and 16-02658 (see Figure 3.4-27). There is no trend of decreasing RDX concentrations with distance from the 260 outfall.

Figure 3.4-27 and 3.4-28 show the maximum and most recent RDX concentrations, respectively in Cañon de Valle surface and alluvial groundwater.

- Barium concentration trends in alluvial groundwater over time are stable to slightly decreasing. Spikes associated with pulses of barium into the system are possibly due to sediment flushing. There does not appear to be a significant correlation between barium concentrations and saturated thickness. No evidence of an effect or reduction in barium concentration related to the IM source removal action is yet apparent.
- There is a positive correlation between variations in saturated thickness in Cañon de Valle alluvial wells and RDX concentration, indicating RDX residing within the vadose zone constitutes an important secondary source and is released to the alluvial groundwater during periods of increased saturated thickness in the alluvium. It may be difficult to define the extent of this secondary source within the unsaturated zone.

Alluvial System Dynamics-Martin Spring Canyon

- RDX was detected in the surface and alluvial groundwater at locations in Martin Spring Canyon. Groundwater discharge from Martin Spring and the K-Site drop tower could be the primary sources for RDX in the canyon. Figures 3.4-27 and 3.4-28 show the maximum and most recent RDX concentrations, respectively, in Martin Spring Canyon surface and alluvial groundwater.
- The concentrations of RDX and barium were generally lower in Martin Spring Canyon than in Cañon de Valle. There are samples that contained higher concentrations of barium in single locations. For instance, high concentrations of barium in surface water are detected at Location ID 16-05988, (SP#3 in Martin Spring Canyon) in July 1999, and in the alluvial groundwater from Well 16-06295 (Well #3 MSC) in September 2000. A possible explanation for this is the intermittent release of stored contaminants from the surface or vadose zone.

Alluvial Sediment Dynamics-Cañon de Valle

- The geomorphic investigation results support the existence of at least three sources of barium for the sediment in Cañon de Valle: (1) a minor source upstream from MDA R, possibly SWMU 16-026(m), the outfall for the 90s Line building; (2) a larger source at, or in the vicinity of, MDA R; and (3) the 260 outfall. Figures 3.4-31 and 3.4-32 show the most recent concentrations of RDX and barium, respectively, in Cañon de Valle sediment.
- Resampling of a subset of the 1996 active channel locations in 2002 allowed a time comparison
 of barium and RDX concentrations. For barium, concentrations were noticeably lower in the
 reaches immediately upstream and downstream of the 260 outfall. For RDX, all reaches had
 lower concentrations in 2002, except the reach downstream of Well 16-02658. The decrease in
 RDX concentrations may be due to elimination of discharges or increased channel flows and
 subsequent transport of contaminated sediment outside the study area following the 2000 Cerro
 Grande fire.
- Approximately 5 kg of RDX was estimated to reside in Cañon de Valle sediment before the 2000 Cerro Grande fire. A total of about 21,000 kg of barium is estimated to have been in Cañon de Valle sediment before the Cerro Grande fire, roughly half of which was upstream from MDA P and half of which was downstream.

- Immediately down canyon from Location ID 16-05967, (Silver Seep), screening data reported silver concentrations of 2595 and 957 mg/kg. Within the main reach of Cañon de Valle, 40 out of 46 samples exceed the 1.0 mg/kg sediment BV for silver (LANL 1998, 59730).
- Alluvial sediment within the Cañon de Valle contains metals, HE, PAHs, and SVOCs. These samples were collected between 1 and 2 ft below grade. The vertical extent of vadose zone contamination below this horizon is unknown.

Alluvial Sediment Dynamics-Martin Spring Canyon

• Barium and RDX are both present in Martin Spring Canyon, but at much lower concentrations and with much smaller inventories than in Cañon de Valle. Figures 3.4-33 and 3.4-34 show the most recent concentrations of RDX and barium, respectively, in Martin Spring Canyon.

The source for barium in Martin Spring Canyon sediment is located somewhere up the tributary drainage east of TA-16 HE casting building 306, and concentrations decline downstream, as mixing with sediment sources occurs.

Chemical	Media	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Aluminum	Whole Body	30	30	6.6 to 920	100
Antimony	Whole Body	30	18	0.011 to 1.9	60
Arsenic	Whole Body	30	26	[0.069] ^b to 0.47	87
Barium	Whole Body	30	30	1.9 to 39	100
Beryllium	Whole Body	30	18	0.002 to 0.011	60
Boron	Whole Body	12	12	0.42 to 1.9	n/a ^c
Cadmium	Whole Body	30	28	[0.0046] to 0.12	93
Calcium	Whole Body	30	30	4600 to 22000	100
Chromium	Whole Body	30	30	0.39 to 2.8	100
Cobalt	Whole Body	30	28	[0.015] to 0.077	93
Copper	Whole Body	30	30	1.9 to 24	100
Iron	Whole Body	30	30	63 to 180	100
Lead	Whole Body	30	30	0.41 to 250	100
Magnesium	Whole Body	30	30	300 to 610	100
Manganese	Whole Body	30	30	1 to 15	100
Mercury	Whole Body	30	6	[0.0019] to 0.019	20
Nickel	Whole Body	30	30	0.065 to 0.78	100
Potassium	Whole Body	30	30	2400 to 2700	100
Selenium	Whole Body	30	30	0.29 to 0.97	100
Silver	Whole Body	30	6	[0.012] to 0.08	20

Table 3.4-43

Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Whole Body Small Mammal Analysis

Table 3.4-43 (continued) Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Whole Body Small Mammal Analysis

Chemical	Media	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (mg/kg)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ⁶
Sodium	Whole Body	30	30	1100 to 1700	100
Thallium	Whole Body	30	18	0.0017 to [0.13]	60
Vanadium	Whole Body	30	28	[0.015] to 0.2	93
Zinc	Whole Body	30	30	10 to 180	100

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

Rubidium	Perchlorate	Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Nickel	Mercury	Manganese	Lead	Cyanide (Total)	Copper	Cobalt	Chromium	Cesium	Cadmium	Boron	Beryllium	Barium	Arsenic	Antimony	Aluminum	Inorganics	Chemicals Retain COPCs for SWMU 1 99 Alluvial Sys	ied a 6-02 tem	s 1(c)-	
	•				•	Į									•					CdV Alluvial Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-12, 3.4-15, and 3.4-18)	Wa		Table of F
1	٠	•												1	*					CdV Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-3, 3.4-6, and 3.4-9)		Cañon de	Retained COP
NA	NA	NA				•	NA	•	•	*	NA	•					•			CdV Sediment (see Tables 3.4-35 and 3.4-37)	Solid	Valle (CdV)	Table : Cs for Cañon
NA				•	•		NA		•		NA	•	•	•	•					MSC Alluvial Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-27, 3.4-30, and 3.4-33)	Media		3.4-44 de Valle and I
NA	1	1	1			•	NA		•		NA		•	1	•	•	•	•		MSC Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-21 and 3.4-24)	Wa		Martin Spring
NA	NA	NA			And the second se		NA	•	•	•	NĂ		•		•		NAC	•		MSC Sediment (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	ter	Martin Spring	Canyon
NA	NA	NA		•			NA			•	NA									MSC Bandelier Tuff (Qbt 4) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	Solid	Canyon (MSC)	
NA	NA	NA	1				Å				NA			1		1				MSC Quaternary Alluvium (Qal) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	Media		

Phase III RFI Report

			Table 3.4-44	(continued)				
s (c)-		Cañon de	Valle (CdV)			Martin Spring	Canyon (MSC)	
edia: ⊢021 erm	Wa	iter	Solid	Media	Wa	ter	Solid	Media
Chemicals Retain COPCs for SWMU 16 99 Alluvial Syst	CdV Alluvial Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-12, 3.4-15, and 3.4-18)	CdV Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-3, 3.4-6, and 3.4-9)	CdV Sediment (see Tables 3.4-35 and 3.4-37)	MSC Alluvial Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-27, 3.4-30, and 3.4-33)	MSC Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-21 and 3.4-24)	MSC Sediment (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	MSC Bandelier Tuff (Qbt 4) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	MSC Quaternary Alluvium (Qal) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)
Selenium		•	•	•	•	•	1	I
Silver	1	•	•	•	I	•	•	•
Thallium	•	•	•	•	•	1	I	I
Uranium		•	NA	1		1	Ι	
Vanadium	l	•	•	•	•	•		1
Zinc	I	1	•	•	I	1	1	ļ
Organics and HE								
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene [4-]	Ι	Ι	•	I		•	NA	NA
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	1		•	-		•	AN	NA
Benzo(a)anthracene			1	Ι	NA	•	-	ł
Benzo(a)pyrene			•	1	NA	•	-	I
Benzo(b)fluoranthene		-		_	NA	•		1
Benzo(g,h,i)perytene			1	1	NA	•		1
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	Ι	Ι	1	1	NA	•	1	I
Benzoic Acid	-	1	•	1	NA	•	1	ł
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	1	•	-	1	NA	•	•	1
Chloromethane	•	1	NA	1	NA	NA	NA	NA
Chrysene			1	1	NA	•		1
Di-n-buty/phthalate	i	1	•	1	NA	1	1	
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	•		1	I	I	ļ	1	1



Table 3.4-44 (continued)

<u>.</u>		Cañon de '	Valle (CdV)		Martin Spring Canyon (MSC)					
H021	Wat	er	Solid	Media	Wa	ter	Solid	Wedia		
Chemicals Retain COPCs for SWMU 16 99 Alluvial Syst	CdV Alluviaf Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-12, 3.4-15, and 3.4-18)	CdV Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-3, 3.4-6, and 3.4-9)	CdV Sediment (see Tables 3.4-35 and 3.4-37)	MSC Alluvial Groundwater (see Tables 3.4-27, 3.4-30, and 3.4-33)	MSC Surface Water (see Tables 3.4-21 and 3.4-24)	MSC Sediment (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	MSC Bandelier Tuff (Obt 4) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)	MSC Quaternary Alluvium (Qal) (see Tables 3.4-39 and 3.4-41)		
NX		•	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Fluoranthene			٠		NA	•		*******		
Hexachlorobenzene			٠		NA		_			
HMX		******	*							
ndeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene			•		NA	•				
Methylphenol[4-]		******	•		NA	******				
Methylene Chloride		٠	NA		NA	NA	NA	NA		
MNX	•	٠	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA		
Naphthalene			•		NA	_				
Nitrobenzene	•	*****				_				
Nitroglycerin		٠	NA			NA	NA	NA		
Phenanthrene					NA	•				
Pyrene			•		NA	•				
Pyridine	-		•	NA	NA	NA		********		
RDX	•	•	•	•	•	٠				
Tetrachioroethene		٠	NA		NA	NA	NA	NA		
Trichloroethene		٠	NA		NA	NA	NA	NA		
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	•	٠	•		********	•	Mines.	_		

a --- = Chemical was analyzed for but eliminated as a COPC for this alluvial system component.

^b • = Chemical relained as a COPC for this alluvial system component.

^C NA = Not analyzed.



Figure 3.4-27. Maximum concentrations of RDX in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springe, and seeps

ER2003-0480

3-113

September 2003

This page intentionally left blank.

. ...





ER2003-0480

3-115

Singlerition: 2003

ana dina dia dia kaokina <u>kaokina dia 2014.</u>

This page intentionally left blank.

٠

۴



Figure 3.4-29. Maximum concentrations of barium in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springs, and seeps

ER2003-0480

3-117

Suptember 2003
.

This page intentionally left blank.

7

٠



Figure 3.4-30. Most recent concentrations of barium in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water, alluvial groundwater, springs, and seeps

ER2003-0480

3-119

September 2003

This page intentionally left blank.

.

.



Figure 3.4-31. Most recent concentrations of RDX in Cañon de Valle sediment

September 2003







Figure 3.4-33. Most recent concentrations of RDX in Martin Spring Canyon sediment



Figure 3.4-34. Most recent concentrations of barium in Martin Spring Canyon sediment

4.0 SUBSURFACE SYSTEM INVESTIGATION

4.1 Summary

This section describes the subsurface hydrogeology investigation of Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. This investigation was outlined in detail in the CMS plan for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (see sections 6.1.3 and 6.3.3 in LANL 1998, 62413.3) and in previous RFI reports submitted in 1996 and 1998 (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998, 59891).

Investigation of the subsurface hydrogeology for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 is divided into three categories:

- The chemical characterization of springs
- The intermediate-depth (less than 210 ft) perched aquifer investigation
- The 90s Line Pond Investigations

See Figures 4.1-1 through 4.1-4 for photographs of the springs and 90s Line Pond.

Spring investigations are included in this section because the springs are a manifestation of the intermediate-depth perched aquifer that underlies the northwestern portion of TA-16. The 90s Line Pond was included as this may be a recharge source affecting both the springs and the intermediate-depth perched aquifer.

The principal goals of these investigations are (1) to better understand the transport pathways that connect the 260 outfall [the source region for SWMU 16-021(c)-99] with the intermediate-depth perched groundwater and (2) to better understand the dynamics, residence times, and contaminant concentrations of the intermediate-depth perched aquifer at TA-16 that discharges at the springs.

The intermediate-depth perched aquifer investigation included drilling five boreholes to depths from 91 to 207 ft and installing wells at locations likely to intersect the perched saturated zones at TA-16 (Figure 4.1-5). These wells include Well 16-02665 in Martin Spring Canyon, Well 16-02667 within SWSC Cut, Well 16-02668 near Building 300, and Well 16-02669 located east of the 90s Line Pond. A fifth well, (Well 16-02712) was located in the Cañon de Valle upper drainage channel, downstream of the former settling pond. This well was plugged and abandoned during the IM in 2000. Detailed geologic core logs of lithologic units and well construction diagrams for these five wells are provided in the Phase II RF1 report (LANL 1998, 59891). The core logs of these wells indicate flat-lying subunits, except near Cañon de Valle. The local trend of subunit-subunit contacts is to the north and east.

The intermediate-depth perched aquifer is ephemeral in most of the well locations. Analysis of this perched aquifer indicates low levels of contamination. These wells wet up infrequently but, when wet, contaminant levels for several constituents, including HE, exceed screening limits. The Martin Spring Canyon well (Well 16-02665) contained water the most frequently of the five during this investigation. Inorganic COPCs include aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel, selenium, silver, thallium, and zinc. Organic COPCs with significant detections include HMX and RDX. Aluminum, boron, manganese, and RDX are the most common COPCs affecting Wells 16-02665, 16-02669, and 16-02712 (prior to abandonment), with the highest values observed at Well 16-02712. Similarities in chemistry between Well 16-02665 and Martin Spring (e.g., for boron) indicate a similar hydraulic zone and contaminant source. The spring investigation relevant to the subsurface hydrogeology included quarterly sampling of the three springs identified in and around this area of TA-16; SWSC Spring, Burning Ground Spring, and Martin Spring (Figure 4.1-5). Additional flow-integrated samples were also collected. Analytical data from these sampling campaigns indicate all three springs contain RDX and TNT as COPCs. Other significant inorganic COPCs include

barium and boron (Martin Spring only). RDX, TNT, barium, and boron are almost certainly associated with TA-16 operations.



Figure 4.1-1. Field personnel conducting monthly maintenance at Martin Spring. Several instruments are deployed at this location. Flow rate, temperature, and conductivity measurements are collected hourly. In the background, there are two stormwater filters which are designed to filter barium and RDX from the spring effluent. View is down-canyon to the east. Photo was taken in November 2002.



Figure 4.1-2. SWSC Spring V-notch weir. SWSC Spring has been dry since December 2001. Photo was taken June 2002.



Figure 4.1-3. Burning Ground Spring



Figure 4.1-4. Field team member collecting water sample from Location ID 16-05826, 90s Line Pond. Photo was taken in June 2002. View is to the northwest.



Figure 4.1-5. Location map for intermediate-depth boreholes, springs, and 90s Line Pond

Phase III RFI Report

Time-series analysis of the spring concentration data indicates extreme variability in the concentrations of constituents (up to three orders of magnitude for several COPCs such as aluminum and iron). There is little evidence of seasonality or trends in contaminant concentration over time, though some exceptions do exist. For example, barium, nitrate, iron, and lead concentrations in unfiltered samples from Burning Ground Spring appear to be decreasing over time. Martin Spring appears to have a distinct chemistry relative to SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring. Martin Spring has higher concentrations of several inorganic chemicals than SWSC and Burning Ground Springs, including boron, nitrate, and RDX and has the lowest RDX/HMX ratio, which indicates it might be affected by contamination from a source other than the 260 outfall. SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring have chemistries that are more similar. Flow rate changes during the pre-1998 period indicate SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring are hydrogeologically similar, but that Martin Spring probably represents a different hydrogeologic system. Since drought conditions began in 1998, SWSC Spring has dried up while Burning Ground Spring has continued flowing. The mass of barium and RDX at Martin Spring has been increasing over time, while the mass of barium at Burning Ground Spring appears to be decreasing over time. The increases at Martin Spring may represent (1) the center of mass of a contaminant plume approaching the spring or concentration of flow in more contaminated portions of the vadose zone, (2) changes in the relative contribution of fast versus slow recharge pathways, or (3) desorption of contaminants from solid bound phases during drought periods. The decreases in barium at Burning Ground Spring may be a function of decreased base flow and/or flow having been concentrated in well flushed regions of the hydrologic system during drought periods. Flow rate appears to be a major control over the concentrations of barium and RDX at Martin Spring, with increased flow leading to a dilution effect. At SWSC Spring, increased (when water present) flow leads to increased RDX concentrations. The same is true of barium at Burning Ground Spring. These latter two relationships indicate a flushing effect, perhaps related to flushing of macropores containing contaminant concentrations.

The 90s Line Pond has wetted up periodically during the study period as a result of precipitation/ snowmelt events. COPCs include aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, cadmium, chromlum, cobalt, lead, manganese, mercury, selenium, thallium, uranium, vanadium, and RDX. Of these, aluminum, barium, lead, manganese, and RDX most commonly exceed water quality screening levels. Many of these COPCs have higher concentrations in the pond relative to the springs, particularly in unfiltered samples.

4.2 Data Needs and Objectives

Phase I and II RFIs at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 demonstrated elevated levels of contaminants in the 260 outfall and identified contamination in surface water and spring water at TA-16 (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998, 59891). The CMS plan for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 1998; 62413.3, section 6.3.3) provided a subsurface system investigation portion of the Phase III sampling and analysis plan (SAP). The main issues addressed by the Phase III SAP include (1) identifying the groundwater pathways, if any, which connect the 260 outfall (or other source areas) to TA-16's intermediate-depth perched aquifer, seeps, and springs associated with the 260 outfall, (2) assessing residence times and contaminants concentrations in the springs, and (3) determining spring dynamics.

The issues noted above are addressed by focused investigations designed to (1) answer questions concerning the hydrologic connectivity between the 260 outfall and the springs, (2) examine the connection between other potential contaminant sources and the springs, (3) identify COPCs in the intermediate-depth perched aquifer which might require remediation, (4) assist with the location selection of potentially long-term monitoring wells, (5) help design a systematic monitoring system, and (6) gather contaminant data to support CMS remedy selection at the site.

To evaluate the data collected during the subsurface investigation, the following decision points and corresponding actions are identified.

- If the saturated pathways connecting the 260 outfall to the springs are identified and if they
 contain constituents at levels greater than MCLs, then implement groundwater monitoring in
 those pathways.
- If the saturated pathways connecting the 260 outfall to the springs are not identified, then examine other TA-16 discharge areas associated with other SWMUs as potential sources (LANL 1996, 55077, p. 59–61).
- If the 260 outfall is shown to contribute constituents to the intermediate-depth perched aquifer and if those constituents present a potential current or future risk to human health and the environment, then evaluate appropriate alternatives within the context of the CMS.

4.3 Scope of Sampling and Analysis

The scope of the subsurface investigation includes characterization of the intermediate-depth perched aquifer in the five intermediate-depth wells (to a maximum depth of approximately 207 ft) and in the three springs. The intermediate-depth wells include Well 16-02665, Well 16-02667, Well 16-02668, Well 16-02699, and Well 16-02712. The three springs investigated are Burning Ground Spring and SWSC Spring in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring in Martin Spring Canyon. Surface water in the 90s Line Pond is also included due to its potential connectivity to the intermediate-depth perched aquifer and with the springs.

In December 1999 Martin, Burning Ground, and SWSC Springs were each instrumented with a flow logger and an autosampler to take weekly flow-integrated samples of spring discharge. The flow logger measured discharge and signaled the autosampler to sample. The autosamplers sampled as a function of discharge (i.e., 20 mL of water would be collected after every 150 L of discharge). The sample volumes (20 mL) and sample interval volumes (150 L) were individually determined for each spring because of the differing flow regimes. The sample interval volume had to be set such that during periods of low flow, the 5-L minimum would be met and during periods of high flow, the 12- or 24-L storage capacity of the sampler would not be exceeded. Weekly, the autosamplers would sample 100-500 times collecting the 20- to 50-mL volumes required such that the minimum of 5 L of water could be collected. The sample volume and sample interval volume values were adjusted several times during the study period because of seasonal fluctuations in flow. Flow-integrated samples were collected at the end of each week. Samples were submitted only when all three samplers continuously collected samples and a representative weekly flow regime could be obtained. Field-screening parameters were taken of spring water at collection time. Flow-integrated sampling began in January 2000. A total of 50 weekly flowintegrated samples and 6 flow-integrated composite monthly samples from each spring were collected each year. Eight of the 15 weekly flow-integrated samples and all 6 of the monthly flow-integrated samples were sent for analytical laboratory analyses. Samples were analyzed for HE compounds, metals, major anions and cations, and bicarbonate, with the exception of the monthly composite samples for which HE were not to be analyzed due to holding time exceedance. Daily flow data and other parameters, including temperature and conductivity, were collected at each spring. pH was monitored monthly. Quarterly grab samples for HE, VOCs, SVOCs, and inorganic chemicals were collected from the springs, the intermediate-depth perched aguifer wells, and 90s Line Pond when sufficient water was present.

In addition, water samples for stable isotope analysis were collected every other day with auto-samplers at the three springs. Submission of isotope samples was at an approximate rate of 1 in 10 during stable atmospheric periods and 1 in 4 during seasonal transitions (e.g., snowmelt, monsoon, etc.). At least

25 δ^{18} O samples per year, except at SWSC Spring where δ^{18} O was discontinued in 2000, were analyzed under this scheme. Samples for δ D and δ^{15} N were collected as part of the quarterly sampling starting in 1999. Isotopic samples from 90s Line Pond and Well 16-02665 were also collected when water was available.

Sample collection and handling conformed to the following plans, procedures, and Laboratory implementation requirements (LIRs):

- Phase I and II RFI reports for TA-16, SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 1996, 55077; LANL 1998; 59891), and the CMS plan for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 1998, 62413.3) except for deviations discussed in more detail below
- Site-Specific Health and Safety Plan
- OU 1082 Waste Management Plan
- OU 1082 Quality Assurance Plan (LANL 1996, 54609)
- Data Quality Objectives and Sampling and Analysis Plans for Additional and/or Modified Sampling at OU 1082
- LANL-LP 116-1.0, Stop Work and Restart
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.01, General Instructions for Field Investigations
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.02, Sample Containers and Preservation
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.03, Handling, Packaging, and Shipping of Samples
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.04, Sample Control and Field Documentation
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.05, Field Quality Control Samples
- LANL-ER-SOP-1-06, Management of RFI-Generated Waste
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.07, Operational Guidelines for Taking Soil and Water Samples in Explosive Areas
- LANL-ER-SOP-1.08, Field Decontamination of Drilling and Sampling Equipment
- LANL-ER-SOP-4.01, Drilling Methods and Drill Site Management
- LANL-ER-SOP-4.04, General Borehole Logging
- LANL-ER-SOP-5.01, Monitor Well Construction
- LANL-ER-SOP-5.02, Well Development
- LANL-ER-SOP-6.09, Spade and Scoop Method for Collection of Soil Samples
- LANL-ER-SOP-6.10, Hand Auger and Thin-Wall Tube Sampler
- LANL-ER-SOP-6.24, Sample Collection from Split-Spoon Samplers and Shelby Tube Samplers
- LANL-ER-SOP 10.06, High Explosives Spot Test
- LANL-ER-SOP-12.01, Field Logging, Handling, and Documentation of Borehole Materials
- LANL-ER-SOP-12.02, Transportation, Receipt, and Admittance of Borehole Samples to the Sample Management Facility
- LANL-ER-SOP-12.03, Acceptance of Non-borehole Samples by the Sample Management Facility
- LIR 402-820-01, Noise and Temperature Stresses

- LIR 402-1000-01, Personal Protective Equipment
- LANL Administrative Requirement 15-1, Field Work
- LANL-ER-QAPjP-06, Sampling Procedures
- LANL-ER-QAPjP-07, Sample Custody
- LANL-ER-QAPjP-08, Calibration Procedures and Frequency

The Cerro Grande fire of May 2000 interrupted the normal sampling schedule. Following the fire, many additional samples were collected in order to assess the impact of the fire on water chemistry. Fewer flow-integrated samples were sent out for laboratory analysis due to the prevalence of a drought-related low flow regime (typically five to six weekly flow-integrated samples were sent out per year for laboratory analysis and only one to two monthly flow-integrated samples were sent out for analysis in 2000; monthly flow-integrated samples were sent out for analysis in 2000; monthly flow-integrated samples were not analysis in 2000; monthly flow-integrated samples were not analysis in 2000; monthly flow-integrated samples were not analyzed for certain anions, including chloride, from approximately August 2001 until June 2002 due to temporal similarity of the chemical data. The discontinuance of monitoring was approved by the NMED. SWSC Spring was not analyzed when dry (see section 4.4.2.1.8).

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Analytical Data Quality Assessment

All analytical samples were sent for fixed-laboratory analysis at offsite commercial analytical laboratories. All analytical results received routine data validation, with some results receiving focused validation as necessary. Validation results for all analytical data are summarized in Appendix F and indicate that the data set is of sufficient quantity and quality to be used in data analysis, including risk assessment.

4.4.2 Analytical Data Presentation

The following sections present water quality data and screening parameters for the springs, the 90s Line Pond, and the intermediate-depth boreholes.

4.4.2.1 Spring/Pond Quarterly Sampling and Spring Dynamics

This section provides data from three springs located at TA-16; SWSC Spring, Martin Spring, and Burning Ground Spring (Figure 4.1-5). Data in this section include quarterly sampling data and flow-integrated sampling data collected between March 1998 and July 2002. Data from the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891) are not included in data tables, but are included in graphs used for interpretation. All analyses were completed with EPA SW-846 methods when available. Both filtered and unfiltered samples were collected. For most analytes, the differences between filtered and unfiltered samples are small, with the exception of some metals such as iron and aluminum. For purposes of interpreting the relevance of the data to the site-wide conceptual model, the focus was on seven analytes: barium, RDX, perchlorate, nitrate + nitrite, calcium, chloride, and iron. This suite represents four contaminants (barium, RDX, perchlorate, and nitrate + nitrite), a major cation (calcium), a major anion (chloride), and a metal (iron) that is redox sensitive and prone to colloidal transport. Whereas other COPCs have been identified in addition to the four focused on here, the other COPCs typically only exceeded screening limits on a few occasions. In addition, some chemicals are strongly correlated (e.g., aluminum and iron; see Figures 4.5-3c, 4.5-3f, 4.5-3i). The screening process for the identification of COPCs is described in section 1.5. Unless otherwise noted, all figures in this section refer to unfiltered water data. Only iron is

separated out into filtered and unfiltered samples for the purpose of time-series and other data analysis. The chemistry of flow-integrated samples was compared with that of quarterly grab samples for barium, calcium, chloride, iron, and RDX. For comparisons to be made, collection dates had to be within ten days of one another and data to be compared could not be qualified as J or U. In order to make the most rigorous comparisons, J- qualified data were omitted from the analysis. In addition, J+ qualified data were also omitted for flow-integrated samples so that they were not compared with gualified numbers from grap samples, subsequently providing a false impression that flow-integrated values were significantly higher. In most cases, the flow-integrated samples have higher concentrations of barium, calcium, chloride, iron, and RDX than quarterly grab samples, though several exceptions are found. For unfiltered samples, the concentration differences (where flow-integrated concentrations were higher than guarterly grab sample concentrations, a positive value is presented, whereas flow-integrated concentrations less than quarterly sample concentrations represents a negative value) averaged over all comparable time periods and across all 3 springs are approximately 13% for barium, 10% for calcium, 7% for chloride, 116% for iron, and -1% for RDX. Fewer comparisons are available for filtered samples, but absolute differences average 5% for barium and 4% for calcium. These differences are small compared to the total temporal variability in the data sets. Flow-integrated and guarterly grab samples are not separated for the purpose of statistical data analysis.

4.4.2.1.1 Springs—Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of detected inorganic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.19 (located in Appendix G-2). Complete analytical data for inorganic chemical analyses of spring water are provided in Appendix G-3. QA/QC assessment results for these data are summarized in Appendix F. The lack of a background data set with which to compare spring data presented a difficultly in analyzing the data from the TA-16 springs. A geochemical analysis comparing naturally occurring concentrations of inorganic chemicals was performed to augment the lack of BVs for springs (see Appendix I-2). Data are subsequently screened against NMWQCC numeric groundwater standards, EPA MCLs, and Region 6 tap water PRGs. This screening process is described in section 1.5. Frequency of detected inorganic chemicals, screening results, and retained and eliminated tables for inorganic chemicals in the springs are shown in Tables 4.4-1, 4.4-2, and 4.4-3, respectively.

Analyses were conducted for inorganic chemicals in all springs to identify sources of spring water, including anthropogenic sources. Analysis of these various chemicals can provide clues as to the sources of water supporting spring flow, and temporal changes in these chemicals can provide information on the dynamics of the saturated system feeding the springs. The following inorganic chemicals were retained as COPCs; antimony, barium, boron, cesium, cyanide, mercury, nitrate + nitrite, perchlorate, rubidium, thallium, and uranium. Barium and boron are the most prevalent COPCs, based on the frequency of detection. As stated previously, the interpretation of inorganic chemicals relative to spring dynamics will focus on barium, calcium, chloride, iron, nitrate + nitrite, and perchlorate. Trend plots for these elements are shown in Figures 4.4-1a–c for barium and in Appendix I-3 (Figures I3-1 through I3-6, I3-14 through I3-19, and I3-27 through I3-32) for the other chemicals. For all statistical analyses, the significance level has been chosen to be p = 0.05. For nitrate + nitrite plots, two very high values have not been plotted for both Martin Spring and SWSC Spring. While these points have been through quality analysis, it is suspicious that they are exactly three orders of magnitude higher relative to the rest of the data set, indicating a potential units issue that has not been identified in laboratory data packages. In any case, temporal trends are not statistically significant whether these points are included or not.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Aluminum	Fittered	96	51	[7.6] ^b to 5130	70
	Unfiltered	101	87	[12.6] to 17100	
Antimony	Filtered	93	18	[0.139] to [20]	16
•	Unfiltered	98	13	0.05 to [20]	
Arsenic	Filtered	95	24	[0.14] to [5]	28
	Unfiltered	100	30	[0.14] to 10.1	
Barium	Filtered	94	94	112 to 914	100
	Unfiltered	99	99	125 to 1310	
Beryllium	Filtered	96	9	0.01 to [4]	15
	Unfiltered	101	20	0.01 to [4]	
Boron	Filtered	96	74	4.01 to 2840	76
	Unfiltered	98	74	3.35 to 2750	
Cadmium	Filtered	96	24	0.05 to [5]	25
	Unfiltered	101	25	0.01 to [5]	
Calcium	Filtered	96	96	14000 to 42800	100
	Unfiltered	101	101	13000 to 44000	
Cesium	Filtered	3	1	500 to 500	n/a ^c
	Unfiltered	3	0	[500 to 500]	
Chloride	Filtered	9	9	12000 to 23000	100
	Unfiltered	87	87	9660 to 32000	
Chromium	Filtered	96	55	[0.21] to 29.3	60
	Unfiltered	101	64	[0.37] to 32.7	
Cobalt	Filtered	96	33	[0.17] to [20]	27
	Unfiltered	101	21	0.0882 to [20]	
Copper	Filtered	96	22	[0.27] to [20]	32
	Unfiltered	101	41	[0.27] to 43.1	•
Cyanide (Total)	Filtered	6	0	[2.5 to 13]	n/a
	Unfiltered	6	1	3.2 to [10]	
Fluoride	Filtered	9	9	160 to 670	99
	Unfiltered	87	86	[14] to 890	
Iron	Filtered	96	55	[4.6] to 2690	72
	Unfiltered	101	86	[4.6] to 10200	
Lead	Filtered	96	16	0.02 to 5.04	26
	Unfiltered	101	35	0.03 to 20.2	
Lithium	Filtered	9	9	5.1 to 8.5	n/a
	Unfiltered	9	9	5 to 9.4	
Magnesium	Filtered	96	94	3600 to 10000	98
-	Unfiltered	101	99	3100 to 10000	m
Manganese	Filtered	96	70	[0.21] to 116	79
-	Unfiltered	101	85	[0.21] to 1080	H
Mercury	Filtered	96	6	[0.01] to 0.76	6
*	Unfiltered	101	6	[0.01] to 1	"

Table 4.4-1 Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Spring Samples Quarterly Sampling from March 1998 through July 2002

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Molybdenum	Filtered	9	2	[2.9] to 5.5	n/a
	Unfiltered	9	2	[2.9] to 6.4	
Nickel	Filtered	96	45	[0.3] to [40]	50
	Unfiltered	101	53	0.46 to [40]	
Nitrate	Filtered	6	6	800 to 4400	100
	Unfiltered	15	15	800 to 4400	
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Filtered	3	3	990 to 4000	97
	Unfiltered	84	81	[50] to 3800000	
Nitrite	Filtered	6	0	[100 to 100]	0
	Unfiltered	14	0	[100 to 100]	
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	70	8	[4] to [958]	11
Potassium	Filtered	95	92	1420 to 11500	97
	Unfiltered	101	99	2200 to 12400]
Rubidium	Filtered	3	2	[500] to 7000	n/a
	Unfiltered	3	2	[500] to 600]
Selenium	Filtered	96	28	[0.47] to [5]	33
	Unfiltered	101	37	[0.47] to 14.4	
Silver	Filtered	96	13	0.0273 to [10]	17
	Unfiltered	101	21	0.02 to [10]	
Sodium	Filtered	96	96	11000 to 50200	100
	Unfiltered	101	101	11000 to 48600	
Strontium	Filtered	9	9	101 to 158	n/a
	Unfiltered	9	9	98.1 to 157	
Sulfate	Filtered	9	9	7400 to 23000	100
	Unfiltered	87	87	6600 to 32000	
Thallium	Filtered	96	27	[0.01] to [6.2]	28
	Unfiltered	101	29	[0.01] to [7.6]	
Uranium	Filtered	9	0	[60 to 126]	69
	Unfiltered	53	43	0.32 to [126]	
Vanadium	Filtered	96	77	0.98 to 25	80
	Unfiltered	101	81	1.3 to 29	
Zinc	Filtered	96	47	[0.7] to 54.1	57
	Unfiltered	101	65	0.58 to 74.1	

Table 4.4-1 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

^b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

4	
ŵ	

Table 4.4-2							
Screening of Inorganic Chemicals Detected in Spring Samples							

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentr	ation (µg/L)	NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-01-3235	Max. Detected Value	17100	5000 ^{e,b}	50	n/a ^c	Yes
	RE16-01-3033	Max. Undetected Value	400 (U) ⁴	^d 5000 ^{s,b}	50	n/a	Yes
Antimony	RE16-01-3041	Max. Detected Value	4.7 (J) ^e	n/a	6	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value		n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arsenic	RE16-01-3257	Max. Detected Value	10.1	100'	10	n/a	Yes
	RE16-02-45252	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	100'	10	r/a	No
Barium	RE16-00-3203	Max. Detected Value	1310	1000 ^r	2000	n/a	Yes
Beryllium	RE16-01-3184	Max. Detected Value	1.4 (J)	n/a	4	rı/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max, Undetected Value	4 (U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Boron	RE16-01-3329	Max, Detected Value	2840	750°	na ⁹	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3127	Max. Undetected Value	500 (U)	750 [*]	na	n/a	No
Cadmium	RE16-00-3260	Max. Detected Value	2.3 (J+)) ^h 10 ^r	5	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	10'	5	n/a	No
Calcium	RE16-00-3000	Max. Detected Value	44000	na	na	na	na
Cesium	RE16-98-3012	Max. Detected Value	500	ña	na	na	na
	RE16-98-3016	Max. Undetected Value	500 (U)	па	na	na	na
Chloride	RE16-00-3000	Max, Detected Value	32000	250000 ¹	250000	n/a	No
Chromium	RE16-99-3042	Max. Detected Value	32.7	50 ^r	100	r/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max, Undetected Value	10 (U)	50	100	n/a	No
Cobalt	RE16-00-3283	Max. Detected Value	11 (J)	50°	па	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U)	50ª	na	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-01-3257	Max. Detected Value	43.1	500 ^b	1000	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U)	500 ^b	1000	r/a	No
Cyanide	RE16-98-3041	Max. Detected Value	3.2 (J)	5.2	200	n/a	No
(Total)	RE16-98-3038	Max. Undetected Value	13 (U)	5.2 ¹	200	n/a	Yes
Elucido	RE16-00-3000	Max. Detected Value	890	1600	2000	n/a	No
Flooride	RE16-01-3037	Max, Undetected Value	14 (U)	1 <u>600</u> 1	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-00-3203	Max. Detected Value	10200	1000	300	n/a	Yes
1011	RE16-98-3073	Max. Undetected Value	293 (U)	1000 ⁱ	300	n/a	No
lead	RE16-00-3203	Max. Detected Value	20.2	50'	15	r/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3002	Max. Undetected Value	2 (U)	50'	15	n/a	No

Phase III RFI Report

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentra	ation (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Lithium	RE16-98-3063	Max. Detected Value	9.4	(J)	na	na	730	No
Linguage	RE16-01-3329	Max. Detected Value	10000		па	na	na	na
Magnestum	RE16-98-3038	Max. Undetected Value	6800	(U)	na	na	na	na
Vereneed	RE16-00-3203	Max. Detected Value	1080		200'	50	n/a	Yes
Manganese	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	200'	50	n/a	No
-	RE16-01-3186	Max. Detected Value	1		0.77 ^j	2	n/a	Yes
Mercury	RE16-02-45252	Max. Undetected Value	0.2	(U)	0.77 ^j	2	n/a	No
htshinks.com	RE16-98-3039	Max. Detected Value	6.4	(J)	1000*	na	n/a	No
MORYDOGHUM	RE16-98-3041	Max. Undetected Value	4.9	(U)	1000 ^s	na	n/a	No
LINIAL	RE16-00-3203	Max. Detected Value	18.6		200ª	na	n/a	No
NICKAI	RE16-00-3125	Max. Undetected Value	40	(U)	200ª	na	n/a	No
Nitrate	RE16-98-3063	Max. Detected Value	4400		10000'	10000	n/a	No
Nitrate-Nitrite	RE16-00-3282	Max. Detected Value	3800000		10000'	na	n/a	Yes
as N	RE16-01-3021	Max. Undetected Value	1000	(U)	10000	па	n/a	No
Dkinnstr	RE16-00-3145	Max. Detected Value	17.5		4 ^K	na	n/a	Yes
Perchiorate	RE16-01-3090	Max. Undetected Value	958	(U)	4 ^ĸ	na	n/a	Yes
D. As a shore	RE16-01-3090	Max. Detected Value	12400	(J)	па	na	na	na
Potassium	RE16-01-3186	Max. Undetected Value	2330	(U)	na	na	па	na
	RE16-98-3012	Max, Detected Value	7000		na	na	na	na
Rubiolum	RE16-98-3016	Max. Undetected Value	500	(U)	па	па	na	na
	RE16-00-3282	Max. Detected Value	14.4	(J+)	5	50	n/a	Yes
Selenium	RE16-01-3329	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	5	50	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3246	Max. Detected Value	4.5	(J)	50 ¹	100	n/a	No
Silver	RE16-98-3039	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	50 ^r	100	n/a	No
Sodium	RE16-01-3329	Max. Detected Value	50200		na	na	na	na
Strontium	RE16-98-3068	Max. Detected Value	158		na	na	22000	No
Sulfate	RE16-00-3000	Max. Detected Value	32000		600000 ¹	250000	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3000	Max. Detected Value	7.1	(J)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
Inallium	RE16-98-3013	Max. Undetected Value	7.6	(U)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes

60

126

(U)

5000

5000

30

30

n/a

n/a

Uranium

RE16-98-3063

RE16-98-3039

Max. Detected Value

Max. Undetected Value

Yes

Yes

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentra	tion (µg/L)	NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
) (a - a dia ang	RE16-00-3246	Max. Detected Value	29	100 ⁵	na	n/a	No
vanadium	RE16-00-3125	Max. Undetected Value	10 (U)	100 ^b	na	n/a	No
'7i	RE16-01-3255	Max. Detected Value	74.1	10000	5000	n/a	No
ZINÇ	RE16-01-3035	Max. Undetected Value	41 (U)	10000'	5000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867; California DHS 2003, 76862.

^a NMWQCC Groundweter Standard for Irrigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

^b NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6,4,900).

^c n/a = Not applicable.

^d (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

⁹ (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

¹NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

⁹ na = Not available.

h(J+) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential positive bias.

¹NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

¹ NMWOCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

k 2003 California DHS Action Level.

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
		A geochemical evaluation determined that the
Aluminum	Eliminated	concentrations are within the naturally-occurring
Antimony	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.
Arsenic	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Beryllium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Boron	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Cadmium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Cesium	Retained	No screening value available, retained for further evaluation.
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Chromium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Cobalt	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Copper	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Cyanide (Total)	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
1ron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
		A geochemical evaluation determined that the
Lead	Eliminated	concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Lithium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Manganese	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Мегсигу	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Molybdenum	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nickel	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrate-Nitrite (as N)	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Perchlorate	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Rubidium	Retained	No screening value available, retained for further evaluation.
Selenium	Eliminated	A geochemical evaluation determined that the concentrations are within the naturally-occurring concentration range.
Silver	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Strontium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Uranium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Vanadium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Zînc	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Table 4.4-3 Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Spring Samples



16-02650 Martin Spring Barium Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-1a. Concentration versus time for barium at Martin Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 μg/L (off-scale). Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02651 SWSC Spring Barium Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-1b. Concentration versus time for barium at SWSC Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8. Note that SWSC Spring stopped flowing in December 2001.



16-02652 Burning Ground Spring Barium Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-1c. Concentration versus time for barium at Burning Ground Spring. The screening level for barium is 1000 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the interim measure at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Where temporal trends are significant, p-values and r² values are shown. Points in red represents samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.

For Martin Spring, calcium and chloride (Figures I3-1 and I3-2) both show significant increases in concentration over time, whereas neither of the contaminants shows significant trends (Figures 4.4-1a, 13-4, 13-5). The trends for calcium and chloride could be a drought effect resulting in higher concentration of these elements. During high-flow periods, most of the constituents show lower concentrations (presumably a result of dilution) except for iron (filtered and unfiltered; Figures I3-3, I3-6), which has higher concentrations during these periods (presumably as a result of flushing of the hydrogeologic system). No significant temporal trends exist for SWSC Spring. Only filtered iron (i.e., dissolved iron and particles less than 0.45 microns in size) shows an increase during high-flow events (Figure I3-19). The rest of the constituents show no large response in this regard. For Burning Ground Spring, calcium concentrations increase over time (Figure I3-27), whereas iron (filtered and unfiltered), barium, and nitrate decrease over time (Figures I3-29, I3-30, 4.4-1c, I3-32). The decrease in contaminant concentrations could be due to the effect of the implemented IM or to an increased proportion of base flow concentrated in weil-flushed (i.e., less contaminated) portions of the vadose zone (see section 5). With the exception of iron (Figures I3-29, 13-32), high-flow periods did not seem to result in major differences in chemical concentrations. No distinct seasonality can be seen in the data, except for some values associated with the winter of 2001, which followed a relatively wet fall and abundant January precipitation (see Appendix B). The lack of seasonal effects is not surprising given the prolonged drought experienced at the site. During the drought, the amplitude of seasonal flow variations has decreased (see sections 4.4.2.1.8 and 4.4.2.1.9). Because concentration trends are influenced by spring discharge rates, plots of mass (concentration multiplied by discharge) are presented in section 4.5 to account for variation in discharge rates.

Figures 4.4-1a--c, I3-1 through I3-6, I3-14 through I3-19, and I3-27 through I3-32 also demonstrate the very high variability that exists for a number of inorganic chemicals, particularly metals such as iron where data can vary over three orders of magnitude. Nitrate concentrations are also highly variable. As seen in Table 4.4-1, no large systematic differences exist for filtered versus unfiltered inorganic chemical with the exception of some metals such as iron in which unfiltered samples typically have higher concentrations. The time series plots shown in Figures 4.4-1a--c, I3-1 through I3-6, I3-14 through I3-19, and I3-27 through I3-32 also demonstrate that, except where significant temporal trends exist, inorganic chemical concentrations from samples collected during the Phase III RFI are similar to those found during the Phase II RFI (pre-1998). One other feature of the data worth noting is that there are no obvious lasting offsets in baseline levels for contaminants associated with either the fire or the IM. Any differences that do occur post-fire or post-IM appear to be part of long-term trends predating the fire or the IM.

For many inorganic chemicals, concentrations are found to be higher at Martin Spring in Martin Spring Canyon relative to Burning Ground and SWSC Springs in Carion de Valle. Figures 4.4-2a and 4.4-2b show binary concentration plots for selected analytes. Box plots for several metals are shown in Figures. 4.4-3a-f. These analyses demonstrate the chemical differences or similarities between the three springs. A guick, robust, graphical method recommended by the EPA to visualize and compare two or more groups of data is the box plot (EPA 1992, 73789). These plots provide a summary view of the entire data set, including the overall location and degree of symmetry. The box encloses the central 50% of the data points so that the top of the box represents the 75th percentile and the bottom of the box represents the 25th percentile. The small box within the larger box represents the median of the data set. The upper whisker extends outward from the box to either 1.5 times the interguartile distance (IQD) (i.e., range between 25th and 75th percentiles) or to the maximum point, whichever is larger. The lower whisker extends either 1.5 times the IQD or to the minimum point, whichever is smaller. Values outside the whiskers are shown as o or *, representing distinct points for either outliers (above 1.5 times the IQD) or extreme values (above 3 times the IQD). Martin Spring has higher nitrate + nitrite, chloride, and calcium concentrations and lower barium concentrations than either Burning Ground of SWSC Springs. Another metal substantially more concentrated at Martin Spring is boron.



Figure 4.4-2a. Nitrate + nitrite versus barium concentration plot for springs ("Outliers" have been removed)







Figure 4.4-3a. Box plot comparison of calcium at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-3b. Box plot comparison of chloride at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in μ g/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-3c. Box plot comparison of unfiltered iron at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in $\mu g/L$. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-3d. Box plot comparison of filtered iron at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in $\mu g/L$. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-3e. Box plot comparison of barium at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in μ g/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-3f. Box plot comparison of nitrate + nitrite (as N) at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers. Note that extreme outliers mentioned in the text were not included in this analysis. As noted in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998; 59891), the concentrations of many metals at the TA-16 springs are higher than in background springs (i.e., Apache Spring, Cañon de Valle Spring, Water Canyon Gallery, Pike Spring, and Seven Springs) upgradient from Laboratory property, indicating many of these metals are anthropogenic in origin. Such comparisons, however, must be viewed with caution since the background springs are from the Sierra de los Valles mountain front, whereas the TA-16 springs are located on the Pajarito Plateau in a different geologic setting.

4.4.2.1.2 Springs—Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. Table G-2.20 (located in Appendix G-2) provides a summary of all detected organic chemicals for the springs. Frequency of detected organic chemicals, screening results, and retained and eliminated tables for organic chemicals in the springs are presented in Tables 4.4-4, 4.4-5, and 4.4-6, respectively. COPCs retained include dinitrobenzene[1,3-], nitrobenzene, RDX, and TNT. Only RDX and TNT are retained as COPCs based on percentage of detected values. Dinitrobenzene[1,3-] and nitrobenzene had detection limits that exceed the screening limits.

No significant trends in concentration for RDX or the RDX/HMX ratio are found for any of the three springs (Figures 4.4-4a–f). At Martin Spring, the lowest RDX concentrations are found during high-flow periods. The opposite is true at SWSC Spring, whereas no clear difference is found at Burning Ground Spring. There are also no obvious patterns related to seasonality. RDX concentrations vary over 1 to 2 orders of magnitude. The multiple, long time-series shown in Figures 4.4-4a–f demonstrate that concentrations observed during Phase III of the RFI investigation did not differ greatly from those observed during Phase II. No long-term fire- or IM-related baseline shifts are noted.

Figures 4.4-5 and 4.4-6a–c compare RDX and HMX concentrations at the three springs. Martin Spring has the highest RDX and HMX concentrations, but the lowest RDX/HMX ratio. This indicates that Martin Spring may be influenced by a different contaminant source with a greater HMX component or is receiving a greater proportion of recent HE contamination. HMX has been used in HE formulations more commonly than RDX in recent years.

The springs were also analyzed for radionuclides including isotopic plutonium and isotopic strontium following the Cerro Grande fire. These constituents were not detected in spring water. Results of tritium analyses (both pre- and post-fire) are documented in section 4.4.2.1.3.

4.4.2.1.3 Springs—Evaluation of Tritium

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of the detected tritium in springs samples collected is provided in Table G-2.21 (located in Appendix G-2). The frequency of detected tritium (Table 4.4-7), the screening results (Table 4.4-8), and the retained and eliminated analysis (Table 4.4-9) are presented in this section. The results show that tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard.

4.4.2.1.4 90s Line Pond—Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

A summary of all samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all detected inorganic chemicals in water is provided in Table G-2.22 (Appendix G-2). Frequency of detected inorganic chemicals, screening results, and retained and eliminated tables for inorganic chemicals in 90s Line Pond are shown in Tables 4.4-10, 4.4-11, and 4.4-12, respectively.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a	
Acotoco	Filtered	3	3	21 to 28	04	
Acelone	Unfiltered	49	13	[1.6] ⁵ to 78	"JI	
Amino 2.6 distrately pold 1	Filtered	6	3	[0.25] to [5]		
Amino-2,0-dimitoroidene[4-]	Unfiltered	76	42	[0.1] to [10]		
Amino 4.6 distrotokonal?	Filtered	6	3	[0.25] to [5]	EA	
Annov, o-dirationaliene[2-]	Unfiltered	76	39	[0.1] to [20]	1 51	
Amino x 6 disitratelyanafy 1	Filtered	3	2	[0.39] to 6.6	20	
Aumo-x,0-0immovoidene[x-1	Unfiltered	22	15	[0.39] to 7.8		
Butanone[2-]	Unfiltered	50	6	[1.17] to [20]	11	
Dichlorobenzene[1,4-]	Unfiltered	62	1	[0.17] to [20]	1	
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Unfiltered	98	5	[0.021] to [20]	5	
Dipitrotoluopo[2.4.]	Filtered	11	1	[0.034] to [10]	2	
	Unfiltered	109	1	[0.034] to [20]	4	
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Unfiltered	109	1	[0.042] to [20]	1	
DNX	Unfiltered	13	4	0.091 to [0.5]	n/a [°]	
	Filtered	9	7	1.7 to [20]	80	
	Unfiltered	98	79	0.89 to 32		
MNX	Unfiltered	13	5	0.1 to [0.5]	n/a	
Nitrobenzene	Unfiltered	109	3	[0.052] to [200]	3	
DVA	Filtered	9	9	12 to 160	00	
	Unfiltered	98	96	[0.87] to 330	30	
Tetrachloroethene	Unfiltered	50	23	[0.2] to [5]	43	
TNX	Unfiltered	13	4	[0.059] to [0.5]	n/a	
Toluene	Unfiltered	50	1	[0.16] to [5]	2	
Trichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]	Unfiltered	40	1	[0.2] to [5]	2	
Trichloroethane[1,1,1-]	Unfiltered	50	1	[0.25] to [5]	2	
Trichloroethene	Unfiltered	50	32	0.56 to [5]	60	
Trichlorofluoromethane	Unfiltered	50	1	[0.46] to [5]	2	
Trialtrobooncold 2.6.1	Filtered	9	6	[0.2] to [5.2]	47	
rmationeusene(1'2'2-1	Unfittered	98	44	[0.1] to [21]	4	
Tricitratolucacia 4 6 1	Filtered	9	1	[0.048] to [5]	E	
manuoloiuene[2,4,0~]	Unfiltered	97	4	[0.048] to [20]	1 0	

Table 4.4-4Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals inSpring Samples from Quarterly Sampling from March 1998 through July 2002

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

^b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

^c n/a = Not applicable.

 Table 4.4-5

 Screening of Organic Chemicals in Spring Samples

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentrat	ilon (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Acetone	RE16-98-3065	Max. Detected Value	78		naª	na	610	No
	RE16-01-3035	Max. Undetected Value	30	(U) ^D	na	na	610	No
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Detected Value	7.8	(J) ^C	па	na	37	No
	RE16-00-3288	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	na	na	37	No
Amino 4 6 dipitrotoluene[2.]	RE16-00-3006	Max. Detected Value	3		na	na	37	No
Amino-4,o-ainitrotoiuene[2-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	па	na	37	No
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-00-3145	Max. Detected Value	7.8		na	na	37	No
	RE16-98-3042	Max. Undetected Value	0.39	U	na	na	37	No
Butanone[2-]	RE16-98-3073	Max. Detected Value	8.1	(J)	na	na	1900	No
	RE16-99-3193	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	na	na	1900	No
Dichlorobenzene[1,4-]	RE16-01-3308	Max. Detected Value	0.41	(J)	n/a ^d	75	r/a	No
	RE16-01-3118	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	n/a	75	n/a	No
	RE16-01-3328	Max. Detected Value	1.1		na	na	3.7	No
Sinitoberzene[1,3-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	na	na	3.7	Yes
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	RE16-98-3013	Max. Detected Value	0,098		n/a	na	73	No
	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	г/а	na	73	No
	RE16-02-45908	Max. Detected Value	0.2		na	na	37	No
Dillitiotoluene[2,0-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	па	na	37	No
	RE16-01-3235	Max. Detected Value	0.45	(J-) ^e	na	na	0.61	No
UNA	RE16-02-45255	Max. Undetected Value	0.5	(U)	na	na	0.61	No
	RE16-99-3246	Max. Detected Value	32	(J+)'	กล	na	1800	No
HMA	RE16-00-3125	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	na	na	1800	No
	RE16-01-3235	Max. Detected Value	0.43	(J)	na	па	0.61	No
MINA	RE16-01-3308	Max. Undetected Value	0.5	(U)	na	па	0.61	No
	RE16-00-3006	Max. Detected Value	2.4	(է)	n/a	na	3.4	No
NILTODENZENE	RE16-00-3288	Max. Undetected Value	200	(U)	n/a	na	3.4	Yes

,

×
RDX

September 2003

Table 4.4-5 (continued)

Chemicai	Sample Identification	Sample Concentrat	tion (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
ChemicalSample IdentificationSampleRDXRE16-99-3246Max. Detected MRE16-01-3092Max. UndetectedTetrachloroetheneRE16-00-3286Max. Undetected MTNXRE16-02-45257Max. Detected MTNXRE16-01-3316Max. Undetected MTolueneRE16-01-3235Max. Undetected MTrichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]RE16-00-3201Max. Undetected MTrichloroethane[1,1,2-]RE16-00-3286Max. Undetected MTrichloroethane[1,1,1-]RE16-00-3286Max. Undetected MTrichloroethane[1,1,1-]RE16-00-3286Max. Undetected MTrichloroethane[1,1,1-]RE16-00-3286Max. Undetected MTrichloroethane[1,3,5-]RE16-09-3205Max. Detected MTrinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]RE16-09-3246Max. Undetected MTrinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]RE16-09-3147Max. Undetected MTrinitrotenzene[2,4,6,1RE16-00-3147Max. Detected M	Max. Detected Value	330	(J+)	na	na	0.61	Yes	
	RE16-01-3092	Max. Undetected Value	91.3	NMWQCC (µg/L)EPA (µg/L)EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)330 $(J+)$ nana0.61330 $(J+)$ nana0.61330 $(J+)$ nana0.61330 (J) 20^n 5n/a331 (J) 20^n 5n/a339 (J) 20^n 5n/a5 (U) 20^n 5n/a5 (U) 20^n 5n/a0.43 (J) nana0.610.5 (U) nana0.610.55 (J) 750^n 1000n/a5 (U) 750^n 1000n/a5 (U) nana590005 (U) nana590005 (U) 60^n 200n/a5 (U) 60^n 200n/a3.7 (J) 100^n 5n/a1 (J) nana13005 (U) nana13002.3nana1003nana2.220 (U) nana2.2	Yes			
Tetrachloroethene	RE16-00-3286	Max. Detected Value	3.9	(J)	20 ⁿ	5	n/a	No
190 achiol Decielle	RE16-98-3043	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	20"	5	n/a	No
TNX	RE16-02-45257	Max. Detected Value	0.43	(J)	па	na	0.61	No
	RE16-01-3316	Max. Undetected Value	0.5	(U)	na	na	0.61	No
Tablens	RE16-01-3235	Max. Detected Value	0.55	(J)	750 ^h	1000	n/a	No
loluene	RE16-98-3043	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	750	1000	n/a	No
TNX Toluene Trichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-] Trichloroethane[1,1,1-] Trichloroethene	RE16-00-3201	Max. Detected Value	2	(J)	na	na	59000	No
	RE16-98-3043	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	na	па	59000	No
FNX Foluene Frichloro-1,2,2- rifluoroethane[1,1,2-] Frichloroethane[1,1,1-] Frichloroethene Frichlorofluoromethane	RE16-00-3286	Max. Detected Value	0.28	(J)	60 ⁿ	200	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3043	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	60 ⁿ	200	n/a	No
****	RE16-00-3286	Max. Detected Value	3.7	(L)	100 ⁿ	5	n/a	No
Foluene Frichloro-1,2,2- rifluoroethane[1,1,2-] Frichloroethane[1,1,1-] Frichloroethene Frichlorofluoromethane	RE16-98-3043	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	100 ⁿ	5	n/a	No
	RE16-00-3205	Max. Detected Value	1	(J)	па	na	1300	No
I richloromethane	RE16-99-3250	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	na	na	1300	No
	RE16-98-3038	Max. Detected Value	2.3		n a	na	1100	No
Trichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-] Trichloroethane[1,1,1-] Trichloroethene Trichlorofluoromethane Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	21	(U)	па	na	1100	No
	RE16-00-3147	Max. Detected Value	3	*****	na	na	2.2	Yes
RDX Tetrachloroethene TNX Toluene Trichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-] Trichloroethane[1,1,1-] Trichloroethene Trichlorofluoromethane Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-] Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	RE16-99-3246	Max. Undetected Value	20	(U)	na	na	2.2	Yes

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

a na = Not available.

^b (U) = The chemical is classified "not detected."

c (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

d n/a = Not epplicable.

^e (J-) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential negative bias.

(J+) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential positive bias.

9 (UJ) = The chemical is classified "not detected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

h NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

Analyte	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Acetone	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-2,6- dinitrotoluene[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-4,6- dinitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Amino-x,6- dinitrotoluene[x-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Butanone[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Dichlorobenzene[1,4-]	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
DNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit,
НМХ	Eliminated	No values above screening limit,
MNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrobenzene	Retained	Less than 5% of analyses result in a detection but the detection limit exceeds the screening limit.
RDX	Retained	Detected value exceeds screening limit.
Tetrachloroethene	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
TNX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit
Toluene	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trichloro-1,2,2- trifluoroethane[1,1,2-]	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trichloroethane[1,1,1-]	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trichloroethene	Eliminated	No values above screening limit,
Trichlorofluoromethane	Eliminated	More than 20 analyses were performed and the number of detected values comprise less than 5% of the total number of analyses.
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Retained	Detected value exceeds screening limit.

Table 4.4-6 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Spring Samples


16-02650 Martin Spring RDX Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-4a. Concentration versus time for RDX at Martin Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02650 Martin Spring RDX/HMX Ratio Unfiltered

Figure 4.4-4b. Concentration versus time for RDX/HMX at Martin Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02651 SWSC Spring RDX Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-4c. Concentration versus time for RDX at SWSC Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Open symbols are non-detects. Points in red (open or filled) represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02651 SWSC Spring RDX/HMX Ratio Unfiltered

Figure 4.4-4d. Concentration versus time for RDX/HMX at SWSC Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02652 Burning Ground Spring RDX Unfiltered Concentrations

Figure 4.4-4e. Concentration versus time for RDX at Burning Ground Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1.8.



16-02652 Burning Ground Spring RDX/HMX Ratio Unfiltered

Figure 4.4-4f. Concentration versus time RDX/HMX at Burning Ground Spring. The EPA Region 6 PRG for RDX in drinking water is 0.61 µg/L. Vertical lines mark dates of the Cerro Grande fire (orange; May 2000) and the IM at the 260 outfall source area (green; September 2000). Points in red represent samples collected during high-flow periods as defined in section 4.4.2.1,8.



Figure 4.4-5. RDX concentration versus HMX concentration in springs



Figure 4.4-6a. Box plot comparison of RDX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-6b. Box plot comparison of HMX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.



Figure 4.4-6c. Box plot comparison of RDX/HMX at Martin Spring, SWSC Spring, and Burning Ground Spring. Means are indicated by solid squares. The y-axis represents concentration in µg/L. Center horizontal line is the median, lower and upper horizontal lines are the first and third quartiles respectively. Vertical lines extend to lowest value within the lower limit and the upper value within the upper limits. Stars represent outliers.

Table 4.4-7Frequency of Detected Tritium in Spring SamplesMarch 1998 to July 2002

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (pCi/L)	Percent Detected for 20 Samples or Greater ^a
Tritium	Unfiltered	59	52	[0.4] ^b to 209.28	88

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

^a The percent detection value is calculated based on all analyses taken for a chemical. Resulting values might therefore appear less than expected due to the inclusion of undetects not reported by this table.

^b Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

Table 4.4-8 Screening of Tritium in Spring Samples

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (pCI/L)		NMWQCC Standard (pCi/L)	EPA MCL (pCi/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (pCi/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
	RE16-00-3288	Max. Detected Value	209.3	20000	20000	n/a	No
Tritium	RE16-98-3067	Max. Undetected Value	110 (U) [°]	20000	20000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b n/a = Not applicable.

^c (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

Table 4.4-9 Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Spring Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Tritium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
	Filtered	6	6	418 to 4490
Aurmium	Unfiltered	8	8	4330 to 390000
• - + 41	Filtered	6	2	2.8 to [20]*
Antimony	Unfiltered	8	3	0.923 to [20]
*	Filtered	6	3	[2] to [4]
Arsenic	Unfiltered	7	7	3.8 to 80
0	Filtered	6	6	1260 to 6700
Barium	Unfiltered	8	8	3170 to 67000
n	Filtered	6	0	[0.06 to 4]
Berynium	Unfiltered	8	7	[0.28] to 24
Ď	Filtered	5	5	16.4 to 43.7
Boron	Unfiltered	7	6	16.8 to [500]
∧	Filtered	6	1	0.109 to [5]
Cadmium	Unfiltered	8	3	[0.2] to 5.9
A-1-1	Filtered	6	6	4180 to 16000
Calcium	Unfiltered	8	8	11500 to 67000
Chloride	Unfittered	7	7	2500 to 22000
<u> </u>	Filtered	6	2	[0.5] to [10]
Chromium	Unfiltered	8	7	2.6 to [180]
0-h-#	Filtered	6	4	1 to [20]
Codan	Unfiltered	8	8	0.61 to 72
	Filtered	6	4	1.7 to [20]
Copper	Unfiltered	8	7	4.7 to [240]
Cyanide (Total)	Unfiltered	. 1	0	[10 to 10]
Fluoride	Unfiltered	7	7	150 to 391
F	Filtered	6	6	380 to 2260
INDI	Unfiltered	8	8	4500 to 310000
Land	Filtered	6	3	0.733 to 5.3
Lead	Unfiltered	8	8	4.8 to 520
Lithium	Unfiltered	1	1	234 to 234
	Filtered	6	5	1220 to [3800]
magnesium	Unfiltered	8	7	3690 to [47000]
Bénnan na	Filtered	6	6	14.5 to 520
พลามูลแรงช	Unfiltered	8	8	81.2 to 3800
Macount	Filtered	6	1	[0.02] to [0.2]
INIGIQUI Y	Unfiltered	8	5	[0.02] to 1

Table 4.4-10Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond SamplesMarch 1998 through July 2002

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
Molybdenum	Unfiltered	1	1	10 to 10
h that at	Filtered	6	4	1.6 to [40]
Nickel	Unfiltered	8	8	4.4 to 150
Nitrate	Unfiltered	3	0	[200 to 200]
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Unfiltered	3	3	30 to 4100
Nitrite	Unfiltered	3	0	[100 to 100]
Perchlorate	Urifiltered	2	0	[4 to 4]
Dataasium	Filtered	6	6	4780 to 9400
Polassium	Unfiltered	8	8	6160 to 60000
Calonium	Filtered	6	0	[1.2 to 5]
Selenium	Unfiltered	8	2	[1.2] to [8]
Cil.a.	Filtered	6	0	[0.5 to 10]
Silver	Unfiltered	8	1	[0.5] to [10]
Cadium	Filtered	6	6	2790 to 10000
2001011	Unfiltered	8	8	3200 to 9300
Strontium	Unfiltered	1	1	1360 to 1360
Suffate	Unfiltered	7	7	1900 to 18000
Thelium	Filtered	6	0	[0.5 to 5]
i namum	Unfiltered	8	3	0.433 to 5.3
Uranium	Unfiltered	6	5	0.5 to [378]
Vanadium	Filtered	6	4	0.97 to [10]
validuluiti	Unfiltered	8	8	6.3 to 380
7:54	Filtered	6	5	1.5 to 37
Zinc	Unfiltered	8	8	15.5 to 670

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

•

*Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range,

 Table 4.4-11

 Screening of Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	390000	5000 ^{a,0}	50	n/a ^c	Yes
Antimony	RE16-02-45917	Max, Detected Value	6.44	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Апштюлу	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U) ^a	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arconio	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	80	100 ^e	10	n/a	Yes
AUSCIRC	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	4 (U)	100 ^e	10	n/a	No
Barium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	67000	1000 ^e	2000	n/a	Yes
Dondlaum	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	24	n/a	4	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	4 (U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Baran	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	87.8 (J)	750 ^a	na ^g	rva	No
001011	RE16-00-3143	Max. Undetected Value	500 (U)	750 ^a	na	n/a	No
Cadmium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	5.9	10 ⁶	5	n/a	Yes
Canthath	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	10 ^e	5	n/a	No
Calcium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	67000	na	na	na	na
Chloride	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	22000	250000 ⁿ	250000	n/a	No
Chennium	RE16-99-3026	Max. Detected Value	52.8	50 ^e	100	n/a	Yes
Chronium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	180 (U)	50 [°]	100	r/a	Yes
Cabalt	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	72	50 ^a	na	n/a	Yes
CODAIC	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	20 (U)	50 [°]	na	n/a	No
Casser	RE16-00-3143	Max. Detected Value	83	500 ⁰	1000	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	240 (U)	500°	1000	n/a	No
Fluoride	RE16-01-3128	Max. Detected Value	391	1600 ^e	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	310000	1000 ⁿ	300	n/a	Yes
l a a d	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	520	50 ^e	15	r/a	Yes
read	RE16-99-3212	Max. Undetected Value	1.3 (U)	50 ^e	15	n/a	No
Lithium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	234	na	na	730	No
Maanacium	RE16-00-3143	Max. Detected Value	16000	na	na	na	na
พลอีและกฎแบ	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	47000 (U)	na	na	na	na
Manganese	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	3800	200 ⁿ	50	n/a	Yes
Marain,	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	1	0.77	2	r/a	Yes
Mercury	RE16-02-45917	Max. Undetected Value	0.2 (U)	0.77	2	n/a	No
Molybdenum	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	10 (J)	1000 ^a	na	n/a	No

Table	4.4-11	(continue	d)
ncentra	ition (µj	g/L)	

Chemicai	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (µg/L)			NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (μg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
NGabal	RE16-98-3047	Max, Detected Value	150		200	na	n/a	No
INICKEI	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	40	(U)	200 ^a	na	n/a	No
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	4100		10000 ^e	na	n/a	No
Potassium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	60000		na	na	na	na
Salanium	RE16-99-3056	Max. Detected Value	3.7	(L)	5	50	n/a	No
Selenum	RE16-00-3143	Max. Undetected Value	8	(UJ) ¹	5'	50	n/a	Yes
Silver	RE16-00-3143	Max. Detected Value	0.64	(J)	50 ⁸	100	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	50 ^e	100	n/a	No
Sodium	RE16-98-3046	Max, Detected Value	10000		na	na	na	na
Strontium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	1360		na	na	22000	No
Sulfate	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	18000		600000 ⁿ	250000	n/a	No
"Placed license	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	5.3		n/a	2	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	5	(U)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
11	RE16-98-3075	Max. Detected Value	86.5	(J)	5000 [®]	30	n/a	Yes
Uranium	RE16-98-3047	Max. Undetected Value	378	(U)	5000 ⁶	30	n/a	Yes
Venedume	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	380		1000	na	n/a	Yes
Vanaulum	RE16-98-3046	Max. Undetected Value	10	(U)	100 ⁰	na	n/a	No
7:	RE16-98-3047	Max. Detected Value	670		10000	5000	n/a	No
Zinc	RE16-02-45917	Max, Undetected Value	8.68	(U)	10000 ⁿ	5000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Irrigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

^b NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^c n/a = Not applicable.

d (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

^e NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

f (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

⁹ na = Not available.

^h NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

¹ NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

j (UJ) = The chemical is classified "undetected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Aluminum	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Antimony	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Arsenic	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Banum	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Beryllium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Boron	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Cadmium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Chromium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Cobalt	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Copper	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Lead	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Lithium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Manganese	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Mercury	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Molybdenum	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nickel	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Selenium	Retained	Detection limit exceeds screening limit.
Silver	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.
Strontium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Uranium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Vanadium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Zinc	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

 Table 4.4-12

 Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples

The following inorganic chemicals failed screening because of a detected value above the screening standard; aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, lead, manganese, mercury, selenium, thallium, uranium, and vanadium. Of these, aluminum, barium, lead, and manganese were most frequently above screening limits. Unfiltered samples typically have higher concentrations than filtered samples (Table 4.4.10). In general, many of the inorganic chemicals noted here are present at higher concentrations than in the springs (e.g., barium), particularly in unfiltered samples.

4.4.2.1.5 90s Line Pond—Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

A summary of all samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of all detected organic chemicals is provided in Table G-2.23 (Appendix G-2). Frequency of detected organic chemicals, screening results, and retained and eliminated tables for organic chemicals in the 90s Line Pond are shown in Tables 4.4-13, 4.4-14, and 4.4-15, respectively. The only organic chemical for which a screening value is available and for which a detected value exceeds that limit is RDX. RDX concentrations at 90s Line Pond are somewhat lower than in the springs.

4.4.2.1.6 90s Line Pond—Tritium

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of the detected tritium in 90s Line Pond samples collected is provided in Table G-2.24 (Appendix G-2). The frequency of detected tritium (Table 4.4-16), the screening results (Table 4.4-17), and the retained and eliminated analysis (Table 4.4-18) are presented in this section. The results show that tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard.

Table 4.4-13 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in 90s Line Pond Samples March 1998 through July 2002

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
Acetone	Unfiltered	7	3	[10]* to 89
Chloroform	Unfiltered	7	2	0.57 to [5]
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Filtered	1	1	0.22 to 0.22
1114432	Filtered	1	1	14 to 14
нма	Unfiltered	8	5	[1] to 4.9
Methyl-2-pentanone[4-]	Unfiltered	7	1	1.5 to [20]
nev	Filtered	1	1	23 to 23
RUX	Unfiltered	8	7	[0.84] to 10
Toluene	Unfiltered	7	2	0.79 to [5]

Source: (EPA 1989, 08021.

*Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

es. EPA Region 6 Exceeds NMWQCC EPA Sample Chemical Sample Concentration (µg/L) Standard MCL Tap Water PRG ScreenIng Identification $(\mu g/L)$ $(\mu g/L)$ $(\mu g/L)$ Limit (J-)^a nab RE16-98-3047 Max. Detected Value 89 610 No na Acetone (U)^C RE16-99-3211 Max. Undetected Value 20 610 No na na (J)^d n/a^ſ 100^e RE16-99-3056 Max, Detected Value 1.3 No na Chloroform 100⁸ RE16-99-3026 5 (U) No Max. Undetected Value n/a na RE16-98-3046 Max. Detected Value 0.22 37 No na na Dinitrotoluene[2,6-] RE16-99-3211 Max, Undetected Value 11 (U) 37 No na na

14

1.5

20

23

1.7

0.84

1 (U)

(J)

(U)

(U)

(J)

5 (U)

na

na

na

na

na

na

750^e

750⁰

na

na

na

na

na

na

1000

1000

Table 4.4-14							
Screening	of Organic	Chemical	in 90s	Line	Pond	Sample	

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Perts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4,101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

a (J-) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential negative bias.

Max. Detected Value

Max. Detected Value

Max. Detected Value

Max. Detected Value

Max. Undetected Value

Max. Undetected Value

Max. Undetected Value

Max. Undetected Value

^b na = Not available.

Methyl-2-pentanone[4-]

HMX

RDX

Toluene

C (U) = The chemicet is classified *not detected.*

^d (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

* NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

RE16-98-3046

RE16-99-3026

RE16-98-3075

RE16-99-3211

RE16-98-3046

RE16-99-3026

RE16-98-3075

RE16-99-3211

¹ n/a = Not applicable.

1800

1800

160

160

0.61

0.61

n/a

n/a

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

No

	-	Table 4.4-15			
Retained and E	Eliminated Orga	inic Chemicals i	n 90s L	ine Pond	Samples

Chemiçal	Retained/ Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Acetone	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Chloroform	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
HMX	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
Methyl-2-pentanone[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.
Тојџеле	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

Table 4.4-16Frequency of Detected Tritium in 90s Line Pond SamplesMarch 1998 to July 2002

Chemical	Field	Number of	Number of	Concentration
	Preparation	Analyses	Detects	Range (pCi/L)
Tritium	Unfiltered	5	4	34 to 326.4

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

Screening of Tritium in 90s Line Pond Samples						
ple	ple	acc	L (pci/L)	igion 6		
cation	(1,1)	t (pci/L)		er PRG		

Table 4.4-17

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (pC/L)		NMWQCC Standard (pCl/	EPA MCL (pCI/	EPA Region Tap Water PR (pCi/L)	Exceeds Screening Llmit
	RE16-01-3128	Max. Detected Value	326.4	20000 ⁸	20000	n/a ^b	No
TRUUM	RE16-02-45913	Max. Undetected Value	37.12 (U) ^c	20000 ⁸	20000	n/a	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b n/a = Not applicable.

^c (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

Table 4.4-18					
Retained and Eliminated	Results	Tritium	in 90s	Line Pond	1 Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Tritium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.

4.4.2.1.7 Stable Isotopes (δ^{19} O, δ D, and δ^{15} N) and Tritium

Stable isotope data (δ^{18} O and δ D) were collected to better understand hydrologic behavior of the TA-16 spring systems. Details of the assessment are included in section 5. The variations in the δ^{18} O of spring water reflect variations in stable isotope content of rain and snowmelt, as well as mixing in the vadose zone. The δ^{18} O data are shown in Figure 4.4-7, and the data are available in the screening data provided in Appendix H. The δ D data show similar behavior and are not presented in this document. The data do not show any substantial evaporative effects indicating relatively rapid movement of water though the near-surface evaporative zone. Values for Burning Ground Spring and SWSC Spring are similar, indicating they probably share similar recharge pathways and residence times. However, the δ^{18} O values of Martin Spring values are predominantly larger than the values in the other springs and thus indicate Martin Spring has a different set of recharge pathways and residence times. The larger values also indicate Martin Spring might be recharged from lower elevations than the other springs or that it has a larger proportion of lower elevation recharge.

The nitrogen stable isotope data ($\delta^{15}N$) were collected as a possible way of examining impacts from anthropogenic nitrate (i.e., nitrate derived from HE and barium nitrate) in the spring water. The nitrogen stable isotope data ($\delta^{15}N$) and associated nitrate concentrations for the springs are shown in Table 4.4-19. The average $\delta^{15}N$ values in the springs are nearly identical, 2.93 permil (‰) at Burning Ground Spring, 3.34 permil at Martin Spring, and 3.32 permil at SWSC Spring. There is a large temporal variation in each spring, and the mean values have large standard deviations ranging from 1.24 to 2.33. The results do not show any significant differences compared with expected values for natural nitrates from forested environments (Clark and Fritz 1997, 59168). Thus, the nitrogen isotope results are uninformative in terms of assessing the impact of anthropogenic nitrogen on TA-16 spring water.

Tritium concentrations in spring water over time are shown in Figure 4.4-8. These values are similar to TA-16 values discussed previously in the Phase I RFI (LANL 1996, 55077). The values reflect variations in tritium concentrations in precipitation and any vadose zone mixing between water of different ages. The relatively high levels of tritium indicate the spring water has relatively short residence time of less than a few decades and probably much less. This is because the tritium present at LANL has not decayed away and "old water" (pre-event water with a long residence time) has tritium values approaching zero Tritium Units. The tritium results support the interpretations from δ^{1B} O results in that the similar values for Burning Ground Spring and SWSC Spring indicate similar recharge pathways and residence times. In addition, Martin Spring often has higher tritium concentrations indicating a different distribution of residence times than Burning Ground Spring or SWSC Spring, which is again consistent with the δ^{18} O results.

4.4.2.1.8 Spring Dynamics

The flow records of Shaull et al. (2003, 76042) are used to document flow at the springs as these records represent the most complete and longest time-series available. All three springs were instrumented with an ultrasonic flow logger. The hydrographic record for the three springs is shown in Figures 4.4-9a-c and the data are provided in Appendix H. The precipitation record for TA-16 is provided in Appendix B. The springs were also instrumented to measure parameters such as temperature, pH, and conductivity. These data are also tabulated in Appendix H. All three records show some seasonality in flow, particularly in the first half of the time series. During the drought years of 1998 through 2002 (the years covered by this report), seasonality is more damped out and only distinct high-flow events show up as prominent peaks. From 1998 through 2002, the most prominent of these events was the winter discharge of 2001 (Figures 4.4-9a-c). This event occurred following above-average fall precipitation in 2000 and above-average precipitation for January 2001. The most dramatic trend is the drying up of SWSC Spring in late

Phase III RFI Report

2001. Martin Spring and Burning Ground Spring are experiencing flow decreases over time with Martin Spring drying up briefly during the summer of 2003.

The relationship between pre-1998 precipitation events (i.e., during an overall wetter period) and spring discharge is discussed in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891). Relatively rapid connectivity between precipitation water and the springs is indicated. Due to pervasive drought conditions, this type of relationship is not confirmed in the present data set.



Figure 4.4-7. Stable Isotope (δ^{18} O) variations with time in the three TA-16 springs

Spring	Location	Collection Date	Chemical Name	Nitrate (NO ₃ uo/L)	δ ¹⁵ N permil
Martin	16-02650	9/25/1998	Nitrite (as NO ₂)	100	4.2
Martin	16-02650	12/15/1998	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	4400	3.1
Martin	16-02650	6/23/1999	Nitrite (as NO ₂)	100	-0.9
Martin	16-02650	3/31/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	50	1.3
Martin	16-02650	8/25/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	4400	1.5
Martin	16-02650	8/28/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	3800	3.9
Martin	16-02650	9/22/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)		5.3
Martin	16-02650	9/29/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	5100	5.3
Martin	16-02650	11/20/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	3760	6.5
Martin	16-02650	1/10/2001	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	4620	5.5
SWSC	16-02651	3/30/1998	Nitrate (as NO ₃)	900	4.3
SWSC	16-02651	6/23/1998	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	980	1.8
SWSC	16-02651	6/24/1999	Nitrite (as NO ₂)	100	1.4
SWSC	16-02651	3/21/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1100	3.1
SWSC	16-02651	8/25/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	960	2.2
SWSC	16-02651	8/29/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1000	3
SWSC	16-02651	9/26/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1300	4.6
SWSC	16-02651	9/28/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1200	4.2
SWSC	16-02651	1/8/2001	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	1300	5.1
Burning Ground	16-02652	9/25/1998	Nitrate (as NO ₃)	970	2.3
Burning Ground	16-02652	12/16/1998	Nitrate (as NO ₃)	910	2.3
Burning Ground	16-02652	6/24/1999	Nitrate (as NO ₃)	950	1.3
Burning Ground	16-02652	3/31/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	910	0.9
Burning Ground	16-02652	8/25/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	1000	1.5
Burning Ground	16-02652	8/29/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1100	1.9
Burning Ground	16-02652	9/25/2000	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1300	5.8
Burning Ground	16-02652	9/29/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	1100	4,4
Burning Ground	16-02652	11/20/2000	Nitrate - Nitrite (as N)	718	2.7
Burning Ground	16-02652	1/9/2001	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1000	4.2
Burning Ground	16-02652	1/29/2001	Nitrate – Nitrite (as N)	1300	6,5

 Table 4.4-19

 Stable isotope and Nitrate Concentration Values at the TA-16 Springs



Figure 4.4-8. Tritium variations with time in the three TA-16 springs



Figure 4.4-9a. Flow rate time series for Martin Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042).

Phase III RFI Report

SWSC Spring Flow Data



Figure 4.4-9b. Flow rate time series for SWSC Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042).



Figure 4.4-9c. Flow rate time series for Burning Ground Spring. Zero flow readings in 1998 and 1999 represent Instrument failure. All data from Shaull et al. (2003, 76042).

4.4.2.1.9 Spring Recharge and Residence Times

The issues of where the TA-16 springs are recharged and the residence times of water and contaminants in the flow paths to the springs are both important considerations when questions such as "how long will it take to see a benefit from a remedial action (e.g., source removal or run-on controls)" or "what is the relation between recharge and contaminant concentrations in spring water" are evaluated. As part of the Phase III RFI, specialized studies were conducted to provide more information about recharge and the residence times of water in the spring systems. The results of these studies (described in more detail below) show the spring systems are best described as having a distribution of residence times and flow rates and that these distributions are wide enough that they may have important consequences for remediation and monitoring decisions at the springs.

The first study uses stable isotopes of water ($\delta^{18}O$ and δD) as tracers. These isotopes are naturally occurring components of all water and do not decay. The stable isotopes work well as tracers because certain kinds of water (e.g., a large precipitation event) can have a unique isotopic signature that can be followed from recharge to discharge in the springs. The first approach using the stable isotopes involves measurement of isotopic compositions from individual precipitation events and from the springs. These numbers are used, along with the spring flow measurements, to understand the residence times of water in the spring systems. For this approach, individual precipitation events are examined and old water versus new water ratios using mixing models are calculated. Details of the stable isotope approach and methods and the mixing models are found in the paper "Lateral subsurface flow pathways in a semiarid ponderosa pine hillslope" (Newman et al. 1998, 76883). The isotope data used in the calculations is discussed in Sections 3.3.3.4 and 4.4.2.1.7 and is included in Appendix H. As further explanation of the old/new water concept, if a rain event occurs, an increased flow in a spring is observed. The mixing models are used to determine how much of that flow increase is from old (or pre-event) water that is being "pushed" out by the current rain or how much of the flow increase is new water (directly from the rain event itself). In many hydrologic systems, flow increases are dominated by old water; in others, new water can be important. Percent new water results for the mixing model calculations for some example precipitation events in 1999 are shown in Table 4.4-20. The results show a wide range of values indicating the amount of new versus old water can vary substantially. This variation is largely a function of the size and duration of the precipitation event, the flow rate along a given flow path, and the amount of water stored in the unsaturated and saturated zones. The fact that some events show substantial new water inputs is important. New water shows that some of the recharge occurs rapidly (within 24 hours of the precipitation event) indicating fast preferential flow though the TA-16 mesa. The fact that both new and old water inputs are observed indicates there are probably at least two classes of flow paths for recharge: a group of rapid flow, relatively short flow paths; and another group that represents slower flow and longer flow paths. This idea of two main groups of flow paths is also supported by spectral analysis of spring flow, which is described later in this section. In addition, the two types of flow response support the hydrograph analysis described in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891) that shows both long- and short-term responses of spring flow to precipitation events.

Date	Burning Ground Spring (%)	Martin Spring (%)	SWSC Spring (%)
4/30/99	33	85	48
5/3/99	0	6	8
06/16/99	6	0	0
06/17/99	12	61	32
07/14/99	10	2	0

 Table 4.4-20

 Percent New Water from Example Precipitation Events in 1999

The stable isotope data from the springs can also be used to estimate the elevation of recharge. This kind of analysis provides an indication of the length of the flow paths from the recharge areas to the springs. The explanation of the approach and details of the calculation are provided in Appendix J. The results indicate the maximum recharge elevation for the springs is about 7800 ft, which is on the scarp of the Pajarito fault. This area is less than 1.5 mi away from the springs, indicating the recharge zone for base flow in the TA-16 springs is relatively close. The elevation calculations also indicate some recharge occurs on the TA-16 mesa itself, consistent with the new water contribution to flow described earlier. An additional point is that isotopic values from Martin Spring are consistently larger (less negative) than either SWSC Spring or Burning Ground Spring (see section 4.4.2.1.7), indicating the recharge zones for Martin Spring occurs at lower elevations than for the other springs, or that Martin Spring has a larger proportion of lower elevation recharge. One uncertainty with this interpretation is that Martin Spring may be impacted by evaporated pond water from the former disposal lagoons at V-Site and possibly the 90s Line Pond, thus biasing the elevation calculation.

The Phase II RFI (LANL 1998, 59891) examined spring hydrologic issues using analysis of spring flow time-series and the singular spectrum approach (see Appendix J). This approach tries to decompose the "noisy" time-series of spring flow (see Appendix J) into physically meaningful spectra in order to understand the time scales that control variability in spring discharge. The results of the spring flow analyses show there are two main flow modes in the spring. These modes support the two main classes of flow paths described in the old/new water discussion above. The first is a longer, base-flow type mode that has characteristic behaviors that reflect "climatic" signals such as annual and seasonal variations. The second is a noise-like rapid recharge mode driven by individual rain or snowmelt events. This mode is consistent with the fact that rapid, new water contributions to the springs are observed.

One final comment that relates to the flow behavior, which also impacts variations in contaminant concentrations in the springs, is that the effects of the recent multi-year drought are quite pronounced. The spring flow time-series show an overall decrease in flow as noted in section 4.4.2.1.8. The spectrum analysis (Appendix J) also shows a decrease in the duration of springtime recharge along the slow "base flow" flow paths. In addition, decreased variability in the stable isotope data during the drought with a notable lack of the normal seasonality that these types of data usually show is observed (Figure 4.4-7).

4.4.2.2 Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Characterization

As part of the Phase II RFI subsurface investigation (LANL 1998, 59891), five wells were drilled to depths between 91 to 207 ft to characterize the intermediate-depth perched aguifer and to define the nature and extent of contamination (Figure 4.4-10). The wells include Well 16-02665 located near Martin Spring Canyon, Well 16-02667 within SWSC Cut, Well 16-02668 near Building 16-300, Well 16-02669 located east of the 90s Line Pond, and Well 16-02712 (now plugged and abandoned) downstream of the TA-16-260 former settling pond. The initial results of the drilling are reported in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891). This section provides an updated stratigraphy, an assessment of the intermediatedepth perched aquifer behavior based on chloride and stable isotope tracers, results of hydraulic testing of core, and groundwater chemistry data from Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) from samples collected after completion of the Phase II RFI. Inorganic and organic chemicals in water are reported for a subsurface flow event that occurred in April 1998 at Well 16-02712. This event demonstrates the ephemeral nature of the intermediate-depth perched aquifer within the mesa vadose zone. Prior to drilling, little was known about the stratigraphy, hydrologic properties, vadose zone fluxes, or contaminant distributions in this part of TA-16. Thus, the objective of this study was to collect information that would aid in understanding the flow and transport conditions within the mesa and, where possible, determine contaminant nature and extent (i.e., the types and concentrations of contaminants present and their distributions). The vadose zone at TA-16 is approximately 748 ft thick (Broxton et al. 2002, 72640); however, this study did not investigate the entire thickness of the vadose zone. This study is one of the first hydrogeologic and contaminant characterization efforts on the western part of the Pajarito Plateau.



Figure 4.4-10. Location map for intermediate-depth perched aquifer wells

4-56

4.4.2.2.1 Core Analysis

Moisture-protected core subsamples were collected for hydrologic property characterization in wells during drilling and for pore-water chloride and pore-water stable isotope analyses in Wells 16-02665, 16-02669, and 16-02667. More details on the drilling method are provided in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891). Analyses of hydrologic properties were conducted by Daniel B. Stephens & Assoc. (D.B. Stephens & Associates, Inc. 1999, 76886) and included gravimetric water content, bulk density, saturated hydraulic conductivity, characteristic curve information, and calculated porosity.

Pore-water chloride and pore-water stable isotope samples were collected approximately every 3 m. To preserve in situ water content, samples are placed in glass septum jars for chloride analyses and ProTecore bags for stable isotope analyses. Pore-water chloride and stable isotope values are determined using methods described in the paper "Tracer-based studies of soil water movement in semi-arid forests of New Mexico" (Newman et al. 1997, 76885). Gravimetric water content analyses were performed prior to conducting the chloride leaching analyses (Gardner 1986, 76888). Chloride concentrations were measured using ion chromatography with an analytical precision of +/- 5%. The chloride mass balance approach (Newman et al. 1997, 76885) was used to calculate vadose zone residence times according to:

 $R = Cl_{ourn} / (Cl_p \times P)$

Where R is the vadose zone residence time (yr), Cl_{cum} is the cumulative chloride content from the ground surface to the depth of interest (g/m²), Cl_p is the average annual chloride concentration in precipitation (g/m³), and P is the average annual precipitation rate (m/yr). For this study, values of 0.29 g/m³ for Cl_p (Anderholm 1994, 76887) and 0.5 m/yr (Bowen 1990, 06899) were used.

Stable isotope analyses were conducted at the New Mexico Technical Institute Stable Isotope Laboratory using the distillation method described in Shurbaji et al. (1995, 76882) and the extraction methods described in the Socki et al. (1992, 64064) and Kendall and Coplen (1985, 64061). Analytical precisions for the δ^{18} O and δ D analyses were 0.2 and 5 permil, respectively. The isotope values are reported based on the Vienna-Standard Mean Ocean Water standard (Clark and Fritz 1997, 79168).

4.4.2.2.2 Intermediate-Depth Well Monitoring

Wells 16-02665, 16-02667, 16-02668, and 16-02669 were monitored for volumetric water content using a calibrated neutron probe. Monitoring was done quarterly from 1999 through 2000. In addition, Wells 16-02665 and 16-02669 were monitored for groundwater levels. Well 16-02665 groundwater was sampled for stable isotopes and HE when the well contained water. Well 16-02669 has not contained water since the initial sampling (this is likely due to the multi-year drought currently being experienced by the region). Water-level information for these wells is included in Appendix H.

4.4.2.2.3 Hydrologic Properties Results

Hydrologic properties data based on geologic unit are shown in Table 4.4-21. The hydrologic data show a wide range in bulk densities, porosities, and saturated hydraulic conductivities that are related to the degree of welding. Surge beds (unwelded ash flows) have the highest porosities, saturated conductivities, and the lowest bulk densities. Partly welded tuff units have intermediate property values and the densely welded units have the highest bulk densities, lowest porosities, and hydraulic conductivities. The laboratory analyses are essentially measuring matrix conductivities; however, core and outcrop observations in the area indicate that open fractures are common in the welded units. Thus, even though the matrix conductivities are low, the fracture conductivities are likely high (Lewis et al. 2002, 73785).

Unit*	Well	Borehole Sample Depth (m)	Volumetric Water Content (6v [%])	Bulk Density (ρb [g/cm³])	Porosity (%)	Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity Ks (cm/sec)	Welding
4u	16-02668	3.2	6.7	1.73	35	1.4x10 ⁻⁵	partly
4u	16-02668	5.8	3.9	1.97	26	1.2x10 ⁻⁶	partly
4u	16-02668	9.4	2.4	1.3	51	3.8x10 ⁻³	surge
ЗT	16-02667	21.5	7.8	2.13	20	1.7x10 ⁻⁸	densely
3T	16-02669	27.4	7.2	2.17	18	2.0x10 ⁻⁸	densely
3T	16-02667	27.1	4.6	2.21	17	9.8x10 ⁻⁹	densely
3T	16-02667	30.6	7.2	2.16	18	2.8x10 ⁻⁸	densely
3	16-02667	36.7	15.4	1.42	47	5.0x10 ⁻⁴	surge
3	16-02667	39.5	5.2	1.71	36	5.8x10 ⁻⁵	poorly

 Table 4.4-21

 Hydrologic Properties of TA-16 Tuff Samples

 Collected from Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Wells During Drilling

* See "Geology of the Western Part of Los Alamos National Laboratory (TA-3 to TA-16), Rio Grande Rift, New Mexico" (Lewis et al. 2002, 73785) for a description of stratigraphic units.

4.4.2.2.4 Water Content Results

Example volumetric water content results for the wells are shown in Figures 4.4-11a-d. The complete data set is provided in Appendix H. In general, there was little variation in water content with time (typically less than 2%, except at the shallowest depths). Volumetric water contents range from 3% to 23% and average water contents range from 6% to 10% the four wells. Changes in water content with depth appear to be associated with changes in stratigraphy and/or degree of welding. During drilling, water was encountered at approximately 119 ft in the Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond 4/15/98) and 73 ft in the Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon 4/13/98). These zones correspond to an interval of fractured, welded tuff. This corresponds to water level elevations of 7456 ft amsl in Well 16-02669 and 7407 ft amsl in Well 16-02665. After the water level stabilized, the wells were bailed dry. No additional flow was observed in Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond). Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) also remained dry most of the time. However, five separate flow events were observed in Well 16-02665 between 1998 and 2002. These events were in response to snowmelt and high rainfall periods. In these groundwater zones, volumetric water contents were about 18%. The calculated porosities for the welded intervals that contain the wet zones range from 16% to 20%, indicating the groundwater zones were near or at 100% saturation between 1998 and 2002. Based on the intermittent flow, the groundwater-producing depths will hereinafter be referred to as transient saturated zones.

4.4.2.2.5 Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer—Evaluation of Inorganic Chemicals

Appendix G-1 summarizes the intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples submitted for laboratory analyses. Table G-2.25 (located in Appendix G-2) presents data for all detected inorganic chemicals in the intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples. Chemical analyses of post-1998 Well 16-02665 flow events are shown in Appendix H. A summary of all analytical results is provided in Appendix G-3. Frequency of detected inorganic chemical, screening results, and retained and eliminated tables for inorganic chemicals in the intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples are shown in Tables 4.4-22, 4.4-23, and 4.4-24, respectively. Inorganic chemicals retained as COPCs include aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel, selenium, silver, thallium, and zinc.

90s Line Borehole (16-02669)





4-59



Building 300 Hole (16-02668)

Figure 4.4-11b. Example volumetric water content profiles for Well 16-02668 (Building 300)



Figure 4.4-11c. Example volumetric water content profiles the Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon)

ER2003-0480



SWSC Hole (16-02667)

Figure 4.4-11d. Example volumetric water content profiles for Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut)

Table 4.4-22

Frequency of Detected Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
Aluminum	Filtered	4	4	76.8 to 2790
Aummun	Unfiltered	6	6	3710 to 111000
Antimony	Filtered	4	2	[2.5]* to 5.7
Ananony	Unfiltered	6	3	[2.5] to [26.6]
Areania	Filtered	4	2	[0.69] to 3.1
Arsenic	Unfiltered	6	5	[2.7] to 76.5
Danian	Filtered	4	4	88.6 to 152
Dallulli	Unfiltered	7	7	175 to 1790
Doodlium	Filtered	4	0	[0.032 to 0.78]
Der Ynium	Unfiltered	6	5	[0.2] to 23.3
Banais	Filtered	4	4	425 to 1640
DUIUII	Unfiltered	5	5	416 to 1630
Cadmium	Filtered	4	2	[0.2] to 1.2
Caultinum	Unfiltered	6	5	[0.26] to 18.2
Calaium	Filtered	4	4	16900 to 30900
Calcium	Unfiltered	6	6	18200 to 76400
Chloride	Unfiltered	4	4	16700 to 22000
Chromium	Filtered	4	4	0.67 to 3.1
Critomum	Unfiltered	6	6	3.2 to 265
	Filtered	4	0	[0.5 to 2.1]
Copair	Unfiltered	6	4	[1.1] to 1140
	Filtered	4	4	4.2 to 20.4
Cobhei	Unfiltered	6	6	7.6 to 20200
Cyanide (Total)	Unfiltered	1	0	[10 to 10]
Fluoride	Unfiltered	4	4	281 to 560
lean	Filtered	4	2	[129] to 1500
	Unfiltered	6	6	1810 to 311000
1	Filtered	4	1	[0.8] to [1.3]
Lead	Unfiltered	6	5	[1.3] to 711
Maaaalum	Filtered	4	4	4330 to 7190
waynesium	Unfiltered	6	6	5390 to 20100
Mawaaaaa	Filtered	4	4	9.4 to 34.6
wanganese	Unfiltered	6	6	19.7 to 11000
	Filtered	4	0	[0.014 to 0.1]
wiercury	Unfiltered	6	3	[0.014] to 0.21
Matal	Filtered	4	4	1.7 to 10.8
INICKEI	Unfiltered	6	6	4.4 to 4070
Nitrate	Unfiltered	2	2	3800 to 3800
Nitrate-Nitrite (as N)	Unfittered	2	2	848 to 2200
Nitrite	Unfiltered	2	0	[100 to 100]
Perchlorate	Unfiltered	2	0	[4 to 4]
Pataaium	Filtered	4	4	3700 to 4400
rulassium	Unfiltered	6	6	4520 to 47900
Salanium	Filtered	4	1	1.5 to [2.9]
Selenium	Unfiltered	6	4	[1.7] to 348

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
Dilian	Filtered	4	1	[0.7] to [1.3]
Oliver	Unfiltered	6	1	[0.7] to 3000
Cadima	Filtered	4	4	16600 to 29600
Soaium	Unfiltered	6	6	18300 to 47500
Sulfate	Unfiltered	4	4	14900 to 23000
* L - 18	Filtered	4	0	[1.3 to 4.5]
Tranium	Unfiltered	6	2	[1.3] to 290
Uranium	Unfiltered	· 2	2	1.49 to 10.53
¥4	Filtered	4	4	2 to 4
vanadium	Unfiltered	6	6	5.9 to 94.5
Zinc	Filtered	4	4	10.3 to 18
	Unfiltered	6	6.	9.5 to 23900

Table 4.4-22 (continued)

Source: EPA 1989, 08021. *Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (μg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Aluminum	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	111000	5000 ^{a,b}	50	n/a ^c	Yes
Antimony	RE16-01-3063	Max. Detected Value	20.1 (J) ^đ	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3024	Max. Undetected Value	26.6 (UJ) [®]	n/a	6	n/a	Yes
Arsenic	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	76.5	100 ^f	10	n/a	Yes
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.7 (U) ^g	100 ^f	10	n/a	No
Barium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	1790	1000 ^f	2000	n/a	Yes
Beryllium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	23.3	n/a	4	rva	Yes
	RE16-99-3029	Max. Undetected Value	0.78 (U)	n/a	4	n/a	No
Boron	RE16-99-3029	Max. Detected Value	1640	750 ⁸	na ^h	n/a	Yes
Cadmium	RE16-01-3063	Max. Detected Value	18.2	10	5	n/a	Yes
	RE16-01-3044	Max. Undetected Value	0.26 (U)	10 ^f	5	n/a	No
Calcium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	76400	nə	na	na	ña
Chloride	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	22000	250000'	250000	n/a	No
Chromium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	265	50	100	n/a	Yes
Cobalt	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	1140	50 ^a	na	n/a	Yes
	RE16-00-3296	Max. Undetected Value	2.8 (U)	50 ^a	na	n/a	No
Copper	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	20200	500 ^b	1000	n/a	Yes
Fluoride	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	560	1600 ^f	2000	n/a	No
Iron	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	311000	1000	300	n/a	Yes
	RE16-99-3077	Max. Undetected Value	161 (U)	1000 ¹	300	n/a	No
Lead	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	711	50 ^f	15	n/a	Yes
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	1.3 (U)	50 ^f	15	n/a	No
Magnesium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	20100	na	na	na	na
Manganese	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	11000	200	50	n/a	Yes
Mercury	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	0.21	0.77	2	n/a	No
	RE16-01-3043	Max. Undetected Value	0.1 (U)	0.77 ^j	2	n/a	No

 Table 4.4-23

 Screening of Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples
Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (μg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Nickel	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	4070	200 ^a	na	n/a	Yes
Nitrate	RE16-99-3076	Max. Detected Value	3800	10000 ^f	10000	n/a	No
Nitrate-Nitrite (as N)	RE16-00-3296	Max. Detected Value	2200	10000 ^f	na	n/a	No
Potassium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	47900	na	na	na	na
Selenium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	348	5 ¹	50	n/a	Yes
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.9 (U)	5	50	n/a	No
Ciluar	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	3000	50 ^f	100	n/a	Yes
31701	RE16-01-3044	Max. Undetected Value	1.3 (UJ)	50 ^f	100	n/a	No
Sodium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	47500	na	na	na	na
Sulfate	RE16-99-3076	Max. Detected Value	23000	600000 ⁱ	250000	n/a	No
Thallium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	290	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
rnanium	RE16-99-3077	Max. Undetected Value	4.5 (U)	n/a	2	n/a	Yes
Uranium	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	10.53	5000 ^f	30	n/a	No
Vanadium	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	94.5	100 ^b	na	n/a	No
Zinc	RE16-98-3024	Max. Detected Value	23900	10000	5000	n/a	Yes

Table 4.4-23 (continued)

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Groundwater Standard for Imigation Use (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

^b NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^c n/a = Not applicable.

d (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

⁹ (UJ) = The chemical is classified "undetected" with an expectation that the reported result is more uncertain than usual.

^f NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

9 (U) = The chemical is classified "undetected."

h na = Not available.

⁺ NMWQCC Groundwater Other Standards for Domestic Water Supply (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

¹ NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Wildlife Habitat (20 NMAC 6.4.900).



Table 4.4-24

Retained and Eliminated Inorganic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC	
Aluminum	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Antimony	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Arsenic	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Barium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Beryllium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit,	
Boron	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Cadmium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Calcium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.	
Chloride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Chromium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Cobalt	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Copper	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Fluoride	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Iron	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.	
Lead	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Magnesium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.	
Manganese	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Mercury	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Nickel	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Nitrate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Nitrate-Nitrite (as N)	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Potassium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.	
Selenium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Silver	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Sodium	Eliminated	Essential nutrient.	
Sulfate	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Thallium	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Uranium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Vanadium	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Zinc	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	

4.4.2.2.6 Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer—Evaluation of Organic Chemicals

Appendix G-1 summarizes the intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples submitted for laboratory analyses. Table G-2.26 (located in Appendix G-2) presents data for all detected organic chemicals in the intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples. Chemical analyses of post-1998 Well 16-02665 flow events are shown in Appendix H. A summary of all analytical results is provided in Appendix G-3. Frequency of detected organic chemicals, screening results, and retained and eliminated results for organic chemicals in the intermediate-depth perched aquifer are shown in Tables 4.4-25, 4.4-26, and 4.4-27, respectively. HMX and RDX are the prevalent organic COPCs. There was no clear trend in Well 16-02665 concentrations with time, although the 2000 and 2001 flow events had substantially lower concentrations for all types of HE than had been detected previously. The maximum HE detections were all from Well 16-02712. Samples from this well were collected directly under the area where the largest quantity of HE was historically released at TA-16.

Chemical	Field Preparation	Number of Analyses	Number of Detects	Concentration Range (µg/L)
Acetone	Unfiltered	5	1	[20]* to 51
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Unfiltered	6	2	[0.05] to 15
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Unfiltered	6	1	[0.049] to 3.44
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Unfiltered	1	1	11 to 11
Dichloroethane[1,2-]	Unfiltered	5	2	2 to [5]
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	Unfiltered	7	2	[0.084] to 4.03
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Unfiltered	7	1	[0.042] to [2.5]
HMX	Unfiltered	7	7	2.3 to 21
Methylene Chloride	Unfiltered	5	1	1.6 to [18]
RDX	Unfiltered	7	7	15.2 to 2490
Tetrachloroethene	Unfiltered	5	3	0.94 to [5]
Trichloroethene	Unfiltered	5	4	1 to 15
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Unfiltered	7	1	[0.05] to [2.6]
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Unfiltered	7	1	[0.084] to [2.5]

 Table 4.4-25

 Frequency of Detected Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

Values in brackets are below detection limits, although some chemicals may be detected at values within this range.

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (µg/L)		NMWQCC Standard (µg/L)	EPA MCL (µg/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (µg/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Acetopo	RE16-98-3026	Max. Detected Value	51	na ^a	na	610	No
	RE16-00-3296	Max. Undetected Value	30 (U) ⁵	na	na	610	No
Amino 2.6-dipitrateluope[4]	RE16-98-3026	Max. Detected Value	15	ก่อ	na	37	No
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 (U)	na	na	37	No
Amino 4 6 dipitratoluopol?	RE16-98-3026	Max. Detected Value	3.44	na	na	37	No
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 (U)	na	na	37	No
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	RE16-98-3022	Max. Detected Value	11 (J-) ^c	na	na	37	No
	RE16-98-3026	Max. Detected Value	3.2	10 ^d	5	n/a ^e	No
	RE16-99-3028	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	10 ^d	5	n/a	No
	0316-98-0420	Max. Detected Value	4.03	n/a	na	73	No
Dinuoioidene[2,4-]	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 (U)	n/a	na	73	No
	RE16-98-3022	Max. Detected Value	1.1	na	na	37	No
Distrocordente[2,0-]	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 (U)	na	na	37	No
НМХ	0316-98-0420	Max. Detected Value	21	na	na	1800	No
Moth days Chipsida	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	1.6 (J)	100 ^d	5	n/a	No
Methylene Chionde	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	18 (U)	100 ^a	5	n/a	Yes
RDX	RE16-98-3026	Max. Detected Value	2490	na	na	0.61	Yes
Tatao aliana aliana	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	1.1 (J)	20	5	n/a	No
retractionoeuterie	RE16-00-3296	Max. Undetected Value	5 (U)	20	5	n/a	No
Trichloroethene	RE16-99-3028	Max. Detected Value	15	100 ^d	5	n/a	Yes
	RE16-98-3026	Max. Undetected Value	3 (U)	100 ^d	5	n/a	No
	RE16-98-3022	Max. Detected Value	0.7	na	na	1100	No
	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.6 (U)	na	na	1100	No
	0316-98-0420	Max. Detected Value	1.27	na	na	2.2	No
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	RE16-99-3076	Max. Undetected Value	2.5 (U)	na	na	2.2	Yes

 Table 4.4-26

 Screening of Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/I TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a na = Not available.

^b (U) = The chemical is classified "not detected."

^c (J-) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual with a potential negative bias.

^d NMWQCC Groundwater Human Health Standard (20 NMAC 6.2.3103).

e n/a = Not applicable.

f (J) = The chemical is classified "detected," but the reported concentration value is expected to be more uncertain than usual.

September 2003

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC	
Acetone	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Amino-x,6-dinitrotoluene[x-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Dichloroethane[1,2-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Dinitrotoluene[2,4-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Dinitrotoluene[2,6-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
НМХ	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Methylene Chloride	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
RDX	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Tetrachloroethene	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Trichloroethene	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	
Trinitrobenzene[1,3,5-]	Eliminated	No values above screening limit.	
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	Retained	Maximum value exceeds screening limit.	

 Table 4.4-27

 Retained and Eliminated Organic Chemicals in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

4.4.2.2.7 Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer—Evaluation of Tritium

A summary of samples submitted for laboratory analyses is provided in Appendix G-1. A summary of the detected tritium in intermediate-depth perched aquifer samples collected is provided in Table G-2.27 (located in Appendix G-2). The frequency of detected tritium (Table 4.4-28), the screening results (Table 4.4-29), and the retained and eliminated analysis (Table 4.4-30) are presented in this section. The results show that tritium was not present above either the EPA MCL or the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard.

 Table 4.4-28

 Frequency of Detected Tritium in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Chemical	Field	Number of	Number of	Concentration Range
	Preparation	Analyses	Detects	(pCi/L)
Tritium	Unfiltered	2	2	72 to 103.36

Source: EPA 1989, 08021.

Table 4.4-29

Screening of Tritium Detected in Intermediate-Depth Wells Perched Aquifer Samples

Chemical	Sample Identification	Sample Concentration (pCI/L)		NMWQCC Standard (pCl/L)	EPA MCL (pCI/L)	EPA Region 6 Tap Water PRG (pCI/L)	Exceeds Screening Limit
Tritium	RE16-00-3296	Max. Detected Value	103.4	20000 ⁸	20000	n/a ⁶	No

Sources: 20 NMAC 6.2.3103 "Standards for groundwater of 10,000 mg/l TDS concentration or less," Parts A, B, and C; 20 NMAC 6.4.900 "Standards applicable to attainable or designated uses unless otherwise specified in 20.6.4.101 through 20.6.4.899 NMAC," Parts K, L, and M; EPA 2002, 76871; EPA 2003, 76867.

^a NMWQCC Surface Water Standard for Livestock Watering (20 NMAC 6.4.900).

^b n/a = Not applicable.

Table 4.4-30
Retained and Eliminated Tritium in Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Samples

Chemical	Retained/Eliminated	Rationale for Retaining/Eliminating as a COPC
Tritium	Elíminated	No values above screening limit.

4.4.2.2.8 Chloride Results

Pore water chloride profiles for the Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut) are shown in Figure 4.4-12. Concentrations range from 17 to 1950 mg/L. Like the water content data, changes in chloride concentrations appear to be associated with changes in stratigraphy and degree of welding. Chloride-based vadose zone residence times are 2240 years for the Well 16-02669, 6080 years for the Well 16-02665, and 1950 years for the Well 16-02667 (residence times are based on cumulative chloride from the surface to the top of the transient saturated zones for the Well 16-02669 and Well 16-02665 and at the bottom of Well 16-02667). These long residence times indicate there has been no recharge at the wells for nearly 2000 years or longer. In addition, it appears the downward flux of water in the vadose zone is relatively constant. Cumulative chloride-cumulative water content plots are relatively linear, which is an indicator of approximately constant downward flux (Newman et al. 1997, 76885) (Figure 4.4-13). One exception to the approximately constant linear trends is for the shallow part of Well 16-02669. This deviation likely results from localized near-surface evapotranspiration effects.

Though the chloride results indicate long vadose zone residence times, these results appear to be contradictory to the presence of HE at depth in Wells 16-02669 and 16-02665. The HE data indicate that some recharge to the transient saturated zones has occurred within the last fifty years. This apparent inconsistency is discussed below.

4.4.2.2.9 Stable isotope Results

Stable isotope (δ 18O) profiles for Wells 16-02669, 16-02665, and 16-02667 are shown in Figures 4.4-14 through 4.4-16 (the δ D profiles are similar and are not shown). The profiles show values that are generally below -4 permil δ 18O at depths above the transient saturated zones and throughout Well 16-02667. However, the isotope values in the transient saturated zones in Well 16-02669 and Well 16-02665 initially showed large positive δ 18O and δ D values. These data indicate the waters were strongly evaporated. Values that plot far to the right of the meteoric water line are characteristic of evaporation (Vuataz and Goff 1986, 40083) (Figure 4.4-17). Isotopic values above and below the transient saturated zones show little to minor evaporation with the exception of one sample at 15 m in the 90s Line Pond borehole. It is unclear whether this result was caused by a stable isotope sample preservation problem (chloride concentrations are not elevated at this depth, indicating it might be a preservation problem) or whether it represents a localized zone of in situ evaporation (water contents in this zone are some of the lowest measured).

In addition to the initial stable isotope sampling, isotope samples were obtained during two of the transient flow events in the Well 16-02655 (March and July 1999). The δ^{18} O and δ D results were -12 and -8 permil and -83 and -76 permil, respectively, indicating a shift from highly evaporated to more meteoric values.



Figure 4.4-12. Pore water chloride profiles for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut); core collected in 1997



Figure 4.4-13. Cumulative water versus cumulative chloride for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02667 (SWSC Cut); core collected in 1997



Figure 4.4-14. Stable isotope (δ¹⁸O) and water content profiles for Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond); core collected in 1997



Figure 4.4-15. Stable isotope (δ^{18} O) and water content profiles for Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon); core collected in 1997





4.4.2.2.10 Vadose Zone and Source Interpretation

This section summarizes the interpretation of contaminant sources to the unsaturated and transientsaturated portions of the mesa vadose zone. Initial discussion of contaminants focuses on the unsaturated portion of the vadose zone, defined as that zone above the transient saturated zones. Chloride-based residence times in the unsaturated parts of the vadose zone indicate little downward movement of water and contaminants over much of the mesa (e.g., areas not directly underneath ponds or drainages). Thus, most of the mesa vadose zone does not appear to be an effective pathway for recharge and deep contaminant transport. This result is not surprising given the semiarid conditions at the site. This conclusion does not hold for the entire mesa because the observations of HE contaminated transient saturation in the 90s Line Pond and Martin boreholes, which indicates recharge to the transient saturated zones in less than or about fifty years (the HE facilities began operation in the late 1940s). The stable isotope data from the saturated zones provide an important clue to resolve the apparent inconsistency between the long residence times indicated by the chloride data and the short residence times indicated by the presence of HE contamination in the transient saturated zones. The large isotope values from the saturated zones (Figure 4.4-17) indicate the waters have undergone substantial evaporation. It is unlikely the waters were evaporated in situ because the zones are wet and because pore waters above and below the saturated zones do not show any evidence of strong evaporation (with one exception discussed earlier).

In reviewing the possible sources of water that have undergone substantial evaporation (having large isotope values) on the mesa, most outfall and discharge waters are not strongly evaporated, having δ^{18} O values of about –10.5 permil and δ D values of about –76 permil or less (Blake 1995, 49931; LANL 1996, 55077). The source of the discharged water was the regional aquifer, and only minor evaporation occurred during HE processing. Thus, the isotopic composition of outfall water is not consistent with the large values observed in the 90s Line Pond and Martin borehole transient saturated zones. The only known sources that are consistent with the observed saturated zone values are the 90s Line Pond and 30s Line Ponds [SVMU 16-007(a)], and V-Site Pond [SVMU 16-029(x)] disposal lagoons on the mesa. These surface impoundments are subject to significant evaporation, particularly in the summer. A limited set of stable isotope data is available from the 90s Line Pond, and δ D, respectively). Thus, the stable isotope data indicate the ponds are a likely source of fast recharge and HE contamination to the transient saturated zones are also consistent with chloride and HE concentrations in the transient saturated zones (LANL 1996, 55077).

Both boreholes were drilled in the vicinity of disposal lagoons, which supports the interpretation of a ponded water source. It also indicates there is a lateral component to the flow since the boreholes were not drilled directly within any of the ponds. The presence of HE in the saturated zones and absence of HE above and below the saturated zones, the stable isotope and water content distributions in the boreholes, and observed subhorizontal fracturing in core samples from the transient saturated zones are additional evidence for a lateral flow component. The timing of flows into the Martin borehole and the observed shift to negative isotope values indicate the transient nature of flow and transport is seasonally or event controlled (although flow was probably more regular during the period of active discharge into the ponds). All of the recent flow events were associated with relatively large winter/spring snowmelt/precipitation events or summer "monsoonal" rains. It is likely that even though the pond waters have evaporative isotope values over most of the year, the values shifted to more meteoric values during the winter and during high-volume wastewater discharges. Thus, it is not surprising the values in the borehole vary over time. It is also likely there may be some vadose zone mixing between older contaminated pond waters and newer recharge as indicated by the response to snowmelt/precipitation events.



Figure 4.4-17. Meteoric water diagram for data from the transient saturated zones in Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond) and Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon)

4-78

4.4.3 Data Summary and Interpretation

This section (1) reviews results from previous sections and summarizes the COPCs in the TA-16 subsurface and (2) discusses the extent of these COPCs in the vadose zone saturated system manifested in the TA-16 springs.

4.4.3.1 Major COPCs

Table 4.4-31 summarizes the retained COPCs. The major COPCs are aluminum, barium, boron, lead, manganese, and RDX. It should be noted however, that aluminum, lead, and manganese were eliminated as COPCs for the springs based on a geochemical analysis. Many of the other COPCs are detected in only a few samples. Some, like nitrate and perchlorate, may represent post-validation data issues such as seemingly incorrect reporting units (nitrate; see Section 4.4.2.1.1) or are only transient. Perchlorate, for instance, is only detected in three sampling rounds for which it was analyzed (see Table 4.4-1). A complete list of COPCs for the springs, 90s Line Pond, and the intermediate-depth boreholes includes aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, cesium, chromium, cobalt, copper, cyanide, lead, manganese, mercury, nickel, nitrate + nitrite, perchlorate, rubidium, selenium, silver, thallium, uranium, vanadium, zinc, dinitrobenzene[1,3-], methylene chloride, nitrobenzene, RDX, trichloroethene, and trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]. These COPCs are carried forward into risk analysis based on a comparison to NMWQCC, EPA MCL, or EPA Region 6 PRG standards (where they exist).

4.4.3.2 Extent of Contamination

HE and other contaminants are present in all three springs, in 90s Line Pond, and in the intermediatedepth perched aguifer sampled at TA-16. The traditional concept of extent of contamination (decreasing trends) is not relevant in the subsurface system because there is no evidence for a distinct, coherent plume impacting the springs. Rather, the system is dominated by a combination of rapid pathways and base-flow recharge with discontinuous subsurface saturated zones (see section 5), and it is important to understand the movement of contaminants in the saturated zones and the interconnectivity of the saturated zones with other components of the conceptual model. Because the springs are discharged through the mesa vadose zone, there must be contamination upgradient along subsurface flow paths. In addition, the intermediate-depth perched agulfer well characterization and geophysical surveys indicate that the flow paths are heterogeneous, both temporally and spatially. Based on the oxygen and deuterium stable isotope results, evaporative effects are observed in the 90s Line Pond, Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon), and Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), but not in the springs. This is evidence that contamination extends from ponded areas into certain areas of the mesa vadose zone, but that the subsurface is heterogeneous. Although the 260 outfall was connected to Burning Ground and SWSC Springs based on tracer data, there is no evidence at this time that ponds recharge the mesa vadose zone perched aguifer directly beneath TA-16.

4.5 Implications for the TA-16 Hydrogeologic Conceptual Model

4.5.1 Potential Contaminant Sources

The water chemistry of the TA-16 springs (Burning Ground, SWSC, and Martin Springs), shallow perched groundwater, and 90s Line Pond is distinct from that of background springs (i.e., Apache Spring, Cañon de Valle Spring, etc.) and likely represents contamination resulting from operations at TA-16. Not only metals and HE were elevated, but also major cations and anions such as calcium and chloride.

Table 4.4-31							
Table of Retained Co	OPCs for SWMU	16-021(c)-99	Subsurface System				

	Water								
Chemicals Retained as COPCs for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Subsurface System	Springs (see Tables 4.4-3, 4.4-6, and 4.4-9)	90s Line Pond (see Tables 4.4-12, 4.4- 15, and 4.4-18)	Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer (see Tables 4.4-24, 4.4-27, and 4.4-30)						
Inorganic Chemicals									
Alumínum	8	• b	•						
Antimony	•	•	•						
Arsenic		•	٠						
Barium	٠	٠	•						
Beryllium		•	•						
Boron	•		٠						
Cadmium		•	•						
Cesium	•	NA ^c	NA						
Chromium		•	•						
Cobalt		•	•						
Copper			•						
Cyanide (Total)	•	****							
Lead		•	•						
Manganese		•	•						
Mercury	•	٠							
Nickel		waanne.	•						
Nitrate-Nitrite as N	۲	-							
Perchlorate	•								
Rubidium	•	NA	NA						
Selenium	<u></u>	•	•						
Silver		_	•						
Thailium	•	•	•						
Uranium	٠	٠							
Vanadium		•							
Zinc			٠						
Organic Chemicals and HE									
Dinitrobenzene[1,3-]	٠								
Methylene Chloride			•						
Nitrobenzene	•								
RDX	٠	•	•						
Trichloroethene			•						
Trinitrotoluene[2,4,6-]	• ·								

a -- = Chemical was analyzed for but eliminated as a COPC for this subsurface system component.
 b = Chemical retained as a COPC for this subsurface system component.

^C NA = Not Analyzed.

The following generalizations can be made about the data for the TA-16 springs.

- The TA-16 springs represent higher ionic strength fluids than the background springs such as Apache Spring, Cañon de Valle Spring, Water Canyon Spring Gallery, Pine Spring, and Seven Springs (Blake 1995, 49931).
- Martin Spring is geochemically distinct compared with the other two springs, with higher concentrations of RDX, nitrate, calcium, and chloride and a lower RDX/HMX ratio.
- Boron in Martin Spring is over an order of magnitude higher in abundance than in the SWSC Spring, Burning Ground Spring, or in the background springs. Boron in Martin Spring probably represents anthropogenic contamination. Possible sources of boron include (1) locales where the HE boracitol (a mixture of boric acid and TNT) was processed, such as V-Site and Building 260 and (2) the TA-16 laundry facilities, which formerly discharged to the TA-16 Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP).

Possible sources of high ionic strength fluids (i.e., enriched in elements such as calcium and chloride) are listed below:

- The TA-16 steam plant and its derived waters in the steam plant and 90s Line Pond drainage (Figure 4.5-1). Analyses of the steam plant drainage alluvial borehole (Well 16-02655), provided in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891), show high calcium, sodium, magnesium, and chloride. Analyses of the 90s Line drainage, which received discharge from the TA-16 steam plant (LANL 1996, 55077, p. C-8), show high silicon dioxide (145,730 and 150,230 µg/L), sodium (134,000 and 154,000 µg/L), bicarbonate (311,000 and 345,000 µg/L), and total dissolved solids (TDS) (636,000 and 749,400 µg/L). All of these levels are higher than the levels measured in TA-16 springs.
- The TA-16 WWTP. Two analyses of water from the TA-16 WWTP show high TDS (319,500 and 440,100 µg/L), sodium (117,000 and 80,900 µg/L), calcium (30,200 and 23,500 µg/L), silicon dioxide (76,610 and 83,030 µg/L), chloride (216,000 and 136,000 µg/L), and bicarbonate (101,000 and 93,200 µg/L) (LANL 1996, 55077). The WWTP received sewage effluent from across TA-16 and discharged treated effluent until it was decommissioned in 1992. The WWTP is located within 1000 ft of Martin Spring (Figure 4.5-1).
- Deep well water derived from the Puye Formation and Santa Fe Group. A large number of well
 and spring samples (Blake 1995, 49931, pp. 10–12) derived from within the Puye and Santa Fe
 Groups contain high naturally occurring ionic strength fluids with high TDS and associated high
 values of sodium, bicarbonate, and other major cations and anions.
- Surface waters that include a component of road salt. TA-16 roads are frequently salted during the winter months. Runoff from these salted roads is at higher ionic strength than typical precipitation and water from pristine springs without anthropogenic inputs.
- Evaporation in 90s Line Pond may result in recharge of higher ionic strength waters.



Figure 4.5-1. Spring, surface water, and assorted sampling locations

Both TA-16 process water (LANL 1996, 55077, p. C-7) and local precipitation (Adams et al. 1995, 47192, pp. 7–9) have TDS less than 200,000 µg/L. During interaction with tuff and sediment, these process waters or rainwaters could dissolve additional constituents and achieve higher ionic strengths. However, it is unknown if such interactions would yield higher TDS values than observed in background springs, which presumably undergo similar precipitation/rock interactions.

The 260 outfall is the most obvious source for HE and other contaminants at SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring. Barium, nitrate, and RDX are all present in the source area outfall region. The distinct differences in major element chemistry between SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring versus Martin Spring indicate the former two springs are part of a related saturated system, whereas the latter spring may have different/additional recharge sources and may interact with different/additional contaminant sources. Multiple recharge sources at TA-16 are likely. Isotope data indicate Martin Spring has a different recharge source than the other two springs (see section 4.4.2.1.7 and section 5), with a greater percentage of recharge occurring on the mesa top.

Regardless of the source, some breakdown of RDX must be occurring in the subsurface, as RDX breakdown products MNX, DNX, and TNX were occasionally detected in the springs (see Table 4.4-4).

The 90s Line Pond and the springs share many COPCs, though concentrations are higher at 90s Line Pond, particularly in unfiltered samples. It is not surprising the 90s Line Pond may have higher contaminant concentrations, as it is subject to evaporative effects and receives inputs of surface particulate materials. These results, however, cannot be used to infer the 90s Line Pond is a significant source of contaminants to the springs. Isotope and water balance considerations indicate this is unlikely (see section 5).

Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) has several COPCs in common with Martin Spring, including elevated levels of boron. Whereas the perched zones in the well are hydrologically lower than Martin Spring (and therefore cannot feed the spring), a common contaminant source may be implicated. Based on isotopic evidence (see section 4.4.2.2.9), it does not appear Martin Spring is a source of water for Well 16-02665.

In the CMS plan for SWMU 16-021(c)-99 (LANL 1998, 62413.3), it was proposed that mixing models for the various potential contaminant and background sources would be developed. This is difficult given the fact there has been a low-flow regime for most of the Phase III RFI study period. Observation that the RDX/HMX ratios for the springs are consistent with the solubilities for these two compounds (see Table 5.2.1 in section 5) could be used in the mixing model. This ratio could indicate a saturated solution of RDX (e.g., process waters and waters that have had prolonged contact with HE in sediment and soil) being diluted by background and other waters. The solubility of RDX is 60 mg/L. The highest spring RDX concentration is 330 µg/L. This concentration indicates spring waters contain less than 1% of the saturated solution indicated by the solubility (assuming the diluting waters contain no RDX). Process waters from the 260 outfall were measured for RDX prior to the outfall being shut off. RDX concentrations were 484 µg/L (LANL 1996; 55077). Conducting a similar mixing calculation with the same assumptions (dilution by waters with no RDX) results in <1% of the spring water representing process water. The RDX concentration of 484 µg/L for the 260 outfall may not be representative of the entire history of discharge, The highest RDX concentrations were found in Well 16-02712 (now plugged and abandoned) below the 260 outfall, where concentrations as high as 2490 µg/L were detected (Sample ID RE16-98-3026, as presented in Appendix G-2). This higher value indicates approximately 4% of the water in the borehole is process water, based on the assumptions above. These calculations provide minimum percentages of process waters given the assumption of RDX saturation in such fluids.

4.5.2 Spring and Contaminant Dynamics

In the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998; 59891), flow and concentration data are used to conclude that multiple recharge zones are tapped during increased flow to the springs. Based on spring hydrograph responses during the 1997 monsoon season, at least three distinct recharge sources impact the springs. Three plausible candidates for these recharge sources are (1) direct runoff into the spring catchments, with a response time of a few hours; (2) an interflow pathway, with a response time of 1 to 2 days; and (3) a subsurface pathway, with a several-week response time. During the Phase III RFI study period, however, a period of low flows and overall decreases in flow occurred; therefore, these findings cannot be verified.

Figures 4.5-2a-f show the effect of flow on contaminant mass (i.e., concentration multiplied by flow) and Figures I3-7, I3-8, I3-20, I3-21, I3-33, and I3-34 show the relationship between contaminant concentration and flow rates for barium and RDX.

Barium and RDX masses increase over time at Martin Spring (Figures 4.5-2a, 4.5-2b), though the trend in RDX mass is largely a function of lower values for the data collected prior to the June 1998. This is unexpected during a period of decreasing flow. Some increase in concentration of these contaminants might be expected due to evaporative concentration during low flow periods, but this effect alone would result in a flat trend (i.e., if flow and concentration were related in a 1:1 manner such that a doubling of flow led to a halving of concentration or vice versa). Several explanations are possible. The first is that the center of mass of a contaminant "plume" may be approaching Martin Spring, thereby leading to higher contaminant concentrations. Whereas the temporal trends in barium and RDX concentrations at Martin Spring (Figures 4.4-1a and 4.4-4a) are not statistically significant, some of the highest values are found in the most recent data. However, the current conceptual model does not support a coherent contaminant plume migrating to the springs.

Alternatively, bound contaminants may be desorbed from the tuff as a result of matrix diffusion during long drought periods, thereby increasing pore water concentrations. These higher concentration pore waters are then flushed during subsequent wet periods. Another explanation is that rapid recharge through short pathways (fractures) have been shut off due to the drought (see section 5). Water flow through these pathways may have had a "dilution" effect. During high-flow events, increased amounts of barium appear to be flushed from the system. Since the concentration of barium decreases with increased flow (Figure I3-7), this increase in mass is likely due to a greater area of contamination being flushed prior to discharge at the spring. As mentioned above, due to desorption, the pore water may also have increased concentrations. RDX concentrations also decrease during high flow (Figure I3-8), but no large difference in RDX mass is observed during these events (Figure 4.5-2b). Finally, it is possible that water is concentrated in more contaminated zones during drought conditions.

SWSC Spring shows no significant trends in barium or RDX mass versus time (Figures 4.5-2c, 4.5-2d). However, the mass of both contaminants is generally higher during high-flow regimes, indicating flushing of both contaminants from a higher concentration source area (the subsurface flow paths may increase in size during high-flow events leading to flushing of macropores with high contaminant concentrations, or more of the source area may be impacted by infiltrating water). Barium concentrations at this spring are not significantly affected by flow (Figure 13-20), but RDX concentrations increase during high-flow events (Figure 13-21). The latter observation is consistent with flushing of macropores with high contaminant concentrations or with dissolution of solid HE during high-flow events. The SWSC system is highly complex. It is near the source area, is susceptible to effects of the IM (if any), and has undergone a complete drying. Because these factors have counteracting effects on contaminant mass, no temporal trends in mass are observed.



Figure 4.5-2e. Mass of barium versus time at Burning Ground Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown.



Figure 4.5-2f. Mass of RDX versus time at Burning Ground Spring. Only detected values are shown and used for statistical analysis. Sample values from high-flow periods are shown in red. Regression equation and significance level are shown.

Buming Ground Spring shows overall decreases in barium mass over time (Figure 4.5-2e), but no significant trends in RDX mass (Figure 4.5-2f). High-flow periods are generally marked by increases in barium and in RDX (at least in the latter two years of the study). Barium concentration is positively correlated with flow (Figure 13-33), whereas RDX shows no such trend (Figure 13-34). Decreased flow over time should result in decreased contaminant mass (assuming evaporative effects on concentration are not completely offsetting the flow effect). In addition to the overall decreased flow, the flow paths may be concentrated into areas already well flushed of contaminants. This pattern is interrupted only during high-flow events. The IM may also be having an effect, but there is no definitive evidence to support this.

Figures 4.5-3a–i, I3-9 through I3-13, I3-22 through I3-26, and I3-35 through I3-39 show concentration versus concentration plots and Figures 4.5-4a–c show mass versus mass plots, with high-flow events marked. Together these plots demonstrate whether contaminants are correlated with one another or with major cations and anions, during low and high-flow periods.

For Martin Spring, barium and RDX (Figure 4.5-3a), RDX and HMX (Figure 4.5-3b), RDX and chloride (Figure 13-9), and RDX and calcium (Figure 13-10) are all positively correlated with lowest concentrations occurring during high-flow events. Barium and RDX mass are also positively correlated, though banium falls off the trend during high-flow events (see previous discussion of banium/flow dynamics) (Figure 4.5-4a). These facts indicate a common source for all contaminants and that the contaminant source, or at least some portion of the recharge water feeding the spring, has high ionic strength in elements like calcium and chloride. Martin Spring shows a statistically inverse relationship between RDX and filtered iron (Figure 13-11), with highest iron concentrations occurring during high-flow events. The most likely explanation for this is that during high-flow events there is preferential flushing of very small colloids (< 0.45 microns) of iron. Unfiltered and filtered iron are positively correlated (Figure 13-13), which is consistent with a colloidal form for both phases. Aluminum is positively correlated with iron (Figure 4.5-3c), with both being highest during high-flow events, consistent with flushing of colloids.

At SWSC Spring, RDX and HMX are positively correlated with highest concentrations occurring during high-flow events, indicating they are derived from the same source area (Figure 4.5-3e). Flow-related RDX concentration effects are discussed above. RDX is positively correlated with chloride (Figure 13-22), but no significant relationship with calcium exists (Figure 13-23). The only other significant concentration relationship found for SWSC Spring was between iron and aluminum (Figure 4.5-3f). Barium and RDX mass is significantly positively correlated (Figure 4.5-4b) with highest masses during high-flow periods, consistent with flushing of spatially larger flow paths including macropores with high contaminant concentrations.

At Burning Ground Spring, RDX and HMX are positively correlated (Figure 4.5-3h), indicating a common source. Relationships with flow are unclear. RDX is positively correlated with chloride and calcium (Figures I3-35, I3-36), similar to Martin Spring. Also similar to Martin Spring, unfiltered and filtered iron are positively correlated (Figure I3-39) as are iron and aluminum (Figure 4.5-3i). Barium mass and RDX mass are positively correlated (Figure 4.5-4c) with barium being higher relative to the main trend during high-flow events for reasons discussed above.



Figure 4.5-3a. Plot of barium versus RDX at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3b. Plot of RDX versus HMX at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3c. Plot of iron versus aluminum at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3d. Plot of barium versus RDX at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events



Figure 4.5-3e. Plot of RDX versus HMX at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3f. Plot of iron versus aluminum at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3g. Plots of barium versus RDX at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-3h. Plot of RDX versus HMX at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent highflow events.



Figure 4.5-3i. Plot of iron versus aluminum at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-4a. Plots of barium mass versus RDX mass at Martin Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.

ER2003-0480

September 2003



Figure 4.5-4b. Plots of barium mass versus RDX mass at SWSC Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.



Figure 4.5-4c. Plot of barium mass versus RDX mass at Burning Ground Spring. Red diamonds represent high-flow events.

4.5.3 Summary of Findings and Implications to the Conceptual Model

- 1. The 260 outfall is connected to SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring (see the results of the tracer study in section 2). SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring have similar chemistry although SWSC Spring has somewhat higher barium concentrations and a somewhat higher RDX/HMX ratio. The latter observation indicates SWSC Spring is receiving contamination from a somewhat deeper and older part of the TA-16-260 source area, as RDX was used more prevalently relative to HMX in the past. The proposed connection of the 260 outfall to Martin Spring is much less obvious. The high boron concentrations could reflect the fact that Martin Spring is receiving older contamination from the 260 outfall when boracitol was discharged. On the other hand, the lower RDX/HMX ratios indicate a more recent source. It is likely a component of the contamination at Martin Spring is from a different source, such as the 30s Line Ponds (SWMU 16-007[a]), the 90s Line Pond (SWMU 16-008[a]-99), V-Site Pond (SWMU 16-029[x]), the TA-16 WWTP, or other World War II-era drainages.
- 2. There are both rapid pathways and longer residence-time pathways influencing the springs. Different sources of recharge water, including process and background water, combine to generate the discharge at a given spring. These sources vary among springs and over time.
- Contaminant fluxes/masses are related to discharge rates. Generally during high-flow periods the mass of barium and RDX increased at all three springs. This is important because even though decreases are observed in the mass of barium through time at Burning Ground Spring, this trend may be reversed during a wetter precipitation period.
- 4. No conclusive evidence is found for an influence of the IM to date.

5.0 CONCEPTUAL MODEL DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Overview

The conceptual model for the 260 outfall describes the distribution of contamination in the context of local geologic, geochemical, and hydrologic features and processes. Previous sections have presented the results of the Phase III RFI field sampling for key components of the system, including the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area, the mesa vadose zone and canyon springs, and the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon alluvial systems. In this section, these results are used to update the comprehensive conceptual model of contaminant distribution. The model addresses the processes that resulted in the present-day distribution of contaminants and offers insight into future contaminant transport.

At TA-16, the combination of relatively wet mesa and canyons, heterogeneous geologic units, multiple flow paths, different types of flow behavior, and multiple contaminant sources results in a hydrogeologic conceptual model that must incorporate multiple pathways and processes. Due to its complexity, the TA-16 conceptual model continues to display uncertainties associated with the distribution of contaminants, particularly within the mesa and Cañon de Valle vadose zones.

The conceptual model, depicted in Figure 5.1-1, applies to a roughly triangular area that is bounded on the north by Cañon de Valle, on the south by Water Canyon, on the west by the Pajarito fault zone, and on the east by the confluence of Water Canyon and Cañon de Valle (see Figure 5.2-1), an area of roughly 3 mi² miles. In addition to the TA-16-260 outfall, this area encompasses other historical contaminant sources such as MDA R and MDA P. Thus, the conceptual model applies to all historical contaminant sources at TA-16, particularly those affecting waters. Within the conceptual model, contaminant transport pathways are associated with groundwater flow in tuff, sediment, and waters. Groundwater flow systems occur in many different forms; these include fracture and surge bed systems in tuff, alluvial groundwater in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon, SWSC Spring, Martin Spring, Burning Ground Spring, Fishladder Seep, Peter Seep, and the 90s Line Pond. The duration and flow rate of groundwater differs in these systems, ranging from perennial flow in the Cañon de Valle alluvial system to episodic stormwater flow in mesa vadose zone fractures.

Figure 5.1-1 shows the key components of the conceptual model centered at the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area, as defined by Regional Aquifer Well R-25:

- the SWMU 16-021(c)-99 source area and surge bed (see component 1 on the figure),
- the mesa vadose zone, consisting of nonfractured and fractured tuff which extends to the canyon bottom (see 2 on the figure),
- canyon alluvial sediment (see 3 on the figure),
- canyon springs (see 4 on the figure),
- canyon surface water (see 5 on the figure),
- canyon alluvial groundwater (see 6 on the figure),
- the deep vadose zone, consisting of nonfractured and fractured tuff which extends from the canyon bottom to the top of the regional aquifer and includes the intermediate-depth perched aquifer (see 7 on the figure), and
- the regional aquifer (see 8 on the figure).



Figure 5.1-1. Conceptual model of hydrogeological and contaminant transport for TA-16 and SWMU 16-021(c)-99

While the regional aquifer is not included in the scope of the Phase III RFI, key results from the installation and sampling of Well R-25 are important for a general understanding of the conceptual model. In addition, although this figure does not include MDA R or MDA P, which are historical sources of contamination, the figure depicts the major components of the subsurface that can be considered contaminant transport pathways for these other historical source areas as well. Similarly, while Martin Spring Canyon is not shown on this figure, contaminant pathways such as springs, alluvial sediment, alluvial groundwater, and fracture pathways to deeper zones apply there also.

In general, the overall conceptual model presented in the Phase II RFI still applies on a site-wide basis. Phase III conceptual model changes have largely been refinements that have reduced data uncertainties for the CMS process. The following sections describe the key components of the conceptual model, along with the supporting data. For reference, a brief summary of the Phase II conceptual model (LANL 1998, 59891) for each component is also presented.

5.2 Phase III Conceptual Model

5.2.1 Component 1-TA-16-260 Outfall Source Area and Surge Bed

The TA-16-260 outfall source area and underlying surge beds are labeled component 1 on the conceptual model (Figure 5.1-1).

The conceptual model presented in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891) included three principal contaminant transport pathways from the TA-16-260 source area: (1) transport via surface runoff to Cañon de Valle; (2) transport via lateral shallow subsurface flow (interflow) surge beds to Cañon de Valle; and (3) infiltration to the mesa vadose zone hydrologic system through preferred pathways, such as fractures, in the Bandelier Tuff.

The 260 outfall discharges during the past 50 years at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 served as a source for HE and inorganic contamination found throughout the site (LANL 1998, 59891). The principal contaminants in 260 outfall sediment were barium (up to 20,000 ppm) and HE (greater than 200,000 ppm). Historically, discharge from the sumps at Building 260 to the 260 outfall was reportedly as high as several million gal./yr (LANL 1994, 76858). The 260 source area comprises a well-defined upper drainage channel that was fed directly by the building sumps, a former settling pond, and a drainage channel that leads to Cañon de Valle. HE contamination in the 260 outfall and drainage area has been recognized since at least 1960 when the first soil samples from the 260 outfall were analyzed.

The former settling pond and associated soil, which were removed during the 2000 IM (LANL 2002, 73706), measured approximately 50 ft long by 20 ft wide and were located within the upper drainage channel, approximately 45 ft below the 260 outfall. The drainage channel runs approximately 600 ft northeast from the 260 outfall to the bottom of Cañon de Valle. A 15-ft near-vertical cliff is located approximately 400 ft from the 260 outfall and marks the break between the upper and lower drainage channels. Prior to the IM, the upper part of the drainage channel (above the cliff) contained little vegetation and relatively little accumulated soil and sediment. The lower part of the drainage channel (below the cliff), which is steep and rocky, contained thick pockets of sediment.

Borings installed in the former settling pond area revealed the presence of surge beds underlying the area at depths of approximately 17 and 45 ft. Other surge beds containing low-level concentrations of HE were encountered during the Phase II RFI drilling in the area around the 260 outfall (LANL 1998, 59891). These surge beds (granular tuff with a sand-like texture) possess increased porosity and hydraulic conductivity, and they contain elevated concentrations of HE. The surge beds represent contaminant

transport pathways leading away from the TA-16-260 source area. The number, lateral extent, and continuity of the surge beds are unknown.

One of the most substantial changes to the site since the 1998 Phase II RFI was the removal of a large quantity of contaminated soil from the TA-16-260 outfall and pond area during the IM (LANL 2002, 73706). More than 1300 yd³ of contaminated material containing approximately 8500 kg of HE were removed from this area.

The surge beds were not excavated during the IM. Results from surge bed borings installed during the IM (LANL 2002, 73706) and the Phase III RFI indicate that substantial contamination resides within surge beds beneath the former source area. It is likely that other similarly contaminated surge beds exist within the mesa vadose zone. Low-level concentrations of HE in fractured and welded tuff, other than surge beds, were also detected during Phase II RFI drilling (LANL 1998, 59891).

Contaminant transport from the 260 outfall and surge bed area is a direct result of the 260 outfall discharges of contaminated water to Cañon de Valle and the infiltration of contaminated water into underlying tuff along the 260 outfall drainage. Once they infiltrated, TA-16-260 outfall water and its contaminants likely migrated from the source area through the nonfractured and fractured underlying tuff as well as the surge beds, with the latter two pathways dominating because of their relatively higher permeability.

The potential for infiltration was likely highest within the 260 outfall former settling pond, where HE sediment contamination was high and where the ponding of water resulted in a hydraulic driving force for enhanced vertical infiltration. The presence of elevated levels of HE compounds detected within the underlying surge bed confirms this enhanced contaminant migration from the former settling pond.

The IM removed all soil from the former settling pond, allowing inspection of previously buried soil/tuff contact. Small fractures in the tuff are apparent, although their characteristics, such as density and precise aperture, were not formally investigated. The IM substantially reduced the quantities of HE and barium throughout the source area and drainage channel. Residual HE contamination remains in pockets of soil distributed along the drainage channel. Sampling of these pockets indicated the presence of HMX, RDX, TNT, and barium. HMX was found at concentrations as high as 2000 mg/kg; barium, at concentrations as high as 8200 mg/kg; and RDX, at concentrations as high as 1200 mg/kg. Although it contains elevated concentrations, the total volume of residual contaminated soil is estimated to be less than 100 yd³. Nevertheless, this residual soil represents a continuing source for Cañon de Valle contamination.

5.2.2 Component 2-Mesa Vadose Zone

The mesa vadose zone lies between the mesa land surface and the bottom of the canyons (Figure 5.1-1). In the Phase II RFI report, the principal contaminant flow paths within the mesa vadose zone were hypothesized to be ribbon-like structures (LANL 1998, 59891). This description, while not geologically specific, reflects a mesa vadose zone flow regime that is dominated by a sporadic distribution of surge beds and fractures, both of which possess higher permeability than the surrounding nonfractured tuff. The Phase II RFI also indicated that: (1) these preferential flow paths predominate near the contact between units 3 and 4 of the Bandelier Tuff; (2) flow along these preferential flow paths is intermittent and responds to rainfall and snowmelt events; and (3) groundwater recharge areas for the preferential flow paths may include the Pajarito fault zone, the steam plant drainage, and the 90s Line Pond. This conceptual model for the mesa vadose zone remains valid, but it has been refined based on the Phase III investigations.

As part of the Phase II RFI, five wells were drilled to depths between 91 ft and 207 ft in order to characterize the intermediate-depth perched aquifer and to define the nature and extent of contamination (Figure 4.4-10 of this report). The initial results of the drilling were reported in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891). The Phase III RFI data provide an updated assessment of the mesa vadose zone behavior based on chloride and stable isotope tracers, results of hydraulic testing of core, and groundwater chemistry data from Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) samples that were collected after completion of the Phase II RFI (post-1998).

Tuff samples from the intermediate-depth well boreholes that were installed within the mesa vadose zone indicate no contamination in the subsurface intervals; the exception is BH 16-06370 (an uncased borehole drilled in the 260 outfall former settling pond) (LANL 1998, 59891; LANL 2002, 73706). These results indicate that mesa vadose zone contamination is primarily concentrated beneath source areas such as the former and current ponds and drainages on the mesa top, with lesser inventories of contamination present elsewhere. As discussed in section 4.4.2.2.2, Intermediate-Depth Perched Aquifer Weils 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) and 16-02669 (90s Line Pond) have, on occasion, contained contaminated groundwater. It appears that disposal ponds on the mesa, or the 260 former settling pond, affected these zones and that there is lateral movement of water and contaminants in the subsurface. Thus, while most of the contaminant inventories are probably directly below or near source areas, lower concentration contaminant inventories are present away from the source areas within the mesa vadose zone.

The conclusion that the major portion of the mesa contaminant inventory resides in the vicinity of the source areas is reinforced by water content sampling results. These indicate that much of the vadose zone away from the source areas is relatively dry, and the chloride results from intermediate-depth well show that vadose zone residence times away from the source areas are more than 1000 yr (section 4.4.2.2.8; Broxton et al. 2002, 72640). In other words, because the source areas represent locations where substantial water was added to the mesa, while the rest of the mesa remained dry, a substantial portion of the vadose zone contaminant inventory resides in the subsurface below the source areas.

In terms of transport, Wells 16-02665 and 16-02669 provide information about how rapidly water and contaminants have been transported downward into the mesa beneath the source areas. Data from these wells show that HE contaminants have moved from the top of the mesa down to at least 130 ft bgs in 50 yr or less. The breakthrough of bromide tracer at SWSC Spring and Burning Ground Spring within a few months of its placement in the settling pond is additional evidence for rapid contaminant transport along preferred pathways in the mesa vadose zone. Finally, the presence of HE contamination in the approximately 700-ft perched aquifer at Regional Aquifer Well R-25 (LANL 2003, 75986.2) indicates that these transport pathways may extend from the mesa (or canyon bottom) downward to the 700-ft perched aquifer.

The variable concentrations and presence of contaminants detected in the vadose zone at TA-16 are typical of fracture (and surge bed) controlled transport. This fact has important implications for the CMS decision process. First, it is not possible at the present time to accurately quantify the inventory of contaminants in the mesa vadose zone. Future characterization efforts at TA-16 may provide a better estimate of contaminant inventories, although it is unlikely that a detailed inventory will ever be achieved. Second, the contamination may not be accessible for remediation.

Other uncertainties in the mesa vadose zone conceptual model remain: the effects from the 2000 Cerro Grande fire and the current forest thinning, both of which may have altered the runoff/recharge hydrology on the mesa.

5.2.3 Component 3—Alluvial Sediment in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon

Alluvial sediment is present in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon (Figure 5:1-1). The Phase II RFI report conceptual model indicated that Cañon de Valle alluvial sediment is a continuing secondary source for HE and barlum (LANL 1998, 59891) that is capable of causing additional groundwater or soil contamination above regulatory standards. Sediment transport was identified as a key contaminant transport mechanism, and it was characterized as a dynamic process governed largely by the frequency and magnitude of runoff and flood events. The Phase III RFI provides additional data on the distributions and mobility of contaminated sediments in both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon.

Geomorphic studies that were conducted as part of the Phase III RFI provide insight into the magnitude of the secondary source and the nature of sediment transport processes (Appendix E). An investigation into contaminants contained within the sediment deposits in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon was conducted in 1999 and 2000. The investigation focused on characterizing the concentrations, distribution, and inventory of barium, HMX, and RDX in sediment deposits outside of the active channel. The work included geomorphic mapping and associated characterization of geomorphic units, as well as sediment analysis using field-screening and laboratory analyses. Estimates of the inventory of barium, HMX, and RDX in fine-grained sediment in the different intervals were made using data on the area, density, average thickness of fine-grained sediment, and average contaminant concentration in each unit.

A total of about 21,000 kg of barium is estimated to have been present in Cañon de Valle sediment before the Cerro Grande fire, roughly half of which would have been upstream from MDA P and half of which would have been downstream. About 62% is estimated to have been stored in fine-grained sediment deposits outside the active channel, about 10% is estimated to have been in the active channel, and the remainder would have been in coarse-grained deposits in abandoned channel units. This indicates that flood events play a key role in mobilizing contaminated sediments in and along the channel. Post-fire sediment sampling results show a decrease in active channel sediment concentrations and indicate a substantial downstream redistribution of barium due to post-fire flooding.

Estimates of the total inventory of HMX and RDX in Cañon de Valle sediment before the Cerro Grande fire indicate that approximately 50 kg of HMX was present, 50% of which occurred in fine-grained sediment and 50% of which occurred in coarse-grained sediment. Approximately 5 kg of RDX is estimated to have been present, of which about 60% was found in fine-grained sediment. Post-fire data showed generally lower RDX and HMX concentrations after the fire, indicating a substantial redistribution due to post-fire flooding.

Barium and RDX are both present in Martin Spring Canyon, but at much lower concentrations and with much smaller inventories than in Cañon de Valle. The estimated barium and RDX inventories in Martin Spring Canyon are approximately 820 kg and 0.2 kg, respectively. The source for RDX is groundwater discharge from Martin Spring, and the RDX probably first became adsorbed to organic matter and associated sediment in the stream bed. Subsequently, the sediment was suspended by scour during floods and redeposited on adjacent abandoned channels and floodplains.

In both Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon, the contaminant mass estimate is limited by the depth of the geomorphic sampling (maximum of 2 ft bgs). While the boring sampling results from the alluvial wells drilled during the Phase II and Phase III RFIs indicate minimal contamination at depth in the saturated alluvial/tuff contact, the vertical distribution of contaminants in the overlying saturated and unsaturated alluvial sediments is unknown.

5.2.4 Component 4—Springs in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon

Springs in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon are labeled component 4 on Figure 5.1-1. The Phase II RFI detected HE, barium, and other contaminants in SWSC, Burning Ground, and Martin Springs (LANL 1998, 59891). The following key hypotheses from the Phase II RFI concern the conceptual model of the springs:

- the saturated systems that feed the springs may represent the discharge points of surge beds and fracture sets within the mesa;
- the springs are all located near the Unit 3/Unit 4 contact within the Tshirege Unit of the Bandelier Tuff, which is a zone characterized by several surge beds;
- the bromide tracer study demonstrates direct connectivity between the 260 outfall and SWSC Spring (and likely Burning Ground Spring);
- · the springs have multiple sources for groundwater recharge; and
- · the contaminants in Martin Spring may have come from a source other than the 260 outfall.

Martin Spring's flow and chemistry are substantially different from the two Cañon de Valle springs that were investigated. The Phase III RFI information improves the understanding of the hydrology and contaminant dynamics of the springs.

A substantial amount of monitoring data (e.g., flow, contaminant concentrations, stable isotopes, and temperature) have been collected at SWSC, Burning Ground, and Martin Springs since the 1998 Phase II RFI was completed. In addition, isotopic studies were conducted to better understand the hydrology of the springs. Details of the monitoring and isotopic studies are provided in various subsections within section 4.0 of this report. The following major physical changes have influenced the spring systems since the 1998 Phase II RFI conceptual model was developed: (1) the continuing multi-year drought; (2) the removal of contaminant inventories from the 260 outfall area, MDA P, and MDA R (discussed in section 5.2.1); and (3) the Cerro Grande fire in 2000 and forest thinning on the TA-16 mesa.

Isotopic studies of the spring flow systems (see section 4.4.2.1.7) show that the springs have two main modes of recharge. These modes can be described as (1) short-residence-time pathways which are driven by individual rain or snowmelt events; and (2) slower, long-residence-time pathways which provide base flow to the springs and where flows are controlled more by longer-term climatic variations. The drought has lessened the frequency of the short-residence-time recharge events, thus the contaminant concentrations observed during the drought are probably being transported via the slower long-residence base flow pathways. The stable isotope data indicate that base flow is largely recharged to the west, at elevations above TA-16 (and above any HE or barium contamination). Effects of the drought are substantial in that the discharge to all the springs has decreased and, for Martin Spring and SWSC Spring, flow has stopped completely.

This reduction in flow does not appear to have lowered the total mass flow rate of contaminants being released into Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon from the springs. Barium in Burning Ground Spring is an exception, with a weak, but statistically significant, decrease in mass flow rate (see Figures 4.5-2a through c). Therefore, base flow must be encountering a source of contamination in the mesa vadose zone as it travels to the springs. This would explain why there is no substantial decrease in contaminant mass in the spring discharges despite the reduction in short-residence-time pathway recharge. The lack of a reduction in mass, with a concurrent reduction of short-residence-time flow pathway recharge, indicates that the short-residence-time flow pathways may act to dilute contaminant

concentrations during heavier spring runoff events. This kind of behavior appears to be important at Martin Spring; however, it does not appear to be true for the Burning Ground and SWSC Springs. Instead, during high flow events, there appears to be a flushing effect in which contaminant mass increases during the period of high discharge, implying that additional subsurface contaminated zones are being encountered.

The effect of the drought on flow is probably also reducing or preventing the transport of some contaminants to the springs because little to no flow is taking place through formerly wet, now dry contaminated zones. This is the case at SWSC Spring, which is currently dry. Reduced accessibility to contaminants is supported by the bromide tracer study (see section 2.0) which showed that, after 3 years, much of the bromide tracer mass was still located within a few ft of where the tracer had been applied.

One of the justifications for the IM removal of contaminated materials from the TA-16-260 source area was that it would, over time, lower the concentrations of contaminants entering the Cañon de Valle springs. Analyses of contaminant time-series data since the IM was completed do not show any significant reduction in concentrations (with the exception of barium in Burning Ground Spring; see section 4.4). This lack of reduction is not a reflection of the overall long-term effectiveness of the source area IM; rather, it is likely due to three factors: (1) the drought, (2) deeper vadose zone contamination and related inventory, and (3) the long-residence-time component of spring flow. The drought has limited the transport of contaminants from shallow depths at the TA-16-260 source area. Thus, there has not been enough water flow to flush out the existing contaminants. There is current contamination in the vadose zone below the depths from which soil was removed during the IM, and this deeper contamination zone is what currently supplies the spring systems. The last factor that accounts for the lack of changes in spring contaminant concentrations is that the analysis of trends in spring flow shows a long-residence-time (base flow) component to spring discharge on the order of several years (section 4.4.2.1.9).

As noted earlier, the 2000 Cerro Grande fire and current forest thinning may alter the runoff/recharge relations on the mesa. Some studies show an increase in runoff in burned areas because of the loss of vegetative cover. If runoff increases, recharge to the springs could decrease thereby decreasing vadose zone transport of some contaminants. However, it is not known if this potential runoff/recharge shift would prove to be a substantial influence over the long term. The effect of tree thinning is less apparent. Removal of vegetation can increase runoff (similar to the potential fire effect), resulting in decreased recharge. However, removal of the Ponderosa pines will decrease transpiration losses of water, which could increase recharge. Current research studies of the effect of tree removal on recharge show a great degree of variability, and it is not clear what the long-term effect of tree removal will be on spring recharge at TA-16 (Wilcox 2002, 76860).

The Cerro Grande fire did alter the chemistry of the springs, although this appears to have been a shortterm perturbation. Spring monitoring showed increases in ions such as bicarbonate and calcium a few months after the fire. Monitoring of other springs on the Pajarito Plateau showed similar short-term changes in chemistry (Longmire 2001, 76889). It does not appear, however, that the fire strongly altered the concentrations of the main COPCs (i.e., RDX and barium). One of the primary effects on the concentrations of contaminants in the springs is the size of precipitation/recharge events. Although not all events or chemicals behave consistently (partly because of the distribution of recharge flow paths discussed earlier), there is strong evidence that—for some events—contaminant concentrations are temporarily lowered as a result of dilution (see section 4.0).
5.2.5 Components 5 and 6—Surface Water and Alluvial Groundwater in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon

Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon surface water and alluvial groundwater are important components of the conceptual model (Figure 5.1-1). Both represent potential human and ecological exposure sources, and both are critical in the overall site hydrogeological regime, which includes the regional aquifer. The principal physical features of Cañon de Valle are shown in Figure 5.2-1.

The Phase II RFI investigations identified the presence of RDX (maximum concentration of 818 μ g/L), barium (99–16,000 μ g/L), and lesser concentrations of other contaminants, in surface waters and alluvial groundwaters in Cañon de Valle (LANL 1998, 59891). Some key aspects of the conceptual model are

- surface runoff and spring flow contribute contaminants to the alluvial system, but the springs
 generally dilute the higher levels of contamination in the surface water and alluvial groundwater,
- alluvial groundwater disappears downgradient from MDA P and therefore there may be loss of water to underlying units, and
- there appears to be contaminant mixing between alluvial groundwater and surface water (during ephemeral flow) downgradient from MDA P.

The Phase III RFI results greatly improve the understanding of the surface water and alluvial groundwater system.

The alluvial groundwater and surface water systems include the alluvial and streamflow systems in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon. Since the 1998 Phase II RFI, a substantial amount of flow and contaminant data have been collected in both canyons. These data include periodic discharge measurements of streamflow, alluvial groundwater water-level monitoring, contaminant sampling, and other monitoring data such as temperature and conductivity. The major changes to the system since the 1998 conceptual model was developed are the same as those described in sections 5.2.1, 5.2.2, and 5.2.4 for the TA-16-260 source area, the mesa vadose zone, and the springs (i.e., the IM source removal, the drought, the Cerro Grande fire, and subsequent tree thinning). This section focuses on refining the understanding of the alluvial groundwater and surface water systems by analyzing the new monitoring data.

An important feature incorporated into the conceptual model is based on the observation that the Cañon de Valle alluvium, and its associated groundwater, terminates or pinches out approximately 7000 ft east of the 260 outfall. The Cañon de Valle saturated alluvium may be viewed as a fixed volume with inputs (springs, precipitation, and groundwater flow) and outputs (evapotranspiration and leakage into the underlying fractured tuff that lessens water volume). A conceptual water balance model is shown in Figure 5.2-2, in terms of gal. per ft of canyon per day. As detailed in Appendix N, component flows were prepared using historical data for spring water flow, groundwater elevation in wells, historical averages for precipitation and evapotranspiration, and literature values for alluvial permeability in the absence of actual data. Based on these component flows, the rate of infiltration was estimated.

Assuming a steady state, the rate of loss of contaminated groundwater to the underlying tuff is estimated to be approximately 2.6 gal. per day per ft of canyon. Under the assumptions of this water balance model, springs and precipitation comprise the majority of input flow into the control volume, with groundwater flow into the control volume comprising less than 1%.

September 2003



Figure 5.2-1. Perennial reach of stream, approximate extent of alluvium, and suspected areas of enhanced infiltration as identified by geophysical surveys



Figure 5.2-2. Conceptual water balance model for the Cañon de Valle alluvial system, with calculated inputs and outputs in terms of gal. per ft of canyon per day

In terms of water balance, the springs contribute substantial amounts of water to the canyon bottom; exchange also occurs between the surface water and alluvial groundwater. These conditions affect contaminant distributions in the canyon bottom. Figure 5.2-3 presents examples of the effect of the springs, alluvial groundwater, and surface water interconnection on barium and RDX concentrations. Barium concentrations remain relatively consistent among the three types of water over low, medium, and high surface flow sampling events (see section 3.0), probably due to buffering by barium-contaminated sediments. Alluvial groundwater barium concentrations are the highest, surface water concentrations are intermediate, and the spring concentrations are the lowest. These results show that the spring water substantially dilutes the concentrations in the alluvial groundwater and surface water concentrations are largely controlled by the spatial distribution and buffering capacity of barium in the canyon sediment (section 3.0). For RDX, there is no consistency in contaminant concentrations. Spring water tends to have the lowest concentration and generally dilutes the alluvial groundwater and surface water.

Spatial trends of contaminants in surface water and alluvial groundwater, screening parameters, and flow provide other key insights into the alluvial system. Flow profiles indicate that there is a losing reach in the region between Burning Ground Spring and the area just upgradient from MDA P. In addition, temperature data, barium and RDX concentrations, and flow increases all indicate that alluvial groundwater may be discharging into the surface water system downgradient from Well 16-02659 (see Figure 5.2-1). The high RDX values in Well 16-02659 compared to upgradient Well 16-02658 indicate that either RDX is being leached from secondary sources within the alluvial system or that increased inputs into the alluvial groundwater system from higher concentration surface waters are occurring. In addition, the presence of both RDX and barium upgradient from the 260 outfall discharge point indicates that residual contamination at MDA R or the 90s Line Pond may also be a contributor to the alluvial system.



Figure 5-2-3. Comparison of barium and RDX concentrations in Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater, springs, and surface water for selected flow events from 1998 to 2002

Stable isotope results in the alluvial system indicate that the surface waters respond much more rapidly to precipitation events and other discharges to the surface, whereas alluvial waters represent more wellmixed waters that have had time to interact with alluvial sediments.

As part of Phase III RFI activities, a geophysical resistivity survey was conducted, the objectives of which included defining the lateral and vertical extents of saturated alluvium within Cañon de Valle along the survey lines and within the vicinity of established monitoring wells. A secondary goal was to investigate potential vertical pathways for downward migration of meteoric and groundwater into the Bandelier Tuff, which is discussed in section 5.2.6.

A longitudinal profile (roughly along the canyon axis) shows a series of shallow low-resistivity features occurring in the alluvium. These zones are possible areas of saturation or elevated water content, although the correlation between resistivity and water content has not been verified for TA-16. The discontinuous appearance of these zones probably relates to placement of the geophysical probes. Because of logistical difficulties, it was not possible to place the probes at the same distance from the stream channel; thus, the zones may be more continuous than they appear. Perpendicular profiles (across the canyon bottom) provide a better picture of the lateral extent of alluvial groundwater (assuming that resistivity and water content are negatively correlated). These profiles show two types of low-resistivity zones. The first type is associated with possible saturation or elevated water contents near the streambed. These profiles indicate that the alluvial aquifer probably does not extend across the width of the canyon; instead it is restricted to localized areas near the stream channel. The second type of low-resistivity zones relates to areas at, or adjacent to, the toe of the canyon walls. These areas indicate the possibility of interflow zones and/or seeps that contribute water to the canyon subsurface. The presence of these features is consistent with the temperature, flow, and geochemistry results discussed in section 3.0 which indicate alluvial recharge zones in the canyon, other than known springs.

Flowing surface water is present both perennially and intermittently within specific reaches of the Cañon de Valle channel. The approximate extent of perennial surface water is shown in Figure 5.2-1. Surface water occurs when either storm events produce precipitation rates that exceed the infiltration rate or the inflow of water into the alluvium exceeds the alluvial storage capacity. Both cases are heavily dependent on the configuration of the stream channel with respect to the surrounding bank slope and alluvium. For example, two locations along Cañon de Valle may have the same saturated alluvial thickness, but differing stream channel depths. For these cases, the deeper channel depth may contain flowing water while the other is dry. To maintain perennial flowing water, however, the local water balance of both systems must differ, given the more rapid rate of transport of flowing water in a perennial stream. In the conceptual water balance model presented in Figure 5.2-2, the stream transport term is not considered because the ends of the control volume are outside of the perennial reach.

Because the Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater and surface water systems are interconnected and are the focus of risk assessment and possible remediation, investigations were conducted to characterize the geochemical conditions in the canyon bottom, particularly the redox (reducing or oxidizing) conditions in the alluvial groundwater (see section 3.4.2.2.4). The redox state of the alluvial groundwater can control the speciation and mobility of metals and the degradation of contaminants such as nitrate and the various HE compounds. The redox conditions focused on the alluvial groundwater because higher contaminant concentrations are generally present in the alluvial groundwater rather than in the surface water system, and lower flow rates allow more time for geochemical and biogeochemical reactions to occur. Redox conditions in the alluvial groundwater redox conditions done by Groffman and Crossey (1999, 76859). The presence of reducing conditions is important because nitrate and HE degradation occur under reducing conditions.

Analyses of nitrate concentrations and nitrogen stable isotopes (section 3.0) support the conclusion of active nitrate degradation in the canyon. Substantial amounts of barium nitrate were used at TA-16 and, although nitrate concentrations are elevated with respect to background levels, nitrate concentrations are likely not as high as would be possible in the absence of degradation. For the principal HE compounds (HMX, RDX, and TNT), there is also evidence of degradation products in the alluvial groundwater at TA-16.

Most of the data collected in the Phase III RFI indicate that the alluvial groundwater system in Cañon de Valle is heterogeneous in both contamination and hydrologic properties such as saturation. Contaminant concentrations in water do not represent a simple "plume" with decreasing concentrations from the source or center of the plume. Both RDX and barium increase and decrease in relative abundance in springs, surface waters, and alluvial groundwaters. This is due to variable exchange between surface and alluvial groundwaters dependent on the flow regime; variable degrees of mobilization of vadose zone and alluvial sediments; location of contaminant inventories; and varying degrees of dilution from runoff, interflow, and vadose zone discharge. Similarly, the geophysics, the piezometer results, and the results of head monitoring in the alluvial wells indicate that the saturated system in the Cañon de Valle alluvium is heterogeneous with respect to saturation and permeability.

5.2.6 Components 7 and 8—Deep Vadose Zone and Regional Aquifer

The tuff underlying the canyons and the regional aquifer are labeled Components 7 and 8, respectively, in the conceptual model (Figure 5.1-1). The deep vadose zone and the regional aquifer were not extensively addressed in the Phase II RFI.

To better characterize the TA-16 deep vadose zone, two geophysical surveys were conducted (Appendix D; LANL 2003, 75986.2). The main objective of these surveys was to identify potential saturated zones deep in the mesa and the lateral extent of such zones. In 2001, an electromagnetic "flyover" survey was performed over the Laboratory. The survey data indicate a more conductive (presumably wetter, perhaps saturated) zone in the western half of the TA-16 mesa, ending in a steeply dipping zone of electrical conductivity in the vicinity of Regional Aquifer Well R-25. Regional Aquifer Wells CdV-R-37-2 and CdV-R-15-3 are located in the less conductive zone further to the east. These wells did not intercept the 700-ft-deep perched aquifer observed in Regional Aquifer Well R-25 (Kopp et al. 2003, 73707; Kopp et al. 2002, 73179.9). Zonge Engineering (Zonge) performed a controlled-source audio-frequency magneto-telluric (CSAMT) survey during 2002. The data indicate the presence of discrete heterogeneous, subvertical, electrically conductive layers (presumably wetter, perhaps saturated). The data also indicated a geophysical feature at Well R-25 which has been tentatively identified as the perched aquifer. Furthermore, based on the data, this feature (and inferred perched aquifer) may be limited to this location.

Based on the geophysical surveys, the intermediate-depth (approximately 700 ft) perched aquifer (and any associated contamination) below the TA-16 mesa is probably limited in extent. The Zonge data support the conceptual model hypothesis that vertical preferential pathways may be responsible for groundwater recharge and contaminant transport to perched groundwater zones (where present) and to the regional aquifer at Well R-25. Intermediate-depth wells scheduled for 2003 will provide further insights into vadose zone contamination and pathways.

During 1999, Well R-25 was drilled to a depth of 1942 ft from the mesa top above Cañon de Valle (see Figures 5.1-1 and 5.2-1) into the regional aquifer. Based on the groundwater elevation in this well, confined conditions may be present. HE contamination was detected in Well R-25 in 1999 and continues to be detected (at a maximum detected concentration of 75 μ g/L) in ongoing quarterly samples (LANL 2003, 75986.2). Barium has not been detected. The lack of contamination in the regional aquifer at

Regional Aquifer Wells CdV-R-37-2 and CdV-R-15-3 (Kopp et al. 2003, 73707; Kopp et al. 2002, 73179.9), designed as plume-definition wells, also places bounds on the extent of contamination within the framework of the conceptual model. The locations of these wells are shown in Appendix B (Figure B-6). To assess the nature and extent of contamination, additional well installations are planned for the regional aquifer (Appendix B).

5.2.7 Other Potential Sources

The main canyons and water catchments within TA-16 and the surrounding area consist of Cañon de Valle, Fishladder Canyon, and Martin Spring Canyon. Historical Laboratory operations have introduced contamination to these areas (LANL 1993, 20948). There are over 400 SWMUs identified within TA-16, and the SWMUs most likely to affect the area have been characterized (see section 1.2.3). Operations associated with these SWMUs overlap the water catchment boundaries, and it is difficult to accurately predict pathways from buildings or SWMUs to a particular spring or canyon.

5.2.8 Physical and Chemical Characteristics of the Contaminants and Environmental Fate

One important part of the site conceptual model for hydrogeological and contaminant transport involves the chemical and physical properties of the contaminants and their behavior in the environment. Specific properties include the degree of saturation (barium minerals), the potential for ion exchange (barium) or sorption (TNT, HMX, or RDX on natural organic carbon), and the potential for natural bioremediation.

The high specific gravity of RDX and HMX indicates that particulates of these compounds were likely deposited near the 260 outfall and former settling pond, rather than carried into Cañon de Valle as particulates. Due to the lower specific gravity of TNT, this statement may not be true for TNT. The potential for particulate settling along the channel also depends on the flow velocity, flow rate, and residence time in the former settling pond—all factors which were not studied during the operational period of the outfall. The likely absence of particulate transport leaves the transport of dissolved constituents as the primary mechanism for transport of HE into Cañon de Valle. The solubility of RDX is approximately 60 mg/L at 25°C. The solubilities of TNT and HMX, as well as other properties of RDX, HMX, and TNT, are shown in Table 5.2-1.

In contrast to RDX, HMX, and TNT, which do not dissociate in groundwater, barium nitrate dissociates into the barium cation and nitrate anion, and is freely soluble in water. In the Cañon de Valle alluvium, barium exists in both dissolved and solid phases, the latter includes barite (BaSO₄) and witherite (BaCO₃) (LANL 1998, 59891). It is likely that both minerals represent a substantial portion of the total barium inventory. The two solid phase compounds differ, however, in solubility. Once precipitated, barite will remain insoluble under natural conditions. Witherite that is present in the alluvial sediment under dry conditions may dissolve under wet, more saturated conditions.

Property	RDX*	HMX+	TNT	
CAS number	121-82-4	2691-41-0	118-96-7 ^b	
Empirical formula	C ₃ H ₆ N ₆ O ₆	C₄H ₈ N ₈ O ₈	C7H5N3O6 ^b	
Molecular weight	222.15	296.2	227.13 ^b	
Melting point (°C)	205	286	82 ^b	
Density (g/cm ³)	1.83	1.9	1.65 ^b	
Water solubility (mg/L)	60 (25°C)	5 (25°C)	200 (15°C) ^b	
Vapor pressure (torr)	4.03 × 10 ⁻⁹ (25°C)	3.33 × 10 ⁻¹⁴ (25°C)	1.99 × 10 ⁻⁴ (20°C) ^c	
K _H (atm-m ³ /mole, 25°C)	-m ³ /mole, 25°C) 1.96 × 10 ⁻¹¹ 2.60 × 10 ⁻¹⁵ 4.57 ×		4.57 × 10 ^{-7 c}	
Log Kow	0.87, 0.81, 0.86	0.26, 0.06 2.25 ^b		
Log K _æ	2.00	0.54	2.48 ^b	

Table 5.2-1 Physical Properties of RDX, HMX, and TNT

^a Card and Autenrieth 1998, 76873.

^b Montgomery 1991, 76189.

^c USDHHS 1995, 76187.

atm = atmospheres

CAS = chemical abstract service

K^H= Henry's Law

Koc= organic carbon sorption coefficient

Kow= octanol-water partition coefficient

Log = logarithmic base 10

Dissolved HE in groundwater will partition between a soluble and a sorbed phase. Both tuff and sediment are present within the subsurface, and both will sorb HE, though to a varying extent. On the basis of RDX contaminant sorption studies done on clays (Myers 2003, 76188), it can be inferred that tuff has a relatively low sorption capacity (on the order of 1 mL/g) for RDX, HMX, and TNT. These constituents will be sorbed on organic carbon present in the Cañon de Valle alluvium, with the capacity for sorption represented by the compound-specific organic carbon sorption coefficient (K_∞). While the fraction organic carbon (FOC) in the alluvium is not known, FOC studies in Los Alamos Canyon (Hickmott 2003, 76190) indicate that FOC ranges from 0.1 to 5%. Finer fractions, like fine sand and silt, that are representative of floodplain deposits tend to be in the higher end of the FOC concentration range (e.g., 2–5%), while concentrations in the medium sand and larger fractions that are representative of buried channel deposits tend to be in the higher end of the FOC concentration range (buried channel deposits tend to be in the higher fractions that are representative of buried channel deposits tend to be in the higher end of the FOC concentration range (buried channel deposits tend to be in the higher fractions that are representative of buried channel deposits tend to be in the lower end of that range (e.g., 0.1–2%).

Barium has an affinity for adsorption on clays, oxides, and hydrous oxides, with literature values for equilibrium sorption coefficients in soil ranging from 66 to 2800 mL/g (Myers 2003, 76188). Although the concentrations of clays has not been studied in Cañon de Valle, clay content has been quantified for other canyons, and it generally correlates with the fine particle size fraction (Katzman 2003, 76850). For Cañon de Valle, the fine particle size fraction appears to contain the highest contaminant inventories compared to other geomorphic units, indicating that the clay content of the fine particle size fraction may be important (section 3.4.2.5.5). Barium sorption on these clay and oxide minerals takes the form of ion exchange and chemisorption, with sorption on clays primarily due to ion exchange. Furthermore, barium sorption on clay is thought to be irreversible under natural conditions. Once barium is sorbed, it is immobilized or "locked down" on the clay surface (Myers 2003, 76188). Consequently, ion exchange of barium on natural clay can serve as a means of immobilizing barium or retarding its movement in the environment.

A literature search for barium sorption studies on tuff was also conducted, but yielded no published studies. The dynamics of barium sorption on both tuff and alluvial sediment is an important gap in the conceptual model, especially with regard to its irreversibility and implications for the environmental fate of barium.

The physical and chemical properties of HE offer important insight into the environmental availability and fate of contaminants. Figure 5.2-4 shows the conceptual vadose zone distribution of barium and RDX, the two primary COPCs present in Cañon de Valle alluvial sediment. In Cañon de Valle, the alluvial water table fluctuates seasonally due to precipitation. Rising groundwater levels will dissolve barium minerals, primarily witherite, that are present in the unsaturated zone. Rising groundwater also causes the release of RDX-containing pore water previously trapped in the vadose zone. RDX and barium are also present as sorbed phases; barium is sorbed to clay particulates and other mineral phases; and RDX is sorbed to organic carbon present in the sediment. Alternatively, falling groundwater tables may cause the evaporation of water and the precipitation of barium minerals. In either scenario, the presence of these forms of barium and RDX in alluvial sediments represents a widespread continuing source that is mobilized by stormwater or a rising alluvial groundwater table associated with episodic precipitation events in Cañon de Valle.



Block of Cañon de Valle alluvium

Figure 5.2-4. Conceptual distribution of RDX and barium in the Cañon de Valle vadose zone

The relative sorption potential of barium and RDX is reflected in their respective contaminant distributions. In Regional Aquifer Well R-25, barium has not been detected, whereas RDX has been detected at a maximum concentration of 75 μ g/L. This difference is likely related to the higher relative sorption potential for barium on tuff.

The potential for biodegradation is another chemical property that is important in the long-term environmental fate of HE. TNT degrades aerobically and anaerobically, with reduction of the nitroso groups, eventually leading to cleavage and assimilation or mineralization of a portion of the TNT carbon. Groundwater analytical data from Cañon de Valle indicate active TNT degradation, with breakdown products (i.e., amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-] and amino-,6-dinitrotoluene [2-]) typically present in higher concentrations than TNT itself. One important drawback to aerobic degradation of HE is that significant amounts of the TNT carbon are left as refractory dead-end products of uncertain toxicity (Card and Autenrieth 1998, 76873). Anaerobic degradation rates are typically greater than aerobic rates. For either pathway, nutrient concentrations are also important. In subsurface regions of the conceptual model,

including the mesa vadose zone, canyon alluvium, and alluvial groundwater, the rate of natural biodegradation of RDX and HMX is likely to be low, given the lack of appropriate anaerobic conditions. RDX and HMX can also degrade chemically via an inorganic pH hydrolysis reaction (Layton et al. 1987, 14703). Groundwater and surface water at TA-16 typically have pH values high enough that hydrolysis may be important over the long term. However, the importance of this inorganic degradation pathway will require further assessment.

Barium does not biodegrade because it is an inorganic contaminant. In addition to the sorption of barium on naturally occurring tuff and clay minerals, barium forms a stable sulfate compound (barite) that is insoluble under natural conditions. Like sorption, the formation of barium sulfate serves as a natural form of stabilization for barium.

5.2.9 Conceptual Model Uncertainties

Despite the refinements of the TA-16 conceptual model and general reinforcement of the 1998 conceptual model, uncertainties about the TA-16 system remain, as discussed below.

- Characterization activities have not yet bounded the vertical extent of subsurface contamination beneath the potential source areas located on the mesa. Consequently, there is not enough information to accurately bound the mesa vadose zone contaminant inventories. Future drilling activities (e.g., at the 90s Line Pond) may help clarify these uncertainties.
- The uncertainties about the hydrogeology of the springs include the effects of the termination of 260 outfall discharges and the drought. Also, it is not clear if and when the benefits of the IM source removal at the TA-16-260 source area will be evident at the Cañon de Valle springs.
- 3. As noted in the 1998 Phase II RFI report, there is little evidence for a hydrogeological link between the 260 outfall and Martin Spring. Additional characterization since 1998 reinforces the idea that the Martin Spring system is affected by contaminant sources other than the 260 outfall (see sections 4.4.2.1.1, 4.4.2.1.2, and 4.4.2.1.7). Other potential source areas exist, but these have not been positively identified as contributing contamination at Martin Spring. The planned additional mesa characterization through intermediate-depth borings should help clarify this uncertainty, as discussed in revision 1 to the CMS plan addendum (LANL 2003, 75986.2).
- 4. As discussed in section 5.2.6, the hydrogeological interconnection between the canyon bottoms and the deeper groundwater systems (including the deep perched aquifer encountered in Regional Aquifer Well R-25 and the regional aquifer) is not well characterized. The lateral extent of the 700-ft perched aquifer encountered in Regional Aquifer Well R-25 is not well bounded (although Regional Aquifer Wells CdV-R-15-3 and CdV-R-37-2 improved this). The Zonge geophysical survey (Appendix D) indicates there may be an abrupt eastern boundary to the deep perched aquifer, but this has not been verified. In addition, the connection between the perched aquifer and the regional aquifer is not well characterized. These uncertainties will be addressed by other planned investigations (LANL 2003, 75986.2). In particular, three intermediate-depth wells have been proposed: one within Cañon de Valle near Regional Aquifer Well R-25, one near the Burning Ground, and one near Building 340.

- 5. The character of the lateral distribution of contaminant concentrations within Cañon de Valle alluvium is not known. Of the estimated 7000 ft of suspected saturated alluvium downstream from the TA-16-260 source area, monitoring wells are located along first 4000 ft. In addition, no groundwater or sediment samples have been obtained within an area 2000 ft upstream from existing sample points located at the confluence of Cañon de Valle and Water Canyon. The RRES-RS Canyons team will sample the groundwater and sediment in these reaches as part of their investigations into the Water Canyon and Cañon de Valle watersheds.
- 6. The distribution of permeability in Cañon de Valle saturated alluvial sediment is not known. These data are important to refining the water balance and to assessing the efficacy of groundwater remediation alternatives, such as groundwater recovery, in the CMS.
- 7. Potential areas of enhanced vertical groundwater infiltration within the Cañon de Valle alluvium can be inferred from geophysics resistivity results. These areas include a reach to the west of MDA P. The permeability of the sediment or fractures that comprise these areas is not known. Moreover, the correlation between geophysics resistivity data and water content has not been verified by field sampling. Additional subsurface investigations, as planned under revision 1 to the CMS plan addendum (LANL 2003, 75986.2), will include the installation of intermediate-depth wells in Cañon de Valle to help verify the geophysical interpretations.

6.0 SUMMARY OF RISK ASSESSMENTS

This section summarizes the results of the human health and ecological risk assessments completed for Cañon de Valle; the details can be found in Appendixes K and L, respectively.

6.1 Human Health Risk Assessment Summary

For human health, baseline risk assessments were performed according to EPA guidance. Because the site is divided into two areas for investigation, two human health baseline risk assessments are included in this section. The baseline risk assessments for the source area and for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area are based on the investigation results described in sections 2.0 and 3.0, along with spring data from section 4.0.

6.1.1 Methodology

Generally, the assessment process includes evaluation of data and identification of COPCs, development of source-term concentrations of COPCs, exposure assessment and quantification of COPC intake, evaluation of COPC toxicity, and characterization of potential risk. Each of these steps in the assessment process is described further in this section. A screening analysis was performed to identify the COPCs requiring further evaluation in a baseline analysis.

6.1.1.1 Data Evaluation and Identification of COPCs

The COPCs retained for evaluation in the risk assessment were identified using data from the source area and Cañon de Valle alluvial area investigations as described in sections 2.0, 3.0, and 4.0 of this report.

(a) Source Area

The results of the initial surface soil and tuff data review are presented in section 2.0 of this report. Detected chemicals were excluded from the analysis if any one of the following statements was true: (1) the chemical is an essential nutrient, (2) the detected concentrations occur in fewer than 5% of samples analyzed (if 21 or more samples are analyzed), or (3) measured concentrations are equal to or less than the Laboratory-wide background concentrations (LANL 1998, 59730).

The detected chemicals in soil and tuff that were not excluded were then compared with site-specific riskbased SALs under residential scenarios.

The chemicals that were detected above SALs in at least one sample were identified as COPCs for the source area risk assessment. The following chemicals were retained as COPCs for the baseline risk assessment: aluminum, arsenic, barium, manganese, thallium, uranium, HMX, RDX, and TNT.

(b) Cañon de Valle Alluvial Area

The results of the initial sediment, surface water, and springs data review for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area are presented in section 3.0 (sediment and surface water) and section 4.0 (springs), for post-1998 analytical data only. The pre-1998 analytical results for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area were summarized in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891) and are provided in Appendix G-4 to this report. Surface water and springs data were evaluated as a single medium, based on their similar potential exposure, and are referred to as surface water for the remainder of this section.

Detected chemicals were excluded from further consideration if any one of the following statements was true: (1) the chemical is an essential nutrient, (2) the chemical is detected in fewer than 5% of samples analyzed (if 21 or more samples are analyzed), or (3) the concentration is equal to or less than the Laboratory-wide sediment background concentrations.

The detected chemicals in sediment that were not excluded were then compared with SALs. Chemicals in sediment that were detected above SALs in at least one sample were identified as COPCs for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area risk assessment. The following chemicals were retained as COPCs for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area baseline risk assessment: aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, chromium, lead, manganese, silver, thallium, uranium, benzo(a)pyrene, dinitrobenzene[1,3-], hexachlorobenzene, indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene, nitrobenzene, RDX, and TNT.

Those detected chemicals in surface water that were not excluded were further screened against the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard and the EPA MCL for drinking water. If both the NMWQCC regulations numeric standard and the EPA MCL were available, the more conservative standard (the lower concentration) was chosen for comparative screening purposes. In the absence of both an NMWQCC regulations numeric standard and an EPA MCL, the corresponding EPA Region 6 or Region 9 tap water PRG was selected.

The following chemicals were retained as COPCs for surface water in the Cañon de Valle alluvial area baseline risk assessment: aluminum, antimony, arsenic, barium, cadmium, cesium, chromium, cyanide, lead, manganese, mercury, rubidium, selenium, silver, thallium, uranium, amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene[4-], amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene[2-], bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate, bromomethane, chloromethane, dichloroethane[1,2-], dinitrobenzene[1,3-], dinitrotoluene[2,6-], dinitrosodimethylamine (DNX), methylene chloride, mononitrosodimethylamine (MNX), nitrate-nitrite as N (evaluated as nitrite), nitrobenzene, nitrotoluene[3-], nitrotoluene[4-], perchlorate, RDX, TNT, americium-241, and ruthenium-106. Of the COPCs listed above, the following were retained as COPCs only in the Phase II RFI: chromium, bromomethane, dichloroethane[1,2-], dinitrobenzene[1,3-], dinitrobenzene[1,3-], nitrotoluene[2,6-], methylene chloride, nitrotoluene[3-], nitrotoluene[4-], americium-241, and ruthenium-106.

6.1.1.2 Development of Source-Term Concentrations

A representative exposure concentration was calculated for each COPC because of the uncertainty associated with characterizing chemical concentrations in affected environmental media. This representative concentration is the source term used for the assessment of exposure to human receptors. Guidance provided by the EPA (1989, 08021) and LANL (2000, 66801) for exposure assessments describes the evaluation of a central tendency estimate (CTE) scenario and a reasonable maximum exposure (RME) scenario for each receptor. The EPA recommends using the mean concentration for the CTE assessment, and an estimate of the upper confidence limit (UCL) on the mean, or an appropriately similar measure, as the source term concentration for an RME assessment (EPA 1989, 08021).

Statistical tests were performed on the data describing the concentrations of each COPC identified for soil, tuff, sediment, and surface water to ensure that the assumptions inherent in the UCL calculations are valid. The EPA program ProUCL (Lockheed Martin 2002, 73767) was used to determine data distributions. If the concentrations of a chemical have a normal distribution, the 95% UCL was calculated using the Student's *t*-statistic. If the data are not normally distributed, the 95% UCL was calculated using the nonparametric bootstrap method (for both lognormal and nonparametric distributions). More details regarding the statistical analyses can be found in Appendix I-1. The mean and 95% UCL concentrations of COPCs that were used as source terms for the risk assessments of the source area and Cafion de Valle alluvial area are provided in Appendix K (Tables K-5 and K-6).

6.1.1.3 Exposure Assessment

As done in the Phase II RFI report (LANL 1998, 59891), the baseline risk assessment for the source area includes potential exposures of an on-site environmental worker, a trail user, and a construction worker, and it incorporates the assumptions of that report. These are the most likely current and proposed future receptors in the source area. For the alluvial area, the baseline risk assessment is limited to potential exposure of a trail user. No groundwater from the site is available for drinking water use, and potential exposure to groundwater will be evaluated in the regional groundwater CMS.

(a) Source Area

The conceptual site model (CSM) of the source area indicates the complete pathways identified for potential worker exposures (Appendix K). Soil/tuff residues can be released into the air by airborne dust suspension and volatilization from soil. Receptors could come into direct contact with COPC residues in soil/tuff and be exposed by incidental ingestion of soil/tuff or by dermal contact with soil/tuff. No bodies of surface water exist in the source area; therefore, there is no complete pathway for direct contact with surface water or sediment. No groundwater from the site is available for drinking water use, and potential exposure to groundwater will be evaluated in the regional groundwater CMS. The following complete exposure pathways were quantitatively evaluated in the risk assessment for the source area (Appendix K):

- inhalation of volatiles or dust particles from soil/tuff,
- incidental ingestion of soil/tuff, and
- dermal contact with soil/tuff.

The pathways described above are the most likely ones for receptors based on the activities that take place at the source area (LANL 1998, 59891; LANL 2000, 64355.4). The on-site environmental worker represents individuals involved in environmental monitoring such as field-sampling. The trail user is a worker who uses the trails for recreation/exercise purposes such as walking or jogging. The construction worker represents individuals involved in more intrusive work activities such as excavation. All human receptors evaluated according to these scenarios are assumed to have the same complete exposure pathways (Appendix K) but different work patterns, patterns which affect the frequency and duration of exposure.

(b) Cañon de Valle Alluvial Area

The CSM for the alluvial area (Appendix K) indicates the complete pathways identified for potential human exposure. Because bodies of surface water do exist in the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, there are complete exposure pathways for direct contact (ingestion and dermal) with sediment and, to a lesser extent, surface water. For surface water, direct contact is expected to be minimal. Trail users are not expected to be in direct contact with the surface water (i.e., wading) under normal conditions, and the use of the surface water as a potential drinking water source is even more unlikely. However, both of these pathways were evaluated within this risk assessment. In addition, inhalation of dust is considered to be a minor pathway for the alluvial area due to the limited exposed soil or sediment within the canyon (i.e., the alluvial area is well vegetated and/or wet). No groundwater from the site is available for drinking water use. Therefore, ingestion and dermal contact pathways for exposure to groundwater are incomplete at the alluvial area and are not evaluated in this risk assessment. However, potential exposure to groundwater will be evaluated in the regional groundwater CMS.

The following complete exposure pathways were quantitatively evaluated in the risk assessment for the alluvial area (Appendix K):

- incidental ingestion of sediment and surface water,
- dermal contact with sediment and surface water, and
- inhalation of fugitive dust.

The only potential receptor for the alluvial area is a trail user; a trail user is defined as a worker who uses the trails for recreation/exercise purposes such as walking or jogging and who may access the canyon for this purpose. Currently this is the only potential receptor for the alluvial area, and the future land use is expected to remain recreational (i.e., a worker who uses trails for recreation/exercise purposes).

6.1.1.4 Quantification of Chemical Intake

EPA guidance and LANL guidance (EPA 1989, 08021; LANL 2000, 66801) provide the methods for estimating the pathway-specific exposures using exposure parameters that are appropriate for each complete pathway.

Intake doses were calculated using the following generic equation:

Chronic Daily Intake (LADD or ADD) =
$$\frac{C \times CR \times EF \times ED}{BW \times AT_{(c \ or \ nc)} \times 365 \ days/yr}$$

where:

CDI	=	chronic daily intake (the lifetime average daily dose [LADD] for carcinogenic
		effects or the average daily dose [ADD] for noncancer effects) (mg/kg-day);
С	-	EPC of chemical in medium of concern;
CR		contact rate;
EF		exposure frequency;
ED	=	exposure duration;
BW	=	body weight; and
AT _(c or nc)	Ξ	averaging time [toxic effect assessment-determined variable, equal to ED for
		noncancer effects (nc) and 70 years for carcinogenic (c) effects].

The contact rate refers to the amount of contaminated medium contacted per unit of time or event and it can be comprised of several parameters. The contact rate for the soil ingestion pathway, for example, is the amount of contaminated soil that an individual ingests during a specific time period.

The methodology and the receptor-specific exposure parameter assumptions for each complete exposure pathway evaluated are provided in LANL (2000, 66801) and are summarized in Appendix K. The receptor-specific exposure parameters are provided in Table K-7.

6.1.1.5 Toxicity Evaluation

Toxicity assessment is the process of using the existing toxicity information from human or animal studies to identify potential health risks at various exposure levels in exposure populations (EPA 1989, 08021). The relationship between the exposure to a chemical, which is expressed as CDI, and an adverse health effect, which is expressed as a toxic response to a specific intake, must be quantified in order to assess potential health risks.

The methods used to develop toxicity factors differ depending on whether the COPC is a potential carcinogen or causes noncancer health effects. The most recently available toxicity factors developed by regulatory agencies and other sources were used, based on the following hierarchy of sources:

- 1. EPA's Integrated Risk Information System (www.epa.gov/iris)
- 2. EPA's Health Effects Assessment Summary Tables (EPA 1997, 58698)
- 3. Other primary literature sources cited in context

Oral toxicity values (both slope factors and references doses) were used for the quantitative evaluation of dermal exposure (EPA 2002, 76867).

6.1.1.6 Risk Characterization

Risk characterization integrates the COPC selection, exposure assessment, and toxicity assessment to describe the risks of potential adverse health effects to human receptors according to the assumed exposure scenarios. Because the causes of cancer and noncancer effects are assumed to result from different mechanisms of action, the evaluation of carcinogenic and noncarcinogenic effects use different methodologies.

The NMED soil screening levels (SSLs) are generally based on a 10^{-5} target risk for carcinogens, or a hazard quotient (HQ) of 1 for noncarcinogens (NMED 2000, 68554). In addition, EPA (NCP 1990, 76875) defines a maximum acceptable range of incremental lifetime cancer risk (ILCR) as 1×10^{-6} to 1×10^{-4} or a maximum HQ of 1.0 for the purposes of recommending further action at a site.

6.1.2 Human Health Risk Assessment Results

This section summarizes the results of the human health risk assessments for both the source area and Cañon de Valle alluvial area. The potential risks calculated for each receptor, COPC, and pathway are detailed in Appendix K.

6.1.2.1 Source Area

The cumulative excess cancer risk to all human receptors from potential exposures to COPCs in soil and tuff are within or below the 1×10^{-6} to 1×10^{-4} range of acceptable risk specified by EPA (1991, 56140) under both CTE and RME assumptions. In addition, the cumulative excess cancer risk to all human receptors, except the environmental worker receptor (estimated according to the RME assumptions), was equivalent to, or less than, the NMED target risk level of 1×10^{-5} . Cancer risks ranged from 9×10^{-7} (environmental worker) to 4×10^{-7} (trail user) for the CTE assumptions, and from 3×10^{-5} (environmental worker) to 3×10^{-6} (trail user) for the RME assumptions. Risks associated with potential inhalation of fugitive dust are negligible compared to those associated with the ingestion and dermal contact pathways (see Tables K-12a, K-16a, and K-20a in Appendix K).

The cancer risk associated with exposure to RDX is the greatest contributor to the cumulative cancer risk estimates of RME exposures for the environmental worker, the trail user, and the construction worker. Arsenic and TNT also contribute to the cumulative cancer estimates by both the ingestion and dermal pathways for all three types of receptors.

The noncancer hazard estimates that were made according to CTE assumptions are below the acceptable HI of 1.0 specified by the NMED (2000, 68554) and EPA (NCP 1990, 76875) for the environmental worker, the trail user, and the construction worker. According to RME assumptions, the

only receptor above the acceptable HI of 1.0 was the construction worker (HI = 2.0) (see Tables K-12b, K-16b, and K-20b in Appendix K).

The noncancer hazards associated with the exposure to TNT, RDX, and barium are the greatest contributors to the cumulative hazard estimates of RME exposures for the environmental worker, the trail user, and the construction worker. However, the individual COPC HQs did not exceed 1.0 for any of the receptors under either CTE or RME assumptions.

In summary, the cumulative excess cancer risk to all human receptors from potential exposures to all COPCs in soil and tuff was slightly above, or less than, the 10⁻⁵ target risk specified by the NMED (2000, 68554) under either CTE or RME assumptions. Noncancer hazards are below an HI of 1.0 for CTE exposure assumptions, and below, or slightly above, an HI of 1.0 for RME assumptions (the maximum HI is 2.0 for the RME construction worker).

6.1.2.2 Cañon de Valle

The cumulative excess cancer risk from potential exposures to COPCs in sediment and surface water are below the 1×10^{-5} target risk specified by the NMED (2000, 68554) under both CTE (mean COPC concentration) and RME (95% UCL concentration) assumptions for all of the pathways evaluated. In addition, the cumulative excess cancer risks were all below the NMED target risk level of 1×10^{-5} .

The cancer risk associated with exposure to RDX is the greatest contributor to the cumulative cancer risk estimates for exposure in both sediment and surface water. Arsenic and benzo(a)pyrene contribute appreciably to the cumulative cancer estimate for exposure to sediment (see Table K-25a in Appendix K).

The noncancer hazard estimates made according to CTE and RME assumptions are below the acceptable HI of 1.0 specified by the NMED (2000, 68554) for the trail user and all exposure pathways (see Table K-25b in Appendix K).

In summary, the cumulative excess cancer risk to the trail user from potential exposures to all COPCs in sediment and surface water is below the 1×10^{-5} target risk specified by the NMED (2000, 68554) Noncancer hazards are also below the HI of 1.0 for both exposure assumptions.

6.1.2.3 Martin Spring Canyon

For Martin Spring Canyon, a COPC concentration comparison was done between relative COPC concentrations (maximum and mean) in sediment and surface water and those found at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area. It was concluded that the Martin Spring Canyon COPC concentrations were less than, or within the range of, those found at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, and therefore the concentrations in Martin Spring Canyon do not pose a potential unacceptable risk to human receptors under the trail-user scenario.

Nine of the chemicals retained as COPCs in sediment for Cañon de Valle were not retained as COPCs in sediment for Martin Spring Canyon. The only COPC in sediment that had a Martin Spring Canyon maximum concentration greater than its Cañon de Valle alluvial area counterpart was arsenic (10 mg/kg versus 4.2 mg/kg). The ILCR for arsenic in sediment in the Cañon de Valle alluvial area baseline risk assessment for the RME scenario was 3E-07; the arsenic concentration in sediment at Martin Spring Canyon does not substantially increase the risk of 3E-07 calculated for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area. A comparison between the mean and the 95% UCL of the mean for sediment concentrations shows similar results (see Table 4 in Appendix K).

Seventeen of the chemicals retained as COPCs in surface water at Cañon de Valle were not retained as COPCs in surface water at Martin Spring Canyon. The only COPCs in surface water that had a Martin Spring Canyon maximum concentration greater than their Cañon de Valle alluvial area counterparts were arsenic (75.1 μ g/L versus 27 μ g/L), manganese (67,800 μ g/L versus 2200 μ g/L), mercury (1.1 μ g/L versus 1 μ g/L), nitrate/nitrite (3,800,000 μ g/L versus 3,380,000 μ g/L), nitrobenzene (100 μ g/L versus 50 μ g/L), and selenium (38.3 μ g/L versus 10 μ g/L). None of these surface water COPCs were risk drivers in the baseline risk assessment for Cañon de Valle alluvial area; based on the similarity of the concentrations (all are less than, or equal to, one order of magnitude, with the exception of manganese), the risk from exposure to surface water at Martin Spring Canyon is similar to, or less than, that at Cañon de Valle. A comparison of mean surface water concentrations shows similar results (see Table K1-5 in Appendix K).

6.1.3 Uncertainty Analysis

Consideration of the uncertainty associated with the risk assessment process provides additional information for an informed interpretation of the results and allows better risk management decisions.

Uncertainties in final risk estimates from a baseline risk assessment may result from both the use of assumptions or models in lieu of measured data and from errors inherent in the estimation of exposure parameters. These uncertainties may result in the potential over- or underestimation of receptor-specific risks. Generally, the primary sources of uncertainty are associated with (1) environmental sampling and analysis and the selection of COPCs, (2) exposure assessment, and (3) toxicity assessment.

6.1.3.1 Environmental Sampling and Analysis and COPC Identification

Errors in chemical analyses may come from several sources, including errors inherent in the sampling and analytical procedures. Errors in analytical accuracy or sampling can result in the qualification of data, which increases the uncertainty in source-term concentrations. Data that contained serious errors and could not be appropriately qualified for use in the risk assessment were rejected to reduce error.

A primary uncertainty associated with the COPC identification process is the possibility that a chemical may be inappropriately identified or eliminated as a COPC. It is unlikely that inorganic chemicals were inappropriately excluded because the only detected inorganic chemicals excluded were those determined to be no different than background levels. Arsenic was a significant contributor to the carcinogenic risk at both the source area (in soil and tuff) and at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area (for sediment). However, the arsenic 95% UCL concentrations are within the range of the Laboratory-wide background levels for all three media (LANL 1998, 59703), indicating that potential exposure to arsenic at either the source area or the Cañon de Valle alluvial area is similar to background levels and that the carcinogenic risk due to potential exposure to arsenic would not be different from background. The COPC selection process used in this risk analysis has resulted in an overestimation of risk, based on the screening scenario evaluated (residential). All detected chemicals were initially considered to be COPCs, even in cases where the frequency of detection was less than 5% for both inorganic and organic COPCs. The chemicals detected in less than 5% of the samples were retained as COPCs if the maximum detection or detection limit of the analysis exceeded the SAL. For example, benzo(a)pyrene was detected in one of 43 sediment samples for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, but it was retained as a COPC due to high detection limits.

6.1.3.2 Exposure Assessment

Exposure assessment incorporates assumptions regarding the use of a site and the activities of receptors using the site. Because the activities of receptors at the site are variable and unpredictable, assumptions

and inferences were made to include these uncertainties in overestimated exposures. These elevated exposure estimates lead to conservative estimates of risk.

Sources of uncertainty in exposure assessments include the uncertainties in (1) exposure point concentration estimates, (2) time and duration of exposure, and (3) chemical intake calculation. Variability or heterogeneity in exposure routes and exposure dynamics such as age, gender, behavior, genetic constitution, state of health, and random movement of the potentially exposed populations also introduces uncertainty into the exposure estimates. Assessing exposures according to CTE and RME assumptions is one method for estimating the impact of these uncertainties on the range of estimated risks.

Assuming that the concentration in bulk soil, sediment, and surface water is the same as the exposurepoint concentration introduces uncertainty into the exposure analysis. Environmental sampling at the source area was designed to assess the soil after the IM of the area most affected by the outfall. The exposure-point concentrations are reasonable estimates of exposure. For the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, the sampling focused on the entire reach of the canyon and, to some extent, the discharge point of the springs. Therefore, the mean and UCL concentrations are reasonable estimates of potential exposure-point concentrations for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area.

Because all the chemical concentrations measured in soil, sediment, and surface water were assumed to be constant over the exposure period, the estimated exposure doses are probably overestimated. In addition, a large portion of the HE source has been removed from the source area, and the potential transport to the Cañon de Valle alluvial area is expected to decrease over time. Therefore, the use of all available historic data for the Cañon de Valle alluvial area will result in an overestimation of exposure-point concentrations.

The goal of characterizing the time of contact is to develop estimates of contact frequency and duration of exposure. For this risk assessment, the exposure values were taken from LANL (2000, 66801), the Phase II RFI report (LANL 2000, 59891), and the IM report (LANL 2002, 73706). However, in the absence of site-specific data, the exposure assumptions used were consistent with EPA-approved parameters and default values (EPA 2002, 76867). When several upper-bound values are combined (e.g., as in the RME scenario) to estimate exposure for any one pathway, the resulting risk can exceed the 99th percentile of the "expected risk" and therefore, may overestimate the range of risk that may be reasonably expected. Values developed for CTE and RME assumptions were used for all scenarios evaluated. By evaluating both the CTE and RME scenarios, a bounding of the potential risk is determined (i.e., a measure of the reasonable maximum risk versus the central tendency risk). The real risks at the source area and the Cañon de Valle alluvial area are expected to be somewhere in between these measures; thus, the risks are bounded for each potential receptor.

6.1.3.3 Toxicity Assessment

EPA toxicity values [reference doses (RfDs) and slope factors (SFs)] were used to derive the nonradiological SALs used in this risk screening assessment and in the calculation of baseline risks (EPA 2001, 70109; EPA 1997, 58968). Uncertainties were identified in four areas with respect to the toxicity values: extrapolation from animals to humans, extrapolation from one route of exposure to another route of exposure, individual variability in the human population, and use of a surrogate to estimate toxicity.

 Extrapolation from animals to humans—The SFs and RfDs are often determined by extrapolating from animal data to humans. This may result in uncertainties in toxicity values due to the differences in chemical absorption, metabolism, excretion, and toxic response between animals and humans. EPA takes into account differences in body weight, surface area, and pharmacokinetic relationships between animals and humans in order to minimize the potential for underestimating the dose-response relationship. However, conservatism is usually incorporated into each of these steps, which results in overestimation of potential risk.

- Extrapolation from one route of exposure to another route of exposure—The SFs and RfDs often contain extrapolations from one route of exposure to another that result in additional conservatisms used in the risk calculations. For example, an extrapolation from the oral route to the inhalation and/or the dermal route was used to calculate SALs and baseline risks (EPA 2002, 76867), and differences between the two exposure pathways contribute to uncertainty in the estimation of potential risk at this site.
- 3. Individual variability within the human population—For noncarcinogenic effects, the degree of variability in human physical characteristics is important to determining the risks that can be expected at low exposures and to defining the no-observed-adverse-effect level (NOAEL). The NOAEL uncertainty factor approach incorporates a ten-fold factor to reflect individual variability within the human population which can contribute to uncertainty in a risk assessment; this factor of 10 generally results in a conservative estimate of risk for noncarcinogenic COPCs.
- 4. Use of a surrogate to estimate COPC toxicity—Several COPCs evaluated in the baseline risk assessment have no toxicity values in any of the databases. The reason for the lack of toxicity information is either that the chemical is not, or has not been, a concern, and/or the available toxicity information has not been reviewed by EPA. In these cases, there are several options available from, and recommended by, EPA: (1) addressing the potential risk in a qualitative manner, looking at magnitude of concentrations and frequency of detection; (2) calculating a value from available scientific literature using the EPA methodology; or (3) using a toxicity value for another chemical based on similar structure (EPA 1989, 08021). The assumption for the last alternative is that the known toxicity of one chemical may be used to estimate the toxicity of another structurally related chemical for which data are lacking. This alternative is often used because it allows the use of toxicity information that has been accepted by EPA and is more expeditious then trying to calculate a new toxicity value. The following surrogates were used for evaluating toxicity in this risk assessment: 2,6-DNT for 4-amino-2,6-dinitrotoluene and 2-amino-4,6-dinitrotoluene, and RDX for DNX and MNX.

6.2 Ecological Risk Assessment Summary

Potential ecological risks were evaluated using multiple lines of evidence for the terrestrial and aquatic systems in Cañon de Valle. The detailed methodology and results for the ecological risk assessment are provided in Appendix L. The lines of evidence for the terrestrial system compare the small mammal populations and contaminant body burdens of Cañon de Valle with upper Pajarito Canyon (a reference site). The lines of evidence for the aquatic system make three comparisons. The first is a comparison of benthic macro-invertebrate communities between Cañon de Valle and three reference canyons. The second is a comparison of Cañon de Valle benthic macro-invertebrate data from 1997 with data from 2001. The third is a comparison of sediment toxicity in *Chironomus tentans* samples collected from Cañon de Valle with samples from a reference location in Starmer's Gulch.

6.2.1 Ecological Risk Assessment Methodology

The process used to evaluate site conditions and to assess potential adverse ecological effects followed the guidance provided in EPA (1997, 59370) and NMED (2000, 70107). This process, as developed by the EPA, consists of eight generalized steps. The scoping and screening methodology developed by RRES-RS (LANL 1999, 64783) combines the first two steps of the EPA process. This results in seven ecological risk assessment steps:

- 1. RRES-RS ecological risk screening methodology (EPA Steps 1 and 2)
- 2. Baseline risk assessment problem formulation (EPA Step 3)
- 3. Sampling/study design and data quality objectives to address data gaps (EPA Step 4)
- 4. Field verification of the sampling design (EPA Step 5)
- 5. Site investigation (EPA Step 6)
- 6. Baseline risk characterization (EPA Step 7)
- 7. Risk management (EPA Step 8)

The baseline ecological risk assessment approach for Cañon de Valle was developed in partnership with the NMED and DOE through the High Performing Team. The team meetings and field visits were used to receive feedback about the design, implementation, and results for Steps 1 through 6.

6.2.1.1 Scoping, Screening and Problem Formulation

The first and second steps of the process use ESLs that have been developed and documented in the Ecorisk Database. The screening analysis and problem formulation for Cañon de Valle were conducted using an earlier version, 1.2 (LANL 2000, 67822) of the database. These steps have not been revisited with the newer versions of the database because the conclusion of the problem formulation was a finding of potential adverse effects in the canyon. The consequence of identifying potential adverse effects in the canyon was to complete the ecological risk assessment process. Repeating the problem formulation with a newer version of the Ecorisk Database would not change that outcome. Step 1, ecological risk screening, is documented in LANL (1998, 59891). Step 2, baseline risk assessment problem formulation, is documented in Appendix L to this document.

6.2.1.2 Assessment Endpoints

The problem formulation identifies the environmental values, or assessment endpoints, to be protected for Cañon de Valle, in the context of the surrounding landscape and the resident threatened species. Cañon de Valle is one of many canyons incised into the Pajarito Plateau. This canyon has a perennial spring and an alluvial seep in the vicinity of the TA-16 facilities. The presence of water in the canyon is ecologically important to the viability of many species in this semi-arid environment. Additionally, the canyon supports a multi-leveled overstory of mixed conifer, aspen, and oak, with grasses and forbs on overbanks and terraces. The combination of perennial water and diverse vegetation makes the canyon a relatively attractive location for endemic fauna. The Mexican spotted owl, a threatened species, has a nesting site downcanyon from the 260 outfall and is likely to hunt in the canyon. The following specific assessment endpoints are addressed by measures of effects identified in Step 3:

- Community viability of small mammals as an indication of contaminant impacts on maximally exposed taxa across trophic levels and foraging guilds in the terrestrial environment.
- Contaminant concentrations in the food web as an indication of potential impacts on carnivores, including the Mexican Spotted Owl, a resident threatened species in the canyon.
- Capacity of the perennial reach of the canyon to support an aquatic community as an indication of the extent to which contaminants have impaired sediment and water quality.

6.2.1.3 Study Design and Implementation

The third step, sampling/study design and data quality objectives, develops those measures of effects to be used in field investigations that will provide lines of evidence to address the assessment endpoints. The design is coupled with Step 4, field verification, to determine the feasibility of the proposed sampling plan, and with Step 5, field investigation, to implement the study design. Terrestrial system lines of evidence consisted of small mammal population studies and small mammal contaminant body burdens. The aquatic system's lines of evidence consisted of benthic macro-invertebrate surveys and toxicity testing of site sediment and water. The details of Steps 3 through 5 can be found in Appendix L.

6.2.1.4 Risk Characterization

Step 6, baseline risk characterization, assembles the lines of evidence to determine whether adverse effects are occurring at the site, determines the extent of those effects, and makes a recommendation for risk management. The final step, risk management, is a policy and institutional management process that uses the results of the assessment and incorporates public comment. Step 6 is documented in Appendix L of this report. Risk management will be developed and documented in the CMI for the site.

6.2.2 Ecological Risk Assessment Results

6.2.2.1 Terrestrial Assessment

Results of the terrestrial mammal population study show that the number of species and the population densities are both greater in Cañon de Valle than in the reference site. Additionally, Cañon de Valle consistently had more reproductive status classes than Pajarito Canyon. This evidence indicates that the contaminant inventories in Cañon de Valle are not adversely affecting the small mammal community.

A comparison of body weights by species shows no differences between the canyons except in the case of brush mice when the sexes are combined (Appendix L, Table L-7). As detailed in Appendix L, this

difference in weights is associated with a relatively large number of nonreproductive individuals in Cañon de Valle. The difference in weights actually indicates the brush mouse population in Cañon de Valle is more active with regard to reproduction because it has more individuals making the transition from juvenile to reproductive status.

The analysis of contaminant body burdens for small mammals shows that the whole-mouse concentrations are well below concentration levels of concern [defined as ecological screening levels (ESLs)] for the Mexican spotted owl. The maximum lead value exceeded the ESL, but upper bound estimates for the median lead value and considerations of the owl home range indicate that the contaminant inventories in Cañon de Valle are not posing a potential food chain risk to the owl.

6.2.2.2 Aquatic Assessment

The benthic macro-invertebrate lines of evidence for 1996 and 1997 show that the total number of benthic macro-invertebrate taxa in Cañon de Valle (31) is within the range of values for the three reference reaches (25 to 42). Sensitive species are present in Cañon de Valle, but the total number of sensitive species is lower than in the reference reaches. This result corresponds to the comparisons of community metrics for the reaches. The Cañon de Valle composite metric score of 81% is slightly above the cut-off for impacted streams (79%) when compared to Pajarito Canyon, the most similar reference stream. There are two possible sources of these differences. First, the scraper community is substantially reduced in Cañon de Valle. The primary reason is thought to be a lack of habitat to support that feeding strategy. When the community metrics are summed without the scraper community metric, Cañon de Valle scores 90% relative to Pajarito Canyon. The second source of differences between Cañon de Valle and the references reaches is stream size. Cañon de Valle is the smallest of the streams. It is common for smaller streams to have fewer taxa.

The 2001 benthic macro-invertebrate data from Cañon de Valle show general decreases from 1997 in numbers of species, sensitive species, and community metrics. These changes are primarily due to a combination of the elimination of flow augmentation by effluent discharges and the continuing drought which has reduced natural sources of water to the canyon. A toxicity test of the sediment and site water adjacent to the Cañon de Valle benthic macro-invertebrate sampling site indicated no adverse effects for the survival or growth of the test organism, *Chironomus tentans*. If the reduction in benthic macro-invertebrate community metrics were related to contaminants, one would expect survival and growth impacts in the toxicity test.

The sediment toxicity testing lines of evidence show that Cañon de Valle may be affected relative to the reference site in Starmer's Gulch. The greatest impacts occurred at the SWSC Cut site, with 22.5% survival and an increase in growth. The mortality is likely associated with silver in the sediment and water and with lead in the water column. The increase in growth over reference organisms is most likely associated with the presence of RDX in the sediment (Appendix L, Figures L-9 and L-10).

The toxicity testing site below the confluence with Burning Ground Spring showed a moderate survival response of 68.5% which was not different from the reference site but was statistically different (in this case, less than) from the downstream site below MDA P. The sediment at this location had elevated levels of barium, copper, and lead. The site below MDA P had survival and growth responses similar to the reference site at Starmer's Gulch.

In 2002, a second round of toxicity testing was conducted for the sites that had shown reduced survival in 2001. The mortality responses of 2001 did not recur (Appendix L, Table L-11). These results indicate that the sediment in the canyon is heterogeneous with regard to potential toxic effects and contaminant concentrations. The variability in the toxicity testing results is important to the risk characterization

because it helps to reconcile the lack of effects noted in benthic macro-invertebrate community data. If there are pockets of sediment that cause adverse effects in the aquatic community, these areas are likely to be small and avoidable by the benthic community.

6.2.2.3 Uncertainty Analysis

The major source of uncertainty associated with this assessment is that the terrestrial and sediment toxicity evaluations were conducted during a multi-year drought and within 1 year of the Cerro Grande fire of 2000. The results of the investigations may differ during wetter periods, but the potential impact of contaminants on the environment is not likely to be increased. Individual and population effects are typically the consequence of multiple stressors. The drought is one of those stressors and is likely to increase the potential of detecting an adverse effect that could be associated with contaminants. Fire effects often result in increased small mammal populations associated with increased ground vegetation. If contaminant uptake and food chain transfers were a source of population effects, then post-fire environments should increase the likelihood of these effects.

Ecological screening assessments are subject to uncertainties through the use of laboratory toxicology studies to develop NOAEL contaminant concentrations. These studies use chemical forms of contaminants and exposure mechanisms that are often conservative when compared to environmental conditions and foraging behaviors. Additionally, laboratory studies are often conducted with single contaminants. The consequences of combined contaminants for receptors is largely unknown. The results presented for Cañon de Valle are based upon field studies and laboratory toxicity studies combined with field-collected media from the canyon. This approach obviates the usual difficulties of extrapolating laboratory data to field settings.

The calculations of HMX and RDX exposure concentrations for the Mexican spotted owl were based on mammal toxicity reference values. This is because, at the time this work was conducted, data were not available in the literature for avian exposures to these chemicals. The Department of the Army has since published results of exposure studies for RDX (Salice and Holdsworth 2001, 73780) and HMX (USACHPPM 2001, 73781) using Northern Bobwhite quail (*Colinus virginianus*). The toxicity reference value (TRV) for RDX is 8.7 mg/kg-d. This value is in agreement with the rat TRV of 10 mg/kg-d, indicating that the calculated Mexican spotted owl ESL for RDX is appropriate. The companion study for HMX did not publish a TRV because exposure of quail to HMX has not resulted in mortality or morbidity in subchronic studies with doses up to 10,000 ppm HMX in food. These results indicate that the mouse TRV of 75 mg/kg-d for HMX is a conservative proxy for avian effects and is protective of the Mexican spotted owl.

The relevance of this assessment for making decisions regarding Cañon de Valle is predicated upon the assumptions that the data accurately represent the contaminant signatures in the canyon and that the present-day contaminant concentrations will be diminished in the future through hydrologic processes. The data have been collected over three phases of RFI, each phase responding to the results of previous work. The elimination of facility discharges, the removal and closure of MDA P, the excavation of the silver outfall, the IM conducted at the 260 outfall, and the partial removal of MDA R all lend support to the assumption that contaminant sources have been reduced or eliminated, and that contaminant concentrations in the canyon are likely to decrease over time.

The silver concentrations for sediment in the canyon, from the SWSC Cut and above, run contrary to this conceptual model. In 2001 and 2002, six ecotoxicological samples were collected in support of toxicity testing, and the 2002 active channel sediment samples contained silver concentrations ranging from 85.5 to 167 mg/kg. The previous high value for silver in Cañon de Valle across 45 samples with 25 detections

was 15.1 mg/kg. These high values in the channel, within 2000 ft of the silver outfall, indicate that post–Cerro Grande fire flooding or the removal action at the silver outfall mobilized silver downcanyon.

6.2.2.4 Summary of Ecological Risk

The ecological risk assessment for the terrestrial system in Cañon de Valle revealed some elevated metals concentrations in the small mammals but no values that were likely to cause adverse effects for the Mexican spotted owl. The numbers of species, population densities, and reproductive classes for those species indicated that the Cañon de Valle small mammal community is not being adversely affected by contaminants.

The ecological assessment of the aquatic system in the canyon found some differences between benthic macro-invertebrates in Cañon de Valle and reference canyons. These differences were attributed to relative sizes of the streams, with Cañon de Valle being the smallest, and reduced flows due to the ongoing drought. One of the two rounds of toxicity testing for sediment and water in the canyon resulted in reduced survival for a site near the 260 outfall and a site below Burning Ground Spring. These results were not replicated in a subsequent toxicity test, indicating a high variability in the contaminant signatures for this sediment. Because the toxicity test is designed to be an indicator of potential effects in an aquatic system but is not a substitute for field assessments, the presence of a viable benthic macro-invertebrate community in the canyon may be a more meaningful measure of the canyon's condition than the toxicity testing results.

7.0 CONCLUSIONS

In general, the overall conceptual model presented in the Phase II RFI still applies on a site-wide basis. The Phase III RFI data have reduced data uncertainties for the CMS process. One important goal of the Phase III RFI was to investigate and incorporate into the conceptual model the hydrogeologic and contaminant transport dynamics of the Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring alluvial and subsurface groundwater systems. The Phase III RFI conclusions are provided in the following sections.

7.1 SWMU 16-021(c)-99 Source Area

- The removal of over 1300 yd³ of soil during the IM greatly reduced the source area concentrations of barium and HE compounds. Although the volume of the residual soil within the former outfall source area is less than 100 yd³ (based on field observations), the soil contains elevated concentrations of HE and barium that could be mobilized by stormwater runoff. Although the residual soil is small in volume, approximately 650 kg of HE compounds and barium COPCs still remain at SWMU 16-021(c)-99 in isolated locations throughout the drainage channel.
- The baseline risk assessment for the source area used the list of identified COPCs and assessed potential exposures to an on-site environmental worker, a trail user, and a construction worker. The cumulative excess cancer risk to all human receptors from potential exposures to all COPCs in soil and tuff is slightly above, or less than, the 1×10⁻⁵ risk specified by NMED under both CTE and RME assumptions (the potential risk is within the EPA target risk range of 10⁻⁶ to 10⁻⁴). Noncancer hazards are below an HI of 1.0 for CTE exposure assumptions and below, or slightly above, an HI of 1.0 for RME assumptions (the maximum HI is 2.0).

7.2 Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon Alluvial Systems

- Sediments in Cañon de Valle and Martin Spring Canyon represent a secondary source for HE
 and barium that is potentially mobilized by surface water and alluvial groundwater. Moreover, the
 perennial reach of Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater provides a high potential for subsequent
 infiltration of mobilized contaminants.
- For the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, a trail-user exposure scenario was assessed. The cumulative excess cancer risk to the trail user from potential exposure to all COPCs in sediment and surface water is below the 1×10⁻⁵ target risk specified by NMED for both CTE and RME assumptions. Noncancer hazards are below a HI of 1.0 for both exposure assumptions.
- The ecological risk assessment followed EPA and NMED guidance. For the terrestrial system in Cañon de Valle, elevated metals concentrations were found in small mammals but not at levels that are likely to cause adverse effects for the Mexican spotted owl. The numbers of species, population densities, and reproductive classes for those species indicated that the Cañon de Valle small mammal community is not being adversely affected by contaminants. In Cañon de Valle, a viable benthic macro-invertebrate community is present, which is a meaningful indicator that site contaminants pose negligible ecological effects.
- For Martin Spring Canyon, COPC concentrations were less than, or within the range of, those found at the Cañon de Valle alluvial area, which has been determined to not pose a potential unacceptable risk to human receptors under the trail-user scenario. Therefore, conditions at Martin Spring Canyon do not pose an unacceptable human health risk.

 Although RCRA contaminant levels are within acceptable human health risk and ecological risk ranges in the alluvial systems, isolated areas of contamination exceed acceptable ranges and will be addressed in the CMS.

7.3 Mesa Vadose Zone

- The isotopic differences in composition between mesa vadose zone groundwater and Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater indicate that mesa groundwater probably comes from local precipitation and snowmelt on the mesa top, whereas Cañon de Valle alluvial groundwater is at least partially derived from spring flow which is recharged at higher elevations.
- Borehole sampling in the mesa vadose zone indicate no contamination in the unsaturated depth intervals in any boreholes except in the immediate vicinity of the TA-16-260 former settling pond. These results indicate that mesa vadose zone contamination is concentrated beneath source area SWMUs such as the former and current ponds and drainages (90s Line Pond, V-Site Pond, 30s Line Pond) on the mesa top. However, ephemeral groundwater in mesa vadose zone wells that are not located in the vicinity of the TA-16-260 former settling pond have shown contamination, indicating lateral movement (possibly through surge beds) of water and contaminants in the mesa subsurface. In addition, based on the oxygen and deuterium stable isotope results, mesa vadose zone groundwater from Well 16-02665 (Martin Spring Canyon) and Well 16-02669 (90s Line Pond), and surface water from the 90s Line Pond, all show evaporative signatures, but spring water does not. These results reinforce the presence of a mesa vadose zone groundwater flow regime dominated by fractures and surge beds and, in general, the importance of hydrologic heterogeneity at TA-16.
- Contaminant transport in the mesa vadose zone is dominated by a fracture or surge bed flow
 regime, of which contaminated springs are a known manifestation. After the IM source removal, a
 substantial source for this contamination is gone, although reductions in spring contaminant
 concentrations are not yet evident. To assess the importance of these pathways, more wells are
 planned in both the mesa vadose zone groundwater and the regional aquifer during CMS
 activities.

8.0 REFERENCES

The following list includes all documents cited in the main body of this report. Some appendixes to this report contains their own reference lists. The parenthetical information following each reference provides the author, publication date, and ER ID number. This information is also included in text citations. ER ID numbers are assigned by the RRES-RS Records Processing Facility (RPF) and are used to locate the document at the RPF and, where applicable, in the RRES-RS project reference library titled "Reference Set for Operable Unit 1082."

Copies of the reference library are maintained at the NMED Hazardous Waste Bureau; the DOE Los Alamos Site Office; the US Environmental Protection Agency, Region 6; and RRES-RS. This library is a living collection of documents that was developed to ensure that the administrative authority has all material needed to review the decisions and actions proposed in this document. However, documents previously submitted to the administrative authority are not included.

Adams, A.I., F. Goff, D. Counce, February 1995. "Chemical and Isotopic Variations of Precipitation in the Los Alamos Region, New Mexico," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12895-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Adams et al. 1995, 47192)

Anderholm, S.K., 1994. "Ground-Water Recharge Near Santa Fe, North-Central New Mexico," US Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 94-4078, prepared in cooperation with the Santa Fe Metropolitan Water Board and the New Mexico State Engineer Office, Albuquerque, New Mexico. (Anderholm 1994, 76887)

ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials), 1995. "Standard Test Methods for Measuring the Toxicity of Sediment Associated Contaminants with Fresh Water Invertebrates," in ASTM Standards on Biological Effects and Environmental Fate, 2nd ed., ASTM stock number ENVFATE2, ISBN 0-8031-2722-7, West Conshohocken, Pennsylvania. (ASTM 1995, 73729)

BAER (Burned Area Emergency Rehabilitation), 2000. "Cerro Grande Fire, Burned Area Emergency Rehabilitation (BAER) Plan: Interagency Burned Area Emergency Rehabilitation Team," Los Alamos, New Mexico. (BAER 2000, 72659)

Bailey, R.A., R.L. Smith, and C.S. Ross, 1969. "Stratigraphic Nomenclature of Volcanic Rocks in the Jemez Mountains, New Mexico," in *Contributions to Stratigraphy*, US Geological Survey Bulletin 1274-P, p. 1, Washington, DC. (Bailey et al. 1969, 21498)

Baytos, J.F., December 9, 1971. "Analysis of Soil Samples for Residual Explosives from Drainage Ditches at Sump Effluent Outlets," Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory memorandum to H.E. Ballance from J.F. Baytos, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Baytos 1971, 05913)

Baytos, J.F., December 16, 1976. "Analysis of Soil Samples for Residual Explosives from Drainage Ditches at Sump Effluent Outlets," Los Alamos Scientific Laboratory memorandum to H.E. Ballance from J.F. Baytos, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Baytos 1976, 05920)

Bennett, K., R. Robinson, D. Keller, S. Frybarger, M. Tardiff, and D. Hickmott, March 2002. "Spring and Fall Small Mammal Sampling Report for Cañon de Valle and Pajarito Canyon, 2001," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13916-PR, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Bennett et al. 2002, 73796)

Blake, W., May 1, 1995. "Environmental Geochemistry for Surface and Subsurface Waters in the Pajarito Plateau and Outlying Areas, New Mexico," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12912-MS-UC-903, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Blake 1995, 49931)

Bowen, B.M., May 1990. "Los Alamos Climatology," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-11735-MS, pp. 89–93, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Bowen 1990, 06899)

Bowen, B.M., March 1992. "Los Alamos Climatology Summary, Including Latest Normals from 1961– 1990," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12232-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Bowen 1992, 12016)

Brown, R.A., B. Martin, and D. Hickmott, 1992. "Barium Transport at S-Site and Laser-Induced Breakdown Spectroscopy (LIBS): Its Application to Field Screening of Barium in Soils," Los Alamos National Laboratory unpublished report, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Brown et al. 1992, 59094)

Broxton, D.E., and Reneau, S.L., 1995. "Stratigraphic Nomenclature of the Bandelier Tuff for the Environmental Restoration Project at Los Alamos National Laboratory," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13010-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Broxton and Reneau 1995, 49726)

Broxton, D., R. Warren, P. Longmire, R. Gilkeson, S. Johnson, D. Rogers, W. Stone, B. Newman, M. Everett, D. Vaniman, S. McLin, J. Skalski, and D. Larssen, 2002. "Characterization Well R-25 Completion Report," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13909-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Broxton et al. 2002, 72640)

Bureau of Reclamation, 1997. "Water Measurement Manual, A Water Resources Technical Publication," US Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation, in cooperation with the US Department of Agriculture, US Government Printing Office, Washington, DC. (Bureau of Reclamation 1997, 76890)

California DHS (Department of Health Services), 2003. "Drinking Water Action Level for Perchlorate," http://www.dhs.cahwnet.gov/ps/ddwem/chemicals/perchl/actionlevel.htm. (California DHS 2003, 76862)

Card, R.E., Jr., and R. Autenrieth, 1998. "Treatment of HMS and RDX Contamination," ANRCP-1998-2, Amarillo National Resource Center for Plutonium, Amarillo, Texas. (Card and Autenrieth 1998, 76873)

Clark, I. D., and P. Fritz, 1997. *Environmental Isotopes in Hydrogeology*, Lewis Publishers, New York, New York. (Clark and Fritz 1997, 59168)

D.B. Stephens & Associates, Inc., 1999. "Laboratory analysis of soil hydraulic properties for TA-16 borehles, project number 8844.01," Albuquerque, New Mexico. (D.B. Stephens & Associates, Inc. 1999, 76886)

DeFoe, D.L., and G.T. Ankley, 1998. "Influence of Storage Time on Toxicity of Freshwater Sediments to Benthic Bacroinvertebrates," *Environ. Pollut.*, Vol. 99, pp. 123–131. (DeFoe and Ankley 1998, 73783)

DOE (US Department of Energy), May 4, 1994. "Module VIII Permit Modification," DOE memorandum LESH:TJT:Permit Mod, to D. McInroy (EM/ER Acting Program Manager) from T. Taylor (DOE Program Manager), Los Alamos, New Mexico. (DOE 1994, 35328)

Dunning, J.B., ed., 1993. CRC Handbook of Avian Body Masses, CRC Press, Inc., Boca Raton, Florida. (Dunning 1993, 73795)

Efron, B., 198I. "Nonparametric Estimates of Standard Error: The Jackknife, the Bootstrap, and Other Resampling Plans," *Biometrika*, Vol. 68, pp. 589–599. (Efron 1981, 73797)

Efron, B., June 1982. *The Jackknile, the Bootstrap, and Other Resampling Plans*, ISBN 0898711797, Society for Industrial & Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. (Efron 1982, 73771)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), July 1989. "Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, Vol.I, Human Health Evaluation Manual (Part A)," Interim Final, EPA 540/89/002, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Washington, DC. (EPA 1989, 08021)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1990. NPDES authorization to discharge to waters of the United States, Permit No NM0028355, Water Management Division, EPA Region 6, Dallas, Texas. (EPA 1990, 12454)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), April 10, 1990. Module VIII of RCRA Permit No. NM0890010515, EPA Region VI, issued to Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico, effective May 23, 1990, EPA Region VI, Hazardous Waste Management Division, Dallas, Texas. (EPA 1990, 01585)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1991. "Role of the Baseline Risk Assessment in Superfund Remedy Selection Decisions," OSWER Directive 9355.0-30, memorandum from D. R. Clay (Assistant Administrator), Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1991, 76865)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), March 25, 1991. "Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund, Volume I: Human Health Evaluation Manual, Supplemental Guidance 'Standard Default Exposure Factors,' Interim Final," OSWER Directive 9285.6-03, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Toxics Integration Branch, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1991, 56140)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), July 1992. "Statistical Analysis of Ground-Water Monitoring Data at RCRA Facilities, Addendum to Interim Final Guidance," in "Statistical Training Course for Ground-Water Monitoring Data Analysis," EPA/530/R-93/003, Office of Solid Waste, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1992, 73789)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1993. "Wildlife Exposure Factors Handbook". Vol. 1 of II. EPA/600/P-93/187a, Office of Research and Development, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1993, 59384)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), June 1994, "Statistical Methods for Evaluating the Attainment of Cleanup Standards," EPA/230/R-94/004, Environmental Statistics and Information Division, Office of Policy, Planning, and Evaluation, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1994 73793)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1995. "Final Water Quality Guidance for the Great Lakes System; Final Rule," 60 FR 56, March 23, 1995. (EPA 1995, 62787)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), December 1995. "Determination of Background Concentrations of Inorganics in Soils and Sediments at Hazardous Waste Sites," EPA/540/S-96/500, Office of Research and Development, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1995, 76856)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1997. "Ecological Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund: Process for Designing and Conducting Ecological Risk Assessments," Interim Final. USEPA Environmental Response Team, Edison, New Jersey. (EPA 1997, 59370).

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1997. "Health Effects Assessment Summary Tables," FY1997 update, EPA 540-R-97-036, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1997, 58968) EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), August 1997. "Exposure Factors Handbook, Volume III, Activity Factors," EPA/600/P-95/002Fa, Office of Research and Development, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1997, 66596)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), August 1997. "Exposure Factors Handbook, Volume III, General Factors," EPA/600/P-95/002Fc, Office of Research and Development, Washington, D.C. (EPA 1997, 66598)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 1999. "Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Wadeable Rivers: Periphyton, Benthic Macroinvertebrates, and Fish," 2nd ed., EPA 841-B-99-02, US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, D.C., available at <u>http://www.epa.gov.OWOW/monitoring/rbp.html</u>. (EPA 1999, 73728)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), March 2000. "Test Method 100.2, *Chrionomus tentans* 10-d Survival and Growth Test for Sediments," in *Methods for Measuring the Toxicity and Bioaccumulation of Sediment-associated Contaminants with Freshwater Invertebrates*, 2nd ed., EPA 600/R-99/064, Office of Research and Development, Duluth, Minnesota, and Office of Science and Technology, Office of Water, Washington, D.C. (EPA 2000, 73776)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), March 2000. "Water, Formulated Sediment, Reagents and Standards," in *Methods for Measuring the Toxicity and Bioaccumulation of Sediment-associated Contaminants with Freshwater Invertebrates*, 2nd ed., EPA 600/R-99/064, Office of Research and Development, Duluth, Minnesota, and Office of Science and Technology, Office of Water, Washington, D.C. (EPA 2000, 76081)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), July 2000. "Guidance for Data Quality Assessment: Practical Methods for Data Analysis," EPA QA/G-9, QA00 Update, EPA/600/R-96/084, Office of Environmental Information, Washington, D.C. (EPA 2000, 73790)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 2001. "Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS)," (online database) <u>http://www.epa.gov/iris</u>. (EPA 2001, 70109)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), November 2001. "EPA Region 6 Human Health Medium-Specific Screening Levels," EPA Region 6, Dallas, Texas. (EPA 2001, 71466)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), July 2002. "List of Contaminants and Their MCLs," EPA 816-F-02-013, <u>http://www.epa.gov/ogwdw000/mcl.html#mcls</u>. (EPA 2002, 76871)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 2002. "Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS)," (online database) <u>http://www.epa.gov/iris</u>. (EPA 2002, 76870)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 2002. "EPA Region 6 Human Health Medium-Specific Screening Levels," EPA Region 6, Dallas, Texas. (EPA 2002, 76867)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), 2002. "Region 9 Preliminary Remediation Goals," EPA Region 9, San Francisco, California, <u>http://www.epa.gov/region09/waste/sfund/prg/index.htm</u> (EPA 2002, 76866)

EPA (US Environmental Protection Agency), February 12, 2002. "Completion of Corrective Action Activities at RCRA Facilities Guidance," OSWER/OECA, in 67 FR 39, p. 9174, US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C. (EPA 2002, 73793)

Environmental Protection Group, July 1994. "Environmental Surveillance at Los Alamos during 1992," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12764-ENV, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Environmental Protection Group 1994, 52951)

Ford-Schmid, R., 1996. "Reference Conditions for Los Alamos National Laboratory Streams Using Benthic Macroinvertebrate Assessment in Upper Pajarito Canyon," New Mexico Environment Department, Department of Energy Oversight Bureau, *New Mexico Geological Society Guidebook, 47th Field Conference*, Jemez Mountains Region, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (Ford-Schmid 1996, 59111)

Freeze, R. A., and J. A. Cherry, 1979. *Groundwater*, ISBN 0-13-365312-9, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. (Freeze and Cherry 1979, 76864)

Gallegos, A.F., G.J. Gonzales, K.D. Bennett, and L.E. Pratt, 1996. "Preliminary Ecological Risk Assessment of the Mexican Spotted Owl at the Los Alamos National Laboratory," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-96-3361, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Gallegos et al. 1996, 57915)

Gardner, J.N., and L. House, October 1987. "Seismic Hazards Investigations at Los Alamos National Laboratory, 1984 to 1985," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-11072-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Gardner and House 1987, 06682)

Gardner, J.N., A. Lavine, G. WoldeGabriel, D. Krier, D. Vaniman, F. Caporuscio, C. Lewis, S. Reneau, E. Kluk, and M. J. Snow, 1999. "Structural Geology of the Northwestern Portion of Los Alamos National Laboratory, Rio Grande Rift, New Mexico: Implications for Seismic Surface Rupture Potential from TA-3 to TA-55," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13589-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Gardner et al. 1999, 63492)

Gardner, J.N., F. Goff, S. Garcia, and R.C. Hagan, 1986. "Stratigraphic Relations and Lithologic Variations in the Jemez Volcanic Field, New Mexico," *Journal of Geophysical Research*, Vol. 91(B2), pp. 1763–1778 (Gardner et al. 1986, 59104)

Gardner, J.N., S.L. Reneau, C.J Lewis, A. Lavine, D.J. Krier, G. WoldeGabriel, and G.D. Guthrie, 2001, "Geology of the Pajarito Fault Zone in the Vicinity of S-Site (TA-16), Los Alamos National Laboratory, Rio Grande Rift, New Mexico," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13831-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico, (Gardner et al. 2001, 70106)

Gardner, W.H., 1986, "Water Content," in *Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 1, Physical and Mineralogical Methods*, 2nd ed., A. Klute, Ed., American Society of Agronomy, Inc., Soil Science Society of America, Inc, Madison, Wisconsin, pp.493–544. (Gardner 1986, 76888)

Gilbert, R.O., 1987. *Statistical Methods for Environmental Pollution Monitoring*, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York. (Gilbert 1987, 56179)

Groffman, A.R., and L.J. Crossey, 1999. "Transient Redox Regimes in a Shallow Alluvial Aquifer," *Chemical Geology*, Vol. 161, pp. 415–442. (Groffman and Crossey 1999, 76859)

Hardin, J.W., and R.O. Gilbert, 1993. "Comparing Statistical Tests for Detecting Soil Contamination Greater Than Background," PNL-8989, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington. (Hardin and Gilbert 1993, 73773)

Hern, J. D., 1985. "Study and Interpretation of the Chemical Characteristics of Natural Water," US Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1473, 3rd Edition, US Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. (Hern 1985, 76855) Hickmott, D., May 9, 2003. E-mail message to John Pietz (Shaw Group) from D. Hickmott (RRES-RS), "FOC in Canyons," Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Hickmott 2003, 76190)

Janitzky, P., 1986. "Particle-Size Analysis," in *Field and Laboratory Procedures Used in a Soil Chronosequence Study*, US Geological Survey Bulletin 1648, Washington, D.C, pp. 11–17. (Janitzky 1986, 57674)

Katzman, D., May 7, 2003. "Screening Methodology for TA 16-021(c)-99 Meeting Notes," from meeting of TA-16 RFI team members with members of the LAPSAR team at Pueblo Complex, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Katzman 2003, 76850)

Kendall, C., and T.B. Coplen, 1985. "Multisample Conversion of Water to Hydrogen by Zinc for Stable Isotope Determination," *Analytical Chemistry*, Vol. 57, pp. 1437–1446. (Kendall and Coplen 1985, 64061)

Kopp, B., A. Crowder, M. Everett, D. Vaniman, D. Hickmott, W. Stone, N. Clayton, S. Pearson, and D. Larssen, April 2002. "Well CdV-R-15-3 Completion Report," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13906-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Kopp et al. 2002, 73179.9)

Kopp, B., M. Everett, J.R. Lawrence, G. WoldeGabriel, D. Vaniman, J. Heikoop, W. Stone, S. McLin, N. Clayton, and D. Larssen, September 2002. "Well CdV-R-37-2 Completion Report," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02-5301, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Kopp et al. 2003, 73707)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), November 1990. "Solid Waste Management Units Report," Vol. II, Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-90-3400, prepared by International Technology Corporation, Contract No. 9-XS8-0062R-1, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1990, 7512)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), July 1993. "RFI Work Plan for Operable Unit 1082," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-93-1196, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1993, 20948)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), May 1994. "RFI Work Plan for Operable Unit 1082, Addendum 1," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-94-1580, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1994, 52910)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), May 9, 1994. "Process Flow Reductions from Waste Minimization for Value Engineering Study," Los Alamos National Laboratory report, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1994, 76858)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 1996. "Interim Action Report for Solid Waste Management Unit 16-021(c), Field Unit 3," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-96-419, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1996, 53838)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 1996. "Quality Assurance Project Plan Requirements for Sampling and Analysis," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-96-441, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1996, 54609)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1996. "RFI Report for Potential Release Sites in TA-16: 16-003(k), 16-021(c), Field Unit 3," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-96-3191, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1996, 55077)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), April 1997. "Core Document for Canyons Investigations," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-96-2083, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1997, 55622)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 1998. "Hydrogeologic Workplan," Rev. 1, Draft, Los Alamos National Laboratory document, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1998, 59599.1)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1998. "CMS Plan for Potential Release Site 16-021(c)," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-3918, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1998, 62413.3)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1998. "Inorganic and Radionuclide Background Data for Soils, Canyon Sediments, and Bandelier Tuff at Los Alamos National Laboratory," draft, Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-98-4847, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1998, 59730)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1998. "Phase II RFI Report for Potential Release Site 16-021(c)," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-4101, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1998, 59891)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1999. "Addendum to CMS Plan for Potential Release Site 16-021(c)," Revision 0, Los Alamos National Laboratory document, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1999, 64873.3)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), December 1999. "Screening Level Ecological Risk Assessment Methods," Rev. 1, Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-99-1405, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 1999, 64783)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 1, 2000. "Standard Human Health Risk Assessment Scenarios," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-00-4084, Rev. 2.0, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 66801)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 2000. "Comprehensive Site Plan 2000," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR- 99-6704, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 76100)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), February 2000. "Interim Measures Plan for Consolidated Potential Release Site 16-021(c)-99," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-99-6767, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 64355.4)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), March 2000. "Installation Work Plan for Environmental Restoration Project," Rev. 8, draft (pending approval of administrative authority), Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-00-1336, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 66802)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), September 2000. Ecorisk Database, Los Alamos National Laboratory zip diskette, LANL ER Records Package 186, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 67822.1)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), December 2000. "LANL General Inorganic, Organic, Radiochemical, and Asbestos Analytical Laboratory Services," in University Of California Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL), I8980SOW0-8S Statement of Work for Analytical Laboratories, SOW Revision 1, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 71233)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 2001. "Comprehensive Site Plan 2001," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-01-1838, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 70210.1)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), January 2001. "Project Completion Report for the Accelerated Action at TA-16 MDA R (PRS 16-019)," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-01-522, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2000, 69971.2)

LANL, March 2001. "Derivation and Use of Radionuclide Screening Action Levels," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-01-990, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2001, 69693)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), April 2002. "Human Health Risk-Based Screening Methodology," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02-1563, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2002, 72639)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), July 2002. "Interim Measure Report for Potential Release Site 16-0216)," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02- 4229, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2002, 73706)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), 2003. "MDA P Closure Certification Report," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02-7819, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2003, 76876)

LANL (Los Alamos National Laboratory), March 2003. "Addendum to the CMS Plan for PRS-021 (c)," Revision 1.0, Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02-7366, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (LANL 2003, 75986.2)

Layton, D., B. Mallon, W. Mitchell, L. Hall, R. Fish, L. Perry, G. Snyder, K. Bogen, W. Malloch, C. Ham, and P. Dowd, December 1987. "Conventional Weapons Demilitarization: A Health and Environmental Effects Data Base, Explosives and Their Co-Contaminants, Final Report, Phase II," US Army Medical Research and Development Command, Fort Detrick, Frederick, Maryland. (Layton et al. 1987, 14703)

Lewis, C. J., A. Lavine, S. L. Reneau, J. N. Gardner, R. Channell, C. W. Criswell, December 2002. "Geology of the Western Part of Los Alamos National Laboratory (TA-3 to TA-16), Rio Grande Rift, New Mexico," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-13960-MS, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Lewis et al. 2002, 73785)

Lockheed Martin, April 2002. "ProUCL User's Guide," prepared for US Environmental Protection Agency. (Lockheed Martin 2002, 73767)

Longmire, P., D. Counce, M. Dale, S. Chipera, and M. Snow, November 2001. "Conceptual Model of Mineralogical and Hydrochemical Impacts of the Cerro Grande Fire, Los Alamos, New Mexico," (abstract), in *13th Technical Information Exchange Workshop Program Book,* Albuquerque, New Mexico. (Longmire et al. 2001, 76889)

Malmon, D. V., June 2002. "Sediment Trajectories Through a Semiarid Valley," Ph.D. thesis, University of California, Santa Barbara, California. (Malmon 2002, 76038)

Montgomery, J. H., 1991. *Groundwater Chemicals Desk Reference, Vol. 2.* Lewis Publishers. (Montgomery 1991, 76189)

Myers, J. M., February 26, 2003. "Sorption Coeffcients for RDX and Barium at Los Alamos," Literature search memorandum, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Myers 2003, 76188)

Nagy, K. A., 1987. "Field Metabolic Rate and Food Requirement Scaling in Mammals and Birds," *Ecol. Monogr.*, Vol. 57, pp.111–128. (Nagy 1987, 62782)

NCP (National Contingency Plan). National Oil and Hazardous Substances Contingency Plan, Federal Register 55[46]:8666-8665. (NCP 1990, 76875)

Newman, B. D., A. R. Campbell, and B. P. Wilcox, 1997. "Tracer-Based Studies of Soil Water Movement in Semi-Arid Forests of New Mexico," *Journal of Hydrology*, Vol. 196, pp. 251–270. (Newman et al. 1997, 76885)

Newman, B. D., A. R. Campbell, and B. P. Wilcox, December 1998. "Lateral Subsurface Flow Pathways in a Semiarid Ponderosa Pine Hillslope," *Water Resources Research*, Vol. 34, No. 12, pp. 3485–3496. (Newman et al. 1998, 76883)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), R., June 1998. Presentation handouts for State of New Mexico Procedures for Assessing Standards Attainment for 303(d) List and 305(b) Report, Assessment Protocols, New Mexico Environment Department, Surface Water Quality Bureau, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 1998, 73772)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), January 6, 1999. "Aquatic Macroinvertebrate Species Lists and Comparisons of Community Metrics for Upper Los Alamos, Sandia, Pajarito, and Valle Canyons," NMED letter to J. Vozella (DOE/AIP/POC) from S. Yanicak (NMED), Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 1999, 73769)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), January 7, 2000. Contained-in Determination, NMED memo to John Brown (LANL) and T. Taylor (DOE ER), Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 64730)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), March 2000. "Guidance for Assessing Ecological Risks Posed by Chemicals: Screening-Level Ecological Risk Assessment," New Mexico Environment Department, Hazardous and Radioactive Materials Bureau, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 70107)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), April 4, 2000. "Area of Contamination Authorization," NMED memo NM0890010515 to John Brown (LANL) and T. Taylor (DOE ER), HRMB-LANL-00-006, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 70649)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), June 5, 2000. "In Situ Blending Authorization," NMED memo NM08999595 to John Brown (LANL) and T. Taylor (DOE ER), HRMB-LANL-00-006, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 67094)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), December 18, 2000. "Technical Background Document for Development of Soil Screening Levels," Volume I, Tier 1: Soil Screening Guidance Technical Background Document, New Mexico Environment Department, Hazardous Waste Bureau and Ground Water Quality Bureau Voluntary Remediation Program, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 68554)

NMED (New Mexico Environment Department), July 28, 2003. Letter from Steve Yanicak (NMED) to Gene Turner (DOE/AIP/POC), Re: "2001 Benthic Macroinvertebrate Data from Canon de Valle," Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2003, 76072)

NMWQCC (New Mexico Water Quality Control Commission), 2000. "State of New Mexico Standards for Interstate and Intrastate Surface Waters," 20.6.4 NMAC, New Mexico Water Quality Control Commission, Santa Fe, New Mexico. (NMED 2000, 76043)

Nyhan, J. W., and L. J. Lane, May 1986. "Erosion Control Technology: A User's Guide to the Use of the Universal Soil Loss Equation at Waste Burial Facilities," Los Alamos National Laboratory Manual No. LA-10262-M, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Nyhan and Lane 1986, 06539)
Nyhan, J. W., W. V. Abeele, B. A. Perkins, and L. J. Lane, December 1984. "Development of Corrective Measures Technology for Shallow Land Burial Facilities at Arid Sites," *Proceedings of the Sixth Annual Participants' Information Meeting, Department of Energy Low-Level Waste Management Program,* CONF-8409115, prepared by EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, pp. 277–300. (Nyhan et al. 1984, 11757)

O'Brien, R. F., and R. O. Gilbert, 1997. "Comparing Sites to Background," Parts 1 and 2, Environmental Testing & Analysis. (O'Brien and Gilbert 1997, 73770)

Pacific Ecorisk, October 2001. "Evaluation of the Toxicity of Los Alamos National Laboratory Sediments to the Larval Insect *Chironomus tentans*," Pacific Ecorisk data request 9863R, Martinez, California. (Pacific Ecorisk 2001, 73775)

Pacific Ecorisk, March 2003. "Evaluation of the Toxicity of Los Alamos National Laboratory Sediments to the Larval Insect *Chironomus tentans*," Pacific Ecorisk data request 9863R, Martinez, California. (Pacific Ecorisk 2003, 76034)

Patil, G. P., S. D. Gore, and A. K. Sinha, 1994. "Environmental Chemistry, Statistical Modeling, and Observational Economy," Chapter 3 in *Environmental Statistics, Assessment and Forecasting*, C.R. Cothern and N.P. Ross, eds., Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, pp. 57–97. (Patil et al., 1994, 59113)

Raymer, D. F., and J. R. Biggs, March 1994. "Comparisons of Small Mammal Species Diversity Near Wastewater Outfall, Natural Streams and Dry Canyons," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-12725- MS, Los Alamos New Mexico. (Raymer and Biggs 1994, 56038)

Reneau, S., R. Ryti, M. Tardiff, and J. Linn, September 1998. "Evaluation of Sediment Contamination in Pueblo Canyon: Reaches P-1, P-2, P-3, and P-4," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-3324, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Reneau et al. 1998, 59159)

Reneau, S., R. Ryti, M. Tardiff, and J. Linn, September 1998, "Evaluation of Sediment Contamination in Upper Los Alamos Canyon: Reaches LA-1, LA-2, and LA-3," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-UR-98-3974, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Reneau et al. 1998, 59160)

Ryti, R.T., P.A. Longmire, D.E. Broxton, S.L. Reneau, and E.V. McDonald, January 14, 1998. "Inorganic and Radionuclide Background Data for Soils, Canyons Sediments and Bandelier Tuff at Los Alamos National Laboratory" (draft), Los Alamos National Laboratory document, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Ryti et al. 1998, 59730)

Salice, C. J., and G. Holdsworth, May 2001. "Wildlife Toxicity Assessment for 1,3,5-Trinitrohexahydro-1,3,5-Triazine (RDX)." US Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine (USACHPPM), Project Number 39-EJ1138-01B, Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland. (Salice and Holdsworth, 2001, 73780)

Sample, B. E., J. J. Beauchamp, R. A. Efroymson, and G. W. Suter, II, 1998. "Development and Validation of Bioaccumulation Models for Small Mammals," Oak Ridge National Laboratory document ES/ER/TM- 219, Oak Ridge, Tennessee. (Sample et al. 1998, 72726)

Seber, G. A., 1982. *The Estimation of Animal Abundance and Related Parameters*, 2nd ed., Charles Griffin and Co., London. (Seber 1982, 72730)

Shaull, D. A., D. Ortiz, M. R. Alexander, and R. P. Romero, 2003. "Surface Water Data at Los Alamos National Laboratory: 2002 Water Year," Los Alamos National Laboratory report LA-14019-PR, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Shaull et al. 2003, 76042)

Shurbaji, A. M., F. M. Phillips, A. R. Campbell, and R. G. Knowlton, 1995. "Applications of a Numerical Model for Simulating Groundwater Flow, Isotope Transport, and Heat Transfer in the Unsaturated Zone," *Journal of Hydrology*, Vol. 171, pp. 143–163. (Shurbaji et al. 1995, 76882)

Socki, R. A., H. R. Karlsson, and E. K. Gibson, 1992. "Extraction Technique for Determination of Oxygen-18 in Water Using Preevacuated Glass Vials," *Analytical Chemistry*, Vol. 64, pp. 829–831. (Socki et al. 1992, 64064)

Steevens, J. A., B.M. Duke, G. R. Lotufo, and T. S. Bridges, 2002. "Toxicity of the explosives 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene, hexahydro-1,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine, and octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocene in sediments to *Chironomus tentans* and *Hyalella azteca*: low-dose hormesis and high-dose mortality, *Environ. Toxicol. and Chem.*, Vol. 21, No. 7, pp.1475–1482. (Steevens et al. 2002, 76033)

Stumm, W., and J. J. Morgan 1970, *Aquatic Chemistry*, Wiley-Interscience, New York. (Stumm and Morgan 1970, 76857)

Tardiff, M., June 2002. "Cañon de Valle Terrestrial Ecological Risk Assessment Pilot, Steps Four and Five: Study Design and Implementation Plan," Los Alamos National Laboratory document LA-UR-02-2937, Los Alamos, New Mexico. (Tardiff 2002, 73764)

US Navy, July 1999. "Handbook for Statistical Analysis of Environmental Background Data," Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Southwest Division and Engineering Field Activity, West. (US Navy, 1999, 73786)

US Navy, 2002. "Guidance for Environmental Background Analysis, Volume 1: Soil," NFESC User's Guide UG-2049-ENV, Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Washington, DC. (Navy 2002, 76854)

USACHPPM (US Army Center for Health Promotion and Preventive Medicine), October 2001. "Wildlife Toxicity Assessment for HMX," Project Number 39-EJ1138-01E, Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland. (USACHPPM 2001, 73781)

USDHHS (US Department of Health and Human Services), June 1995. "Toxicological profile for 2,4,6trinitrotoluene", US Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC. (USDHHS 1995, 76187)

Vuataz, F., and F. Goff, February 10, 1986. "Isotope Geochemistry of Thermal and Nonthermal Waters in the Vales Caldera, Jemez Mountains, Northern New Mexico," *Journal of Geophysical Research*, Vol. 91, No. B2, pp. 1835–1853. (Vuataz and Goff 1986, 40083)

Wilcox, B. P., July 2002. "Shrub control and streamflow on rangelands: A process-based viewpoint," *Journal of Range Management*, Vol. 55(40), pp. 318–326. (Wilcox 2002, 76860)

Winget, R. N., and F. A. Mangum, 1979. "Biotic Condition Index: Integrated biological, physical and chemical stream parameters for management," Intermountain Region, US Department of Agriculture, US Forest Service, Ogden, Utah. (Winget and Mangum 1979, 75926)

Yu, C., A. J. Zielen, J.-J. Cheng, Y. C. Yuan, L. G. Jones, D. J. LePoire, Y. Y. Wang, C. O. Loureiro, E. Gnanapragasam, E. Faillace, A. Wallo III, W. A. Williams, and H. Peterson, September 1993. "Manual for Implementing Residual Radioactive Material Guidelines Using RESRAD, Version 5.0," ANL/EAD/LD-2, Environmental Assessment Division, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois. (Yu et al. 1993, 58695)

Yu, C., A. J. Zielen, J.-J. Cheng, D. J. LePoire, E. Gnanapragasam, S. Kamboj, J. Arnish, A. Wallo III, W. A. Williams, and H. Peterson, July 2001. "Users Manual for RESRAD Version 6," ANL/EAD-4, Environmental Assessment Division, Argonne National Laboratory, Argonne, Illinois. (Yu et al. 2001, 76874)

Media Place Holder Target

This target represents media that was not microfilmed. The original media can be obtained through the Records Processing Facility.

•	ER ID # 77945
	Box #
Record Type:	<u> </u>
Date:	<u>Sept 2003</u>
Symbol:	LA-UR-03-5248/ER2003-0480
Subject:	
Phase III Appendixe	RFI REPORT FOR SWMU 16-021(C)-99 S A Threough N